# TRAJECTORIES OF BRAIN ABNORMALITIES IN EARLY SCHIZOPHRENIA

EDITED BY: Antonio Vita, Luca De Peri and Stefan Borgwardt PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychiatry







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-506-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-506-0

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

# TRAJECTORIES OF BRAIN ABNORMALITIES IN EARLY SCHIZOPHRENIA

Topic Editors: Antonio Vita, University of Brescia, Italy Luca De Peri, Cantonal Sociopsychological Organization, Switzerland Stefan Borgwardt, University of Lübeck, Germany

**Citation:** Vita, A., De Peri, L., Borgwardt, S., eds. (2021). Trajectories of Brain Abnormalities in Early Schizophrenia. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-506-0

# Table of Contents

- 05 Editorial: Trajectories of Brain Abnormalities in Early Schizophrenia Antonio Vita, Luca De Peri and Stefan Borgwardt
- Which Subgroup of First-Episode Schizophrenia Patients Can Remit During the First Year of Antipsychotic Treatment?
   Zhang Cheng, Yanbo Yuan, Xue Han, Lei Yang, Xin Zeng, Fude Yang, Zheng Lu, Chuanyue Wang, Hong Deng, Jingping Zhao and Xin Yu
- 15 Gray Matter Changes in the Insular Cortex During the Course of the Schizophrenia Spectrum

Tsutomu Takahashi, Mikio Kido, Daiki Sasabayashi, Mihoko Nakamura, Atsushi Furuichi, Yoichiro Takayanagi, Kyo Noguchi and Michio Suzuki

24 EEG Microstate Differences in Medicated vs. Medication-Naïve First-Episode Psychosis Patients

Amatya J. Mackintosh, Stefan Borgwardt, Erich Studerus, Anita Riecher-Rössler, Renate de Bock and Christina Andreou

- 34 Structural MRI Study of the Planum Temporale in Individuals With an At-Risk Mental State Using Labeled Cortical Distance Mapping Yoichiro Takayanagi, Sue Kulason, Daiki Sasabayashi, Tsutomu Takahashi, Naoyuki Katagiri, Atsushi Sakuma, Noriyuki Ohmuro, Masahiro Katsura, Shimako Nishiyama, Mihoko Nakamura, Mikio Kido, Atsushi Furuichi, Kyo Noguchi, Kazunori Matsumoto, Masafumi Mizuno, J. Tilak Ratnanather and Michio Suzuki
- 41 First-Episode Psychotic Patients Showed Longitudinal Brain Changes Using fMRI With an Emotional Auditory Paradigm

Carlos González-Vivas, Gracián García-Martí, Pau Soldevila-Matías, Roberto Sanz-Requena, Eduardo J. Aguilar, María José Castro-Bleda, Luis Martí-Bonmatí and Julio Sanjuan

50 Does Hippocampal Volume Predict Transition to Psychosis in a High-Risk Group? A Meta-Analysis

Bernd Hinney, Anna Walter, Soheila Aghlmandi, Christina Andreou and Stefan Borgwardt

- 60 Longitudinal Structural MRI Findings in Individuals at Genetic and Clinical High Risk for Psychosis: A Systematic Review Kate Merritt, Pedro Lugue Laguna, Ayela Irfan and Anthony S. David
- 78 Hyperactivation of Posterior Default Mode Network During Self-Referential Processing in Children at Familial High-Risk for Psychosis Guusje Collin, Clemens C. C. Bauer, Sheeba Arnold Anteraper, John D. E. Gabrieli, Elena Molokotos, Raquelle Mesholam-Gately, Heidi W. Thermenos, Larry J. Seidman, Matcheri S. Keshavan, Martha E. Shenton and Susan Whitfield-Gabrieli
- 89 The Role of Peripheral Inflammation in Clinical Outcome and Brain Imaging Abnormalities in Psychosis: A Systematic Review Melisa Kose, Carmine M. Pariante, Paola Dazzan and Valeria Mondelli

#### 108 White Matter Correlates of Theory of Mind in Patients With First-Episode Psychosis

Nahrie Suk Kim, Tae Young Lee, Wu Jeong Hwang, Yoo Bin Kwak, Seowoo Kim, Sun-Young Moon, Silvia Kyungjin Lho, Sanghoon Oh and Jun Soo Kwon

## 117 Neuroimaging as a Window Into the Pathophysiological Mechanisms of Schizophrenia

Nina Vanessa Kraguljac and Adrienne Carol Lahti

#### 133 Abnormal Habituation of the Auditory Event-Related Potential P2 Component in Patients With Schizophrenia

Prune Mazer, Inês Macedo, Tiago O. Paiva, Fernando Ferreira-Santos, Rita Pasion, Fernando Barbosa, Pedro Almeida, Celeste Silveira, Cassilda Cunha-Reis and João Marques-Teixeira

#### 142 The Effects of Antipsychotic Treatment on the Brain of Patients With First-Episode Schizophrenia: A Selective Review of Longitudinal MRI Studies

Chengmin Yang, Jing Tang, Naici Liu, Li Yao, Mengyuan Xu, Hui Sun, Bo Tao, Qiyong Gong, Hengyi Cao, Wenjing Zhang and Su Lui





## **Editorial: Trajectories of Brain Abnormalities in Early Schizophrenia**

Antonio Vita<sup>1</sup>, Luca De Peri<sup>2\*</sup> and Stefan Borgwardt<sup>3,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mental Health, Spedali Civili Hospital, University of Brescia School of Medicine, Brescia, Italy, <sup>2</sup> Cantonal Psychiatric Clinic, Cantonal Socio-Psychiatric Association, Mendrisio, Switzerland, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychiatry, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland, <sup>4</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Psychosomatics and Psychotherapy, University of Lübeck, Lübeck, Germany

Keywords: early schizophrenia, structural brain imaging, functional brain imaging, pathophysiological trajectory of brain abnormalities, outcome

**Editorial on the Research Topic** 

#### Trajectories of Brain Abnormalities in Early Schizophrenia

Several brain abnormalities in schizophrenia have been demonstrated by a large number of structural and functional neuroimaging studies. The nature and meaning of such abnormalities, their time of occurrence, whether they are static or progressive as well as the role of potential confounders of brain changes have been investigated by several studies over the last 40 years. The findings of these investigations support the notion that some structural and functional brain anomalies predate the onset of schizophrenia and are detectable to a larger extent in first-episode patients (FEP). Despite the large amount of literature on brain changes in the early stages of schizophrenia, the findings to date do not allow definite conclusions to be drawn about the pathophysiological trajectory of schizophrenia and to resolve the dispute between the so-called "neurodevelopmental" and "neurodegenerative" hypotheses of brain abnormalities of the disorder. The papers included in this Research Topic on "*Trajectories of Brain Abnormalities in Early Schizophrenia*" provide some new insights to address the question of which or how many trajectories of brain changes can be detected in the early phases of the disorder and to which extent they are related to the multidimensional outcome of the disorder.

Here we present a brief overview of the contents and highlights of the present Research Topic. A number of original papers investigated clinical and biological predictors of outcome in firstepisode schizophrenia (FES). Takahashi et al. analyzed longitudinal gray matter changes in the insular cortex of FES patients during a 3 years Magnetic Resonance Imagine (MRI) follow-up evidencing dynamic volumetric changes at different time points over the early course of illness. Kim et al. investigated throughout diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) the association between white matter integrity and Theory of Mind (ToM) impairment in first-episode patients compared to healthy controls. The study findings suggested a possible neural basis for ToM deficits in schizophrenia. Moreover, In their contribution, González-Vivas et al. analyzed longitudinal changes in brain fMRI BOLD over a 2 years follow-up in first-episode patients and healthy controls. Interestingly, the study also took into account the potential moderating role of antipsychotic medication on brain functional measurements. Cheng et al. investigated the clinical predictors of persistent remission (PR) within the 1st year of antipsychotic treatment in a large sample of first-episode patients (n =301). Among several psychopathological and neurocognitive variables considered, the results of the study showed that the severity of negative symptoms at baseline was the best predictor of PR within 1 year of antipsychotic treatment.

Two original studies in this issue investigated structural and functional brain parameters in patients at clinically (CHR) or genetically (GHR) high risk for psychosis. Takayanagi et al. performed a cross-sectional structural MRI study of the planum temporale (PT) comparing 73

#### OPEN ACCESS

**Edited and reviewed by:** Błażej Misiak, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

> \*Correspondence: Luca De Peri luca.deperi@ti.ch

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 20 July 2021 Accepted: 04 August 2021 Published: 31 August 2021

#### Citation:

Vita A, De Peri L and Borgwardt S (2021) Editorial: Trajectories of Brain Abnormalities in Early Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 12:744471. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.744471

individuals with an at-risk mental state (ARMS) and 74 healthy controls using labeled cortical distance mapping. The study did not show significant between groups differences of PT measures, suggesting that structural changes associated with schizophrenia may occur just before or during the onset of the disorder. Collin et al. examined the default mode network (DMN) in children at familial high risk (FHR) for psychosis compared to healthy children. The study evidenced an hyperactivity of posterior DMN in pre-adolescent FHR children as compared to healthy controls. As suggested by the authors, this finding may posit DMN-related disturbances as a developmental brain abnormality associated with familial risk factors that predates psychosis.

Two electrophysiological studies in early schizophrenia also contributed to this special issue. Mackintosh et al. investigated the effect of antipsychotic medication on EEG parameters in FEP patients. The results demonstrated significant differences of EEG resting-state microstates between medicated and nonmedicated FEP patients. Mazer et al. studied auditory eventrelated potentials (ERP) in a cross-sectional controlled study. In particular, the paper examined the modulation and habituation of ERPs early components N1 and P2 in 26 FES patients and 27 healthy participants. The study findings evidenced anomalies of sensory gating processes yet in the course of early schizophrenia.

Finally, some qualitative and quantitative reviews completed the present Research Topic, with an useful update on biological research in early schizophrenia. In their contribution, Kraguljac and Lathi critically considered a number of key scientific questions both methodologically and clinically relevant in the context of neuroimaging studies to understand the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. Yang et al. performed a selective review of 36 structural and functional longitudinal MRI studies in FES patients before and after antipsychotic treatment. Kose et al. conducted a qualitative review of the evidence regarding the potential role of peripheral inflammatory markers as predictors of treatment response in schizophrenia and the association between peripheral inflammatory markers with neuroimaging data. Merritt et al. reported a qualitative review to determine longitudinal structural MRI findings in GHR and CHR individuals for psychosis. Lastly, Hinney et al. investigated, through a meta-analytical approach, whether hippocampal volume may serve as a biomarker for psychosis. This quantitative review included those studies that compared hippocampal volume changes over time in patients at risk for psychosis who developed illness as compared to patients who do not have such a transition.

In conclusion, the present collection of research papers offers a multidisciplinary perspective of the topic of trajectories of brain abnormalities in early schizophrenia, which may help to understand the pathophysiology of the disorders and contributes to the discussion on the etiopathogenetic hypotheses of the disorder. The main implications provided from the studies collected in the topic can be summarized as follows: (1) there is evidence of dynamic structural and functional brain changes at different time points in the early course of schizophrenia; (2) brain changes in early schizophrenia involves both gray and white matter structures; (3) structural and functional brain anomalies are detectable even before the overt clinical onset of the disease as demonstrated by longitudinal studies in patients clinically or genetically at risk for schizophrenia; (4) antipsychotic medication represents a major confounder of brain changes over time in schizophrenia. This evidence once again questions the clinicians about the risk/benefit balance of antipsychotic treatment also in the early course of the disease.

With all these clinical and research implications in mind, we wish that the present Research Topic may receive interest and activate debate among the readers and contributors and solicit new ideas for original research and further hypotheses on this fascinating field of psychiatric research. The future directions of neuroimaging research in schizophrenia indicate the need to set new methodological standards both for developing truly innovative hypothesis-driven neuroimaging research and for reliably interpreting structural and functional multimodal imaging databases with the aim to overcome the current limits and to reach the target of diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers at the individual subject level. Otherwise, the scientific community will have to deal with redundant or weak findings with the potential risk of dissipating even well-grounded notions about the pathophysiology of schizophrenia deriving from almost 50 years of neuroimaging research.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AV and LDP wrote the paper. SB revised and completed the Editorial. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Vita, De Peri and Borgwardt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Which Subgroup of First-Episode Schizophrenia Patients Can Remit During the First Year of Antipsychotic Treatment?

Zhang Cheng<sup>1</sup>, Yanbo Yuan<sup>1</sup>, Xue Han<sup>1</sup>, Lei Yang<sup>1</sup>, Xin Zeng<sup>2</sup>, Fude Yang<sup>3</sup>, Zheng Lu<sup>4</sup>, Chuanyue Wang<sup>5</sup>, Hong Deng<sup>6</sup>, Jingping Zhao<sup>7</sup> and Xin Yu<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Peking University Sixth Hospital, Peking University Institute of Mental Health, NHC Key Laboratory of Mental Health (Peking University), National Clinical Research Center for Mental Disorders (Peking University Sixth Hospital), Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup> Peking University Clinical Research Institute, Beijing, China, <sup>3</sup> Beijing Hui-Long-Guan Hospital, Beijing, China, <sup>4</sup> Tongji Hospital of Tongji University, Shanghai, China, <sup>5</sup> Beijing Anding Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, <sup>6</sup> West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, <sup>7</sup> Mental Health Institute, Second Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, China

#### OPEN ACCESS

**Edited by:** Stefan Borgwardt, University of Basel, Switzerland

#### Reviewed by:

Nikolai Albert, Mental Health Center Glostrup, University Hospital of Copenhagen, Denmark Anna Comparelli, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Xin Yu yuxin@bjmu.edu.cn

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 20 February 2020 Accepted: 03 June 2020 Published: 19 June 2020

#### Citation:

Cheng Z, Yuan Y, Han X, Yang L, Zeng X, Yang F, Lu Z, Wang C, Deng H, Zhao J and Yu X (2020) Which Subgroup of First-Episode Schizophrenia Patients Can Remit During the First Year of Antipsychotic Treatment? Front. Psychiatry 11:566. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00566 **Objective:** To investigate the persistent remission rate (PRR) and its predictors within the first year of antipsychotic treatment in first-episode schizophrenia (FES) patients.

**Methods:** In a sample of 301 FES patients who remained in antipsychotic treatment for 1 year, we assessed symptoms with the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS), cognition in six domains and functioning with the Personal and Social Performance Scale (PSP).

**Results:** In total, 75.4% (227/301) of FES patients remaining in antipsychotic treatment reached persistent remission (PR) in one year. The PSP score was higher in remitters than non-remitters at the endpoint of the 1-year follow-up (P <0.0001). The PANSS negative score—but not the PANSS total score, positive score or general psychopathological score; PSP score; or cognitive performance at baseline—was negatively associated with PR. Lower scores for "abstract thinking" and "stereotyped thinking" were independent predictors of PR.

**Conclusions:** In FES, nearly 3/4 patients could achieve PR with 1 year of antipsychotic treatment, and having fewer negative symptoms, especially thinking and volition symptoms, can predict PR.

Clinical Trial Registration: www.ClinicalTrials.gov, identifier NCT01057849.

Keywords: first-episode, schizophrenia, antipsychotic, remission, negative symptom

## INTRODUCTION

The prognosis of schizophrenia is considered much worse than that of other psychoses (1). Patients with a first episode of schizophrenia tend to respond better to antipsychotics than chronic patients (2). Various guidelines suggest that first-episode schizophrenia (FES) patients should remain on antipsychotics for at least 1 year for maintenance treatment (3). However, only some FES patients

achieve remission in one year of antipsychotic treatment, with remission being the basic aim of such treatment and the basis for an ideal outcome.

It has been reported that the remission rate in FES patients is between 17.0 and 78.0% (4), and this wide range is partly due to the diverse criteria for remission. Remission defined only based upon symptom severity is not stable; approximately 70% of symptom remitters in FES experience symptom exacerbation within 1 year (5). In 2005, Andreasen et al. (with the Remission in Schizophrenia Working Group, RSWG) proposed criteria for persistent remission (PR) in schizophrenia: when eight items on the Positive and Negative Symptoms Scale (PANSS) received a score of less than four points (which was considered to indicate symptomatic remission) for more than 6 months. These criteria were considered to provide researchers and clinicians with a robust, well-defined outcome goal for the long-term treatment of schizophrenia and to facilitate comparison between different studies (6). Jager et al. revealed that the consistency between the criteria by the RSWG (including both symptom severity and minimum time threshold) and other criteria employed previously was between 52.6 and 80.0% (7).

Most studies reporting the persistent remission rate (PRR) of FES patients throughout 1 year of antipsychotic treatment were randomized controlled trials (RCTs) (8, 9). However, due to the strictness of the study design, patients in RCTs are assigned a certain antipsychotic and are excluded from the analysis if they switch to another antipsychotic. Approximately one-third of FES patients require a change in medication within their first year of treatment (10). Thus, the remission rate reported in traditional RCTs may reflect remission from one specific antipsychotic rather than a real-world picture of PRR throughout the 1-year antipsychotic treatment.

Most non-RCT longitudinal studies reported remission rates with criteria other than the criteria by the RSWG (11–15). Lally et al. conducted a meta-analysis of first-episode psychosis (FEP) studies that included longitudinal studies and excluded RCTs (16). According to the results, the symptomatic remission rate in FES reached 56.0%, as judged by diverse criteria and based on a wide follow-up duration ranging from 1 to 17 years. Only two of the included studies reported a PRR based on the criteria by the RSWG. One was conducted in Indonesia and followed 59 FES patients for 17 years. It was reported that 23.7% of the patients achieved both symptom and functional remission, and the remitters ceased antipsychotic use beginning in the 11th year (17). The other study was from Hong Kong and reported a PRR of 59.6% within 1 year in a sample of 104 FES spectrum disorder patients; however, medication information was not reported.

Thus, the PRR of FES during 1 year of antipsychotic treatment remains unclear. We aimed to examine the PRR and its predictors during 1 year of antipsychotic treatment for FES. We hypothesized that 1) more than half of the FES patients could remit during the 1-year antipsychotic treatment and 2) baseline sociodemographic, clinical and cognitive characteristics would predict PR.

### METHODS

## **Participants and Setting**

The data came from a 1-year randomized, open-label clinical trial conducted in 6 major psychiatric hospitals in China from 2008 to 2010 (18). The trial was approved by the ethics committees of the participating centers. Written informed consent was obtained after the participants received a complete description of the study.

FES patients with the following characteristics were recruited: illness duration of fewer than 3 years (the onset was determined in the SCID-I/P according to when the first symptom appeared), continuous antipsychotic treatment for fewer than 4 weeks and a cumulative period of intermittent antipsychotic treatment of fewer than 12 weeks. A 3-phase design was employed to mimic the reality of clinical practice (18). Phase I was a randomization phase (comparison of the three antipsychotics (risperidone, olanzapine and aripiprazole) has been published) (19). Patients who showed little or no benefit from the Phase 1 treatment were allowed to enter Phase 2, in which patients underwent a medication switch to one of the other two antipsychotics. Patients who did not respond to the second antipsychotic were allowed to enter Phase 3, which allowed the research psychiatrists to introduce other antipsychotics such as clozapine and augmentation or antipsychotic polypharmacy. Concomitant treatments such as antidepressants or mood stabilizers were permitted if necessary. The design aimed to keep the patients on antipsychotic treatment for as long as possible. The primary outcome in the original RCT was the baseline-to-endpoint change in the PANSS total score (19). This study was a secondary analysis of an RCT database and based on data of subjects who completed the 1-year follow-up. In total, 569 patients were recruited, and 301 subjects completed the 1-year follow-up (20). Data from the 301 patients were included in the analysis. There were no differences in the demographic, psychopathological and functional data between those who completed the 1-year follow-up and those who did not (P > 0.05).

#### **Assessment and Evaluation**

Basic demographic data were collected with a standard data collection form designed especially for this study. Clinical characteristics, including illness duration, acute onset (less than 3 months from symptom onset to full disease manifestation), and early onset (onset before 18 years) was drawn from the SCID-I/P. Psychopathology was measured with the PANSS (21). Function was evaluated with the Personal and Social Performance Scale (PSP) (22). Recruited patients were evaluated by a trained psychiatrist in each hospital at baseline and at week 4, 8, 12, 26, 39 and 52. Six cognitive domains (verbal learning and memory with the Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-Revised [HVLT-R]; visual learning and memory with the Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised [BVMT-R]; speed of processing with the Trail Making Test Part A, Color Trails Test, category fluency test, Stroop Color Test and Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale digit symbol-coding subtest; working

memory and attention with the Wechsler Memory Scale-spatial span subtest and paced auditory serial addition task; executive function with the Stroop Color-Word Test and Color Trails Test; and motor skills with the Grooved Pegboard Test) were measured at baseline (23, 24).

There were two to three psychiatrists responsible for the clinical assessments at each site. All interviewers attended a 1-week training workshop on the use of the rating instruments (the PANSS, PSP and cognitive tests) prior to the study and reached a high level of consistency (intraclass correlation coefficients or kappa values >0.75).

#### **Primary Outcome**

The primary outcome was PRR within 52 weeks, which was calculated as the number of patients who achieved PR within 52 weeks divided by the number of patients who completed the 52-week follow-up. PR was defined with the PANSS as a score on items P1, P2, P3, N1, N4, N6, G5, and G9  $\leq$ 3 for at least 6 consecutive months (6). The secondary outcomes were predictors of PR within 52 weeks.

#### **Statistical Methods**

Independent T-tests or nonparametric tests were used to compare the demographic, psychopathological and functional data between remitters and non-remitters. A chi-square test was used to compare categorical data, including gender and originally assigned antipsychotic.

Any variable that was significant in the univariate analysis was confirmed in the multivariate logistic regression analysis with the scores of the six cognitive domains (reported as diathesis factors in schizophrenia).

A final multivariate logistic analysis was conducted on the variables that were confirmed to be significant in the multivariate logistic analysis mentioned above to explore potential interactions.

#### RESULTS

#### Rate of Remission Within 1 Year of Antipsychotic Treatment

At the endpoint of the 1-year follow-up, 75.4% (227/301) of patients had achieved PR. In total, with the early discontinuers included in denominator, 39.9% (227/569) of patients achieved

PR. At the endpoint, the PSP score was higher in remitters than non-remitters (P < 0.0001) (**Table 1**).

## Demographic and Clinical Characteristics of the Sample

In the 301 patients who completed the first year of antipsychotic treatment, there was no difference between remitters and non-remitters in terms of baseline demographic and clinical characteristics, namely, psychiatric family history, illness duration, acute onset (less than 3 months from symptom onset to full disease manifestation), early onset (onset before 18 years) and concomitant antidepressants or mood stabilizers. Totally, 27 subjects accepted antidepressants, with fluoxetine equivalent dose (25.7  $\pm$  8.9)mg (25, 26). Non-remitters were associated with more medication switch and higher daily antipsychotic dosage (in olanzapine equivalent) (27) during 1-year treatment, which indicated more treatment effort (**Table 2**).

## Comparison Between Remitters and Non-Remitters

#### Univariate Analysis of the Baseline Characteristics

At baseline, the PANSS negative score was lower in remitters than in non-remitters; however, there were no differences in the PANSS total, positive and general psychopathological scores; PSP score; and cognitive performance (all P > 0.05) (**Table 3**). Of the seven items on the PANSS negative scale, the N2 "emotional withdrawal", N4 "passive/apathetic", N5 "abstract thinking" and N7 "stereotyped thinking" scores were lower in remitters (P < 0.01, P < 0.05, P < 0.01 and P < 0.05, respectively) than in non-remitters, but there were no differences in the N1 "blunted affect", N3 "poor rapport" and N6 "lack of spontaneity" scores.

#### Multivariate Analysis of the Baseline Characteristics

In the multivariate analysis including the PANSS negative scale score (P <0.05, OR = 0.947[0.906, 0.990]), N2 "emotional withdrawal" (P <0.05, OR = 0.789[0.626, 0.995]), N4 (P <0.05, OR = 0.799[0.646, 0.990]), N5 (P <0.05, OR = 0.761[0.602, 0.961]), and N7 "stereotyped thinking" (P <0.05, OR = 0.745 [0.588, 0.943]) scores, respectively with the 6 cognitive scores, their significance persisted.

In logistic regression analysis including N2 "emotional withdrawal", N4 "passive/apathetic", N5 "abstract thinking" and N7 "stereotyped thinking" as independent variables, N5 "abstract thinking" and N7 "stereotyped thinking" remained

TABLE 1 | Comparison of endpoint clinical characteristics between remitters and non-remitters.

	Remitters	Non-remitters	Remitters and non-remitters	Р
	(N = 227)	(N = 74)	(N = 301)	
Endpoint characteristics				
PANSS-total score	35.9(5.8)	48.2(13.1)	38.9(9.8)	0.000
PANSS-positive score	7.4(1.1)	10.0(4.8)	8.0(2.8)	0.000
PANSS-negative score	9.5(3.0)	15.3(5.8)	10.9(4.6)	0.000
PANSS-general psychopathological score	19.0(3.0)	23.0(6.0)	20.0(4.3)	0.000
PSP	80.0(9.3)	68.3(12.4)	77.2(11.3)	0.000

PANSS, positive and negative syndrome scale. Theoretical scores range from 30 to 210 (total score), from 7 to 49 (positive scale), from 7 to 49 (negative scale), and from 16 to 112 (general psychopathology scale). Higher scores indicate more severe psychopathology. PSP, personal and social performance scale. Higher scores indicate better function.

#### TABLE 2 | Baseline demographic characteristics and clinical characteristics of the population.

	Remitters N = 227	Non-remitters N = 74	Remitters and Non-remitters N = 301	р
Age (years)	24.8 (7.0)	24.9 (7.9)	24.8 (7.2)	0.527
Gender (Male)	126 (56.3%)	45 (60.8%)	171 (57.4%)	0.492
Marital status (Single)	184 (82.1%)	61 (82.4%)	245 (82.2%)	0.955
Education (years)	12.8 (2.8)	12.5 (2.8)	12.8 (2.8)	0.431
Positive psychiatric family history	17 (7.8)	10 (14.3)	27 (9.4)	0.105
Age of onset	24.2 (7.0)	24.4 (8.0)	24.2 (7.3)	0.638
Illness duration (months)	10.1 (10.3)	12.2 (11.2)	10.6 (10.6)	0.157
Acute onset	55 (29.6%)	15 (24.6%)	70 (28.3%)	0.454
Early onset	21 (22.6%)	12 (33.3%)	33 (25.6%)	0.209
Primary medication				0.556
Risperidone	86 (78.9%)	23 (21.1%)	109 (36.2%)	
Olanzapine	61 (72.6%)	23 (27.4%)	84 (27.9%)	
Aripiprazole	80 (74.1%)	28 (25.9%)	108 (35.9%)	
Daily dose	14.0 (4.2)	16.2 (3.5)	14.5 (4.1)	0.000
(in olanzapine equivalent)				
Medication switch	63 (27.8%)	32 (43.2%)	95 (31.6%)	0.013
Concomitant treatments				
Mood stabilizers	0	0	0	N/A
Antidepressants	19 (8.4%)	8 (10.8%)	27 (9.0%)	0.523

significant but N2"emotional withdrawal" and N4 "passive/ apathetic" did not. Considering the potential overlap of N2 "emotional withdrawal" and N4 "passive/apathetic", we conducted two additional logistic regression analyses including N2 "emotional withdrawal", N5 "abstract thinking" and N7 "stereotyped thinking" and N4 "passive/apathetic", N5 "abstract thinking" and N7 "stereotyped thinking" respectively, and the significance of N5 "abstract thinking" and N7 "stereotyped thinking" persisted.

#### DISCUSSION

Nearly 3/4 FES patients, who completed the 1-year routine antipsychotic treatment, achieved relatively stable clinical recovery and functional recovery. Patients with fewer negative symptoms had a better chance of PR. One higher score on item N2 "emotional withdrawal", N4 "passive/apathetic", N5 "abstract

thinking" or N7 "stereotyped thinking" could reduce the possibility of PR by nearly 1/5 to 1/4.

## FES PRR Within 1 Year of Treatment

Gabeal et al. obtained an average PRR of 42.3% (2–3 years after the acute phase) based on the results from more than 10 FES studies conducted from 2006 to 2011 (5). A recent meta-analysis showed an FES symptomatic remission rate as high as 56.0% (16). All the studies mentioned above included the dropouts in the denominators when calculating the PRR. The PRR in this study was 39.9% (227/569) if the dropouts were included in the analysis, which is consistent with previous studies. This result suggests that more than 1/3 of FES patients achieved PR within the 1-year follow-up. However, including the dropouts in the denominator when calculating the PRR might lead to confusion. On the one hand, the dropouts may achieve PR after dropping out of the study, which might lead to underestimation of the rate. On the other hand, the rate could be greatly influenced by the

TABLE 3 | Comparison of baseline characteristics between remitters and non-remitters.

	Remitters	Non-remitters	Remitters and non-remitters	Р
	(N = 227)	(N = 74)	(N = 301)	
Baseline characteristics				
PANSS-total score	85.7 (13.7)	88.3 (15.4)	86.3 (14.2)	0.161
PANSS-positive score	23.4 (5.2)	23.4 (5.3)	23.4 (5.2)	0.880
PANSS-negative score	20.3 (7.2)	22.9 (5.3)	23.4 (5.2)	0.007
PANSS-general psychopathological score	42.0 (7.6)	42.0 (7.6)	42.0 (7.6)	0.741
PSP	42.2 (12.3)	41.5 (17.0)	42.0 (13.6)	0.252
Verbal learning	36.9 (11.7)	39.0 (10.8)	37.4 (11.5)	0.233
Visual learning	38.1 (11.9)	37.3 (10.1)	37.9 (11.5)	0.657
Working memory and attention	36.6 (9.9)	35.4 (10.2)	36.3 (9.9)	0.418
Information processing speed	36.3 (8.3)	34.6 (9.4)	35.9 (8.6)	0.179
Executive function	33.1 (10.7)	32.2 (9.6)	32.9 (10.4)	0.573
Fine motor	27.2 (10.6)	26.3 (10.9)	27.0 (10.7)	0.577

All the abbreviations are explained in the first footnote to Table 1.

dropout rate; thus, the PRR with the dropouts included might reflect a social or behavioral dimension rather than the outcome of antipsychotic treatment, although Lally et al. reported that remission in FEP was not associated with dropout rates (16).

When only patients who completed the 1-year follow-up were included in the denominators in RCTs, Boter et al. reported a PRR of 68.7% in the EUFEST study, and Crespo-Facorro et al. reported a PRR of 35.2% (9). Another RCT of 111 patients in Germany showed that the PRR was 58.6% (65/111); however, some patients also received psychological education or CBT for 8 weeks (5). The PRR in our study was much higher, which suggested that a relatively flexible regimen was needed to maximize the possibility of PR in FES.

One naturalistic follow-up study of 104 FEP patients in Hong Kong showed that the PRR was 59.6% (28), but this study did not define the antipsychotic treatment patients had received prior to recruitment. Our study recruited only FES patients with no or minimal antipsychotic exposure. Being previously untreated was a predictor of remission in general schizophrenia (11). The difference in the PRR between our study and the study by Chang et al. suggested that being previously untreated might also be a predictor of PRR in the FES population. Thus, most FES patients, who completed the 1-year antipsychotic treatment, achieved relatively stable symptomatic and functional outcomes.

#### **Predictors of PR in FES**

This study indicates that PR in FES patients who completed the 1-year antipsychotic treatment was not associated with gender, age, onset age (5, 8, 16), medication (9), or education level (14), which was consistent with previous studies.

#### Cognitive Impairment and PR

Cognitive impairment is considered a diathesis factor in schizophrenia. However, Boter et al. failed to demonstrate that cognitive impairment predicted PR in the EUFEST study (8). Ventura et al. also showed that cognitive impairment, including in vocabulary, comprehension and visual information processing speed, was not associated with the PRR in the FEP population (29). Although Simonsen et al. suggested that baseline information processing speed—but not verbal memory, verbal fluency, working memory and interference control—was better in remitters than in non-remitters, the significance disappeared in a multivariate analysis (14). This study confirmed that cognitive impairment was not associated with PR within the first year of antipsychotic treatment.

#### Baseline Symptoms and PR

Notably, negative symptoms were the only independent predictor of PR within the first year of antipsychotic treatment, consistent with several previous studies (28). Baseline symptoms (especially negative symptoms) predicted remission in FES patients in a systemic review (4), although Ceskova et al. followed 93 male FES patients for 1 year and found no difference in the baseline PANSS total score or subscale scores between remitters and non-remitters (30). A more recent metaanalysis of FEP suggested that baseline psychotic symptoms were not associated with remission; however, it did not explore the potential effects of subgroup symptoms (16).

We found that negative symptoms rather than overall symptoms might predict PR and further revealed that "emotional withdrawal", "passive/apathetic", "abstractive thinking" and "stereotyped thinking" but not "blunted affect", "poor rapport" and "lack of spontaneity and flow of conversation" predicted PR. This result suggested that only some negative symptoms are associated with PR.

"Emotional withdrawal" and "passive/apathetic" both refer to others' observations and are used to assess volition impairment in patients with schizophrenia. There is abundant evidence demonstrating daily activity reduction in schizophrenia; however, the potential predictive power of these symptoms had not been explored previously.

It is interesting that the two items ("abstractive thinking" and "stereotyped thinking") describing thinking impairment and not the items describing volition impairment were shown to independently predict PR. In other words, volition symptoms were mediated by thinking symptoms in their prediction of PR. P5 "abstractive thinking" refers to the ability to comprehend and abstract. N7 "stereotyped thinking" refers to the flexibility of thinking, that is, the ability to shift between two perspectives (or two beliefs about the world) according to the demands of the social situation. The Word Fluency Test in the cognitive assessment battery was used to assess the richness of thinking; however, performance on this test did not differ between remitters and non-remitters in a post hoc analysis. Thus, impairment in the ability to comprehend and abstract and in thinking flexibility rather than other thinking impairments (e.g., richness) might predict a lower likelihood of PR. Abstract thinking impairment is an established deficit in schizophrenia (31), and impairment in cognitive flexibility has been found in FES patients (32). This subgroup of negative symptoms has a high degree of overlap with cognitive symptoms. In fact, abstract thinking and stereotyped thinking are items of the cognitive rather than the negative component of the PANSS (33). It has been demonstrated that disorganization (with difficulty in abstract thinking as one of the three items) played a key (direct and indirect) role in real-life functioning in patients with schizophrenia (34). Comparelli et al., further demonstrated that difficulty in abstract thinking was correlated with social cognition and did not differ between early schizophrenia and late schizophrenia (35). However, there has been little research exploring the significance of these impairments in the prognosis of schizophrenia, though there has been some research exploring the underlying neural basis (32, 36). Our findings call for further studies with stricter designs to examine the predictive power of negative symptoms for PR, especially thinking symptoms and volition impairment rather than affective symptoms. Additionally, FES patients usually display mild or no negative symptoms, unlike chronic patients; indeed, in this study, the symptom severity as measured by the items on the negative subscale was generally "very mild" or "mild". This might also explain why there was no difference in the perseveration error in the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test

(WCST) or the completion time in the Color Trail II test between remitters and non-remitters in the *post hoc* analysis. However, these two variables reflect thinking flexibility in a rather limited and inflexible way, while the PANSS item N7 "stereotyped thinking" assesses comprehensive judgment of general information and thus better reflects mild impairment. Therefore, we speculate that even mild negative thinking or volition symptoms at baseline might predict a lower likelihood of PR in FES. More studies are needed to confirm this hypothesis.

Clinically, our findings suggested that FES patients with even mild difficulty in understanding others' words or shifting their perspectives according to the social situation or who exhibit a mild reduction in daily activities might be less likely to remit during the first year of antipsychotic treatment, despite the severity of their other symptoms, including positive symptoms and negative affective symptoms.

The study had several limitations. First, the follow-up period was 1 year, so the results cannot be generalized to a longer period. However, Ceskova et al. found that in male patients with FES, the remission rates after 1, 4 and 7 years of treatment were comparable, and patients who did not remit within the first year of treatment did not remit after 4 or 7 years of treatment either (37). It is possible that remission within a 1-year treatment period could be used to predict subsequent remission. Second, we focused on patients who completed the whole year of antipsychotic treatment; thus, we failed to provide information about remission in FES patients who discontinued their antipsychotic treatment, that is nearly half of the whole group. Kurihara et al. (17), who followed schizophrenia patients for 17 years, revealed that all remitters had ceased taking antipsychotics, which suggested that patients who discontinued their antipsychotics could also remit. The remission rate and its predictors in these patients need to be explored via studies with special designs and large samples. Third, patients who did not continue the follow-up may have received treatment from other psychiatric hospitals, the remission rate and its predictors in this group of patients were beyond the study. Fourth, we did not employ the MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery (MCCB) in cognitive assessment which is the most widely used and standardized neuropsychological test battery for assessing cognition in schizophrenia worldwide and was in the process of development when this trial was conducted. Social cognition included in the MCCB was not assessed in this study. Fifth, this study included FES patients with an illness duration not exceeding three years; thus, whether patients with an illness duration longer than 3 years are less likely to remit could not be determined by this study.

### CONCLUSION

The present study showed that over 3/4 FES patients achieved PR within 1 year of antipsychotic treatment. Patients with no impairment in their comprehension ability, thinking flexibility

and daily activities were more likely to achieve PR, indicating that thinking and volition negative symptoms define the subset of FES patients who are less likely to achieve ideal symptom outcomes in 1 year of antipsychotic treatment. Thus, assessing these symptoms in detail is necessary in clinical practice. Optimization of the current pharmacological and nonpharmacological strategies for treating this group of patients is warranted.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Peking University Sixth Hospital Ethics Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

XY, YY, FY, ZL, CW, HD, and JZ designed the study. XY obtained funding and supervised the study. XZ and ZC analyzed the data. XY, ZC, and XZ interpreted the data and drafted the report. ZC, XH, LY, FY, ZL, CW, HD, JZ, and YY participated in the collection of data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by National Key Project of Scientific and Technical Supporting Programs funded by Ministry of Science & Technology of China (No. 2007BAI17B04) and the Key Program of Beijing Science and Technology Commission (D171100007017002). CNFEST received study drugs from Eli Lily, Janssen & Janssen and Kanghong Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. The funding agency of the study as well as the pharmaceutical companies providing the study medications in kind had no role in study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, writing of the report, or decision where to publish the results.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the participating patients and their families, as well as the site investigators, without whom this study would not have been possible.

## REFERENCES

- Menezes NM, Malla AM, Norman RM, Archie S, Roy P, Zipursky RB. A multi-site Canadian perspective: examining the functional outcome from first-episode psychosis. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2009) 120(2):138–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2009.01346.x
- Zhu Y, Li C, Huhn M, Rothe P, Krause M, Bighelli I, et al. How well do patients with a first episode of schizophrenia respond to antipsychotics: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2017) 27 (9):835–44. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2017.06.011
- Leucht S, Heres S, Kissling W, Davis JM. Evidence-based pharmacotherapy of schizophrenia. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2011) 14(2):269–84. doi: 10.1017/S1461145710001380
- AlAqeel B, Margolese HC. Remission in schizophrenia: critical and systematic review. *Harv Rev Psychiatry* (2012) 20(6):281–97. doi: 10.3109/ 10673229.2012.747804
- Gaebel W, Riesbeck M, Wolwer W, Klimke A, Eickhoff M, von Wilmsdorff M, et al. Rates and predictors of remission in first-episode schizophrenia within 1 year of antipsychotic maintenance treatment. Results of a randomized controlled trial within the German Research Network on Schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 152(2-3):478–86. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.04.012
- Andreasen NC, Carpenter WT, Kane JM, Lasser RA, Marder SR, Weinberger DR. Remission in schizophrenia: proposed criteria and rationale for consensus. *Am J Psychiatry* (2005) 162(3):441–9. doi: 10.1176/ appi.ajp.162.3.441
- Jager M, Messer T, Laux G, Pfeiffer H, Naber D, Schmidt LG, et al. Standardized remission criteria in schizophrenia: descriptive validity and comparability with previously used outcome measures. *Pharmacopsychiatry* (2008) 41(5):190–5. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1078745
- Boter H, Peuskens J, Libiger J, Fleischhacker WW, Davidson M, Galderisi S, et al. Effectiveness of antipsychotics in first-episode schizophrenia and schizophreniform disorder on response and remission: an open randomized clinical trial (EUFEST). *Schizophr Res* (2009) 115(2-3):97–103. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2009.09.019
- Crespo-Facorro B, Perez-Iglesias R, Mata I, Caseiro O, Martinez-Garcia O, Pardo G, et al. Relapse prevention and remission attainment in first-episode non-affective psychosis. A randomized, controlled 1-year follow-up comparison of haloperidol, risperidone and olanzapine. J Psychiatr Res (2011) 45(6):763–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.11.002
- Perez-Iglesias R, Crespo-Facorro B, Martinez-Garcia O, Ramirez-Bonilla ML, Alvarez-Jimenez M, Pelayo-Teran JM, et al. Weight gain induced by haloperidol, risperidone and olanzapine after 1 year: findings of a randomized clinical trial in a drug-naive population. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 99(1-3):13–22. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.10.022
- Gasquet I, Haro JM, Tcherny-Lessenot S, Chartier F, Lepine JP. Remission in the outpatient care of schizophrenia: 3-year results from the Schizophrenia Outpatients Health Outcomes (SOHO) study in France. *Eur Psychiatry* (2008) 23(7):491–6. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2008.03.012
- Haro JM, Novick D, Bertsch J, Karagianis J, Dossenbach M, Jones PB. Crossnational clinical and functional remission rates: Worldwide Schizophrenia Outpatient Health Outcomes (W-SOHO) study. Br J Psychiatry (2011) 199 (3):194–201. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.110.082065
- Kelly DL, Weiner E, Ball MP, McMahon RP, Carpenter WT, Buchanan RW. Remission in schizophrenia: the relationship to baseline symptoms and changes in symptom domains during a one-year study. *J Psychopharmacol* (2009) 23(4):436–41. doi: 10.1177/0269881108093883
- Simonsen C, Faerden A, Romm KL, Berg AO, Bjella T, Sundet K, et al. Early clinical recovery in first-episode psychosis: Symptomatic remission and its correlates at 1-year follow-up. *Psychiatry Res* (2017) 254:118–25. doi: 10.1016/ j.psychres.2017.04.050
- Ucok A, Serbest S, Kandemir PE. Remission after first-episode schizophrenia: results of a long-term follow-up. *Psychiatry Res* (2011) 189(1):33–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2010.11.013
- Lally J, Ajnakina O, Stubbs B, Cullinane M, Murphy KC, Gaughran F, et al. Remission and recovery from first-episode psychosis in adults: systematic review and meta-analysis of long-term outcome studies. *Br J Psychiatry* (2017) 211(6):350–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.117.201475

- Kurihara T, Kato M, Reverger R, Tirta IG. Seventeen-year clinical outcome of schizophrenia in Bali. *Eur Psychiatry* (2011) 26(5):333–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.eurpsy.2011.04.003
- Han X, Yuan YB, Yu X, Zhao JP, Wang CY, Lu Z, et al. The Chinese First-Episode Schizophrenia Trial: background and study design. *East Asian Arch Psychiatry* (2014) 24(4):169–73.
- Cheng Z, Yuan YB, Han X, Yang L, Cai S, Yang F, et al. An open-label randomised comparison of aripiprazole, olanzapine and risperidone for the acute treatment of first-episode schizophrenia: Eight-week outcomes. *J Psychopharmacol* (2019) 33(10):1227–36. doi: 10.1177/0269881119872193
- 20. Cheng Z, Yuan Y, Han X, Yang L, Zeng X, Yang F, et al. Rates and predictors of one-year antipsychotic treatment discontinuation in first-episode schizophrenia: Results from an open-label, randomized, "real world" clinical trial. *Psychiatry Res* (2019) 273:631–40. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2019.01.068
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull (1987) 13(2):261–76. doi: 10.1093/ schbul/13.2.261
- Tianmei S, Liang S, Yun'ai S, Chenghua T, Jun Y, Jia C, et al. The Chinese version of the Personal and Social Performance Scale (PSP): validity and reliability. *Psychiatry Res* (2011) 185(1-2):275–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2010.05.001
- Nuechterlein KH, Green MF, Kern RS, Baade LE, Barch DM, Cohen JD, et al. The MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery, part 1: test selection, reliability, and validity[J]. Am J Psychiatry (2008) 165(2):203–13. doi: 10.1176/ appi.ajp.2007.07010042
- Shi C, Kang L, Yao SQ, Ma Y, Li T, Liang Y, et al. The MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery (MCCB): Co-norming and standardization in China[J]. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 169:109–15. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.09.003
- Bollini P, Pampallona S, Tibaldi G, Kupelnick B, Munizza C. Effectiveness of antidepressants. Meta-analysis of dose-effect relationships in randomised clinical trials. Br J Psychiatry (1999) 174:297–303. doi: 10.1192/bjp.174.4.297
- 26. Furukawa TA, Cipriani A, Cowen PJ, Leucht S, Egger M, Salanti G. Optimal dose of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, venlafaxine, and mirtazapine in major depression: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2019) 6(7):601–9. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30217-2
- Gardner DM, Murphy AL, O'Donnell H, Centorrino F, Baldessarini RJ. International consensus study of antipsychotic dosing. *Am J Psychiatry* (2010) 167(6):686–93. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.09060802
- Chang WC, Chan TC, Chen ES, Hui CL, Wong GH, Chan SK, et al. The concurrent and predictive validity of symptomatic remission criteria in firstepisode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 143(1):107–15. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2012.10.016
- Ventura J, Subotnik KL, Guzik LH, Hellemann GS, Gitlin MJ, Wood RC, et al. Remission and recovery during the first outpatient year of the early course of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 132(1):18–23. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2011.06.025
- Ceskova E, Radovan P, Tomas K, Hana K. One-year follow-up of patients with first-episode schizophrenia (comparison between remitters and nonremitters). *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* (2007) 3(1):153–60. doi: 10.2147/ nedt.2007.3.1.153
- Harrow M, Adler D, Hanf E. Abstract and concrete thinking in schizophrenia during the prechronic phases. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (1974) 31(1):27–33. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1974.01760130013002
- 32. Pardo BM, Garolera M, Ariza M, Pareto D, Salamero M, Valles V, et al. Improvement of cognitive flexibility and cingulate blood flow correlates after atypical antipsychotic treatment in drug-naive patients with first-episode schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2011) 194(3):205–11. doi: 10.1016/ j.pscychresns.2011.06.001
- 33. Si T, Yang JZ, Shu L, Wang XL, Kong QM, Zhou M, et al. The reliability, validity of PANSS and its implication. *Chin Ment Health J* (2004) 18(1):45–7. doi: 10.3321/j.issn:1000-6729.2004.01.016
- 34. Galderisi S, Rossi A, Rocca P, Bertolino A, Mucci A, Bucci P, et al. Italian Network For Research on, Psychoses. The influence of illness-related variables, personal resources and context-related factors on real-life functioning of people with schizophrenia. World Psychiatry (2014) 13 (3):275–87. doi: 10.1002/wps.20167
- 35. Comparelli A, Corigliano V, Forcina F, Bargagna P, Montalbani B, Falcone G, et al. The Complex Relationship Among Formal Thought Disorders,

Neurocognition, and Functioning in Nonacutely Ill Schizophrenia Patients. J Nerv Ment Dis (2020) 208(1):48–55. doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000001087

- Oh J, Chun JW, Joon JOH, Kim E, Park HJ, Lee B, et al. The neural basis of a deficit in abstract thinking in patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 234(1):66–73. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2015.08.007
- Ceskova E, Prikryl R, Kasparek T. Outcome in males with first-episode schizophrenia: 7-year follow-up. World J Biol Psychiatry (2011) 12(1):66– 72. doi: 10.3109/15622975.2010.518625

**Conflict of Interest:** XY has been an advisor or in speaker's bureau to or has received honoraria from: Eli Lilly China, Xian Janssen, Lundbeck, Pfizer China, Eisai China, Novartis China and Sanofi China.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Cheng, Yuan, Han, Yang, Zeng, Yang, Lu, Wang, Deng, Zhao and Yu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Gray Matter Changes in the Insular Cortex During the Course of the Schizophrenia Spectrum

Tsutomu Takahashi<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Mikio Kido<sup>1,2</sup>, Daiki Sasabayashi<sup>1,2</sup>, Mihoko Nakamura<sup>1,2</sup>, Atsushi Furuichi<sup>1,2</sup>, Yoichiro Takayanagi<sup>1,3</sup>, Kyo Noguchi<sup>4</sup> and Michio Suzuki<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neuropsychiatry, University of Toyama Graduate School of Medicine and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Toyama, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Research Center for Idling Brain Science, University of Toyama, Toyama, Japan, <sup>3</sup> Arisawabashi Hospital, Toyama, Japan, <sup>4</sup> Department of Radiology, University of Toyama Graduate School of Medicine and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Toyama, Japan

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Luca De Peri, Independent Researcher, Mendrisio, Switzerland

#### Reviewed by:

Elisabetta C. del Re, Harvard Medical School, United States Teresa Sanchez-Gutierrez, Universidad Internacional De La Rioja, Spain

> \***Correspondence:** Tsutomu Takahashi tsutomu@med.u-toyama.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

**Received:** 18 May 2020 **Accepted:** 25 June 2020 **Published:** 10 July 2020

#### Citation:

Takahashi T, Kido M, Sasabayashi D, Nakamura M, Furuichi A, Takayanagi Y, Noguchi K and Suzuki M (2020) Gray Matter Changes in the Insular Cortex During the Course of the Schizophrenia Spectrum. Front. Psychiatry 11:659. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00659 Progressive gray matter reductions in the insular cortex have been reported in the early phases of schizophrenia (Sz); however, the trajectory of these reductions during the course of the illness currently remains unclear. Furthermore, it has not yet been established whether patients with schizotypal (SzTypal) features exhibit progressive changes in the insular cortex. This follow-up magnetic resonance imaging study examined volume changes in the short and long insular cortices (mean inter-scan interval = 2.6 years) of 23 first-episode (FE) and 17 chronic patients with Sz, 14 with SzTypal disorder, and 21 healthy controls. Baseline comparisons revealed smaller insular cortex volumes bilaterally in Sz patients (particularly in the chronic group) than in SzTypal patients and healthy controls. FESz patients showed significantly larger gray matter reductions in the insular cortex over time (left: -3.4%/year; right: -2.9%/year) than those in healthy controls (-0.1%/year for both hemispheres) without the effect of subregion or antipsychotic medication, whereas chronic Sz (left: -1.5%/year; right: -1.6%/year) and SzTypal (left: 0.5%/year; right: -0.6%/year) patients did not. Active atrophy of the right insular cortex during FE correlated with fewer improvements in positive symptoms in the Sz groups, while mild atrophy of the left insular cortex during the chronic phase was associated with the severity of negative symptoms in the follow-up period. The present results support dynamic volumetric changes in the insular cortex being specific to overt Sz among the spectrum disorders examined and their degree and role in symptomatology appear to differ across the illness stages.

Keywords: insular cortex, magnetic resonance imaging, schizophrenia, schizotypal disorder, progressive changes

## INTRODUCTION

Gray matter reductions in the insular cortex, particularly in the anterior portion (i.e., the short insula), which has emotional and language-related functions (1, 2), are one of the most definitive findings in schizophrenia (Sz) (3, 4). Further, previous functional neuroimaging evidences have suggested that abnormal activation and/or connectivity in the brain regions associated with the salience network, including the insular cortex, are involved in the production and persistence of auditory hallucinations

(5-7). Morphological changes of the insular cortex may exist in the first episode (FE) or even prior to illness onset (3, 8, 9), supporting its early neurodevelopmental pathology. However, longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies demonstrated progressive gray matter loss during the course of Sz, which appears to be non-linear and most prominent in the early illness stages (10, 11). Although dynamic brain alterations in peri-Sylvian regions (such as the superior temporal gyrus and insula) around the onset of Sz have been suggested to contribute to positive psychotic symptoms (12), it currently remains unclear whether mild atrophy at the later illness stage is still involved in clinical manifestations. Due to the lack of detailed medication data in these previous studies (10, 11), it also has not yet been established whether antipsychotic medication significantly influences insular gray matter changes during the course of the illness. Furthermore, limited information is currently available on whether the putative pathophysiological trajectory of the insular cortex is specific to overt Sz or commonly exists within spectrum disorders.

Patients with schizotypal (SzTypal) disorder (13) or SzTypal personality disorder (14), a prototypical Sz spectrum condition, have biological and phenomenological commonalities with more severely ill patients with Sz (15). They may exhibit similar gray matter reductions in the temporal regions with overt Sz, which may represent a common susceptibility to Sz, but show less prominent changes in the fronto-limbic regions (16-18). Although only a few longitudinal MRI studies have been conducted on SzTypal patients, they are also characterized by the absence of the progressive gray matter reductions observed in the temporal regions of Sz (19, 20), which supports the notion that the active brain pathological process underlying the emergence of overt psychosis does not occur in SzTypal patients (15). On the other hand, although our previous crosssectional study found no gray matter reductions in the anterior or posterior somatosensory (i.e., long insula) portions (1, 2) of the insular cortex in SzTypal patients (21), it is unknown whether they exhibit insular gray matter changes over time.

This longitudinal MRI study was conducted to investigate the trajectory of gray matter changes in insular subregions in the Sz spectrum (i.e., Sz and SzTypal disorder patients). Volume changes in the short and long insular cortices were compared between patients with FESz, chronic Sz, SzTypal, and healthy controls. Due to the different phenomenology between Sz and SzTypal patients in addition to the potential role of a dynamic pathological brain process in the development of psychosis (18), we predicted progressive insular atrophy in Sz (particularly the FE group), but not in SzTypal patients, which may be associated with symptomatology. We also examined the influence of antipsychotic medication on longitudinal insular changes.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Participants**

Study participants included 40 patients with Sz (23 FE and 17 chronic cases), 14 with SzTypal disorder, and 21 healthy controls (**Table 1**) who were scanned twice with an inter-scan interval of

approximately 2 to 3 years using the same scanner/parameters; they were all right-handed and healthy physically without any previous history of serious medical diseases (including neurological illnesses and head trauma) or substance abuse disorder. The insular cortex volumes of 14/23 FESz, 4/17 chronic Sz, 12/14 SzTypal, and 14/21 healthy controls in this cohort were reported in our previous cross-sectional study (21); however, this was the first longitudinal study on the insular cortex using our data.

As described elsewhere (19, 22), Sz and SzTypal patients fulfilling the research criteria for ICD-10 (13) were recruited from the in- and outpatient clinics of the Department of Neuropsychiatry, Toyama University Hospital. Diagnoses were confirmed in a structured clinical interview [i.e., the Comprehensive Assessment of Symptoms and History (23)], supplemented by a detailed review of medical charts and clinical symptoms, which were rated at the time of scanning using the Scale for the Assessment of Negative/Positive Symptoms [SANS/SAPS (24)]. FESz patients were defined by an illness duration  $\leq 1$  year (N = 19) or under first psychiatric hospitalization (N = 4) at baseline (25, 26), while chronic Sz patients were defined as those with an illness duration > 3 years at baseline. The sample characteristics and recruitment strategy of our clinic-based SzTypal cohort were previously described in detail (19, 22, 27, 28); participants also met the DSM Axis II diagnosis of SzTypal personality disorder (14) and none developed overt psychosis during the follow-up period (mean = 2.9 years, SD = 0.8). They visited our hospital because of the distress or associated problems (e.g., irritability, anxiety and depressive symptoms, and suicidal ideation) stemming from their SzTypal features, which required clinical care including antipsychotic medications. Thus, our SzTypal cohort was considered to be more severely ill than SzTypal individuals among the general population. Table 1 shows a summary of the medication status of participants as well as other clinical data.

Healthy controls, who were screened for a personal or family history of neuropsychiatric disorders among first-degree relatives (29), were recruited from the community, university students, and hospital staff. The Committee on the Medical Ethics of Toyama University approved the study protocol. All study participants provided written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. When participants were under the age of 20 years, written consent was also obtained from the parent or guardian.

#### **MRI Scanning**

Participants were scanned twice at Toyama University Hospital by a 1.5T Magnetom Vision (Siemens Medical System, Inc., Erlangen, Germany) with identical protocols; T1-weighted 1.0mm continuous sagittal images were obtained using threedimensional gradient-echo sequence FLASH (time to echo = 5 ms, time repetition = 24 ms, flip angle = 40°, matrix size = 256 × 256, and voxel dimensions =  $1 \times 1 \times 1$  mm). As described previously (30), intracranial volume (ICV) was measured on reformatted 5-mm sagittal slices using the anatomical landmarks described by Eritaia et al. (31).

	С	SzTypal	FESz	Chronic Sz	Group comparisons
	(12M, 9F)	(10M, 4F)	(15M, 8F)	(7M, 10F)	
Age (years) [range]	24.1 ± 5.6	23.0 ± 4.9 [16.3 to	23.5 ± 4.8 [17.9 to	31.2 ± 7.1	F (3, 71) = 8.14, P < 0.001; C,
	[18.0 to 38.0]	34.4]	32.7]	[19.4 to 45.3]	SzTypal, FESz < Chronic Sz
Height (cm)	$165.0 \pm 7.3$	$166.6 \pm 9.2$	$165.0 \pm 7.9$	163.2 ± 9.2	F (3, 71) = 0.54, P = 0.660
Education (years)	15.1 ± 2.3	12.5 ± 2.4	13.1 ± 1.6	14.2 ± 2.5	<i>F</i> (3, 71) = 5.23, <i>P</i> = 0.003; SzTypal, FESz < C
Parental education (years)	12.8 ± 2.8	12.1 ± 1.6	12.7 ± 2.1	11.8 ± 1.5	F (3, 71) = 0.92, P = 0.438
Inter-scan interval (years) [range]	2.6 ± 0.4 [2.0 to 3.2]	2.9 ± 0.8 [1.8 to 4.4]	2.6 ± 0.8 [1.0 to 4.5]	2.2 ± 0.8 [1.2 to 4.0]	F (3, 71) = 2.60, P = 0.059
Onset age (years)		-	$22.4 \pm 4.8$	22.7 ± 5.8	F (1, 38) = 0.03, P = 0.865
Illness duration at baseline	-	-	9.5 ± 9.1 [1.2 to 40.8]	96.2 ± 37.7	F (1, 38) = 114.59, P < 0.001; FESz
(months) [range]				[43.2 to 168.0]	< Chronic Sz
Duration of medication at baseline	-	42.2 ± 60.2 [1.2 to	7.8 ± 9.7 [0 to 37.2]	$75.9 \pm 60.8$	F (2, 51) = 10.56, P < 0.001; FESz <
(months) [range]		204.0]		[1.2 to 196.8]	Chronic Sz
Medication type during follow-up (typical/atypical/mixed)	-	5/8/1	3/16/4	5/9/3	Fisher's exact test, $P = 0.49$
Medication dose (HPD equivalent)					
Baseline (mg/day) [range]	-	6.4 ± 7.6 [1.2 to 29.5]	13.5 ± 11.4 [2.3 to 41.1]	10.9 ± 7.9 [2.7 to 33.1]	F (2, 51) = 2.48, P = 0.094
Cumulative dose during follow- up (mg) [range]	-	7030.7 ± 7243.2 [758.2 to 24303.0]	9526.4 ± 8609.2 [1333.0 to 37436.0]	11763.9 ± 11054.2 [849.1 to 43265.6]	<i>F</i> (2, 51) = 1.03, <i>P</i> = 0.365
Mean dose during follow-up (mg/day) [range] SAPS total	-	6.2 ± 5.1 [0.9 to 17.1]	9.5 ± 7.2 [2.5 to 27.0]	15.1 ± 10.0 3.9 to 35.9]	<i>F</i> (2, 51) = 5.30, <i>P</i> = 0.008; SzTypal < Chronic Sz
Baseline	_	17.6 ± 9.6 (N= 13)	29.0 ± 24.3 (N= 20)	31.9 ± 27.3 (N= 16)	<i>F</i> (2, 46) = 1.59, <i>P</i> = 0.216
Follow-up	-	13.6 ± 11.3 (N= 14)	$17.0 \pm 17.1 (N=22)$	33.7 ± 29.4 (N= 17)	F (2, 50) = 4.46, $P$ = 0.016; SzTypal < Chronic Sz
SANS total					
Baseline	-	54.8 ± 22.1 (N= 13)	52.1 ± 25.5 (N = 20)	50.8 ± 16.4 (N= 16)	F (2, 46) = 1.21, P = 0.886
Follow-up	-	42.3 ± 16.6 (N= 14)	38.0 ± 22.5 (N= 22)	55.8 ± 19.1 (N= 17)	<i>F</i> (2, 50) = 3.96, <i>P</i> = 0.025; FESz < Chronic Sz

 TABLE 1 | Demographic/clinical characteristics of study participants.

Values represent means ± SD unless otherwise stated. Groups were matched for gender (Chi-squared = 3.51, P = 0.319).

C, controls; F, female; FE, First-episode; HPD, haloperidol; M, male; SANS, Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms; SAPS, Scale for the Assessment of Positive Symptoms. Sz, schizophrenia; SzTypal, schizotypal disorder.

## **Insular Cortex Measurements**

The insular cortex was manually measured on reconstructed 1mm continuous coronal slices of the gray matter component, which was automatically segmented by the signal intensity histogram distribution of the whole cerebrum, using Dr. View software (Infocom, Tokyo, Japan) (32). As fully described previously (21, 33), the short (anterior) and long (posterior) insular cortices were manually delineated by one rater (TT) blinded to the identity of participants and the time at which scanning was performed (baseline or follow-up). Specific anatomical landmarks for measurements (i.e., the orbito- and central insular sulci, superior and inferior circular insular sulci,



and limen insulae) were easily identified using sagittal and coronal views (**Figure 1**). The inter- (TT and MK) and intra-rater intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) of the measurements in 10 randomly selected brains were all > 0.87.

## **Statistical Analysis**

A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), the chi-squared test, and Fisher's exact test were performed to assess group differences in demographic and clinical data.

In cross-sectional comparisons of insular cortex volumes, absolute volume was analyzed using an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with the between-subject factor of diagnosis, within-subject variables of hemisphere and subregion (short, long), and covariates of age, ICV, and medication dose. Regarding longitudinal volume changes in the insular cortices, the dependent variable % volume change  $[100 \times (absolute)]$ volume at the follow-up - absolute volume at the baseline)/ absolute volume at the baseline] was used; ANCOVA was performed using the between-subject factor of diagnosis, within-subject variables of hemisphere and subregion, and covariates of age at baseline, ICV, inter-scan interval, and cumulative dose of antipsychotics during scans. Post-hoc Spjotvoll & Stoline tests were used to follow up significant effects yielded in ANCOVA. The insular volumes used in these ANCOVAs (i.e., absolute volume and % volume change) were normally distributed (tested by the Shapiro-Wilk test). The statistical conclusions reported here did not change even when absolute volume changes in the insular cortex over time were assessed by ANCOVA with time (baseline, follow-up) as the within-subject variable, when gender was added as a covariate, when the covariates without significant group differences were excluded, or when only 19 patients with Sz with illness duration  $\leq$  1 year were included in the FESz group.

Relationships between % volume changes in the insular cortex and clinical variables [total SANS/SAPS scores (score changes between scans and scores at second scan) and cumulative medication doses during the follow-up] were investigated by Pearson's partial correlation coefficients controlled for the interscan interval and ICV. SAPS scores and medication doses, which did not have a normal distribution (tested by the Shapiro-Wilk test), were log-transformed. The insular volume was not subdivided into the short and long cortices because of the lack of prominent subregional effects for its longitudinal changes. To reduce the Type I error rate, relationships were tested based on previous hypotheses. Since dynamic brain changes around the onset of Sz may be associated with the development and treatment responses of positive and negative symptoms (11, 12), we examined the relationship between % volume changes in the insular cortex and SANS/SAPS score changes in the FESz group. Due to the lack of active symptom changes in the chronic stage (Table 1) as well as the notion that prolonged brain changes may lead to poor functional outcomes and severely negative symptoms (12, 34), the potential relationship between % volume changes in the insular cortex and total SANS scores in the follow-up was examined in chronic Sz patients. SzTypal patients were excluded from correlational analyses because of the

lack of longitudinal insular changes. The results of these correlational analyses remained essentially the same even when we used no controlling factors (i.e., inter-scan interval and ICV).

A *P*-value of < 0.05 was considered to be significant. A Bonferroni correction was employed for correlation analyses.

## RESULTS

## **Sample Characteristics**

Groups in the present study were matched for gender, height, parental education, and the inter-scan interval, while the education level was lower in the FESz and SzTypal groups than in the control group. As expected, the chronic Sz group was characterized by an older age than all other groups, a longer illness/medication duration than the FESz group, and more severe symptoms than the other clinical groups (**Table 1**).

## **Cross-Sectional Comparisons of the Insular Cortex**

**Table 2** shows baseline comparisons, which revealed a smaller insular cortex in the FE and chronic Sz groups than in the SzTypal (post-hoc tests, *vs.* FESz and chronic Sz: P < 0.001) and control (post-hoc tests, *vs.* FESz: P = 0.035; *vs.* chronic Sz: P < 0.001) groups. The insular cortex was also significantly smaller in the chronic Sz group than in the FESz group (post-hoc test, P = 0.004). No significant group-by-subregion (**Table 2**) and group-by-hemisphere [F (3, 71) = 2.69, p = 0.053] interactions were observed.

Similar results were obtained in group comparisons in followups, with a smaller insular volume being observed in the FE and chronic Sz groups than in the SzTypal and control groups (posthoc tests, all P < 0.001) and no prominent subregional effect (**Table 2**). However, no significant differences were observed in the insular cortex volume between the FE and chronic Sz groups in follow-ups (post-hoc test, P = 0.278).

## Longitudinal Comparison of the Insular Cortex

Volume reductions over time were significantly larger in the FESz group than in all other groups (post-hoc tests, *vs.* chronic Sz: P = 0.009; *vs.* SzTypal and controls: P < 0.001) (**Figure 2**), with no significant group-by-subregion (**Table 2**) and group-by-hemisphere [F(3, 71) = 1.99, p = 0.123] interactions.

We also tested the potential effect of the medication type during follow-ups [atypical (N = 16) vs. typical or mixed (N = 7)] on progressive insular atrophy in the FESz group, but did not find any effect.

## **Correlational Analyses**

Greater volume reductions in the left (r = 0.532, P = 0.028) and right (r = 0.596, P = 0.012) insular cortices over time in the FESz group correlated with fewer improvements (or the deterioration) in positive symptoms rated by total SAPS scores, which survived the Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons for the right hemisphere (**Figure 3**). This correlation was not found for

TABLE 2	Brain	measurements	of study	participants.
---------	-------	--------------	----------	---------------

	С	SzTypal	FESz	Chronic Sz	Effect of diagnosis	Diagnosis × subregion
Intracranial volume (cm <sup>3</sup> )	1495 ± 138	1611 ± 119	1476 ± 140	1527 ± 194	F (3, 70) = 2.84, P = 0.044 <sup>a</sup>	_
Whole gray matter (cm <sup>3</sup> )						
Baseline	$698 \pm 68$	750 ± 73	685 ± 78	$653 \pm 69$	F (3, 68) = 1.69, P = 0.177	_
Follow-up	694 ± 76	733 ± 59	661 ± 65	639 ± 71	F (3, 68) = 1.49, P = 0.225	_
% change/year	-0.3 ± 1.2	-0.8 ± 2.0	-1.2 ± 2.0	$-1.2 \pm 2.4$	F (3, 67) = 0.88, P = 0.459	-
Whole insular cortex						
Baseline (mm <sup>3</sup> )					<i>F</i> (3, 68) = 8.53, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Chronic Sz < FESz <c, sztypal<="" td=""><td>F (3, 71) = 1.50, P = 0.223</td></c,>	F (3, 71) = 1.50, P = 0.223
L	8317 ± 784	8536 ± 970	7668 ± 1113	6723 ± 1003		
R	7859 ± 735	8566 ± 1015	7380 ± 896	6723 ± 906		
Follow-up (mm <sup>3</sup> )					<i>F</i> (3, 68) = 9.26, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Chronic Sz, FESz < C, SzTypal	F (3, 71) = 2.49, P = 0.067
L	8324 ± 911	8643 ± 991	6999 ± 1116	6508 ± 1005		
R	7834 ± 768	8409 ± 850	6835 ± 913	6537 ± 936		
% change/year <sup>b</sup>					F (3, 67) = 7.55, P < 0.001; FESz < Chronic Sz, C, SzTypal	F (3, 71) = 0.89, P = 0.453
L	-0.1 ± 1.3	$0.5 \pm 1.4$	$-3.4 \pm 3.7$	-1.5 ± 2.2		
R	-0.1 ± 1.4	-0.6 ± 1.4	-2.9 ± 2.7	-1.6 ± 2.5		
Short insular cortex						
Baseline (mm <sup>3</sup> )					_	_
L	5478 ± 690	5424 ± 661	5051 ± 688	4365 ± 771		
R	5025 ± 612	5505 ± 642	4777 ± 713	4342 ± 763		
Follow-up (mm <sup>3</sup> )					-	_
L	$5502 \pm 790$	$5437 \pm 648$	$4633 \pm 674$	$4214 \pm 700$		
R	5017 ± 696	$5434 \pm 602$	$4444 \pm 667$	4196 ± 799		
% change/year <sup>b</sup>					-	_
L	$0.0 \pm 1.9$	$0.2 \pm 1.8$	$-3.3 \pm 3.3$	-1.5 ± 2.2		
R	-0.1 ± 1.9	-0.4 ± 1.2	-2.8 ± 2.6	$-1.9 \pm 2.6$		
Long insular cortex						
Baseline (mm <sup>3</sup> )					-	_
L	$2839 \pm 532$	$3112 \pm 627$	$2617 \pm 650$	$2357 \pm 593$		
R	$2834 \pm 516$	$3061 \pm 666$	$2603 \pm 496$	$2381 \pm 445$		
Follow-up (mm <sup>3</sup> )					_	-
L	$2822 \pm 526$	$3206 \pm 641$	$2366 \pm 645$	$2294 \pm 614$		
R	$2817 \pm 460$	$2975 \pm 593$	$2391 \pm 468$	$2342 \pm 430$		
% change/year <sup>b</sup>					_	-
L	$-0.2 \pm 2.6$	1.1 ± 1.6	$-3.7 \pm 5.0$	-1.3 ± 2.2		
R	-0.1 ± 2.1	-0.8 ± 2.6	-3.2 ± 3.3	-1.1 ± 2.7		

Values represent means  $\pm$  SD.

C, controls; FE, First-episode; L, left; R, right; Sz, schizophrenia; SzTypal, schizotypal disorder.

<sup>a</sup>Age was used as a covariate. Post-hoc tests showed no significant group differences.

<sup>b</sup>A negative value indicates a decrease in volume. Statistical analyses were based on % changes controlling for inter-scan intervals (see text).

changes in total SANS scores (left, r = 0.204, P = 0.432; right, r = 0.097, P = 0.712).

In follow-ups on chronic Sz, volume reductions over time in the insular cortex correlated with higher total SANS scores on the left (r = 0.602, P = 0.018), but not right (r = 0.373, P = 0.171), hemisphere.

In the FE and chronic Sz groups, insular cortex volume changes did not correlate with cumulative medication doses between scans.

We also investigated whether a relationship exists between % gray matter reductions in the insular cortex and superior temporal gyrus (19) in FESz (N = 18), but found no correlation (left, r = -0.245, P = 0.360; right, r = 0.215, P = 0.424).

#### DISCUSSION

As far as we know, this is the first follow-up MRI study that investigated progressive gray matter changes in insular subregions at different stages of Sz (i.e., the FE and chronic phases) as well as in SzTypal disorder. The results obtained revealed significant longitudinal insular atrophy over time in the FESz group without prominent subregional or medication effects, which was associated with treatment responses to positive psychotic symptoms. We also detected mild (non-significant) insular atrophy in chronic Sz that might contribute to the severity of negative symptoms. In contrast, no insular volume changes were observed in SzTypal patients or the healthy controls during the follow-up period. These results support the dynamic pathophysiological trajectory of the insular cortex being specific to overt Sz among the spectrum disorders examined and also suggest that its degree and role in symptomatology may differ across the illness stages.

The present results obtained on dynamic gray matter atrophy during the course of Sz are consistent with the findings of a longitudinal MRI investigation on an independent cohort at various stages of psychosis, in which patients with psychotic



**FIGURE 2** | Absolute volume of the insular cortex in participants. Due to the absence of the significant effect of subregion (i.e., short and long insular cortices), we showed the volumes of the whole insular cortex. The values of baseline (T1) and follow-up (T2) scans in each participant are connected with a straight line. Horizontal bars indicate the means of each group.



Symptoms (SAPS) between baseline (T1) and follow-up (T2) scans (i.e., absolute total score at T2 - absolute total score at T1) in 19 patients with first-episode schizophrenia. Regarding % volume reductions, negative values indicate volume decreases. Dotted lines indicate the mean values (all values in the figure are within three standard deviations of the mean).

disorders (predominantly Sz) had a smaller insular volume even before illness onset, but exhibited further active gray matter reductions during the transition period (-5.0%/year) and thereafter (-2.2%/year), followed by mild atrophy over time in the chronic stages (-0.7%/year) (10, 11). Consistent with previous findings, we found that patients with greater insular gray matter loss during FE showed fewer improvements in or the deterioration of clinical symptoms (10, 11, 35), particularly positive psychotic symptoms, and also demonstrated that mild but prolonged atrophy at the later illness stages may still contribute to negative symptomatology. These results support the notion that "late neurodevelopmental" pathologies around illness onset may underlie the development of psychosis (36, 37) and that progressive brain changes, which may differ between the clinical subtypes (38), may persist even at the later illness stages at least in specific subgroups of Sz and cause continued clinical deterioration (12, 34). Furthermore, while the trajectory of insular changes and its relationship with psychotic symptoms in the early stages are consistent with previous findings obtained on the superior temporal gyrus (19, 39, 40), the lack of a direct relationship between longitudinal changes in these peri-Sylvian structures suggests regional specificity in dynamic brain changes of Sz.

In spite of the results obtained in this structural MRI study, the mechanisms underlying insular gray matter changes in Sz remain unclear. However, a reduced insular volume before or at the onset of psychosis (3, 8, 9), particularly for the short insula (4, 10), may be partly explained by a post-mortem histological finding suggestive of neuronal migratory disturbances during early neurodevelopment in this region (41). On the other hand, potential mechanisms for the ongoing insular atrophy observed may include the excessive elimination of synapses, anomalies in synaptic plasticity, and neurotoxic effects caused by a glutamatergic excess due to N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor hypofunction (36, 42). The dynamic brain pathology in Sz may (19, 43) or may not (44, 45) be ameliorated by antipsychotic medication; however, the present results showed that medication did not significantly affect insular gray matter changes. The findings of a previous cross-sectional MRI study on medication-naïve FESz also supported age-related insular atrophy being independent of antipsychotic medication (42). Nevertheless, further longitudinal studies ideally using multimodal techniques are needed to obtain a more detailed understanding of the longitudinal pathologies of Sz as well as the factors influencing these processes.

An important result of the present study was the absence of progressive gray matter changes in the insular cortex of SzTypal patients. In combination with previous cross-sectional findings showing that SzTypal patients are characterized by normal or even larger fronto-limbic structures (including the insular cortex) compared to healthy controls (18, 21, 22), the present results on SzTypal represent a potential protective factor against the overt psychosis and severe cognitive/social deficits associated with Sz (15). While the cross-sectional findings of common gray matter reductions in temporal regions (e.g., superior temporal gyrus) may underlie biological and phenomenological commonalities within the Sz spectrum (16-18), SzTypal patients do not appear to exhibit dynamic brain changes even in these temporal regions (19, 20). A recent follow-up MRI study showing the absence of progressive gray matter changes in the insular cortex in FE affective psychosis (35) also supports active pathological processes in the insular cortex being specific to overt Sz.

While this structural MRI study cannot directly address functional role of the insular abnormalities in the pathophysiology of Sz, previous functional neuroimaging studies have suggested that the insular cortex (especially its anterior portion) is involved in the generation of inner speech as a part of the salience network and is aberrantly active during the auditory hallucinations in Sz (5, 46). Interestingly, alterations of activation and functional connectivity in salience networks likely exist at earliest stages of Sz (47, 48) and are associated with treatment response (6), with the progression during early illness stages (47). Although the trajectory of salience network deficits at later illness stages and their contribution to negative symptomatology remain unclear, our longitudinal findings of the insular volume in SzTypal patients, who are generally spared from overt psychosis such as hallucinations (15), and different stages of Sz may partly support the concept of salience network dysfunction in Sz (5).

Several potential confounding factors need to be considered. First, the present preliminary study was clearly limited by the small sample size examined. Despite the potential role of the subregional specificity of insular abnormalities (i.e., anterior cognitive/affective vs. posterior somatosensory portions) in the pathophysiology of Sz (4, 49) as well as detailed manual delineation that could reflect inter-individual morphological variations of the insular subregions (1, 2), we failed to identify a subregional effect in cross-sectional and longitudinal insular findings. Furthermore, although typical and atypical antipsychotics may exert different effects on brain morphology in the early stages of Sz (50), we did not observe any effects of the antipsychotic types on insular volume changes over time. These somewhat unexpected results may be partly explained by the limited statistical power caused by the small sample size. It should be also noted that potential contribution of prolonged brain changes to clinical deterioration needs to be tested in future using larger cohorts of chronic Sz. Another limitation of sampling is that we could not exclude the possibility of some sampling biases. Indeed, at follow-up, FESz patients exhibited lower SAPS scores than those of chronic patients (Table 1), raising the possibility that only the patients with good treatment response have been successfully followed up and participated in this longitudinal study. Second, we did not systematically assess cognitive or social functioning in the patient groups. Based on the role of the insular cortex in social/emotional processing and various cognitive functions as a component of the "limbic integration cortex" (1, 2), the potential contributions of dynamic insular changes on socio-cognitive measures in Sz warrant further study. Finally, although we found no relationship between progressive changes in the insular cortex and another peri-Sylvian structure [i.e., superior temporal gyrus (19)] in the FESz group, other key brain regions [e.g., prefrontal cortex (51)] need to be investigated in future studies in order to clarify the regional specificity of the present results. Especially, future whole brain automated assessment would complement our hypothesis-driven region-ofinterest findings.

In summary, the results of this follow-up MRI study revealed non-linear gray matter reductions in the insular cortex during the course of Sz that were more prominent during the early phases, but persisted even at the chronic stage and were not affected by antipsychotic medication. These progressive brain changes at various illness stages differently contributed to symptom formation in Sz, but were not observed in SzTypal patients, who were spared from developing overt psychosis. These results may reflect a pathophysiological trajectory that is specific to overt Sz among the spectrum disorders tested.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because we do not have permission to share the data. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to TT, tsutomu@ med.u-toyama.ac.jp.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Committee on the Medical Ethics of Toyama University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TT and MS conceived the concept and methods for the present study. TT performed statistical analyses and wrote the manuscript. DS, MN, and AF recruited participants and conducted clinical and diagnostic assessments. TT and MK analyzed MRI data. KN provided technical support for MRI scanning and data processing. AF, DS, and MN managed MRI and clinical data. YT and MS contributed to the writing and editing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported in part by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number Nos. JP18K07550 to TT, JP18K15509 to DS, and by Health and Labour Sciences Research Grants for Comprehensive Research on Persons with Disabilities from the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED) Grant Number 16dk0307029h0003 to MS.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Prof. Hideki Origasa, Division of Biostatistics and Clinical Epidemiology, University of Toyama, for suggestions on statistical analyses.

### REFERENCES

- Augustine JR. Circuitry and functional aspects of the insular lobe in primates including humans. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* (1996) 22:229–44. doi: 10.1016/ S0165-0173(96)00011-2
- Bamiou DE, Musiek FE, Luxon LM. The insula (Island of Reil) and its role in auditory processing. Literature review. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* (2003) 42:143–54. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0173(03)00172-3
- Chan RC, Di X, McAlonan GM, Gong QY. Brain anatomical abnormalities in high-risk individuals, first-episode, and chronic schizophrenia: an activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis of illness progression. *Schizophr Bull* (2011) 37:177–88. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp073
- Shepherd AM, Matheson SL, Laurens KR, Carr VJ, Green MJ. Systematic meta-analysis of insula volume in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2012) 72:775–84. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.04.020
- Palaniyappan L, Liddle PF. Does the salience network play a cardinal role in psychosis? An emerging hypothesis of insular dysfunction. J Psychiatry Neurosci (2012) 37:17–27. doi: 10.1503/jpn.100176
- Molent C, Olivo D, Wolf RC, Balestrieri M, Sambataro F. Functional neuroimaging in treatment resistant schizophrenia: A systematic review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2019) 104:178–90. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2019.07.001
- Supekar K, Cai W, Krishnadas R, Palaniyappan L, Menon V. Dysregulated brain dynamics in a triple-network saliency model of schizophrenia and its relation to psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2019) 85:60–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2018.07.020
- Smieskova R, Fusar-Poli P, Allen P, Bendfeldt K, Stieglitz RD, Drewe J, et al. Neuroimaging predictors of transition to psychosis-a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2010) 34:1207–22. doi: 10.1016/ j.neubiorev.2010.01.016
- Fusar-Poli P, Borgwardt S, Crescini A, Deste G, Kempton MJ, Lawrie S, et al. Neuroanatomy of vulnerability to psychosis: a voxel-based meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2011) 35:1175–85. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2010.12.005
- Takahashi T, Wood SJ, Yung AR, Phillips LJ, Soulsby B, McGorry PD, et al. Insular cortex gray matter changes in individuals at ultra-high-risk of developing psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2009) 111:94–102. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2009.03.024
- Takahashi T, Wood SJ, Soulsby B, McGorry PD, Tanino R, Suzuki M, et al. Follow-up MRI study of the insular cortex in first-episode psychosis and chronic schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2009) 108:49–56. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2008.12.029
- Kurachi M, Takahashi T, Sumiyoshi T, Uehara T, Suzuki M. Early Intervention and a Direction of Novel Therapeutics for the Improvement of Functional Outcomes in Schizophrenia: A Selective Review. *Front Psychiatry* (2018) 9:39. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00039
- World Health Organization. The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders: Diagnostic Criteria for Research. Geneva: World Health Organization (1993).
- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders.* 4th ed. Washington DC: American Psychiatric Association Press (1994).
- Siever LJ, Davis KL. The pathophysiology of schizophrenia disorders: perspectives from the spectrum. Am J Psychiatry (2004) 161:398–413. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.161.3.398
- Hazlett EA, Goldstein KE. Kolaitis JC. A review of structural MRI and diffusion tensor imaging in schizotypal personality disorder. *Curr Psychiatry Rep* (2012) 14:70–8. doi: 10.1007/s11920-011-0241-z
- Fervaha G, Remington G. Neuroimaging findings in schizotypal personality disorder: a systematic review. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry (2013) 43:96–107. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.11.014
- Takahashi T, Suzuki M. Brain morphologic changes in early stages of psychosis: Implications for clinical application and early intervention. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2018) 72:556–71. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12670.
- Takahashi T, Suzuki M, Zhou SY, Tanino R, Nakamura K, Kawasaki Y,S, et al. A follow-up MRI study of the superior temporal subregions in schizotypal disorder and first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 119:65–74. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.12.006

- Takahashi T, Zhou SY, Nakamura K, Tanino R, Furuichi A, Kido M, et al. A follow-up MRI study of the fusiform gyrus and middle and inferior temporal gyri in schizophrenia spectrum. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 35:1957–64. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2011.07.009
- Takahashi T, Suzuki M, Zhou SY, Hagino H, Tanino R, Kawasaki Y, et al. Volumetric MRI study of the short and long insular cortices in schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Psychiatry Res* (2005) 138:209–20. doi: 10.1016/ j.pscychresns.2005.02.004
- Suzuki M, Zhou SY, Takahashi T, Hagino H, Kawasaki Y, Niu L, et al. Differential contributions of prefrontal and temporolimbic pathology to mechanisms of psychosis. *Brain* (2005) 128:2109–22. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh554
- Andreasen NC, Flaum M, Arndt S. The Comprehensive Assessment of Symptoms and History (CASH): an instrument for assessing diagnosis and psychopathology. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1992) 49:615–23. doi: 10.1001/ archpsyc.1992.01820080023004
- Andreasen NC. Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms/Scale for the Assessment of Positive Symptoms. Iowa City: The University of Iowa (1984).
- Hirayasu Y, McCarley RW, Salisbury DF, Tanaka S, Kwon JS, Frumin M, et al. Planum temporale and Heschl gyrus volume reduction in schizophrenia: a magnetic resonance imaging study of first-episode patients. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2000) 57:692–9. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.57.7.692
- Schooler N, Rabinowitz J, Davidson M, Emsley R, Harvey PD, Kopala L, et al. Risperidone and haloperidol in first-episode psychosis: a long-term randomized trial. *Am J Psychiatry* (2005) 162:947–53. doi: 10.1176/ appi.ajp.162.5.947
- Sasabayashi D, Takayanagi Y, Takahashi T, Nemoto K, Furuichi A, Kido M, et al. Increased brain gyrification in the schizophrenia spectrum. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2020) 74:70–6. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12939
- Takayanagi Y, Sasabayashi D, Takahashi T, Furuichi A, Kido M, Nishikawa Y, et al. Reduced cortical thickness in schizophrenia and schizotypal disorder. *Schizophr Bull* (2020) 46:387–94. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbz051.
- 29. Takahashi T, Suzuki M, Tsunoda M, Kawamura Y, Takahashi N, Maeno N, et al. The association of genotypic combination of the DRD3 and BDNF polymorphisms on the adhesio interthalamica and medial temporal lobe structures. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 32:1236–42. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2008.03.014
- Zhou SY, Suzuki M, Hagino H, Takahashi T, Kawasaki Y, Nohara S, et al. Decreased volume and increased asymmetry of the anterior limb of the internal capsule in patients with schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2003) 54:427–36. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00007-6
- 31. Eritaia J, Wood SJ, Stuart GW, Bridle N, Dudgeon P, Maruff P, et al. An optimized method for estimating intracranial volume from magnetic resonance images. *Magn Reson Med* (2000) 44:973–7. doi: 10.1002/1522-2594(200012)44:6<973::aid-mrm21>3.0.co;2-h
- 32. Takahashi T, Kawasaki Y, Kurokawa K, Hagino H, Nohara S, Yamashita I, et al. Lack of normal structural asymmetry of the anterior cingulate gyrus in female patients with schizophrenia: a volumetric magnetic resonance imaging study. *Schizophr Res* (2002) 55:69–81. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00200-6
- 33. Takahashi T, Suzuki M, Hagino H, Zhou SY, Kawasaki Y, Nohara S, et al. Bilateral volume reduction of the insular cortex in patients with schizophrenia: a volumetric MRI Study. *Psychiatry Res* (2004) 132:187–96. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2004.11.002
- Mitelman SA, Buchsbaum MS. Very poor outcome schizophrenia: clinical and neuroimaging aspects. *Int Rev Psychiatry* (2007) 19:345–57. doi: 10.1080/ 09540260701486563
- 35. Lee SH, Niznikiewicz M, Asami T, Otsuka T, Salisbury DF, Shenton ME, et al. Initial and progressive gray matter abnormalities in insular gyrus and temporal pole in first-episode schizophrenia contrasted with first-episode affective psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42:790–801. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv177
- 36. Pantelis C, Yücel M, Wood SJ, Velakoulis D, Sun D, Berger G, et al. Structural brain imaging evidence for multiple pathological processes at different stages of brain development in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2005) 31:672–96. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbi034
- Pantelis C, Velakoulis D, Wood SJ, Yücel M, Yung AR, Phillips LJ, et al. Neuroimaging and emerging psychotic disorders: the Melbourne ultra-high risk studies. *Int Rev Psychiatry* (2007) 19:371–81. doi: 10.1080/09540260701512079
- Lei W, Kirkpatrick B, Wang Q, Deng W, Li M, Guo W, et al. Progressive brain structural changes after the first year of treatment in first-episode treatment-

naive patients with deficit or nondeficit schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging* (2019) 288:12–20. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2019.04.009

- Takahashi T, Wood SJ, Yung AR, Soulsby B, McGorry PD, Suzuki M, et al. Progressive gray matter reduction of the superior temporal gyrus during transition to psychosis. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2009) 66:366–76. doi: 10.1001/ archgenpsychiatry.2009.12
- Takahashi T, Wood SJ, Kawasaki Y, Suzuki M, Velakoulis D, Pantelis C. Lack of progressive gray matter reduction of the superior temporal subregions in chronic schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 117:101–2. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.12.034
- Jakob H, Beckmann H. Prenatal developmental disturbances in the limbic allocortex in schizophrenics. J Neural Transm (1986) 65:303–26. doi: 10.1007/ BF01249090
- Lin Y, Li M, Zhou Y, Deng W, Ma X, Wang Q, et al. Age-related reduction in cortical thickness in first-episode treatment-naïve patients with schizophrenia. *Neurosci Bull* (2019) 35:688–96. doi: 10.1007/s12264-019-00348-x
- Girgis RR, Diwadkar VA, Nutche JJ, Sweeney JA, Keshavan MS, Hardan AY. Risperidone in first-episode psychosis: a longitudinal, exploratory voxel-based morphometric study. *Schizophr Res* (2006) 82:89–94. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2005.10.019
- 44. Ho BC, Andreasen NC, Ziebell S, Pierson R, Magnotta V. Long-term antipsychotic treatment and brain volumes: a longitudinal study of firstepisode schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2011) 68:128–37. doi: 10.1001/ archgenpsychiatry.2010.199
- 45. Fusar-Poli P, Smieskova R, Kempton MJ, Ho BC, Andreasen NC, Borgwardt S. Progressive brain changes in schizophrenia related to antipsychotic treatment? A meta-analysis of longitudinal MRI studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2013) 37:1680–91. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.06.001
- Jardri R, Pouchet A, Pins D, Thomas P. Cortical activations during auditory verbal hallucinations in schizophrenia: a coordinate-based meta-analysis. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168:73–81. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09101522

- Wang C, Ji F, Hong Z, Poh JS, Krishnan R, Lee J, et al. Disrupted salience network functional connectivity and white-matter microstructure in persons at risk for psychosis: findings from the LYRIKS study. *Psychol Med* (2016) 46:2771–83. doi: 10.1017/S0033291716001410
- Zhuo C, Li G, Ji F, Chen C, Jiang D, Lin X, et al. Differences in functional connectivity density among subtypes of schizophrenic auditory hallucination. *Brain Imaging Behav.* doi: 10.1007/s11682-019-00210-8. in press.
- Sheffield JM, Rogers BP, Blackford JU, Heckers S, Woodward ND. Insula functional connectivity in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2020) 220: 69–77. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2020.03.068
- 50. Vita A, De Peri L, Deste G, Barlati S, Sacchetti E. The effect of antipsychotic treatment on cortical gray matter changes in schizophrenia: Does the class matter? A meta-analysis and meta-regression of longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Biol Psychiatry* (2015) 78:403–12. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.02.008
- Goldman-Rakic PS, Selemon LD. Functional and anatomical aspects of prefrontal pathology in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (1997) 23:437–58. doi: 10.1093/schbul/23.3.437

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that may be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Takahashi, Kido, Sasabayashi, Nakamura, Furuichi, Takayanagi, Noguchi and Suzuki. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## EEG Microstate Differences in Medicated vs. Medication-Naïve First-Episode Psychosis Patients

Amatya J. Mackintosh<sup>1</sup>, Stefan Borgwardt<sup>2,3</sup>, Erich Studerus<sup>4</sup>, Anita Riecher-Rössler<sup>5</sup>, Renate de Bock<sup>1,2\*†</sup> and Christina Andreou<sup>1,3†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Clinical Psychology and Epidemiology, Department of Psychology, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland, <sup>2</sup> University Psychiatric Clinics (UPK) Basel, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University of Lübeck, Lübeck, Germany, <sup>4</sup> Division of Personality and Developmental Psychology, Department of Psychology, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland, <sup>5</sup> Faculty of Medicine, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Bernat Kocsis, Harvard Medical School, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Sunaina Soni, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, India Armida Mucci, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

\*Correspondence: Renate de Bock renate.debock@unibas.ch

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 30 August 2020 Accepted: 30 October 2020 Published: 24 November 2020

#### Citation:

Mackintosh AJ, Borgwardt S, Studerus E, Riecher-Rössler A, de Bock R and Andreou C (2020) EEG Microstate Differences in Medicated vs. Medication-Naïve First-Episode Psychosis Patients. Front. Psychiatry 11:600606. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.600606 There has been considerable interest in the role of synchronous brain activity abnormalities in the pathophysiology of psychotic disorders and their relevance for treatment; one index of such activity are EEG resting-state microstates. These reflect electric field configurations of the brain that persist over 60-120 ms time periods. A set of quasi-stable microstates classes A, B, C, and D have been repeatedly identified across healthy participants. Changes in microstate parameters coverage, duration and occurrence have been found in medication-naïve as well as medicated patients with psychotic disorders compared to healthy controls. However, to date, only two studies have directly compared antipsychotic medication effects on EEG microstates either pre-vs. post-treatment or between medicated and unmedicated chronic schizophrenia patients. The aim of this study was therefore to directly compare EEG resting-state microstates between medicated and medication-naïve (untreated) first-episode (FEP) psychosis patients (mFEP vs. uFEP). We used 19-channel clinical EEG recordings to compare temporal parameters of four prototypical microstate classes (A-D) within an overall sample of 47 patients (mFEP n = 17; uFEP n = 30). The results demonstrated significant decreases of microstate class A and significant increases of microstate class B in mFEP compared to uFEP. No significant differences between groups were found for microstate classes C and D. Further studies are needed to replicate these results in longitudinal designs that assess antipsychotic medication effects on neural networks at the onset of the disorder and over time during illness progression. As treatment response and compliance in FEP patients are relatively low, such studies could contribute to better understand treatment outcomes and ultimately improve treatment strategies.

Keywords: electroencephalography, resting-state, schizophrenia, antipsychotic, neuroleptic, untreated, unmedicated, pathophysiology

## INTRODUCTION

Delusions, hallucinations, disorganized speech, catatonic behavior, and negative symptoms form the core of psychotic disorders  $[DSM-5^{(R)}, (1)]$ . The lifetime prevalence of psychotic disorders is estimated at 0.75% (2). Compared to the general population, patients' life expectancy is estimated to be shortened by 15–20 years due to increased physical morbidity (3). Patients' everyday functioning

such as independent living, productive activity, and social functioning is often impaired, leading to high costs beyond their medical treatment (4). Good functional outcomes were found to be related to shorter duration of untreated psychosis (5) which calls for timely and effective treatment at an early illness stage. However, discontinuation rates within 18 months of antipsychotic treatment due to inefficiency or intolerable side effects were observed to be relatively high (64–82%) in psychotic disorders (6) with a recovery rate estimated at only 13.5% (7). This clearly calls for more research on antipsychotic medication and how EEG markers and neural networks differentiate between medicated and unmedicated patients with psychotic disorders.

Electroencephalography (EEG) is one method in neuroscience research that offers several advantages. Apart from being inexpensive, non-invasive, and easy to implement, EEG can capture the fast-changing dynamics of neuronal networks with high temporal resolution in frequency bands ranging from 1 Hz to up to 200 Hz (8, 9). This allows EEG to depict coupling patterns of neural activity that might not be captured by functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (10). There is a large body of research that has studied neuronal network disruptions in psychotic disorders using EEG methods and extensive reviews exist on the topic (11–14).

The term "resting-state" refers to intrinsic patterns of the awake state in which participants are not performing an explicit mental or physical task (15) and are postulated to show the underlying intrinsic mechanisms of the brain which influence stimulus processing as well as behavioral phenomena (16). An accumulation of evidence has shown that EEG resting-state microstates are a suitable tool to study the temporal dynamics of resting-state brain networks: EEG microstates are spatial configurations of scalp global field power that remain stable for a short period of time (60-120 ms) and occur several times per second (17, 18). These short-lasting, non-overlapping configurations of brain electric states have been divided into four prototypical microstate classes A, B, C, and D that each have a different orientation of the scalp-electric field (19): Microstate A has a left occipital to right frontal orientation, microstate B a right occipital and left frontal, microstate C a symmetric occipital to prefrontal and microstate D a symmetric frontocentral to occipital orientation (17). These four classes explain 65-84% of EEG data variance (20) and were shown to have high test-retest reliability and cross-method consistency (21). The microstate classes are described by three statistical parameters; the duration of each class in milliseconds, mean number of occurrence per second and percentage of time covered by each class (17).

Microstates were hypothesized to be the fundamental building blocks of human information processing and were found to differ across sex groups (22), over the course of development (17, 22) and between different brain states such as sleep and wakefulness (23, 24). Studies using simultaneous EEG-fMRI methods have correlated microstate classes to different resting-state networks (25, 26). Furthermore, abnormal patterns have been described in various mental conditions (27–30), most notably in psychotic disorders: Microstate differences across all classes were found for medicated (31–35), as well as medication-naïve patients with psychotic disorders (30, 36–38) compared to healthy controls, as well as patients in the high-risk state of psychosis (31, 36, 39). Two recent meta-analyses found increased occurrence of microstate C and decreased duration of microstate D to be consistently reported across studies in medicated as well as medication-naïve patients with psychotic disorders (40, 41).

So far, it is not clear whether and how antipsychotic medication treatment plays a role in EEG resting-state microstate abnormalities in patients with psychotic disorders. Antipsychotics have been shown to modulate neural networks in fMRI studies (42, 43) and to have effects on microstate parameters by increasing the mean duration of all microstate classes in healthy individuals (44). However, so far only two studies investigated the effects of antipsychotic treatment on EEG microstates in patients with psychotic disorders. A cross-sectional study from more than two decades ago with chronic schizophrenia patients reported antipsychotic treatment to be negatively correlated with microstate duration in a dose-dependent way and average microstate duration was longer in unmedicated than medicated patients (45). Moreover, increased duration of microstate classes A and D, and decreased occurrence of microstate class C was reported in responders vs. non-responder schizophrenia patients following 2-8 week treatment with antipsychotics in a longitudinal design (37). However, the latter findings were based on a small sample size (n = 14) and have not yet been replicated.

The present study therefore aimed to investigate the effects of antipsychotic treatment on EEG resting-state microstate parameters by comparing medicated first-episode psychosis patients (mFEP) to a control group of patients who were medication-naïve (untreated first-episode psychosis; uFEP). Our comparisons were set out to investigate differences in parameters of microstate classes A-D that might be attributed to the medication status of the two patient groups beyond the effect of the disorder. As the results of previous studies have been inconsistent so far, we based our study hypotheses on a recent study by our group (36) in which we suggested that microstate A and B may be state markers for psychotic disorders. We therefore hypothesized antipsychotics to associate with microstate A and B and these microstates to differentiate the two patient groups.

## METHODS

The data used in this paper was collected in the FePsy project (*Früherkennung von Psychosen*; Early Detection of Psychoses) of the University of Basel Psychiatric Clinics (UPK) during the time period from 2000–2013. The aim of the FePsy project was to improve early detection and intervention of psychosis. The study was approved by the local ethics committee and in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Riecher-Rössler et al. (46, 47) provide a comprehensive overview of the FePsy study design.

## Participants

All first-episode psychosis (FEP) patients included in the present paper were help-seeking consecutive referrals to the FePsy clinic at the psychiatric outpatient department of the University of Basel Psychiatric Clinics (UPK). Upon inclusion in the FePsy study, written informed consent was given by all participating

#### TABLE 1 | Sample demographics.

	mFEP	uFEP			
	<i>n</i> = 17	<i>n</i> = 30	t/χ2	p	d
Sex (M:F)	13:4	19:11	0.862	0.353	_
Age at diagnosis (years) (mean [SD])	27.68 (5.1)	28.63 (7.5)	-0.517*	0.608	0.148
BPRS (mean [SD])	47.66 (7.15)	53.68 (10.84)	-1.70	0.10	0.66
Total score					
Depression/anxiety	9.45 (3.24)	11.70 (4.39)	-1.54	0.13	0.58
Psychosis/thought disturbance	10.64 (2.46)	12.13 (3.37)	-1.33	0.19	0.50
Negative symptoms	5.41 (2.20)	5.72 (2.76)	-0.34	0.74	0.12
Activation	6.73 (3.16)	7.28 (3.50)	-0.45	0.65	0.16
Duration of illness (months) (mean [SD])	24.83 (22.61)	23.77 (35.36)	0.11	0.91	0.04
Comorbidities (ICD-10)			-	0.81**	-
F10-F19 <sup>1</sup>	0	1			
F30-F391	5	7			
F40-F49 <sup>1</sup>	1	0			
F60-F691	0	1			
CPZ equivalent dose (mean [SD])	210.29 (262.71)	n/a	-	-	-
Further medication			-	1**	-
Antidepressants	2	4			
Anxiolytics	4	7			
Mood stabilizers	0	0			
Other	1	2			
Current drug use			-	0.44**	-
Yes	11	20			
No	5	4			
Current alcohol use			-	1**	-
Yes	8	12			
No	8	12			
Cannabis use			-	0.52**	-
1)Earlier					
Yes	9	18			
No	7	5			
2)Currently					
Yes	6	9			
No	11	18			
Verbal IQ* (mean [SD])	103 (16.04)	107.28 (14.34)	-0.84	0.41	0.28
School education (years) (mean [SD])	10.71 (3.25)	11.20 (3.22)	-0.50	0.62	0.15
Education level			-	0.84**	-
Education ongoing	2	1			
Primary school	1	1			
Secondary school	9	11			
Upper/specialized secondary school	1	2			
High school without completion	0	2			
High school	3	6			

(Continued)

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

	mFEP	uFEP			
	<i>n</i> = 17	<i>n</i> = 30	t/χ2	р	d
Current employment			_	0.71**	_
Yes	3	6			
No	13	17			
EEG total analysis time (seconds) (mean [SD])	300.30 (74.83)	299.20 (44.72)	0.055	0.957	0.018
EEG explained variance (%) (mean [SD])	77.43 (3.36)	77.36 (3.61)	0.073	0.942	0.020

mFEP, medicated first-episode psychosis patients; uFEP, untreated, medicationnaïve first-episode psychosis patients; BPRS, Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale; CPZ, Chlorpromazine; SD, standard deviation; d, Cohen's d effect size; \*assessed with the German version of the multiple choice vocabulary test [Mehrfach-Wortschatz-Test; (52)]; \*\*Fischer's exact test applied. <sup>1</sup>F10-F19, Mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use; F30-F39, Mood [affective] disorders; F40-F49, Neurotic, stress-related and somatoform disorders; F60-F69, Disorders of adult personality and behavior. Significance level is 0.05.

patients. The Basel Screening Instrument for Psychosis [BSIP; Riecher-Rössler et al. (47, 48)] was used to determine the FEP status, diagnostics were made according to ICD-10 (49), the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale [BPRS; (50, 51)] was applied to assess patients' symptom severity, and the German version of the multiple choice vocabulary test [Mehrfach-Wortschatz-Test; (52)] was used to assess verbal IQ. The status of medicationnaïve was defined by the absence of any lifetime antipsychotic treatment and illness duration for both groups was calculated based on the patient's reports in hindsight of the very first occurrence of psychotic symptoms with sufficient severity. As **Table 1** displays, intake of other medication did however occur in the uFEP group.

Exclusion criteria were applied as follows; (1) age < 18 years; (2) insufficient knowledge of German; (3) IQ < 70; (4) serious medical or surgical illness; (5) previous episode of psychosis due to substance abuse, and (6) psychotic symptomatology within a clearly diagnosed affective or borderline personality disorder.

#### **EEG Recording and Pre-processing**

A standard clinical EEG protocol of 20 min (incl. restingstate, eyes opening, photostimulation, and hyperventilation) was recorded by a trained lab assistant using 19 gold cup electrodes (Nicolet Biomedical, Inc.) of the International 10–20 system and referenced to linked ears. Participants were comfortably seated in a quiet room. The first 8 min of the entire clinical EEG recording corresponded to a resting-state eyes-closed recording which was used for the present analysis. During this, participants were asked to open their eyes for 6 s every 3 min to avoid drowsiness. When behavioral or EEG signs of drowsiness (e.g., slow rolling eye movements, alpha drop-out, increased beta, or theta activity) occurred, participants were asked to open their eyes. The sampling rate was 256 Hz and electrode impedances were always kept below 5 k $\Omega$ .

Brain Vision Analyzer (Version 2.0, Brain Products GmbH, Munich, Germany) was used for offline pre-processing. After bandpass (IIR; 0.5–70 Hz) and notch (50 Hz) filters were



AAHC, Atomize-Agglomerate Hierarchical Clustering; \*Interpolation was only performed for channels with severe artifacts across the whole recording.

applied, eyes-open epochs and epochs with prominent muscle artifacts or bad EEG signals were removed manually upon visual inspection by trained staff. After that, interpolation was applied for channels with severe artifacts across the whole recording and Extended Infomax ICA was used to remove ocular muscle artifacts. The continuous EEG recording was then divided into 2s segments and segments with residual artifacts were removed semi-automatically and by means of visual inspection based on consensus between at least two independent reviewers. Re-referencing was applied with a common average reference and the data was finally bandpass filtered (FIR; 2-20 Hz).

## **Microstate Analysis**

The Microstate Analysis plug-in (Version 0.3; downloaded http://www.thomaskoenig.ch/Download/EEGLAB\_ from Microstates/) for EEGLAB (53) version 13.6.5b in Matlab (54) was used for the microstate analysis. First, the Global Field Power (GFP) was calculated for each time point of the recording. Since the signal-to-noise ratio is the highest for GFP peaks, microstate configurations remain stable around these peaks (17). Using Atomize-Agglomerate Hierarchical Clustering (AAHC), individual microstate maps for GFP peaks only were calculated for each participant based on the original momentary maps (55).

Four microstate classes have been described to explain 65-84% (20) of the EEG variances. Based on this and for comparability with previous studies on psychotic disorders, the number of microstate clusters for the present study was also pre-set to four.

Group model maps were calculated separately for both patient groups using a permutation algorithm that minimized common variance across subjects (19). Based on these group models, a "grand-mean" model was calculated. The grand-mean model was then class-labeled into microstates A-D by using minimal Global Map Dissimilarity and model map norms from Koenig et al. (17). Next, the class-labeled "grand-mean" model maps were used as a template to assign the group model maps to the four class-labeled grand-mean maps. As a final step, the individual microstate maps were sorted according to the class-labeled group model maps. Three parameters were then extracted per microstate class: coverage (percentage of analysis time covered by each microstate class), duration (the average duration of a microstate class in milliseconds), and occurrence per second (total number of each microstate class per second). As the microstate toolbox ignores the first and last segment of the EEG data, only non-truncated microstate parameters are calculated. In addition, microstate transition probabilities (observed minus expected) were calculated. Figure 1 depicts all analysis steps.

### **Statistical Analysis**

A 4 (microstate class)  $\times$  2 (group) repeated measures ANOVA was applied to assess the interactional effect for each microstate parameter. Independent *t*-tests between the two groups (mFEP vs. uFEP) were conducted in order to determine group differences per parameter for each microstate class and demographic variables.

All analyses were carried out using SPSS 25 and R (56). Statistical tests in the present study are two-sided tests and the statistical level was set at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . When equal variances could not be assumed, the Greenhouse-Geisser correction for ANOVAs and the Welch-Satterthwaite method for the *t*-tests was applied. Microstate results were corrected for multiple comparisons within each parameter (57).

## RESULTS

#### **Group Characteristics**

From a total of 59 FEP patients with available EEG data, 12 patients were excluded ex post facto due to unclear medication status. Thus, a total of 47 participants were included in the present analysis, consisting of 30 untreated, medication-naïve patients with first-episode psychosis (uFEP) and 17 medicated patients with first-episode psychosis (mFEP). There were no statistically significant differences between the two groups in age at diagnosis, sex distribution, illness duration (months), and symptom severity score as assessed with the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (51). Table 1 displays the demographics of the two study groups and Table 2 gives an overview of the ICD-10 diagnosis types per group which did not significantly differ between the two groups either. Approximately, a mean of 5 min resting-state recording per subject were used for further analysis (mFEP mean 300.3 s, and uFEP mean 299.2 s, respectively) which equals  $\sim$ 150 epochs of 2s length per subject of each patient group. If channels were interpolated, these did not exceed a maximum of 4 channels per participant (mean 0.61, SD 1.00; range 1-4 channels).

## **Microstate Parameters: Overall Results**

Class-labeled group model maps were calculated separately for each participant group and are shown in **Figure 2**. The average global explained variance across both groups was 77.4% and the EEG total analysis time (seconds) did not significantly differ between groups (see **Table 1**).

## Microstate Parameters: Between-Group Differences

The microstate class x group interactions were significant for all microstate parameters: coverage  $[F_{(3,135)} = 11.603, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.205]$ ; duration  $[F_{(2.414,108.616)} = 7.698, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.146]$ ; and occurrence  $[F_{(3,135)} = 14.417, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.243]$ . Follow-up *t*-tests indicated significant decreases of mFEP compared to uFEP for microstate A coverage  $[t_{(39.8)} = -3.87, p = 0.001, d = -1.14]$ , and occurrence  $[t_{(44.5)} = -3.51, p = 0.003, d = -1.00]$ . No significant group differences were found for microstate A duration  $[t_{(34.3)} = -2.24, p = 0.094, d = -0.68]$ . Significant increases in the mFEP compared to uFEP group were

TABLE 2 | Overview of diagnosis types per group.

Type of psychotic disorder	ICD-10 Code	mFEP	uFEP	<i>p</i> 0.154
		<i>n</i> = 17	<i>n</i> = 30	
Paranoid schizophrenia	F20.0	10 (58%)	14 (47%)	
Hebephrenic schizophrenia	F20.1	0	2 (7%)	
Undifferentiated schizophrenia	F20.3	1 (6%)	0	
Other schizophrenia	F20.8	1 (6%)	0	
Schizophrenia unspecified	F20.9	1 (6%)	4 (13%)	
Persistent delusional disorders	F22.0	2 (12%)	1 (3%)	
Acute and transient psychotic disorders	F23.x	1 (6%)	7 (23%)	
Schizoaffective disorder, depressive type	F25.1	0	2 (7%)	
Unspecified non-organic psychosis	F29	1 (6%)	0	

mFEP, medicated first-episode psychosis patients; uFEP, untreated, medication-naïve first-episode psychosis patients. Significance level is 0.05.

found for microstate B coverage [ $t_{(44.5)} = 7.58$ , p < 0.001, d= -2.16], duration [t<sub>(25.5)</sub> = 2.78, p = 0.040, d = 0.88], and occurrence  $[t_{(35,6)} = 7.39, p < 0.001, d = 2.22]$ . No significant results were found for microstate C coverage  $[t_{(38.1)} = -1.69,$ p = 0.198, d = -0.50, duration [ $t_{(45.0)} = -1.83, p = 0.146$ , d = -0.52], and occurrence [t<sub>(27.5)</sub> = -0.79, p = 0.876, d =-0.25], as well as microstate D coverage [ $t_{(35.8)} = 0.22$ , p =0.827, d = 0.07], duration [ $t_{(35.4)} = -0.23 p = 0.817, d = -0.07$ ], and occurrence  $[t_{(31,5)} = 0.63, p = 0.876, d = 0.19]$ . Figure 3 and Supplementary Table 1 display means for all microstate parameters. The transition probabilities from class A to B  $[t_{(32,0)}]$ = 3.97, p = 0.004, d = 1.21] and class C to B [ $t_{(44.9)} = 5.97$ , p< 0.001, d = 1.68] were increased in mFEP compared to uFEP. The transition probabilities from class A to C [ $t_{(34.2)} = -3.40$ , p = 0.016, d = -1.03 and class C to A [t<sub>(43.7)</sub> = -4.69, p < 0.001, d = -1.35] were decreased in mFEP compared to uFEP. Detailed results are displayed in Supplementary Table 2.

## DISCUSSION

We compared EEG microstate dynamics in medicated and medication-naïve first-episode psychosis patients (mFEP and uFEP, respectively). The microstate parameters coverage (%), duration (ms) and occurrence/s of four microstate classes (A–D) were compared between the two patient groups. We were able to confirm the hypothesis of an association between antipsychotics and microstate classes A and B.

We observed decreased microstate A coverage, and occurrence in mFEP compared to uFEP. This finding is underlined by a decrease of transitions from microstate C to A in mFEP compared to uFEP. Previous studies in unmedicated patients have reported an increase in microstate A compared to healthy controls (19, 30, 36, 38). Here, we show a decrease in this class in medicated patients, suggesting a beneficial association of antipsychotics with microstate A. Converging with our results, a decrease of microstate A was observed in medicated first-episode



FIGURE 2 | Spatial configuration of the four microstate classes. Each row displays the four microstate classes (A–D) for both groups. Polarity is ignored. mFEP, medicated first-episode psychosis patients; uFEP, untreated, medication-naïve first-episode psychosis patients.



patients compared to healthy controls (34) and microstate A was positively correlated with psychopathological symptoms such as depression (28) and negative symptoms of the avolition-apathy domain (33) in patients with psychotic disorders.

Interestingly, another study observed an increase in the same microstate class in more chronic medicated patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorder with up to 10.5 years of illness duration (SD 8.7) (32). Thus, illness progression (first-episode vs. more chronic) may be an important factor to consider in future studies of medication effects. Another modulatory aspect of microstate A was demonstrated by Kikuchi et al. (37): Although there was no pre- vs. post-effect after 2–8 weeks of antipsychotic treatment—possibly due to the small sample size of n = 14 and relatively short follow-up intervals—they observed increased microstate A in responders vs. non-responders.

Further between-group differences were observed for microstate B in which coverage, duration, and occurrence were increased in mFEP compared to uFEP. In addition, we observed more transitions from microstates A and C to microstate B in mFEP compared to uFEP. Compared to healthy controls, previous studies in unmedicated patients showed a decrease in microstate B (30, 38, 58). Again, the present study shows an opposite effect in medicated patients which could be an indication of a positive treatment effect for this class. This is further underlined by Andreou et al. (31) in which medicated first-episode patients also showed an increase in coverage of microstate B. On the other hand, Baradits et al. (32) found a decrease in all parameters of microstate B. However, inclusion of medicated schizophrenia patients with an average illness duration of 10.5 years in the latter study could again explain the difference in findings. This is in line with the recent suggestion that microstate B might be a specific state biomarker for psychotic illness progression (36).

Despite the fact that several studies found changes in microstate C between unmedicated (30, 37, 38) and medicated patients with psychotic disorders (33, 34, 37, 59) compared to healthy controls, we did not observe any significant differences between mFEP and uFEP in the present study. The absence of a difference might be explained by the fact that previous studies have reported the same finding, i.e., increase in microstate C compared to healthy controls, regardless of whether they assessed medicated or medication-naïve patient samples. Therefore,

it is conceivable that microstate C changes in patients are independent of medication status; however, larger studies are warranted to confirm our negative finding.

No significant differences in microstate D were observed between the two groups either. This is somewhat surprising, given that changes in microstate D are a central finding of studies comparing (both medicated and unmedicated) patients with psychotic disorders to healthy controls (19, 30, 32, 37, 38, 40, 59). Microstate D has further been associated with (positive) psychotic symptoms: a decrease was observed during periods of auditory hallucinations (60) and an increase in patients who responded well to antipsychotic medication (37). However, a study by Andreou et al. (31) comparing patients with FEP to a high-risk group with a similar symptom profile observed no differences in microstate D. The symptom severity scores of the patients in the present study did not significantly differ, with both groups being within the "markedly ill" range (61). This could explain why no differences in microstate D were observed. However, there is also an alternative explanation: We previously suggested that microstate D serves as a trait marker for psychotic disorders (36) in which case no effects of medication would be expected. Furthermore, a study by da Cruz et al. (40) suggested microstate D as endophenotype for psychosis in non-affected siblings of schizophrenia patients. To this end, studies with larger sample sizes are needed to further investigate medication effects on microstate D in patients with psychotic disorders.

Response status is an important issue to be considered in future studies investigating antipsychotic medication effects since it differs between individual patients (62, 63). As already mentioned, Kikuchi et al. (37) reported differences between patients that were classified as responders vs. non-responders to antipsychotic medication. However, their finding warrants replication, given that it was based on a small sample size (n)= 7 per group). Unfortunately, it was not possible to trace response history for patients included in the present study; further studies should therefore investigate this issue. In addition, studies with longitudinal within-subject designs should explore the effects of antipsychotic medication treatment on EEG restingstate microstates, their association with individual response trajectories, as well as the role of patient baseline characteristics on medication effects. Ultimately, such studies could set the first steps into personalized medicine. This approach has been suggested for major depressive disorders and attention deficit disorders [for a review see Olbrich et al. (64)]. EEG resting-state microstates are particularly suited for this purpose, given that they have been suggested to be promising candidate biomarkers in psychotic disorders (32, 36, 40).

Further limitations of the present study have to be considered as well. Although the changes observed in medicated patients are in the expected direction, i.e., in the opposite direction of changes reported in previous studies comparing unmedicated patients to healthy controls, the inclusion of a matched healthy control sample would have been advantageous in completing the picture. Besides a healthy control group, a longitudinal design would have enabled us to confirm that the observed effects in medicated patients indeed correspond to a "normalization" of microstate parameters. A larger sample size than the one used here would have further increased statistical power of the results. Studies with high power are more likely to find true effects, e.g., correlation coefficients are estimated with a higher precision when sample sizes are increased (65). Moreover, it is due to the small sample size that we could not explore correlations between the four factors of the BPRS (with which the patients' symptom severities were measured) and the three parameters coverage, duration and occurrence of each microstate class A, B, C, and D. This could therefore be considered as a further limitation of this study.

In addition, cautiousness is warranted in the interpretation of our results, as a decrease or increase of a given parameter does not necessarily correspond to a "good" or "bad" outcome. Previous studies comparing first-episode patients (FEP), ultra-high-risk for psychosis patients and/or unaffected siblings of patients, and healthy controls have demonstrated that microstate changes do not always follow a linear pattern across different stages of psychotic disorders (31, 36, 40). Moreover, it has been suggested that some of the observed changes may reflect compensatory mechanisms rather than a deficit (31, 40). A further limitation of our study regards information which was not known for our sample and could have acted as confounding factor. This includes potentially different effects of individual antipsychotics (i.e., first vs. second generation antipsychotics) on EEG, medication duration, antipsychotic side effects, medication compliance, markers of socio-economic functioning, nicotine use, as well as the time of day of the EEG recording. Further confounding factors could have been age and sex distributions, as well as illness duration, drug consumption or other medication. However, all these variables did not significantly differ between groups.

Furthermore, two methodological points should be considered as well. First, based on previously established norms by Koenig et al. (17) the present study assessed four microstate classes. However, as suggested by Custo et al. (26) an increased number of microstates with a 7-map model might improve the explained global variance (20). Nevertheless, using four microstate classes has the important advantage of allowing direct comparisons of our results with previous studies in patients with psychotic disorders and high psychosis risk. Together with our relatively high global explained variance of 77%, we therefore deem our current method appropriate. As a second methodological limitation, it should be kept in mind that different pre-processing strategies, data selection methods and smoothing parameters (20) as well as differences in microstate analysis steps [e.g., the template used for microstate class assignment (21)] may influence microstate temporal parameters. In our study, we chose pre-processing and analysis parameters such as to ensure maximum comparability with a previous study by our group (36) but there may be differences compared to other studies. For future research in the field of EEG microstates, it would be very useful to harmonize methods in order to promote comparability.

## CONCLUSION

Our findings suggest an association of antipsychotic medication with microstates A and B in first-episode psychosis patients. Further studies with large sample sizes and longitudinal designs are needed that directly compare medicated and medication-naïve patients as well as healthy controls, in order to investigate antipsychotic medication effects on neural networks over time and throughout illness progression.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

### ETHICS STATEMENT

This study involving human participants was reviewed and approved by EKNZ Basel. The patients provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AR-R was responsible for the conception and design of the FePsy study. CA and SB contributed to the acquisition of data. CA, RB, and AM were responsible for the conception and

### REFERENCES

- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th ed. Washington, DC (2013). doi: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Moreno-Kustner B, Martin C, Pastor L. Prevalence of psychotic disorders and its association with methodological issues. A systematic review and metaanalyses PLoS ONE. (2018) 13:e0195687. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0195687
- Laursen TM, Nordentoft M, Mortensen PB. Excess early mortality in schizophrenia. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. (2014) 10:425–48. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032813-153657
- Harvey PD, Strassnig M. Predicting the severity of everyday functional disability in people with schizophrenia: cognitive deficits, functional capacity, symptoms, and health status. *World Psychiatry*. (2012) 11:73–9. doi: 10.1016/j.wpsyc.2012.05.004
- Santesteban-Echarri O, Paino M, Rice S, González-Blanch C, McGorry P, Gleeson J, et al. Predictors of functional recovery in first-episode psychosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2017) 58:59–75. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2017.09.007
- Lieberman JA, Scott Stroup T, McEvoy JP, Swartz MS, Rosenheck RA, Perkins DO, et al. Effectiveness of antipsychotic drugs in patients with chronic schizophrenia. N Engl J Med. (2005) 353:1209–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa051688
- Jääskeläinen E, Juola P, Hirvonen N, McGrath JJ, Saha S, Isohanni M, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of recovery in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:1296–30. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs130
- Lehmann D, Faber PL, Pascual-Marqui RD, Milz P, Herrmann WM, Koukkou M, et al. Functionally aberrant electrophysiological cortical connectivities in first episode medication-naive schizophrenics from three psychiatry centers. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2014) 8:635. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00635
- Swann NC, De Hemptinne C, Aron AR, Ostrem JL, Knight RT, Starr PA. Elevated synchrony in Parkinson disease detected with electroencephalography. *Ann Neurol.* (2015) 78:742–50. doi: 10.1002/ana.24507
- Engel AK, Gerloff C, Hilgetag CC, Nolte G. Intrinsic coupling modes: multiscale interactions in ongoing brain activity. *Neuron.* (2013) 80:867–86. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.09.038
- Alamian G, Hincapié AS, Pascarella A, Thiery T, Combrisson E, Saive AL, et al. Measuring alterations in oscillatory brain networks in schizophrenia with resting-state MEG: state-of-the-art and methodological challenges. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2017) 128:1719–36. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2017.06.246

design of the current microstate analysis whilst. AM, RB, and ES performed the statistical analysis. AM and RB wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to critical revision for important intellectual content and final approval of the submitted manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation, Grant number NMS1919. The funding source did not have any role in the design of this paper, in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data, in the writing of the report, and in the decision to submit the article for publication.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2020.600606/full#supplementary-material

- Maran M, Grent-'t-Jong T, Uhlhaas PJ. Electrophysiological insights into connectivity anomalies in schizophrenia: a systematic review. *Neuropsychiatr. Electrophysiol.* (2016) 2:1–9. doi: 10.1186/s40810-016-0020-5
- Radua J, Borgwardt S, Crescini A, Mataix-Cols D, Meyer-Lindenberg A, McGuire PK, et al. Multimodal meta-analysis of structural and functional brain changes in first episode psychosis and the effects of antipsychotic medication. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2012) 36:2325–33. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.07.012
- Uhlhaas PJ. Dysconnectivity, large-scale networks and neuronal dynamics in schizophrenia. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* (2013) 23:283–90. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2012.11.004
- van Diessen E, Numan T, van Dellen E, van der Kooi AW, Boersma M, Hofman D, et al. Opportunities and methodological challenges in EEG and MEG resting state functional brain network research. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2015) 126:1468–81. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2014.11.018
- Fox MD, Snyder AZ, Vincent JL, Corbetta M, Van Essen DC, Raichle ME. The human brain is intrinsically organized into dynamic, anticorrelated functional networks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:9673–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0504136102
- Koenig T, Prichep L, Lehmann D, Sosa PV, Braeker E, Kleinlogel H, et al. Millisecond by millisecond, year by year: normative EEG microstates and developmental stages. *Neuroimage*. (2002) 16:41–8. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2002.1070
- Lehmann D, Ozaki H, Pal I. EEG alpha map series: brain micro-states by space-oriented adaptive segmentation. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*. (1987) 67:271–88. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(87)90025-3
- Koenig T, Lehmann D, Merlo MCG, Kochi K, Hell D, Koukkou M. A deviant EEG brain microstate in acute, neuroleptic-naive schizophrenics at rest. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*. (1999) 249:205–11. doi: 10.1007/s004060050088
- Michel CM, Koenig T. EEG microstates as a tool for studying the temporal dynamics of whole-brain neuronal networks: a review. *Neuroimage*. (2018) 180:577–93. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.11.062
- Khanna A, Pascual-Leone A, Farzan F. Reliability of Resting-State Microstate Features in Electroencephalography. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e114163. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0114163
- Tomescu MI, Rihs TA, Rochas V, Hardmeier M, Britz J, Allali G, et al. From swing to cane: sex differences of EEG resting-state temporal patterns during maturation and aging. *Dev Cogn Neurosci.* (2018) 31:58–66. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2018.04.011

- Brodbeck V, Kuhn A, von Wegner F, Morzelewski A, Tagliazucchi E, Borisov S, et al. EEG microstates of wakefulness and NREM sleep. *Neuroimage*. (2012) 62:2129–39. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.05.060
- Katayama H, Gianotti LRR, Isotani T, Faber PL, Sasada K, Kinoshita T. Classes of Multichannel EEG Microstates in Light and Deep Hypnotic Conditions. *Springer.* (2007) 20:7–14. doi: 10.1007/s10548-007-0024-3
- Britz J, Van De Ville D, Michel CM. BOLD correlates of EEG topography reveal rapid resting-state network dynamics. *Neuroimage*. (2010) 52:1162–70. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.02.052
- Custo A, Van De Ville D, Wells WM, Tomescu MI, Brunet D, Michel CM. Electroencephalographic resting-state networks: source localization of microstates. *Brain Connect.* (2017) 7:671–82. doi: 10.1089/brain.2016.0476
- Al Zoubi O, Mayeli A, Tsuchiyagaito A, Misaki M, Zotev V, Refai H, et al. EEG Microstates temporal dynamics differentiate individuals with mood and anxiety disorders from healthy subjects. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2019) 13:1–10. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2019.00056
- Damborská A, Tomescu MI, Honzírková E, Barteček R, Horínková J, Fedorová S, et al. EEG Resting-State Large-Scale Brain Network Dynamics Are Related to Depressive Symptoms. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:1–10. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00548
- Kikuchi M, Koenig T, Munesue T, Hanaoka A, Strik W, Dierks T, et al. EEG microstate analysis in drug-naive patients with panic disorder. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:2–7. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022912
- Nishida K, Morishima Y, Yoshimura M, Isotani T, Irisawa S, Jann K, et al. EEG microstates associated with salience and frontoparietal networks in frontotemporal dementia, schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2013) 124:1106–14. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2013. 01.005
- Andreou C, Faber PL, Leicht G, Schoettle D, Polomac N, Hanganu-Opatz IL, et al. Resting-state connectivity in the prodromal phase of schizophrenia: insights from EEG microstates. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 152:513– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.12.008
- 32. Baradits M, Bitter I, Czobor P. Multivariate patterns of EEG microstate parameters and their role in the discrimination of patients with schizophrenia from healthy controls. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 288:112938. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112938
- Giordano GM, Koenig T, Mucci A, Vignapiano A, Amodio A, Di Lorenzo G, et al. Neurophysiological correlates of Avolition-apathy in schizophrenia: a resting-EEG microstates study. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2018) 20:627–36. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2018.08.031
- Murphy M, Stickgold R, Öngür D. EEG microstate abnormalities in early course psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging*. (2019) 5:35– 44. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2019.07.006
- 35. Soni S, Muthukrishnan SP, Sood M, Kaur S, Sharma R. Hyperactivation of left inferior parietal lobule and left temporal gyri shortens resting EEG microstate in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2018) 201:204–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.06.020
- de Bock R, Mackintosh AJ, Maier F, Borgwardt S, Riecher-Rössler A, Andreou C. EEG microstates as biomarker for psychosis in ultra-high-risk patients. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2020) 10:300. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-00963-7
- Kikuchi M, Koenig T, Wada Y, Higashima M, Koshino Y, Strik W, et al. Native EEG and treatment effects in neuroleptic-naïve schizophrenic patients: time and frequency domain approaches. *Schizophr Res.* (2007) 97:163–72. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.07.012
- Lehmann D, Faber PL, Galderisi S, Herrmann WM, Kinoshita T, Koukkou M, et al. EEG microstate duration and syntax in acute, medication-naïve, firstepisode schizophrenia: a multi-center study. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2005) 138:141–56. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2004.05.007
- Tomescu MI, Rihs TA, Becker R, Britz J, Custo A, Grouiller F, et al. Deviant dynamics of EEG resting state pattern in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome adolescents: a vulnerability marker of schizophrenia? *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 157:175–81. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.05.036
- da Cruz J, Favrod O, Roinishvili M, Chkonia E, Brand A, Mohr C, et al. EEG microstates are a candidate endophenotype for schizophrenia. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:3089. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-16914-1
- Rieger K, Hernandez LD, Baenninger A, Koenig T. 15 years of microstate research in schizophrenia - Where are we? A meta-analysis. *Front Psychiatry*. (2016) 7:1–7. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00022

- Kraguljac NV, White DM, Hadley JA, Visscher K, Knight D, Ver Hoef L, et al. Abnormalities in large scale functional networks in unmedicated patients with schizophrenia and effects of risperidone. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2016) 10:146–58. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2015.11.015
- Sambataro F, Blasi G, Fazio L, Caforio G, Taurisano P, Romano R, et al. Treatment with olanzapine is associated with modulation of the default mode network in patients with Schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2010) 35:904–12. doi: 10.1038/npp.2009.192
- Yoshimura M, Koenig T, Irisawa S, Isotani T, Yamada K, Kikuchi M, et al. A pharmaco-EEG study on antipsychotic drugs in healthy volunteers. *Psychopharmacology.* (2007) 191:995–1004. doi: 10.1007/s00213-007-0737-8
- Stevens A, Lutzenberger W, Bartels DM, Strik W, Lindner K. Increased duration and altered topography of EEG microstates during cognitive tasks in chronic schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (1997) 66:45–57. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1781(96)02938-1
- Riecher-Rössler A, Aston J, Borgwardt S, Bugra H, Fuhr P, Gschwandtner U, et al. Prediction of psychosis by stepwise multilevel assessment-the Basel FePsy (early recognition of psychosis)-Project. *Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr.* (2013) 81:265–75. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1335017
- Riecher-Rössler A, Gschwandtner U, Aston J, Borgwardt S, Drewe M, Fuhr P, et al. The Basel early-detection-of-psychosis (FEPSY)-study; design and preliminary results. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*. (2007) 115:114–25. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2006.00854.x
- Riecher-Rössler A, Aston J, Ventura J, Merlo M, Borgwardt S, Gschwandtner U, et al. Das Basel Screening Instrument für psychosen (BSIP): entwicklung, aufbau, reliabilität und validität. *Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr*. (2008) 76:207–16. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1038155
- World Health Organization. *ICD-10 : International Statistical Classification* of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 2nd ed. Geneva: World Health Organization (2004).
- Maß R, Burmeister J, Krausz M. Dimensionale struktur der deutschen version der brief psychiatric rating scale (BPRS). *Nervenarzt.* (1997) 68:239–44. doi: 10.1007/s001150050119
- Overall JE, Gorham DR. The brief psychiatric rating scale. *Psychol Rep.* (1962) 10:799–812. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1962.10.3.799
- Lehrl S, Triebig G, Fischer B. Multiple choice vocabulary test MWT as a valid and short test to estimate premorbid intelligence. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (1995) 91:335–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.1995.tb07018.x
- Delorme A, Makeig S. EEGLAB: an open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. *J Neurosci Methods.* (2004) 134:9–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2003. 10.009
- 54. MATLAB. Version 8.6.0. Natick, MA: The MathWorks Inc. (2015).
- Murray MM, Brunet D, Michel CM. Topographic ERP analyses: a step-by-step tutorial review. *Brain Topogr.* (2008) 20:249–64. doi: 10.1007/s10548-008-0054-5
- RStudio Team. RStudio: Integrated Development for R. RStudio. Boston, MA: PBC (2020). Available online at: http://www.rstudio.com/
- 57. Holm S. A simple sequentially rejective multiple test procedure. *Scand J Stat.* (1979) 6:65–70.
- Irisawa S, Isotani T, Yagyu T, Morita S, Nishida K, Yamada K, et al. Increased omega complexity and decreased microstate duration in nonmedicated schizophrenic patients. *Neuropsychobiology*. (2006) 54:134–9. doi: 10.1159/000098264
- Tomescu MI, Rihs TA, Roinishvili M, Karahanoglu FI, Schneider M, Menghetti S, et al. Schizophrenia patients and 22q11.2 deletion syndrome adolescents at risk express the same deviant patterns of resting state EEG microstates: a candidate endophenotype of schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res. Cogn.* (2015) 2:159–65. doi: 10.1016/j.scog.2015. 04.005
- Kindler J, Hubl D, Strik WK, Dierks T, Koenig T. Resting-state EEG in schizophrenia: auditory verbal hallucinations are related to shortening of specific microstates. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2011) 122:1179–82. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2010.10.042
- Leucht S, Kane JM, Kissling W, Hamann J, Etschel E, Engel R. Clinical implications of brief psychiatric rating scale scores. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2005) 187:366–71. doi: 10.1192/bjp.187.4.366

- Leucht S, Arbter D, Engel RR, Kissling W, Davis JM. How effective are second-generation antipsychotic drugs? A meta-analysis of placebocontrolled trials. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2009) 14:429–47. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.40 02136
- Sainz J, Prieto C, Ruso-Julve F, Crespo-Facorro B. Blood gene expression profile predicts response to antipsychotics. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2018) 11:1–7. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2018.00073
- 64. Olbrich S, Van Dinteren R, Arns M. Personalized medicine: review and perspectives of promising baseline EEG biomarkers in major depressive disorder and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Neuropsychobiology.* (2016) 72:229–40. doi: 10.1159/0004 37435
- 65. Masouleh SK, Eickhoff SB, Hoffstaedter F, Genon S, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative. Empirical examination of the replicability of

associations between brain structure and psychological variables. *Elife.* (2019) 8:1–25. doi: 10.7554/eLife.43464

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Mackintosh, Borgwardt, Studerus, Riecher-Rössler, de Bock and Andreou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Structural MRI Study of the Planum Temporale in Individuals With an At-Risk Mental State Using Labeled Cortical Distance Mapping

Yoichiro Takayanagi<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Sue Kulason<sup>3</sup>, Daiki Sasabayashi<sup>1,4</sup>, Tsutomu Takahashi<sup>1,4</sup>, Naoyuki Katagiri<sup>5</sup>, Atsushi Sakuma<sup>6</sup>, Noriyuki Ohmuro<sup>6,7</sup>, Masahiro Katsura<sup>6</sup>, Shimako Nishiyama<sup>1,8</sup>, Mihoko Nakamura<sup>1,4</sup>, Mikio Kido<sup>1,4</sup>, Atsushi Furuichi<sup>1,4</sup>, Kyo Noguchi<sup>9</sup>, Kazunori Matsumoto<sup>6,10</sup>, Masafumi Mizuno<sup>5</sup>, J. Tilak Ratnanather<sup>3</sup> and Michio Suzuki<sup>1,4</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Luca De Peri, Cantonal Sociopsychological Organization, Switzerland

#### Reviewed by:

Teresa Sanchez-Gutierrez, Universidad Internacional De La Rioja, Spain Kazutaka Ohi, Gifu University, Japan

#### \*Correspondence:

Yoichiro Takayanagi takayanagi-matsu@umin.net

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 12 August 2020 Accepted: 28 October 2020 Published: 24 November 2020

#### Citation:

Takayanagi Y, Kulason S, Sasabayashi D, Takahashi T, Katagiri N, Sakuma A, Ohmuro N, Katsura M, Nishiyama S, Nakamura M, Kido M, Furuichi A, Noguchi K, Matsumoto K, Mizuno M, Ratnanather JT and Suzuki M (2020) Structural MRI Study of the Planum Temporale in Individuals With an At-Risk Mental State Using Labeled Cortical Distance Mapping. Front. Psychiatry 11:593952. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.593952 <sup>1</sup> Department of Neuropsychiatry, University of Toyama Graduate School of Medicine and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Toyama, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Arisawabashi Hospital, Toyama, Japan, <sup>3</sup> Center for Imaging Science and Institute for Computational Medicine, Department of Biomedical Engineering, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, <sup>4</sup> Research Center for Idling Brain Science, University of Toyama, Toyama, Japan, <sup>5</sup> Department of Neuropsychiatry, Toho University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>6</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Tohoku University Hospital, Sendai, Japan, <sup>7</sup> Osaki Citizen Hospital, Sendai, Japan, <sup>8</sup> Health Administration Center, University of Toyama, Toyama, Toyama, Japan, <sup>9</sup> Department of Radiology, University of Toyama Graduate School of Medicine and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Toyama, Japan, <sup>10</sup> Kokoro no Clinic OASIS, Sendai, Japan

**Background:** Recent studies have demonstrated brain structural changes that predate or accompany the onset of frank psychosis, such as schizophrenia, among individuals with an at-risk mental state (ARMS). The planum temporale (PT) is a brain region involved in language processing. In schizophrenia patients, gray matter volume reduction and lack of normal asymmetry (left > right) of PT have repeatedly been reported. Some studies showed progressive gray matter reduction of PT in first-episode schizophrenia patients, and in ARMS subjects during their development of psychosis.

**Methods:** MRI scans (1.5T field strength) were obtained from 73 ARMS subjects and 74 gender- and age-matched healthy controls at three sites (University of Toyama, Toho University and Tohoku University). Participants with ARMS were clinically monitored for at least 2 years to confirm whether they subsequently developed frank psychosis. Cortical thickness, gray matter volume, and surface area of PT were estimated using FreeSurfer-initiated labeled cortical distance mapping (FSLCDM). PT measures were compared among healthy controls, ARMS subjects who later developed overt psychosis (ARMS-P), and those who did not (ARMS-NP). In each statistical model, age, sex, intracranial volume, and scanning sites were treated as nuisance covariates.

**Results:** Of 73 ARMS subjects, 18 developed overt psychosis (12 schizophrenia and 6 other psychoses) within the follow-up period. There were no significant group differences of PT measures. In addition, significant asymmetries of PT volume and surface area (left > right) were found in all diagnostic groups. PT measures did not correlate with the neurocognitive performance of ARMS subjects.

**Discussion:** Our results suggest that the previously-reported gray matter reduction and lack of normal anatomical asymmetry of PT in schizophrenia patients may not emerge during the prodromal stage of psychosis; taken together with previous longitudinal findings, such PT structural changes may occur just before or during the onset of psychosis.

Keywords: psychosis, planum temporale (PT), clinical high risk (CHR) for psychosis, labeled cortical distance mapping, schizophrenia

### INTRODUCTION

Structural anomaly of the superior temporal gyrus (STG) in individuals with schizophrenia has been shown in many studies (1). The planum temporale (PT), a multisensory region located on the posterior surface of STG, is involved in auditory speech processing and language comprehension (2). A recent metaanalysis revealed a robust bilateral volume reduction of PT (left: Cohen's d = -0.775; right: Cohen's d = -0.349) in schizophrenia patients compared with healthy controls (HC) (3). Although PT is thought to be an asymmetric (left > right) structure in healthy subjects (4), the leftward laterality is reduced or reversed in schizophrenia (5, 6). The reduction of leftward asymmetry of PT volume was also reported in first-degree relatives of schizophrenia (7). Some studies also demonstrated progressive gray matter reduction of PT in first-episode schizophrenia patients (8, 9) (the mean intervals between scans were 1.5 and 2.7 years, respectively).

Psychotic disorders, such as schizophrenia, are characterized by disabling features including low functional outcomes (10), prominent physical health problems (11) and premature mortality (12). Substantial attempts have therefore been made to predict, delay, or even prevent overt psychosis in individuals with an at-risk mental state (ARMS) for psychotic disorders (13, 14). We previously reported the progressive gray matter reduction of PT during the transition to psychosis in ARMS subjects (15). However, the precise chronology of PT structural changes remains unclear, i.e., whether it begins before or after the onset of psychosis.

Labeled cortical distance mapping (LCDM) is a novel image analyzing tool that computes the distances between labeled gray matter voxels and the gray/white matter cortical surface. LCDM can reliably characterize the morphometry of the laminar cortical mantle of cortical structures, such as cortical thickness and gray matter volume (16). Since this method is applied to a specific region of interest (ROI), it offers better tissue segmentation and is thus less susceptible to signal intensity inhomogeneity than whole-brain analyses. Using LCDM, we previously reported reduced thickness and less asymmetry in the volume of PT among schizophrenia patients compared with controls (17).

In the present study, we analyzed the PT morphology in ARMS subjects and HC using LCDM. We then examined whether PT structural changes had predated the future onset of frank psychosis in individuals with ARMS. In addition, we tested the associations between neurocognitive performance and PT measures among a sub-sample (n = 36) of ARMS subjects.

## METHODS

#### **Participants**

We recruited 73 ARMS subjects and 74 HCs at three sites (Toho University Hospital, Tohoku University Hospital and Toyama University Hospital) having specialized clinical services for ARMS (18). The ARMS phase is defined by having either attenuated psychotic symptoms, brief limited intermittent psychotic symptoms or genetic risk and deterioration in functioning (19). We used the Comprehensive Assessment of At-Risk Mental State (CAARMS) (20) (University of Toyama and Tohoku University) or the Structured Interview for Prodromal Syndrome/Scale of Prodromal Symptoms (SIPS/SOPS) (21) (Toho University) for the diagnosis of ARMS. ARMS subjects were clinically followed for at least 2 years after MRI scanning to confirm whether they developed full-blown psychosis (ARMS-P) or not (ARMS-NP). The mean follow-up period for the ARMS-NP subjects was  $6.5 \pm 1.7$  years (ranged 2.5–10 years). Development of psychosis was determined by the CAARMS or the SIPS criteria, as described in our previous study (22). We recruited sex- and age-matched HCs from the community, hospital staff, and students at each site.

All subjects were physically healthy at the time of MRI scanning. Exclusion criteria were detailed in our previous study (22). All subjects provided written informed consent. If the participants were minors, written informed consent was provided by their parents. This study was approved by the Committee on Medical Ethics at each site.

#### **MRI Data Acquisition**

The MRI scanners and data acquisition parameters used at each site were detailed in the **Supplemental Material**. All three sites used scanners with 1.5-tesla field strength.

## FreeSurfer-Initialized Labeled Cortical Distance Mapping (FSLCDM)

Images were initially preprocessed with FreeSurfer (version 5.3) (23). Each preprocessed image was carefully inspected, and any errors were manually corrected. FreeSurfer extracts the surfaces of gray and white matter, and automatically segments 68 cortical regions of interest (ROIs) using the Desikan–Killiany Atlas (24), including the STG.
# **Extraction of PT**

The PT was extracted from the Desikan–Killiany-defined STG following an established protocol (25). Boundaries of the PT were determined using a curvature-based surface tracking algorithm as follows: the boundary is defined by a path following the sulcus posterior to Heschl's gyrus from the medial to lateral extent, continues along a gyrus to the posterior ramus, and finally connects back to the starting point near the retro-insular (medial) end of Heschl's gyrus following a geodesic path. In cases with multiple Heschl's gyri or gyri that bifurcate at the lateral end, the more anterior gyrus is chosen as the PT boundary. **Figure 1** shows an example of an extracted PT on the left hemisphere.

# LCDM

The cropped MRI was segmented into white matter (WM), gray matter (GM), and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) using a mixture model averaging method (26, 27). The previously-developed method for generating LCDMs (28-30) was applied. To generate a distance map for the GM, the distance between each GM voxel and the closest GM/WM surface vertex was calculated at a 1  $\times$  $1 \times 1$  mm resolution. GM voxels associated with a vertex in the PT surface were labeled as PT. Voxels in the range of -2 to 8 mm were used for the analysis. The result of LCDM is a probability distribution function of the GM distance from the PT GM/WM surface. Three PT measures, i.e., cortical thickness, GM volume and surface area, were estimated in this way. Cortical thickness was determined using the distance at the 95th percentile of the distance distribution. Due to outlier voxels at distances >6 mm, the volume of voxels with distance less than or equal to the 95th percentile was taken as the volume of the PT. The area of the gray/white matter boundary surface was calculated from the triangulated surface.

# **Neurocognitive Assessment**

In 36 ARMS subjects, neurocognitive performance was evaluated using the Japanese version of the brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia (BACS-J) (31) by trained psychiatrists or psychologists at baseline. The BACS-J includes brief assessments of verbal memory (list learning), working memory (digit sequencing task), motor function (token motor task), verbal fluency (category/letter fluency), attention and processing speed (symbol coding), and executive function (the Tower of London test).

# **Statistical Analysis**

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), independent twosample *t*-tests, or a chi-squared test were used to compare clinical measures across the diagnostic groups. PT measures (i.e., cortical thickness, volume, and surface area) were compared among the controls, ARMS-NP and ARMS-P groups using repeated measures analysis of covariance (ANCOVA), with diagnosis as the between-subject factor, hemisphere as the within-subject factor, and age, sex, intracranial volume (ICV), daily antipsychotic dosage, and scanning site as nuisance covariates. Repeated measures were applied to evaluate laterality (i.e., left vs. right). For the post-hoc pairwise comparison, we used Bonferroni's correction. The associations between PT measures and neurocognitive functions (i.e., BACS scores) in ARMS subjects were evaluated by calculating partial correlation coefficients adjusted for age, sex, ICV, antipsychotic use, and scanning site. Bonferroni's correction was again adopted for



these correlational analyses. The significance level was set at p < 0.05 (two-tailed).

# RESULTS

# **Clinical Characteristics**

**Table 1** summarizes the clinical characteristics of the diagnostic groups. Eighteen of the 73 ARMS subjects developed frank psychosis (i.e., ARMS-P subjects) after MRI scanning. Based on the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders fourth edition (DSM-IV) (20) criteria, the diagnoses of ARMS-P subjects comprised twelve schizophrenia cases, one delusional disorder case, one schizophreniform disorder case, and four cases with psychotic disorder NOS. Thirty of the 73 ARMS subjects (41%) were taking antipsychotics at baseline. Self-reported educational attainment was significantly higher in HC than in the ARMS-NP (p < 0.001) and ARMS-P (p < 0.001) groups. The BACS subscores did not differ between ARMS-NP and ARMS-P groups.

# **PT Measures**

Repeated measures ANCOVA adjusted for age, sex, ICV, daily antipsychotic dosage and scanning site demonstrated significant main effects of side for volume ( $F_{(2,144)} = 25.46, p < 0.001$ )

# and surface area ( $F_{(2,144)} = 26.47$ , p < 0.001) of PT. *Post-hoc* testing showed that volume and surface area were larger on the left side (p < 0.001) than on the right in all diagnostic groups. Although there was a significant main effect of diagnosis for surface area ( $F_{(2,138)} = 4.48$ , p = 0.013), *post-hoc* test did not reach a statistically significant level. No other significant diagnostic effects were found. There were no significant side $\times$ diagnosis interactions (**Table 2**). There were no significant correlations between BACS subscores and PT measures in these 36 ARMS subjects.

# DISCUSSION

We demonstrated significant leftward asymmetries of PT volume and surface area in both ARMS-P and ARMS-NP subjects. In addition, we did not find PT structural changes predating the onset of psychosis in the ARMS-P group. These results were consistent with previous studies (15, 32) in which PT structural changes in ARMS-P subjects compared to ARMS-NP or healthy subjects were not found at baseline. The mean duration between MRI scanning and the onset of psychosis was 40 weeks, which was comparable to those of the same previous studies (33 and 28 weeks) (15, 32). Taken together, PT structural changes may occur at a closer time point (i.e., >30-40

#### TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical characteristics.

Variables	Group				
	НС	ARMS-NP	ARMS-P	Statistics	р
Total number of subjects	74	55	18		
Site					
Toyama	52	11	5		
Toho	5	19	4		
Tohoku	17	25	9		
Age (mean $\pm$ SD)	$22.6\pm4.3$	$22.3\pm6.5$	$20.1\pm4.3$	F = 1.7	0.19
Sex (male/female)	37/37	21/34	5/13	$X^2 = 3.7$	0.16
Handedness* (right/both/left)	58/0/0	34/8/2	10/2/2		
Education years** (mean $\pm$ SD)	14.8 ±1.9	$12.2 \pm 2.6$	$12.3\pm2.3$	F = 23.8	< 0.001
Parental education years*** (mean $\pm$ SD)	$12.9 \pm 2.2$	$13.5 \pm 2.0$	$13.4 \pm 1.6$	F = 0.86	0.43
Weeks between scanning and onset of psychosis (mean $\pm$ SD)			$40.1 \pm 32.6$		
Antipsychotics dose (mean mg $\pm$ SD, chlorpromazine equivalent)		$145\pm102$	$196\pm130$	<i>t</i> = 1.1	0.26
BACS-J subscores****					
Verbal memory (mean $\pm$ SD)		$46.4 \pm 10.1$	$50.7 \pm 12.6$	<i>t</i> = 1.0	0.32
Digit sequencing task (mean $\pm$ SD)		$18.3 \pm 5.0$	$21.0 \pm 5.4$	t = 1.4	0.18
Token motor task (mean $\pm$ SD)		$70.9\pm14.1$	$70.0 \pm 8.1$	<i>t</i> = 0.18	0.86
Category/letter fluency (mean $\pm$ SD)		$40.2 \pm 12.8$	$44.3 \pm 10.2$	t = 0.87	0.39
Symbol coding (mean $\pm$ SD)		$63.3\pm12.9$	$64.9\pm19.2$	t = 0.28	0.78
Tower of London (mean $\pm$ SD)		$17.8 \pm 2.5$	$18.1 \pm 2.4$	t = 0.28	0.73

<sup>\*</sup>Data missing for 30 subjects.

ARMS, at risk mental state; BACS-J, brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia Japanese version; HC, healthy controls; NP, did not develop psychosis; P, developed psychosis; SD, standard deviation.

<sup>\*\*</sup>Data missing for 7 subjects.

<sup>\*\*\*</sup>Data missing for 38 subjects.

<sup>\*\*\*\*36</sup> ARMS subjects (27 ARMS-NP and 9 ARMS-P subjects) underwent BACS-J.

TABLE 2 | Comparisons of PT measures among healthy controls, non-converters, and converters.

	HC (n	= 74)	ARMS-	NP (n = 55)	ARMS-	P (n = 18)	ANC	<b>OVA</b> <sup>a</sup>					Post hoc
							Diag	Inosis	Si	de	Side ×	Diagnosis	
Measures	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	F	Ρ	F	p	F	p	
Left PT thickness (mm)	3.10	0.79	3.01	0.77	3.09	0.76	0.164	0.849	0.364	0.547	0.064	0.938	
Right PT thickness (mm)	3.08	0.84	2.89	0.89	3.03	0.78							
Left PT volume (mm <sup>3</sup> )	2529	1025	2437	864	2520	936	0.851	0.429	25.462	<0.001	0.120	0.887	Left > Right
Right PT volume (mm <sup>3</sup> )	1859	770	1741	882	2009	913							
Left PT area (mm <sup>2</sup> )	850	236	880	212	939	316	4.48	0.013*	26.469	<0.001	0.184	0.832	Left > Right
Right PT area (mm <sup>2</sup> )	658	223	703	336	755	277							*NS

<sup>a</sup>Age, sex, intracranial volume, daily antipsychotic dosage and scanning site were entered as covariates.

ARMS, at risk mental state; HC, healthy controls; NP, did not develop psychosis; P, developed psychosis; PT, planum temporale; SD, standard deviation. The Bold values indicate significant main effects. \*Did not reach a statistically significant level.

weeks) before the onset of frank psychosis, or simultaneously with or immediately after the initial appearance of psychotic symptoms.

Other studies have demonstrated brain structure changes preceding the onset of psychosis, such as volume reduction or cortical thinning of the anterior cingulate cortex (22, 33, 34) and parahippocampal gyrus (35). These changes may reflect pre-existing vulnerability to psychosis, and may be useful as prognostic markers. In contrast, previous (15, 32) and current findings suggest that progressive PT structural changes, which have been reported in first-episode schizophrenia (8, 9), are closely associated with the first manifestation of psychotic symptoms (i.e., onset-related).

Although PT is normally an asymmetric (left > right) structure (4), this laterality is reportedly moderated, extinguished, or even reversed in patients with schizophrenia (6). Previous longitudinal studies suggest that the magnitude of progressive gray matter loss of PT is more prominent on the left side among first-episode psychosis and ARMS-P subjects (8, 9, 15). For instance, among ARMS-P subjects, an annual gray matter reduction of -5.2% on the left- and -3.9% on the right-side PT was reported (15). Therefore, the absence or reversal of leftward asymmetry of PT in established schizophrenia patients may have formed in the early stage of their psychosis.

Oertel et al. (7) demonstrated an intermediate reduction of the leftward asymmetry of the PT volume in first-degree relatives of schizophrenia patients (i.e., healthy subjects > relatives > probands) (7), while our data and previous studies (15, 32) did not detect such reduced laterality of PT measures in clinical high risk subjects. The mechanism of the emergence of reduced leftward asymmetry of PT structure might be different between clinical and genetical high risk individuals.

When conducting a study using ARMS patients, it can be challenging to obtain sufficient statistical power at a single site. We enrolled participants at three sites, and were able to obtain relatively a large sample size. Thus, the multi-site design is a strength of the present study, in addition to the employment of the novel LCDM imaging method.

Although previous studies demonstrated cognitive deficits in some domains (e.g., attention and working memory) in ARMS-P

groups prior to the onset of psychosis (36, 37), we failed to replicate these results. A recent study by Jung et al. (38) found a positive correlation between verbal intelligence and PT volume in first-episode schizophrenia spectrum psychosis patients. We did not observe associations between PT measures and verbal performance in the ARMS group. The small number (n = 36) of ARMS subjects who underwent BACS and the difference in phase of psychosis may have influenced these inconsistent results. Because antipsychotics can affect both brain morphology (39) and cognitive function (40), it is also possible that the higher rate of antipsychotic use in our ARMS cohort biased the findings.

Our previous studies (15, 32) employed subjects recruited at the University of Melbourne, therefore the subjects of our previous and current studies do not overlap. Although current and previous studies are similar with regard to the subjects' age distribution, ARMS subjects in previous studies (15, 32) were antipsychotic-naïve at baseline while some of ARMS subjects in current study were taking antipsychotics. Nonetheless, the results of PT measures at baseline were similar among current and previous studies.

We should note some limitations. First, the MRI scanners, acquisition parameters, and the proportion of controls to ARMS subjects differed among the sites, and these differences may have confounded the results, although we treated site as a nuisance covariate in each statistical model and there were no diagnosis  $\times$  site or hemisphere  $\times$  diagnosis  $\times$  site interactions. Second, the combined use of two criteria for ARMS (i.e., SIPS/SOPS or CAARMS) may have affected the results, although these two measures largely overlapped. Finally, the effects of antipsychotic medications on brain morphology could not be fully excluded (39), although we considered usage of antipsychotics in the statistical models.

In conclusion, our results did not support morphological changes of PT predating the onset of psychosis. Due to the cross-sectional design of this study, we were unable to examine whether PT measures change in accordance with the manifestation of psychotic symptoms. Longitudinal analyses with repeated scans are warranted in future studies.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated during the current study will not be available for public use, since we do not have permission to share the data. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to the corresponding author, Yoichiro Takayanagi, takayanagimatsu@umin.net.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Toho University School of Medicine, Ethics Committee, University of Toyama, the Ethics Committee of Tohoku University Graduate School of Medicine. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MS and YT designed the study and wrote the protocol. TT, NK, AS, NO, MKa, SN, KM, and MM recruited subjects and were involved in clinical and diagnostic assessments. AF, MKi, and

# REFERENCES

- Sun J, Maller JJ, Guo L, Fitzgerald PB. Superior temporal gyrus volume change in schizophrenia: a review on region of interest volumetric studies. *Brain Res Rev.* (2009) 61:14–32. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2009.03.004
- Chang EF, Rieger JW, Johnson K, Berger MS, Barbaro NM, Knight RT. Categorical speech representation in human superior temporal gyrus. *Nat Neurosci.* (2010) 13:1428–32. doi: 10.1038/nn.2641
- Kuo SS, Pogue-Geile MF. Variation in fourteen brain structure volumes in schizophrenia: a comprehensive meta-analysis of 246 studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2019) 98:85–94. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.12.030
- Guadalupe T, Zwiers MP, Wittfeld K, Teumer A, Vasquez AA, Hoogman M, et al. Asymmetry within and around the human planum temporale is sexually dimorphic and influenced by genes involved in steroid hormone receptor activity. *Cortex.* (2015) 62:41–55. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2014.07.015
- Kawasaki Y, Suzuki M, Takahashi T, Nohara S, McGuire PK, Seto H, et al. Anomalous cerebral asymmetry in patients with schizophrenia demonstrated by voxel-based morphometry. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2008) 63:793– 800. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.08.008
- Oertel-Knochel V, Linden DE. Cerebral asymmetry in schizophrenia. Neuroscientist. (2011) 17:456–67. doi: 10.1177/1073858410386493
- Oertel V, Knochel C, Rotarska-Jagiela A, Schonmeyer R, Lindner M, van de Ven V, et al. Reduced laterality as a trait marker of schizophrenia–evidence from structural and functional neuroimaging. *J Neurosci.* (2010) 30:2289–99. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4575-09.2010
- Kasai K, Shenton ME, Salisbury DF, Hirayasu Y, Onitsuka T, Spencer MH, et al. Progressive decrease of left Heschl gyrus and planum temporale gray matter volume in first-episode schizophrenia: a longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2003) 60:766–75. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.60.8.766
- Takahashi T, Suzuki M, Zhou SY, Tanino R, Nakamura K, Kawasaki Y, et al. A follow-up MRI study of the superior temporal subregions in schizotypal disorder and first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 119:65–74. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.12.006
- Jaaskelainen E, Juola P, Hirvonen N, McGrath JJ, Saha S, Isohanni M, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of recovery in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:1296–306. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs130

MN managed the MRI and clinical data. YT, SK, DS, and JR did the imaging processing. KN provided technical support for MRI scanning and data processing. YT performed statistical analyses and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. SK, TT, JR, and MS contributed to editing the manuscript. All authors have approved the final manuscript.

# FUNDING

This study was supported by grants to YT (Kiban C No. 18K07549), DS (Wakate No. 18K15509, Kiban B No. 19H03579), TT (Kiban C No. 18K07550), and MS (Kiban B No. 20H03598) from the Japanese Society for the Promotion of Science. KM, MM, and MS received a grant from the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED) (JP19dk0307029). JR and SK were supported by a grant from the National Institutes of Health (P41-EB015909).

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2020.593952/full#supplementary-material

- DE Hert M, Correll CU, Bobes J, Cetkovich-Bakmas M, Cohen D, Asai I, et al. Physical illness in patients with severe mental disorders. I. Prevalence, impact of medications and disparities in health care. *World Psychiatry.* (2011) 10:52–77. doi: 10.1002/j.2051-5545.2011.tb00014.x
- Hjorthøj C, Stürup AE, McGrath JJ, Nordentoft M. Years of potential life lost and life expectancy in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2017) 4:295–301. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30078-0
- Stafford MR, Jackson H, Mayo-Wilson E, Morrison AP, Kendall T. Early interventions to prevent psychosis: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ*. (2013) 346:f185. doi: 10.1136/bmj.f185
- Takahashi T, Suzuki M. Brain morphologic changes in early stages of psychosis: implications for clinical application and early intervention. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2018) 72:556–71. doi: 10.1111/ pcn.12670
- Takahashi T, Wood SJ, Yung AR, Soulsby B, McGorry PD, Suzuki M, et al. Progressive gray matter reduction of the superior temporal gyrus during transition to psychosis. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2009) 66:366–76. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.12
- Ceyhan E, Hosakere M, Nishino T, Alexopoulos J, Todd RD, Botteron KN, et al. Statistical analysis of cortical morphometrics using pooled distances based on labeled cortical distance maps. *J Math Imaging Vis.* (2011) 40:20–35. doi: 10.1007/s10851-010-0240-4
- Ratnanather JT, Poynton CB, Pisano DV, Crocker B, Postell E, Cebron S, et al. Morphometry of superior temporal gyrus and planum temporale in schizophrenia and psychotic bipolar disorder. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 150:476– 83. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.08.014
- Mizuno M, Suzuki M, Matsumoto K, Murakami M, Takeshi K, Miyakoshi T, et al. Clinical practice and research activities for early psychiatric intervention at Japanese leading centres. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. (2009) 3:5–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2008.00104.x
- Yung AR, McGorry PD, McFarlane CA, Jackson HJ, Patton GC, Rakkar A. Monitoring and care of young people at incipient risk of psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (1996) 22:283–303. doi: 10.1093/schbul/22.2.283
- Yung AR, Yuen HP, McGorry PD, Phillips LJ, Kelly D, Dell'Olio M, et al. Mapping the onset of psychosis: the comprehensive assessment of at-risk mental states. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry.* (2005) 39:964–71. doi: 10.1080/j.1440-1614.2005.01714.x

- Miller TJ, McGlashan TH, Rosen JL, Cadenhead K, Cannon T, Ventura J, et al. Prodromal assessment with the structured interview for prodromal syndromes and the scale of prodromal symptoms: predictive validity, interrater reliability, and training to reliability. *Schizophr Bull.* (2003) 29:703–15. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul. a007040
- 22. Takayanagi Y, Kulason S, Sasabayashi D, Takahashi T, Katagiri N, Sakuma A, et al. Reduced thickness of the anterior cingulate cortex in individuals with an at-risk mental state who later develop psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2017) 43:907–13. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw167
- 23. Fischl B. FreeSurfer. Neuroimage. (2012) 62:774-81. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuroimage.2012.01.021
- 24. Desikan Ro, Segonne F, Fischl B, Quinn BT, Dickerson BC, Blacker D, et al. An automated labeling system for subdividing the human cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest. *Neuroimage*. (2006) 31:968–80. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.01.021
- Ratnanather JT, Barta PE, Honeycutt NA, Lee N, Morris HM, Dziorny AC, et al. Dynamic programming generation of boundaries of local coordinatized submanifolds in the neocortex: application to the planum temporale. *Neuroimage*. (2003) 20:359–77. doi: 10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00238-6
- Lee NA, Priebe CE, Miller MI, Ratnanather JT. Validation of alternating kernel mixture method: application to tissue segmentation of cortical and subcortical structures. *J Biomed Biotechnol.* (2008) 2008:346129. doi: 10.1155/2008/346129
- 27. Wentz J. A Pipeline for Cortical Analysis of Regional Changes in MCI and Autism. (MSE thesis). In: Anonymous Dept of Biomedical Engineering. The Johns Hopkins University. (2012).
- Miller MI, Massie AB, Ratnanather JT, Botteron KN, Csernansky JG. Bayesian construction of geometrically based cortical thickness metrics. *Neuroimage*. (2000) 12:676–87. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2000.0666
- Miller MI, Hosakere M, Barker AR, Priebe CE, Lee N, Ratnanather JT, et al. Labeled cortical mantle distance maps of the cingulate quantify differences between dementia of the Alzheimer type and healthy aging. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:15172–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2136624100
- Ratnanather JT, Wang L, Nebel MB, Hosakere M, Han X, Csernansky JG, et al. Validation of semiautomated methods for quantifying cingulate cortical metrics in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2004) 132:53–68. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2004.07.003
- Kaneda Y, Sumiyoshi T, Keefe R, Ishimoto Y, Numata S, Ohmori T. Brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia: validation of the Japanese version. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2007) 61:602–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2007.01725.x
- Takahashi T, Wood SJ, Yung AR, Walterfang M, Phillips LJ, Soulsby B, et al. Superior temporal gyrus volume in antipsychotic-naive people at risk of psychosis. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2010) 196:206–11. doi: 10.1192/ bjp.bp.109.069732

- Borgwardt SJ, Riecher-Rossler A, Dazzan P, Chitnis X, Aston J, Drewe M, et al. Regional gray matter volume abnormalities in the at risk mental state. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2007) 61:1148–56. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.08.009
- 34. Fornito A, Yung AR, Wood SJ, Phillips LJ, Nelson B, Cotton S, et al. Anatomic abnormalities of the anterior cingulate cortex before psychosis onset: an MRI study of ultra-high-risk individuals. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2008) 64:758–65. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.05.032
- Mechelli A, Riecher-Rossler A, Meisenzahl EM, Tognin S, Wood SJ, Borgwardt SJ, et al. Neuroanatomical abnormalities that predate the onset of psychosis: a multicenter study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2011) 68:489–95. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.42
- Bora E, Lin A, Wood SJ, Yung AR, McGorry PD, Pantelis C. Cognitive deficits in youth with familial and clinical high risk to psychosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2014) 130:1–15. doi: 10.1111/acps.12261
- 37. Hauser M, Zhang JP, Sheridan EM, Burdick KE, Mogil R, Kane JM, et al. Neuropsychological test performance to enhance identification of subjects at clinical high risk for psychosis and to be most promising for predictive algorithms for conversion to psychosis: a meta-analysis. *J Clin Psychiatry.* (2017) 78:e28–40. doi: 10.4088/JCP.15r10197
- 38. Jung S, Lee A, Bang M, Lee SH. Gray matter abnormalities in language processing areas and their associations with verbal ability and positive symptoms in first-episode patients with schizophrenia spectrum psychosis. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2019) 24:102022. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2019.102022
- 39. Vita A, De Peri L, Deste G, Barlati S, Sacchetti E. The effect of antipsychotic treatment on cortical gray matter changes in schizophrenia: does the class matter? A meta-analysis and meta-regression of longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2015) 78:403–12. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.02.008
- Desamericq G, Schurhoff F, Meary A, Szoke A, Macquin-Mavier I, Bachoud-Levi AC, et al. Long-term neurocognitive effects of antipsychotics in schizophrenia: a network meta-analysis. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* (2014) 70:127– 34. doi: 10.1007/s00228-013-1600-y

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Takayanagi, Kulason, Sasabayashi, Takahashi, Katagiri, Sakuma, Ohmuro, Katsura, Nishiyama, Nakamura, Kido, Furuichi, Noguchi, Matsumoto, Mizuno, Ratnanather and Suzuki. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# First-Episode Psychotic Patients Showed Longitudinal Brain Changes Using fMRI With an Emotional Auditory Paradigm

Carlos González-Vivas<sup>1</sup>, Gracián García-Martí<sup>2,3</sup>, Pau Soldevila-Matías<sup>1,4</sup>, Roberto Sanz-Requena<sup>3</sup>, Eduardo J. Aguilar<sup>1,2,5</sup>, María José Castro-Bleda<sup>6</sup>, Luis Martí-Bonmatí<sup>3</sup> and Julio Sanjuan<sup>1,2,5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> INCLIVA Health Research Institute, Clinical University Hospital, Valencia, Spain, <sup>2</sup> Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Salud Mental (CIBERSAM), Madrid, Spain, <sup>3</sup> Radiology Department, Quirónsalud Hospital, Valencia, Spain, <sup>4</sup> Department of Health Science, Valencia International University, Valencia, Spain, <sup>5</sup> Department of Medicine, Valencia University, Valencia, Spain, <sup>6</sup> Universitat Politècnica de València, Valencia, Spain

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Luca De Peri, Cantonal Sociopsychological Organization, Switzerland

# Reviewed by:

Massimo Tusconi, University of Cagliari, Italy Debo Dong, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, China

> \***Correspondence:** Julio Sanjuan julio.sanjuan@uv.es

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 09 August 2020 Accepted: 09 November 2020 Published: 11 December 2020

#### Citation:

González-Vivas C, García-Martí G, Soldevila-Matías P, Sanz-Requena R, Aguilar EJ, Castro-Bleda MJ, Martí-Bonmatí L and Sanjuan J (2020) First-Episode Psychotic Patients Showed Longitudinal Brain Changes Using fMRI With an Emotional Auditory Paradigm. Front. Psychiatry 11:593042. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.593042

Most previous longitudinal studies of functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) in first-episode psychosis (FEP) using cognitive paradigm task found an increased activation after antipsychotic medications. We designed an emotional auditory paradigm to explore brain activation during emotional and nonemotional word processing. This study aimed to analyze if longitudinal changes in brain fMRI BOLD activation is present in patients vs. healthy controls. A group of FEP patients (n = 34) received clinical assessment and had a fMRI scan at baseline and follow-up (average, 25-month interval). During the fMRI scan, both emotional and nonemotional words were presented as a block design. Results were compared with a pair of healthy control group (n = 13). Patients showed a decreased activation at follow-up fMRI in amygdala (F = 4.69; p = 0.04) and hippocampus (F = 5.03; p = 0.03) compared with controls. Middle frontal gyrus was the only area that showed a substantial increased activation in patients (F = 4.53; p = 0.04). A great heterogeneity in individual activation patterns was also found. These results support the relevance of the type of paradigm in neuroimaging for psychosis. This is, as far as we know, the first longitudinal study with an emotional auditory paradigm in FEP. Our results suggested that the amygdala and hippocampus play a key role in psychotic disease. More studies are needed to understand the heterogeneity of response at individual level.

Keywords: first episode psychosis (FEP), fMRI-functional magnetic resonance imaging, longitudinal, emotional design model, paradigm, follow up

# INTRODUCTION

Psychosis is a group of heterogeneous mental disorders characterized by important life disturbances, cognitive impairment, interpersonal problems, and, finally, high economic costs for health systems, including indirect costs such as unemployment and social support, and direct costs from hospitalizations during crises (1). First-episode psychosis (FEP) is defined as the first manifestation of a psychotic disorder meeting appropriate diagnostic symptom and time criteria (2), occurring in more than 3% of people at some point in life (3).

41

FEP has received a lot of interest from the scientific community in recent years, to increase recovery rates and prevent deterioration due to the emerging importance of an adequate and rapid response in the early stages of the disease (4–8). Prodromal factors have been investigated, conforming the clinical high-risk state for psychosis (CHR-P) knowledge based on two decades (9), seeking to clarify the most important risk factors that can predict the emerging of first symptom and answer why most high-risk individuals will never develop symptoms while being exposed to these risk factors, although meta-analyses report around 30% of high-risk individuals developing symptoms (1). In that sense, genetic and environmental interaction should also be considered, as they seem to work synergistically (6). In this sense, a great heterogeneity has been described within the CHR-P population, finding different subgroups prior to the emerging of FEP (10).

Despite this research effort, there are key remaining questions regarding FEP, the factors that explain the enormous clinical heterogeneity, the different course trajectories, and high relapse risks after improving pharmacological treatments and early interventions (6).

One main attempt to evaluate FEP is by using neuroimaging techniques. Most publications use MRI imaging measurements (11), ventricular dilation, and gray matter lost in chronic samples (12, 13), with similar results found in FEP patients (14). Treatment of naïve patients have shown gray matter deficits, mainly in the fronto-temporal, thalamo-cortical, and subcortical-limbic circuits (15, 16). There have been several attempts to link these structural findings with the outcomes and longitudinal trajectories of the disease, but clinical and methodological heterogeneity limits the conclusions (17).

Conversely, little is known about longitudinal changes in FEP during functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) (18). One review, interested in the effects of medication on chronic patients, concluded that pharmacological antipsychotic treatments induce functional brain alterations in the frontal regions (19), but this conclusion has been reached by including different studies with an enormous methodological variance.

There are some problems with performing longitudinal fMRI studies: the cost of these techniques translates into low sample sizes across most studies (18, 19); the experimental dropouts in a difficult population to be recruited and evaluated; and the methodological heterogeneity during scans, which involves many different paradigms, usually visual or cognitive tasks (18). The type of task is a key issue in neuroimaging, since different areas of brain activation are shown as distinct task designs (such as emotional, cognitive, motor, attentional, verbal) and different sensory modalities (such as visual, auditory, resting state) are carried out. The distinctions between the strength of the MR scans are also noticeable, ranging from earlier studies with 1.5 T to later 7 T high field scanners, though their results are often intermixed.

Our group developed an emotional auditory paradigm based on some of the most common symptoms reported by FEP patients (20, 21). Some interesting results have been found using this method in chronic samples (22), but the issue of longitudinal activation changes in FEP remains unclear.

There are relatively few publications studying longitudinal activation changes in FEP cohorts. We recently conducted what seems to be the only systematic review about this question and gathered the results of 13 selected studies (18). First of all, there was a great methodological heterogeneity across the included studies, involving different scan powers, different intervals between scans, different regions of interest, and different tasks and modalities. Taken together the activation and connectivity studies, two main comparisons were carried out. First, the patient's group was compared with the healthy control's group in basal assessment, finding multiple studies with hypoactivation in several brain areas in the patients' group. The most frequently hypoactivated area was the prefrontal cortex, followed by limbic structures, occipital cortex, basal ganglia, thalamus, hippocampus, temporal cortex, and parietal cortex. The number of studies reporting hyperactivation in patients vs. controls was marginal. This was in contrast to the results of a previous selective review that concluded a hippocampal and subcortical hyperactivation pattern in naive patients (15).

Secondly, we compared the results of the second MR scans within the patient's group with respect to the basal assessment, with a general increased activation (which we called "normalization") in the vast majority of included studies, especially in prefrontal cortex, basal ganglia, parietal cortex, and occipital cortex. These results were explained in the reference studies as treatment effects (18).

Under our emotional auditory paradigm, an important role of amygdala in emotional processing in chronic patients with hallucinations can be observed (20). We hypothesize that evaluating a FEP with our emotional paradigm in fMRI will probably show different activation patterns, especially in amygdala, between patient and healthy control groups. We also expect that the activation will decrease in those regions after treatment. The purpose of this study is to compare the longitudinal activation results evaluated with an emotional auditory paradigm during fMRI scans in a FEP patient with a heathy control group. The potential of this method as a biomarker for FEP will be discussed.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# **Participants**

Patients were recruited from the outpatient psychiatry clinics. People from area 5 of Valencia, who experienced psychotic symptoms for the first time in life were submitted to the Valencia Clinic Hospital First-Episode Unit for evaluation and treatment. Control subjects were paired by age and educational level. All subjects, patients and controls, were older than 18 years old and provided written informed consent according to the Local Ethical Committee.

There were 35 adult patients with a first F20–F29 diagnosis. Diagnoses were based on the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders. Two weeks after their diagnosis, all the patients underwent a semistructured interview including sociological information and clinical scales. After the clinical evaluation, they were proposed to be scanned with two fMRI scans, with a minimum interval of 6 months between them.

	FEP patients group $(n = 35)$	Healthy controls group $(n = 13)$
Age (years at first scan)	$29.92 \pm 8.90$	35.70 ± 10.74
Gender (male/female)	28/6	8/5
Education level	Illiteracy $= 1$	Illiteracy $= 0$
	Primary $= 9$	Primary $= 1$
	Secondary $= 6$	Secondary $= 2$
	High school = 9	High school $= 4$
	University = 10	University = 6
Work status	Active = 5	Active = 9
	Unemployed $= 18$	Unemployed $= 2$
	Disabled = 1	Disabled = 0
	Student = 11	Student = $2$
Coexistence	Alone $= 1$	Alone $= 4$
	Origin family = 28	Origin family = 3
	Own family $= 2$	Own family $= 4$
	Other = 4	Other = 2
Interval (months between scans)	$25.60 \pm 19.50$	$19.68 \pm 13.03$

**TABLE 1** | Sociodemographical characteristics of subjects.

TABLE 2 | Clinical characteristics of subjects.

	Basal (n = 35)	Follow-up ( $n = 35$ )	<i>p</i> -values
CGI	4.23 ± 0.770	$3.49 \pm 1.040$	0.002
GAF	$62.20 \pm 11.045$	$67.71 \pm 15.007$	0.040
PANSS: T	$59.69 \pm 13.809$	$47.17 \pm 16.224$	0.000
PANSS: P	$15.06 \pm 5.525$	$11.17 \pm 4.914$	0.002
PANSS: N	$13.71 \pm 4.430$	$11.34 \pm 3.925$	0.003
PANSS: PG	$30.06 \pm 6.708$	$24.17\pm8.607$	0.002
Medication	1st G APS = 35 (paliperidone = 12, olanzapine = 11, aripiprazole = 5, risperidone = 3, amisulpride = 2, quetiapine = 2) APS combination = 9 Anticholinergics = 2 Benzodiazepines = 26 Antidepressants = 4 Mood stabilizers = 3 Mean CPZ equivalent dose: 266 mg. SD = 1.82		

Healthy controls were volunteers without financial remuneration recruited from the Valencia Clinic Hospital and Valencia University staff. They were selected after a mini personal interview to exclude people with the following: (a) personal or family clinical records of psychiatric illness; (b) people who suffered from a medical illness that potentially affected cerebral function; and (c) people who met present or past criteria for psychoactive drug abuse or dependence (except for tobacco). Sociodemographic data is gathered in **Table 1**.

## **Clinical Measurements**

Patients were assessed by a personnel trained in FEP evaluation (JS). Interviews were conducted during the first episode and a few days after the start of treatment. All patients were assessed at least twice, coinciding with the time difference between scans. Pharmacological options were registered, even if depot administration was implemented, and others are combinations with non-antipsychotic medications.

The Clinical Global Impressions scale (CGI) and the Global Assessment of Functioning scale (GAF) were taken into account and complemented by the Positive and Negative Syndrome scale (PANSS). The results of clinical measurements in baseline and follow-up are summarized in **Table 2**.

# fMRI Emotional Paradigm

An emotional auditory fMRI stimulation paradigm, designed by our group (20, 21), was employed in this study, consisting of 13 emotional Spanish words taking into account their frequency of presentation in the patient's hallucinations, and 13 neutral words with a similar number of syllables from a database (23). A set of earphones, connected by a pair of air tubes to an external audio player, was used. Two different fMRI acquisitions, neutral and emotional, were conducted for each subject. The neutral words were presented first. The paradigm used a block design approach to present the words. Four blocks of rest and four blocks of stimulation were interleaved and presented to each participant. Each block lasted 20 s. Subjects were informed before the MR acquisition about the experiment and were asked to focus their attention to the words.

# **MR Scanning Protocol**

fMRI scans were obtained at baseline and follow-up with a 3-T magnet (Achieva, Philips Medical Systems, Best, The Netherlands) and a multitransmit parallel transmission technology. Brain fMRI images were obtained using a 32channel head coil and a dynamic echo planar imaging (EPI) T2\*-weighted sequence (repetition time = 2,000 ms; echo time = 30 ms; flip angle 90; slice thickness = 3.50 mm with no interslice gap; acquisition matrix =  $128 \times 128$ ; voxel size =  $1.80 \times 1.80 \times$ 3.50 mm), covering the whole brain with 40 contiguous slices. The total fMRI acquisition duration was 160 s.

After acquisition, images were qualitatively reviewed by a radiologist and a computer engineer, to ensure data quality. Data was then anonymized and transferred to a workstation for postprocessing analysis.

# Analyses

Statistical Parametric Mapping version 12 software (SPM, The Wellcome Center for Human Neuroimaging, London, UK) and MATLAB R2015a (The MathWorks, Natick, MA, USA) were used to process the fMRI series. First, images were spatially realigned to minimize potential movements during the MR acquisition. Motion maps were generated for each fMRI series and analyzed to discard those subjects with translation

movements (x, y, z) >1.80 mm (voxel size). No subjects were discarded after this step. Secondly, a slice timing correction was used to adjust for temporal delays between the first and the last slices in each fMRI dynamic. Then, a spatial normalization algorithm was applied to normalize data with respect to a standard template (MNI350, Montreal Neurological Institute). Finally, the normalized images were smoothed by a 6-mm FWHM Gaussian smoothing kernel.

A first-level analysis was conducted for each individual subject. In order to increase specificity, fMRI response was measured during emotional words in all subjects in areas previously reported as significant with the emotional paradigm, including amygdala, hippocampus, cingulated gyrus, insula, frontal, and temporal regions (21, 22, 24, 25). In these areas, a relative measurement of functional activation [percent signal change (PSC)] was calculated as the proportional signal difference between the signal averaged in the rest blocks and the signal averaged in the stimulation period was measured. To minimize the potential effect of spurious values, a robust

strategy was used to obtain the mean and median values for each region of interest (ROI), discarding those values with two time differences, above or below the standard deviation of the PSC in each area. For each ROI and case, the PSC was computed voxel by voxel. To minimize the bias associated to multiple statistical comparisons and to control the expected number of false positives, a Bonferroni correction was applied at voxel level through a family-wise error (FWE) rate correction.

A full-factorial ANOVA model was constructed and evaluated to assess for changes in fMRI activation between subjects by accounting for two main factors: clinical group (patients vs. controls) and longitudinal acquisition (basal—MRI1 and followup—MRI2).

# RESULTS

# fMRI Response to Emotional Stimulation

Compared with the control subjects, FEP patients showed hyperactivated areas when the emotional stimulation was

**TABLE 3** | Areas of hyperactivation in FEP patients vs. controls when emotional stimulation was applied.

	N	IRI1 (basal)	MRI2 (follow-up)						
7 Student	Coordinates	Label	Brodmann	T Student	Coordinates	Label	Brodmann		
9.22	[-28, 16, 58]	Frontal_Mid_L	08	7.30	[-38, 40, 34]	Frontal_Mid_L	46		
9.02	[-12, 46, 44]	Frontal_Sup_Medial_L	09						
8.92	[-46, 8, 34]	Frontal_Inf_Oper_L	48						
8.84	[-32, 16, 34]	Frontal_Inf_Oper_L	44						
8.72	[-38, 16, -24]	Temporal_Pole_Sup_L	38						
8.49	[48, 34, -16]	Frontal_Inf_Orb_R	47						

Left MRI1 (basal) and right MRI2 (follow-up) (p < 0.05 FWE-corrected).





applied. In the first basal fMRI acquisition, the hyperactivated areas were located mainly at frontal and temporal regions. The follow-up fMRI examination showed lesser differences between FEP and healthy controls, with only a small portion of the middle frontal lobe being hyperactivated (see **Table 3** and **Figure 1**). A complete list of areas, figures, and tables showing the whole-brain full-activation maps for each group is available as **Tables S1**, **S2** and **Figures S1**, **S2**.

# **Effect Over Time**

FEP patients showed a significant reduction in fMRI activation in the follow-up MRI examination of the hippocampus (F = 4.81; p = 0.03). Other areas including amygdala, cingulated gyrus, insula, frontal, and temporal regions did not show functional changes over time. Likewise, no significant differences were found in healthy control subjects in these areas between both fMRI examinations (see **Figure 2** and **Table 4**).

Although averaged-group values in the hippocampus showed statistically significant changes over time, a marked heterogeneity in the behavior of the curves was detected when observing particular subjects. While some patients showed a clear increase of PSC activation during follow-up fMRI evaluations, others exhibited a marked reduction over time (**Figure 2**).

# **Effect Over Clinical Groups**

At baseline fMRI, FEP patients showed a significant reduction of activation compared with controls in the amygdala (F = 4.67; p = 0.04). By contrast temporal (F = 3.96; p = 0.04) and frontal (F = 4.23; p = 0.04) regions were hyperactivated in FEP patients. Other areas including the hippocampus, cingulated gyrus, and insula did not show significant differences between groups.

In the follow-up study, both amygdala (F = 4.69; p = 0.04) and hippocampus (F = 5.03; p = 0.03) showed a significant fMRI reduction in patients vs. controls while the middle frontal gyrus (F = 4.53; p = 0.04) showed a hyperactivation in patients (see **Figure 2** and **Table 5**).

An analysis of a possible interaction between clinical symptoms and longitudinal changes in fMRI was made through PANSS result data: general PANSS score, positive subscale, negative subscale, and general psychopathology subscale. No significant correlation between these scores and longitudinal fMRI changes were found (**Table 6**).

		FEP patients			Healthy controls			
		PSC F P-value PSC		PSC	F	p-value		
	Basal (MRI1)	Follow-up (MRI2)			Basal (MRI1)	Follow-up (MRI2)		
Amygdala	7.82 (11.34)	2.70 (13.90)	1.58	0.21	12.09 (8.80)	11.75 (11.36)	0.33	0.57
Hippocampus	8.64 (8.30)	-1.01 (8.79)	4.81	0.03*	6.65 (9.57)	9.83 (13.67)	0.86	0.36
Cingulated Gyrus	5.15 (19.64)	0.15 (30.15)	0.69	0.41	-0.65 (17.82)	3.28 (20.69)	0.27	0.61
Frontal	2.06 (9.48)	3.51 (10.53)	0.06	0.80	-2.40 (9.47)	0.65 (10.41)	0.28	0.60
Temporal	7.89 (7.60)	4.66 (20.79)	0.01	0.93	5.05 (7.11)	14.23 (15.56)	0.95	0.34
Insula	-1.30 (19.85)	0.69 (24.85)	0.14	0.71	3.12 (12.03)	3.14 (16.84)	0.00	1.00

\*p < 0.05.

TABLE 5 | ANOVA showing functional PSC values at basal (left) and follow-up (right) evaluation for FEP patients and healthy control subjects.

		Basal (MRI1)			Follow-up (MRI2)			
		PSC F p-value		p-value		F	p-value	
	FEP patients	Healthy controls			FEP patients	Healthy controls		
Amygdala	7.82 (11.34)	12.09 (8.80)	4.67	0.04*	2.70 (13.90)	11.75 (11.36)	4.69	0.04*
Hippocampus	8.64 (8.30)	6.65 (9.57)	0.22	0.65	-1.01 (8.79)	9.83 (13.67)	5.03	0.03*
Cingulated gyrus	5.15 (19.64)	-0.65 (17.82)	0.87	0.36	0.15 (30.15)	3.28 (20.69)	0.12	0.73
Frontal	2.06 (9.48)	-2.40 (9.47)	4.23	0.04*	3.51 (10.53)	0.65 (10.41)	4.53	0.04*
Temporal	7.89 (7.60)	5.05 (7.11)	3.96	0.04*	4.66 (20.79)	14.23 (15.56)	2.27	0.14
Insula	-1.30 (19.85)	3.12 (12.03)	0.57	0.46	0.69 (24.85)	3.14 (16.84)	0.11	0.74

\*p < 0.05.

In order to look at the possible antipsychotic effect on fMRI, chlorpromazine-equivalent doses were calculated and registered (**Table 2**). The relationship between longitudinal activation change and clinical variables has been calculated, showing that there is no correlation between longitudinal fMRI changes and antipsychotic dose (**Table 6**).

# DISCUSSION

This first longitudinal study investigating fMRI changes in FEP using an emotional auditory paradigm reveals an increased activation at baseline that is reduced in follow-up. Interestingly, in our previous systematic review of fMRI longitudinal studies in FEP, the most common finding was just the opposite. Patients with FEP showed at baseline a hypoactivation mainly in PFC, basal ganglia, limbic system, hippocampus, and the ACC, which was increased ("normalized") after antipsychotic treatment during follow-up (18).

The most likely explanation for understanding the differences between our results and previous studies is the fMRI paradigm. Most previous fMRI longitudinal studies in FEP used resting states or different paradigms that included cognitive tasks. The main problem of using any kind of cognitive task in psychotic patients is the attentional bias as attentional deficits are one of the most common findings in FEP patients (26). In fMRI studies, these deficits correlate with general hypoactivation mainly in the PFC (27). Moreover, hypoactivation in the PFC has been mentioned classically as one of the most consistent findings in chronic schizophrenia (28). However, the type of paradigm we used in this study does not require a focus of attention or cognitive performance but rather reflects the brain's response to direct emotional stimulation. In support of this, a hyperactivation of the amygdala at baseline that decreased after treatment with cognitive therapy was observed in schizophrenia patients with persistent hallucinations (22).

The fact that amygdala and hippocampus showed the most significant changes deserves an explanation. First, both areas were the most clearly affected in our previous studies using the same paradigm in chronic patients (29). Secondly, these areas are implicated in the emotional response and memory, fitting with the Kapur's model in which the core of psychosis could be an abnormal "salience" to external stimuli (30) or, as more recently suggested, an abnormal connectivity between perceptual, emotional, and memory brain areas (31).

Quite relevant is the fact that everything mentioned so far relates with mean group variations in brain activation. It is important to consider the great individual heterogeneity in the results. This heterogeneity is not only in the baseline but also in the path of brain activation changes. Some patients show a decrease in brain activation during followup, while another group presents just the opposite (**Figure 2**). There are several possible explanations for these results. The

TABLE 6   Correlations between differences in activation in amygdala and
hippocampus and clinical variables (PANSS subscales measurements and
pharmacological treatment in chlorpromazine equivalent doses) measured as
longitudinal percentage change.

	DIFAMIG	DIFHIPOC	PC_P	PC_N	PC_G
DIFAMIG					
Pearson correlation	1	0.717**	-0.044	0.000	0.092
Sig. (2-tailed)		0.000	0.800	0.998	0.598
Ν	35	35	35	35	35
DIFHIPOC					
Pearson correlation	0.717**	1	-0.132	-0.041	0.117
Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000		0.451	0.813	0.503
Ν	35	35	35	35	35
PANSS_P					
Pearson correlation	-0.044	-0.132	1	0.959**	0.223
Sig. (2-tailed)	0.800	0.451		0.000	0.197
Ν	35	35	35	35	35
PANSS_N					
Pearson correlation	0.000	-0.041	0.959**	1	0.372*
Sig. (2-tailed)	0.998	0.813	0.000		0.028
Ν	35	35	35	35	35
PANSS_G					
Pearson correlation	0.092	0.117	0.223	0.372*	1
Sig. (2-tailed)	0.598	0.503	0.197	0.028	
Ν	35	35	35	35	35
CPZ_EQ					
Pearson correlation	-0.082	-0.041	-0.067	-0.131	-0.045
Sig. (2-tailed)	0.638	0.815	0.704	0.453	0.799
Ν	35	35	35	35	35

\*Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

\*\*Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

simplest one is that the heterogeneity in brain activation is due to the clinical heterogeneity of the population. Our study sample was based on patients with first episodes of psychosis. The first psychotic episodes can evolve very favorably (brief reactive psychosis) or tend toward chronicity either in a continuous deterioration or in an episodic way (32). However, we did not find a clinical difference at baseline with regard to the pattern of longitudinal activation changes (see Figures S1, S2 and Tables S1, S2). That said, it is possible to speculate that differences in brain activation are directly related with the clinical state at the moment of fMRI. So, the same patient could have a different degree of activation, depending on the moment of fMRI acquisition. Moreover, it is important to consider medication and psychosocial interventions as important confounding variables, and it is worth mentioning that patients were treated under naturalistic conditions with individualized therapeutic approaches. The results of this study showed the relevance of making an analysis at an individual base instead of just comparing the mean group.

This study has some limitations. Although most of the fMRI studies involve <30 patients, it remains limiting for the field,

and this study must be interpreted wisely due to the relatively small sample size recruited. Differences between sample sizes in the HC and FEP groups and gender distribution should also be taken into account. The second limitation is about the different intervals between scans, particularly in the case of the FEP group. As we are comparing brain function after symptom's onset, the natural effects of neurodevelopment should be controlled by adjusting the time between scans. Thirdly, although we did not find a significant correlation between clinical symptoms and brain activation (Table 6) in our sample, like all FEP samples, there is a great clinical heterogeneity that it cannot be ignored. Different types of psychosis are included, which probably involve different disease phenotypes and, as we have shown in this paper, different pathways in brain function. Finally, according to this clinical heterogeneity, a wide range of pharmacological treatments appear in our sample. Although we did not find a significant relationship of the antipsychotic equivalent dose and fMRI activation, it cannot be ruled out that different combinations of medications in longitudinal studies may introduce changes in natural brain function. More analyses are needed, studying individual cases and possible patient subgroups [including genetic data (33)] to improve our knowledge of brain function and the course of psychosis.

Conversely, this study has some strengths that should be listed. The main strength is that this is the first longitudinal study investigating longitudinal fMRI changes in FEP samples with an emotional auditory paradigm. Paradigm election is a key question in neuroimaging, and there is a lack of longitudinal studies using noncognitive task during scans. Another positive point of this study is to incorporate clinical assessments in addition to neuroimage acquisition data. Neuroimaging and clinical data may be gathered to study disease course variables in subsequent analyses.

In conclusion, we have shown that brain activation under an emotional auditory paradigm during fMRI scans change longitudinally in FEP patients. A significant decrease in activation in the amygdala and hippocampus is observed in patients compared with healthy subjects. Still, we have also found a great clinical and activation heterogeneity, which may reflect different pathways of the disease.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because of ethical restrictions. Reasonable requests to access the datasets should be directed to Julio Sanjuan, julio.sanjuan@uv.es.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by INCLIVA Ethical Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JS, CG-V, GG-M, LM-B, and EA designed the study. JS obtained the funding and supervised the study. GG-M made the postprocessing of fMRI data. PS-M made the clinical evaluation. RS-R made the imaging acquisition. MC-B contributed to the data analysis. CG-V wrote the first draft of the article. JS, CG-V, and GG-M wrote the final version. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from the Generalitat Valenciana (PROMETEO/2016/082, PROMETEO/2020/024), CIBERSAM, and Carlos III Health Institute (PI13/00447;

# REFERENCES

- Millan MJ, Andrieux A, Bartzokis G, Cadenhead K, Dazzan P, Fusar-Poli P, et al. Altering the course of schizophrenia: progress and perspectives. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* (2016) 15:485–515. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2016.28
- Tandon R, Gaebel W, Barch DM, Bustillo J, Gur RE, Heckers S, et al. Definition and description of schizophrenia in the DSM-5. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 150:3–10. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.05.028
- 3. Perälä J, Suvisaari J, Saarni SI, Kuoppasalmi K, Isometsä E, Pirkola S, et al. Lifetime prevalence of psychotic and bipolar I disorders in a general population. *Arch Gen Psychiatry.* (2007) 64:19. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.6 4.1.19
- 4. Albert N, Weibell MA. The Outcome of Early Intervention in First Episode Psychosis. Vol. 31, International Review of Psychiatry. Taylor and Francis Ltd. (2019).
- Berk M, Hallam K, Malhi GS, Henry L, Hasty M, Macneil C, et al. Evidence and implications for early intervention in bipolar disorder. *J Ment Heal.* (2010) 19:113–26. doi: 10.3109/09638230903469111
- Bernardo M, Cabrera B, Arango C, Bioque M, Castro-fornieles J, Lafuente A, et al. One decade of the first episodes project (PEPs): advancing towards a precision psychiatry Una década del proyecto de primeros episodios (PEPs): Avanzando hacia. *Rev Psiquiatr Salud Ment*. (2019) 12:135– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.rpsm.2019.03.001
- Lalevic G, Scriven M, O'Brien S. Early intervention in psychosis in the North Lee Mental Health Services programme: a 5-year review. Ir J Psychol Med. (2019) 36:271–7. doi: 10.1017/ipm.2019.17
- Vieta E, Salagre E, Grande I, Carvalho AF, Fernandes BS, Berk M, et al. Early intervention in Bipolar disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2018) 175:411– 26. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.17090972
- 9. Yung AR, Mcgorry PD, Mcfarlane CA, Jackson HJ, Patton GC, Rakkar A. Monitoring and care of young people at incipient risk of psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (1996) 22:283–303. doi: 10.1093/schbul/22.2.283
- Fusar-Poli P. The clinical high-risk state for psychosis (CHR-P), Version II. Schizophr Bull. (2017) 43:44–7. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw158
- Fond G, Albis M, Jamain S, Tamouza R, Arango C, Fleischhacker WW. The promise of biological markers for treatment response in firstepisode psychosis : a systematic review. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41:559– 73. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv002
- Wright IC, Rabe-Hesketh S, Woodruff PWR, David AS, Murray RM, Bullmore ET. Meta-analysis of regional brain volumes in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2000) 157:16–25. doi: 10.1176/ajp.157.1.16
- Nesvåg R, Lawyer G, Varnäs K, Fjell AM, Walhovd KB, Frigessi A, et al. Regional thinning of the cerebral cortex in schizophrenia: effects of diagnosis, age and antipsychotic medication. *Schizophr Res.* (2008) 98:16– 28. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.09.015
- 14. Steen RG, Mull C, McClure R, Hamer RM, Lieberman JA. Brain volume in first-episode schizophrenia: systematic review and meta-analysis of

PI17/00402) co-funded by The European Union through FEDER funds.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We sincerely thank the patients and their families involve, as well as the nurse and technical personnel for without them, this study would not have been possible.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2020.593042/full#supplementary-material

magnetic resonance imaging studies. Br J Psychiatry. (2006) 188:510-8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.188.6.510

- Gong Q, Lui S, Sweeney JA. A selective review of cerebral abnormalities in patients with first-episode schizophrenia before and after treatment. Am J Psychiatry. (2016) 173:232–43. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.15050641
- Davidson LL, Heinrichs RW. Quantification of frontal and temporal lobe brain-imaging findings in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2003) 122:69–87. doi: 10.1016/S0925-4927(02)00118-X
- Dazzan P, Arango C, Fleischacker W, Galderisi S, Glenthøj B, Leucht S, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging and the prediction of outcome in first-episode schizophrenia: a review of current evidence and directions for future research. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41:574–83. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv024
- González-Vivas C, Soldevila-Matías P, Sparano O, García-Martí G, Martí-Bonmatí L, Crespo-Facorro B, et al. Longitudinal studies of functional magnetic resonance imaging in first-episode psychosis: a systematic review. *Eur Psychiatry.* (2019) 59:60–9. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2019.04.009
- Kani AS, Shinn AK, Lewandowski KE, Öngur D. Converging effects of diverse treatment modalities on frontal cortex in schizophrenia: a review of longitudinal functional magnetic resonance imaging studies. J Psychiatr Res. (2017) 84:256–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.10.012
- Sanjuán J, Lull JJ, Martí-Bonmati L, Aguilar EJ, Gadea M, Moratal-Pérez D, et al. Emotional auditory paradigm in neuroimaging: a base for the study of psychosis. Actas Esp Psiquiatr. (2005) 33:383–9.
- Sanjuan J, Lull JJ, Aguilar EJ, Martí-Bonmatí L, Moratal D, Gonzalez JC, et al. Emotional words induce enhanced brain activity in schizophrenic patients with auditory hallucinations. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2007) 154:21–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2006.04.011
- Aguilar EJ, Corripio I, García-Martí G, Grasa E, Martí-Bonmatí L, Gómez-Ansón B, et al. Emotional fMR auditory paradigm demonstrates normalization of limbic hyperactivity after cognitive behavior therapy for auditory hallucinations. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) 193:304–12. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.07.024
- Algarabel S. Índices de interés psicolingüístico de 1917 palabras castellanas -Dialnet. Cognitiva. (1996) 8:43–88. doi: 10.1174/021435596321235298
- Martí-Bonmatí L, Lull JJ, Garcia-Martí G, Aguilar EJ, Moratal-Pérez D, Poyatos C, et al. Chronic auditory hallucinations in schizophrenic patients: MR analysis of the coincidence between functional and morphologic abnormalities. *Radiology.* (2007) 244:549–56. doi: 10.1148/radiol.24420 60727
- Garciá-Martí G, Martí-Bonmatí L, Aguilar EJ, Sanz-Requena R, Alberich-Bayarri Á, Bonmatí A, et al. [Functional neuroimaging in the study of aggressive behaviour in patients with schizophrenia]. *Rev Neurol.* (2013) 56:193–9. doi: 10.33588/rn.5604.2012627
- Hahn B, Robinson BM, Kaiser ST, Matveeva TM, Harvey AN, Luck SJ. Had it right: people with schizophrenia have deficits sustaining attention over time. J Abnorm Psychol. (2012) 121:641–8. doi: 10.1037/ a0028492

- Del Casale A, Kotzalidis GD, Rapinesi C, Sorice S, Girardi N, Ferracuti S, et al. Functional magnetic resonance imaging correlates of first-episode psychoses during attentional and memory task performance. *Neuropsychobiology*. (2016) 74:22–31. doi: 10.1159/000448620
- Glahn DC, Ragland JD, Abramoff A, Barrett J, Laird AR, Bearden CE, et al. Beyond hypofrontality: a quantitative meta- analysis of functional neuroimaging studies of working memory in schizophrenia. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2005) 25:60–9. doi: 10.1002/hbm. 20138
- Escartí MJ, de la Iglesia-Vayá M, Martí-Bonmatí L, Robles M, Carbonell J, Lull JJ, et al. Increased amygdala and parahippocampal gyrus activation in schizophrenic patients with auditory hallucinations: an fMRI study using independent component analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 117:31–41. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.12.028
- Kapur S. Psychosis as a state of aberrant salience: A framework linking biology, phenomenology, pharmacology in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2003) 160:13–23. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.160.1.13
- Dong D, Wang Y, Chang X, Luo C, Yao D. Dysfunction of largescale brain networks in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of resting-state functional connectivity. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 1:168–18. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbx034

- Santesteban-Echarri O, Paino M, Rice S, González-Blanch C, McGorry P, Gleeson J, et al. Predictors of functional recovery in first-episode psychosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2017) 58:59–75. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2017.09.007
- 33. Sanjuán J, Castro-Martínez XH, García-Martí G, González-Fernández J, Sanz-Requena R, Haro JM, et al. FOXP2 expression and gray matter density in the male brains of patients with schizophrenia. *Brain Imaging Behav.* (2020). doi: 10.1007/s11682-020-00339-x

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 González-Vivas, García-Martí, Soldevila-Matías, Sanz-Requena, Aguilar, Castro-Bleda, Martí-Bonmatí and Sanjuan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Does Hippocampal Volume Predict Transition to Psychosis in a High-Risk Group? A Meta-Analysis

Bernd Hinney<sup>1\*</sup>, Anna Walter<sup>1</sup>, Soheila Aghlmandi<sup>2</sup>, Christina Andreou<sup>1</sup> and Stefan Borgwardt<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry (UPK), University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland, <sup>2</sup> Basel Institute for Clinical Epidemiology and Biostatistics, University Hospital Basel, Basel, Switzerland

Schizophrenia has a prodromal phase of several years in most patients, making it possible to identify patients at clinical high risk (CHR) for developing the disorder. So far, these individuals are identified based on clinical criteria alone, and there is no reliable biomarker for predicting the transition to psychosis. It is well-established that reductions in brain volume, especially in the hippocampus, are associated with schizophrenia. Therefore, hippocampal volume may serve as a biomarker for psychosis. Several studies have already investigated hippocampal volume in CHR groups. Based on these studies, the present meta-analysis compares the baseline left and right hippocampal volume of CHR patients who developed a psychosis with that of CHR patients without such a transition. Our results show no statistically significant effect of the hippocampal volume on the transition risk for psychosis.

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Peter Uhlhaas, University of Glasgow, United Kingdom

#### Reviewed by:

Alessio Fracasso, Utrecht University, Netherlands Stephan Heckers, Vanderbilt University, United States

> \*Correspondence: Bernd Hinney bernd.hinney@unibas.ch

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 06 October 2020 Accepted: 14 December 2020 Published: 14 January 2021

#### Citation:

Hinney B, Walter A, Aghlmandi S, Andreou C and Borgwardt S (2021) Does Hippocampal Volume Predict Transition to Psychosis in a High-Risk Group? A Meta-Analysis. Front. Psychiatry 11:614659. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.614659 Keywords: schizophrenia, psychosis, hippocampus, neuroimaging, high risk, at-risk mental state

# INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia is a psychiatric illness that is typically preceded by a long prodromal phase (1). The disease has a significant impact on patients' quality-adjusted life years and an often unsatisfactory response to treatment (2). One of the main goals of psychiatric public health government programs is to establish criteria for early detection of schizophrenia. Such criteria could make it possible to implement various forms of secondary prevention to avoid or delay the onset of schizophrenia (3). A large number of studies have accordingly followed-up clinical high-risk (CHR) groups in order to investigate the factors associated with later development of a psychotic disorder (among them the NAPLS- and the PRONIA-project) (4–8). CHR-status is identified according to specific clinical criteria; the most widely established criteria define high-risk based on either (9–12).

- a) "attenuated psychotic symptoms" (ASP) or "brief limited intermittent psychotic symptoms" (BLIPS) (these symptoms are manifestations which are typical for psychotic disorders, but which are either not sufficiently severe or too short to warrant the diagnosis itself)
- b) genetic vulnerability for psychotic disorders accompanied by a notable downward shift in an individual's social functioning (measured, for example, by difficulties at work or by the inability to live autonomously).

In practice, criterion b is of little relevance in the actual setup of a concrete CHR-group (13). Thus, the dominance of clinical features further highlights the status of the CHR-group as a representation of the prodromal phase.

50

When CHR patients develop a psychotic disorder, this is called a "transition." The probability of transition was initially estimated to be between 35 and 40% in typical CHR-groups (14), but in recent studies, it was lower (15). This could be because of specific protective effects that arise from a diagnosis of CHR: for example, increased risk-awareness of the included person and support from family members, school officials, or other professionals (16).

The low transition rates in CHR-groups mean that it is not feasible to undertake a prophylactic treatment in all CHR patients, especially if such a treatment encompasses the use of antipsychotic medication with the accompanying side-effects.

To enhance the predictive value of CHR-criteria, it has been hypothesized that the inclusion of neuro-imaging data should be helpful (3, 17-19). Schizophrenia is known to be accompanied by volume enlargements in the ventricular regions (especially in the later stages of the disease) (20) and volume reductions in several brain areas, among them the frontal cortex, the amygdala, the parahippocampal gyrus and the hippocampus (21-37). It has also been suggested that these changes are progressive during the course of the illness (38). Especially hippocampal volume reductions might not only be a result of the disease, but instead have been suggested to be one of its causative factors (39-42). Such causative relationships might be explained by the immense role of the hippocampus in memory formation (43, 44). Hippocampal volume reductions and ensuing memory deficits could lead to false hypothesis-testing in CHR-individuals (caused for example by a functional shift from pattern separation to pattern completion) and this might make the individual more prone to psychosis (45). Should such neuroanatomical processes occur, lower hippocampal volumes (compared to healthy controls) should be observable before the actual onset of schizophrenia, which means during the prodromal phase. Such volumetric changes could be a useful biomarker and supplement the predictive value of risk-assessments based on the clinical criteria mentioned above, thus increasing the specificity of the CHR concept (46).

Several studies have carried out MRI-measurements of the hippocampus on members of CHR-groups, and have then compared the results to a parallel arm of healthy controls (47-57). The goal of these studies was to assess whether CHR patients have smaller hippocampal volumes compared to healthy controls at baseline (i.e., at the time of diagnosis of the CHR status) compared to healthy individuals. A selection of those studies has been pooled in a meta-analysis by Walter et al., which did not find any significant differences between CHR patients and controls (58). Following up on this finding, the aim of the present metaanalysis is to compare CHR-patients who made the transition to psychosis during the follow-up interval ("converters") with CHRpatients who did not ("non-converters"). This concept has first been employed in a study by Pantelis et al. (59). In the context of our meta-analysis, this procedure implies ignoring the control group of the investigated studies and retrospectively splitting up the case group (CHR patients) into two groups, defined by their transition status. Cases and controls are thus generated from the same cohort, e.g., the CHR-population. Methodologically, this has the significant benefit of reducing heterogeneity between the groups, which is a frequent challenge in case-control studies. Also, from a clinical viewpoint, it is a meaningful approach to remove a potential "dilution" effect that may have occurred in previous studies when combining converters and non-converters in one group.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# **Eligibility Criteria**

We included studies in our meta-analysis if they investigated individuals that met CHR-criteria. Studies had to assess CHRstatus according to established criteria and the minimum followup period was to be 12 months, as adequate transition rates can be expected after this time (14). Another important factor for eligibility was the presence of the hippocampal volume as an absolute value and not in relation to other parts of the brain [as in voxel-based measurements (VBM)] because the latter values are not ideal for direct statistical comparison and may be compromised through position changes during image registration (19, 60).

We assembled eligibility criteria according to the PRISMA-P guidelines. The following paragraph summarizes the inclusion and exclusion criteria that we applied:

#### Inclusion criteria:

- 1. Risk status established according to international research diagnostic criteria for high clinical risk for psychosis (CAARMS, BSIP, PACE, SIPS/SOPS) or primary symptoms (SPIA)
- 2. Hippocampal volume obtained through the region of interest (ROI) analysis (manually tracing or automated segmentation) reported separately for members of the transition-group and the non-transition group
- 3. Availability of mean values ( $\pm$ SD) of left and right hippocampal volume
- 4. Publication in a peer-reviewed journal
- 5. Follow-up interval of at least 12 months.

#### Exclusion criteria:

- 1. A sample size of <10 participants
- 2. Comorbidity with medical or neurological illnesses in patients
- 3. Any post-mortem assessments
- 4. Studies on the chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome.

We registered the study with PROSPERO in February 2019, and our study project was approved in April 2019.

# Search Strategy and Selection Process

We conducted a systematic literature search in the public databases Medline and EMBASE on April 28, 2019. We repeated the search on May 28, 2019. We used the following search terms: "(MRI OR magnetic resonance imaging OR neuroimaging) AND (psychos\* OR schizophrenia\* AND high-risk OR at-risk mental state OR prodrom\*) AND hippocamp\*".

We removed duplicates using EndNote and two authors (BH and AW) screened the references based on the titles and abstracts. All potentially relevant references were read in



full-text and independently assessed by two authors (BH and AW). We resolved any disagreements by consensus. To identify potential additional studies that were not included in electronic databases, we screened the bibliographic references of all included articles.

In this fashion, we recovered 157 papers. Two additional articles were found by screening the references. One hundred and fifty six papers remained after removing duplicates. One hundred and forty six papers could be removed because they were not relevant to our topic or included reprints. Of the 10 remaining articles, we excluded one because it recorded hippocampal volume as a VBM-measurement (61) and we excluded one other study because its sample overlapped with a newer study that better fitted our inclusion criteria (57). In three additional cases, authors did not reply to our request for complete data extraction (47, 54, 56).

In this process, we could filter out five studies that could be included in our meta-analysis (48, 50, 52, 53, 55). The selection process is visualized in a flow-chart (see Figure 1).

# **Data Extraction**

Necessary information was extracted by one reviewer (BH) and independently checked by a second reviewer (AW) and entered into a Numbers database. We identified and resolved discrepancies through discussion. Data items to be extracted were: first author name, the cohort, publication date, MRI resolution, hippocampal volume right/left (with standard deviation), number of men/women and mean age of participants (with standard deviation). In some cases, we contacted the authors of the original study in order to provide for the missing variables. Hippocampal volume can be presented in two formats: as a "raw," uncorrected number or corrected for the intracranial volume (ICV). There is no consensus in the scientific community which format is more adequate. Hippocampal volume correlates with ICV, but this correlation is not proportional (62). Our goal was to carry out the statistical analysis with both the corrected and the uncorrected values; however, in two cases we could only retrieve the uncorrected values from the authors. All hippocampal volumes stated in this paper are thus the raw volumes in mm<sup>3</sup>. They represent the mean values of the individual hippocampal measurements in each group (transition/non-transition-group).

## **Data Synthesis**

We carried out a meta-analysis to assess the differences in the sizes of the left and right hippocampus in a CHR-group for psychosis. Using the data extracted from each paper (see section above), we built an evidence table to investigate possible betweenstudy heterogeneity.

We then used the random-effects model to account for potential statistical heterogeneity, reporting the standardized mean difference and the respective 95% confidence interval (CI). We used standardized mean differences (SMD) due to the diversity of MRI-devices used (e.g., different resolutions) and applied the Hedges' g method (63). For calculating the pooled SMD using a random-effect model, we used the Dersimonian-Laird estimator for estimating the between-study variance ( $\tau^2$ ) (64). Forest plots were generated to show the individual and pooled effect measure, 95% confidence intervals (CI), the author's name, and study weights for the studies.

We assessed heterogeneity between the results of the studies by using the Cochran's Q test and quantified heterogeneity with the I-squared statistic. Heterogeneity based on the I-square is considered low, moderate, or high when the values are below 25%, between 25 and 75%, or above 75%, respectively.

We investigated sources of inter-study heterogeneity with the univariable random-effects meta-regression analysis that is based on the following primary study characteristics: year of publication, sample size, gender ratio, and MRI resolution. We weighted meta-regression analyses to account for both withinstudy variances of treatment effects and the residual interstudy heterogeneity. We performed all analyses using the *metacont* function of the *meta* package in R 3.6.1 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) (65).

# RESULTS

## **Systematic Review**

All five studies that we could include in our meta-analysis were designed as case-control studies in which a healthy control group was compared to a CHR-group for psychosis in terms of baseline volumetric MRI-measurements. After baseline, the CHR-group was clinically followed up to determine transition status. As described above, we ignored the control-group in our analyses and only focused on the CHR-group.

In the following systematic review, we summarize and analyze the five studies regarding the way they established data for CHRgroups and regarding further study characteristics. We do not report special inclusion or exclusion criteria that are already understood due to the requirements we set for our meta-analysis (see section "Materials and Methods").

*Dean et al.* established CHR-status in an US-American sample using the "Structured Interview for Prodromal Syndromes" (SIPS) (48). Patients who had received antipsychotic medication before the interview were excluded, as were those with a lifelong drug dependence. Two members of the CHR-group who received antipsychotic medication between inclusion and follow-up (12 months later) were also excluded. This is noteworthy, as this may have underweighted the transition group. Reported dropout rates in the CHR-group were low, with 16.7%. The study

**TABLE 2A** | Summary of group-differences between transition-group and non-transition group for each study (right hippocampus).

Author	Standardized mean difference	95% confidence interval	Weight (%)
Dean	0.7885	[-0.4054; 1.9823]	4.5
Pruessner	-0.0062	[-1.0716; 1.0592]	5.7
Buehlmann	0.0761	[-0.5746; 0.7268]	14.4
Cannon	-0.0189	[-0.3027; 0.2648]	55.6
Harrisberger	-0.475	[-1.0193; 0.0693]	19.8

"Weight" refers to the statistical weight within the random effects model.

#### TABLE 1 | Evidence table.

Author Year			Transition group					Non-transition group				
	Year	Cohort	N men	N women	Mean age	SD age	N men	N women	Mean age	SD age		
Dean	2016	Boulder	2	1	19.33	2.08	20	15	18.89	1.39		
Pruessner	2017	Montreal	2	2	21.14	5.1	11	11	19.97	3.15		
Buehlmann	2010	Basel	11	5	26.4	6.5	11	10	23.4	6		
Cannon	2015	NAPLS	36	19	19.18	3.77	213	147	19.78	4.23		
Harrisberger	2016	Basel and Zurich	9	7	25.56	7.31	50	25	23.22	4.35		

	Experim	ental	Control	Standardised Mean		
Study	Total Mean	SD Total Mean	n SD	Difference	SMD	95%-CI Weight
DEAN	3 4648.97 469.	2100 35 4332.45	5 388.0700		- 0.81 [-	-0.39; 2.00] 4.8%
PRUESSNER	4 3332.99 526.	1950 22 3334.90	249.5080		-0.01 [-	1.07; 1.06] 6.0%
BRUELMANN	16 3194.30 215.	5000 21 3165.80	447.4000	<u> </u>	-] 80.0	0.57; 0.73] 14.9%
CANNON	55 4237.84 378.	256 360 4246.77	483.1807		-0.02 [-	-0.30; 0.26] 53.9%
HARRISBERGER	16 3913.29 469.	3045 75 4201.09	624.0019		-0.48 [-	-1.02; 0.07] 20.4%
Random effects model	94	513			-0.06 [-	0.32; 0.21] 100.0%
Prediction interval					-	0.62; 0.51]
Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 12\%$ , $\tau^2$	$^{2} = 0.0133, p = 0.34$				•	- ,
	, p			-1 0 1		

FIGURE 2 | Forest plot for Right hippocampus (full analysis).

		Ехр	eriment	al		Control		Standa	rdised	Mean			
Study	Total	Mean	S	D Total	Mean	SD		Di	fferenc	e	SMD	95%–CI	Weight
PRUESSNER	4	3332.99	526.19	0 22	3334.90	249.5080					-0.01	[-1.07; 1.06]	4.6%
BRUELMANN	16	3194.30	215.50	0 21	3165.80	447.4000					0.08	[-0.57; 0.73]	12.4%
CANNON	55	4237.84	378.92	6 360	4246.77	483.1807		_		•	-0.02	[-0.30; 0.26]	65.2%
HARRISBERGER	16	3913.29	469.80	5 75	4201.09	624.0019	-		<del></del>		-0.48	[-1.02; 0.07]	17.7%
Random effects model	91			478				_	$\rightarrow$		-0.09	[-0.32; 0.14]	100.0%
Prediction interval Heterogeneity: <i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> = 0%, τ <sup>2</sup> :	0 0	0.49									_	[-0.59; 0.42]	
Therefore the second s	= 0, p =	= 0.40					-1	-0.5	0	0.5	1		
GURE 3   Forest plot for Righ	nt hippo	ocampus (s	ensitivity	analysis)									

had a rather short follow-up period of 12 months, which can be assumed to have only captured a part of the actual scope of transition. Scanning was done on a 3-Tesla device and automated segmentation with FreeSurfer (version 5.3.0) was used for image processing.

*Cannon et al.* also used the SIPS for CHR-inclusion in a US-American sample. There were no special exclusion criteria for the use of antipsychotic medication or drug abuse, as the study was done in a naturalistic setting. Drop-out rates were not reported, and the follow-up periods were short with 12 months (52). Scanning was performed on a 3-Tesla device and automated segmentation with FreeSurfer (version 5.2.0) was used for image processing.

*Pruessner et al.* used the "Comprehensive Assessment of At Risk Mental States" (CAARMS)-interview to establish CHRstatus in a Canadian sample. Anyone with a history of substance use disorder or mental illness was excluded. Drop-out rates were not reported, and the regular follow-up interval was 2 years (55). Scanning was performed on a 1,5-Tesla device and automated segmentation with a self-designed tool (66) was used for image processing.

*Harrisberger et al.* used the "Basel Screening Instrument for Psychoses" (BSIP) in a Swiss sample to establish CHR status (53). Only antipsychotic-naive individuals were included in the CHR group. Drop-out was not reported, and the follow-up interval was 3 years. Scanning was performed on a 3-Tesla device and automated segmentation with the software FSL-FIRST (67) was used for image processing.

**TABLE 2B** | Summary of group-differences between transition-group and non-transition group for each study (left hippocampus).

Author	Standardized mean difference	95% confidence interval	Weight (%)
Dean	1.2041	[-0.0092; 2.4174]	9.5
Pruessner	-0.4011	[-1.4730; 0.6708]	11.4
Buehlmann	0.2221	[-0.4305; 0.8747]	20.7
Cannon	0.0975	[-0.1863; 0.3814]	34.1
Harrisberger	-0.5401	[-1.0858; 0.0056]	24.3

"Weight" refers to the statistical weight within the random effects model.

*Buehlmann et al.* used the "Personal Assessment and Crisis Evaluation" (PACE)-criteria for CHR-status in a Swiss sample (50) (there was no overlap with the study by Harrisberger et al.). The study was naturalistic and did not require any specific inclusion or exclusion criteria beyond those generally required for inclusion in our meta-analysis. Drop-out rates were not reported, and the follow-up interval was 3 years. Scanning was performed on a 1,5-Tesla device and manual tracing combined with AMIRA was used for image processing.

# **Participant Characteristics**

The transition group (case group) consisted of 94 members (60 men, 34 women). The mean age was 21.57. The standard

Study	Experimenta Total Mean S	l Control D Total Mean SD	Standardised Mean Difference	SMD 95%-CI Weight
DEAN PRUESSNER BRUELMANN CANNON HARRISBERGER	3 4793.10 417.300 4 3051.50 434.648 16 2956.30 251.400 55 4237.24 357.953 16 3701.12 383.287	0223169.72257.15400212885.00353.900013604191.55481.9730		1.23         [0.02; 2.44]         9.7%           -0.41         [-1.49; 0.66]         11.6%           0.23         [-0.43; 0.88]         20.8%           0.10         [-0.19; 0.38]         33.6%           -0.54         [-1.09; 0.00]         24.3%
Random effects model Prediction interval Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 57\%$ , $\tau$	•	513		0.02 [–0.42; 0.45] 100.0% [–1.31; 1.35]

FIGURE 4 | Forest plot for Left hippocampus (full analysis).

		Exper	rimental			Control	Standardised Mean			
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Difference	SMD	95%-CI	Weight
PRUESSNER	4 30	51.50 4	34.6480	22	3169.72	257.1540 -		-0.41	[-1.49; 0.66]	9.8%
BRUELMANN	16 29	56.30 2	51.4000	21	2885.00	353.9000		0.23	[-0.43; 0.88]	20.7%
CANNON	55 42	37.24 3	57.9531	360	4191.55	481.9730	<u></u>	0.10	[-0.19; 0.38]	43.7%
HARRISBERGER	16 37	01.12 3	83.2876	75	4006.91	590.9858		-0.54	[-1.09; 0.00]	25.7%
Random effects model	91			478				-0.09	[-0.46; 0.28]	100.0%
P <b>rediction interval</b> leterogeneity: <i>l</i> <sup>2</sup> = 43%, τ <sup>2</sup>	<sup>2</sup> – 0 0597	n – 0 19	5					J	[–1.42; 1.24]	
101010g01101g, 1 = 1070, 1	- 0.0007	, <i>μ</i> = 0.10	5				-1 -0.5 0 0.5 1			

TABLE 3 | Univariable meta-regression including all studies.

		Right hippocampus			Left hippocampus	
	Estimate	95% CI	p-value	Estimate	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Publication year (change per year)	-0.036	(-0.245, 0.174)	0.625	-0.065	(-0.382, 0.253)	0.562
Sample size (change per N)	-0.0001	(-0.004, 0.003)	0.943	-0.00001	(-0.006, 0.006)	0.982
Gender ration	0.138	(-1.620, 1.896)	0.818	0.194	(-2.613, 3.001)	0.84
MRI resolution	0.228	(-0.421, 0.878)	0.345	0.315	(-0.835, 1.464)	0.448

deviation of age (transition group) in the individual studies ranged from 2 to 7 years (see **Table 1** for details).

The non-transition group (control group) consisted of 513 members (305 men, 208 women). The mean age was 20.38. The standard deviation of age in the individual studies ranged from 1 to 4 years (see **Table 1** for details).

# **Results of Meta-Analysis**

Due to the observed heterogeneity between the studies, we only report the results for the random-effects meta-analysis.

Looking at the right hippocampus, the standard mean difference shows that the volume of the right hippocampus is 6% less in the transition group than in the non-transition group (see **Table 2A** and **Figure 2**). The heterogeneity ( $I^2$ ) between the studies is 12%, which indicates low heterogeneity.

Because the study of Dean et al. had a very small sample size, and because its results diverged from that of the other studies, we performed a sensitivity analysis by excluding this one study (see **Figure 3**). Performing this analysis reduced heterogeneity to zero, and moved the *p*-value closer to the direction of rejection of the null-hypothesis. Nevertheless, in both analyses, the results were not statistically significant and indicate at most a numerical trend.

For the left hippocampus, the heterogeneity  $(I^2)$  was much larger, with 57% (see **Table 2B** and **Figure 4**). The results have thus to be interpreted with caution, as is also indicated by the wide predictive interval. Initial analysis showed the left hippocampal volume to be 2% larger in the transition group. This is in contradiction to our hypothesis that the transition group has a smaller left hippocampus at baseline. However, when the sensitivity analysis was performed (again excluding the Dean et al. study, see **Figure 5**), this result was reversed, and the transition group's hippocampal volume was 9% smaller compared to the non-transition group. The results of both analyses for the left hippocampus are not statistically significant.

# **Results of Meta-Regression**

We performed a meta-regression for the following variables: year of publication, sample size, gender ratio and resolution of MRI-device (see **Table 3**). None of the assessed variables in the meta-regression significantly contributed to the betweenstudy heterogeneity.

# DISCUSSION

Our meta-analysis investigated whether hippocampal volume at baseline predicts the transition to psychosis in a CHR-group. Our study did not find a statistically significant relationship between these parameters. However, we did find a trend that points into such a direction when looking at the right hippocampus. This trend was further confirmed after performing a sensitivity analysis. The investigated studies showed much more heterogeneous results for the left hippocampus. Interestingly, a study by Seidman investigating the parahippocampal gyrus as a vulnerability factor for schizophrenia also found more pronounced effects for the right side of the brain (37).

It remains to be seen if future studies can corroborate this trend. If so, it will be interesting to see whether such a result is bilateral or whether the unilateral quality (e.g., the prominence of changes in the right hippocampus) still holds true.

Looking at the results of the systematic review, the most rigorous study-protocol was provided by two studies that excluded a history of mental illness and of drug abuse. Thus, the most important potential confounders regarding hippocampal volume were removed. Two other studies excluded either one or the other of those preconditions. Very few studies reported drop-out rates in the CHR-group, and follow-up intervals varied considerably. Transition rates are generally assumed to be 18% after a follow-up of 6 months, 22% after 1 year, 29% after 2 years, and 36% after 3 years (14). Thus, only two of the five studies we analyzed employed the upper limit regarding follow-up.

# **Possible Clinical Implications**

There is an ongoing debate about the concrete implications of risk predictions for members of CHR-groups. For a summary of the most important points in question, see Andreou and Borgwardt (19). For hippocampal volume to be of clinical use, a good cut-off margin between likely converters and nonconverters will be required. This could provide clinicians with a biomarker that can be used to differentiate the CHR-group into an "extreme" risk group and a "reduced" risk group. Prophylactic treatment efforts could then be focused on those individuals who will most likely benefit from them.

# **Limitations and Future Directions**

Certain limitations of our meta-analysis need to be discussed. First of all, the overall number of studies was rather small. Second, looking only at the hippocampal areas may underestimate the complexity of the neuronal network that underlies the development of paranoid schizophrenia, and in addition McHugo recently noted that it may not be the whole hippocampus that changes in volume before and during psychosis, but rather specific subfields (especially the anterior hippocampus) (68). More precisely, it might be necessary to not only test left-right-asymmetry between global hippocampus volume (as was done in our study), but also to conduct a differential regional analysis (e.g., anterior or posterior region of the hippocampus) or a subfield analysis (e.g., subiculum, cornu ammonis, dentate gyrus).

Thirdly, follow-up periods varied between the studies, and short follow-up times may have led to some falsenegatives within the non-transition-group. This would reduce the likelihood of discovering any significant relationship between (premorbid) hippocampal brain volume and the likelihood of developing psychosis. All of these factors could modify a relevant relationship between hippocampal volume and transition risk.

Methodologically, two of our studies scanned the brains of study participants on a 1.5 Tesla device while the other three used 3 Tesla devices. It is possible that the resulting differences in resolution affected the accuracy of the measurement of the hippocampus, although there generally seems to be a high correlation between 1.5 and 3 Tesla measurements of hippocampal volume (69, 70). Similarly, while four out of the five studies used differing versions of automated segmentation with FreeSurfer or other Software for the measurements of the hippocampal volume, the paper by Buehlmann et al. used manual segmentation. Regarding the image processing, the MRIsequences used (T1 or T2) might also have an impact on the volumetric measurements, but this was a data point that was not available to us. It must also be noted that correction of raw hippocampal volume for ICV might have had a significant effect on the outcome.

Finally, none of the papers we analyzed explicitly mentioned the diagnostic instruments used to establish transition. While it can be assumed that transition to psychosis was usually confirmed by applying the ICD-10 and/or DSM-IV criteria for schizophrenia through an experienced clinician, it should be noted that ICD-10 and DMS-IV criteria for schizophrenia do differ slightly and that "transition to psychosis" is not in every case equivalent with the development of schizophrenia. Velakoulis et al. have noted that hippocampal volume loss may be much less pronounced in diagnoses of the schizophreniform spectrum than in schizophrenia itself (56). The diagnostic instruments used to establish CHR-status (CAARMS, BSIP, PACE, SIPS) also varied. Taken together, there are a number of potential sources of heterogeneity that should be considered when conducting further studies on the topic.

On a more general level, the concept of a macroscopically visible biomarker (e.g., shrinkages of the hippocampus in volumetric MRI-measurements) may not capture the reality of the prodromal phase. It is quite possible that during the prodromal phase, it is not the volume of a whole-brain structure that changes, but rather the way neuronal populations communicate with each other. Other techniques would have to be adopted to capture such changes, for example, MRT-assessments of functional connectivity as done by Blessing et al. (71). Also, volumetric assessments can be enhanced by measurements of cortical thickness, surface area, and gyrification to capture a wider range of potential changes in brains of individuals who go on to develop a psychosis (19). It is also possible to determine hippocampal volume at different time points (as was done by Cannon et al.) to determine a rate of change during the prodromal phase.

# Implications for Members of CHR-Groups Who Are Non-converters

An important question is whether CHR-members in the nontransition group can be regarded as healthy individuals or whether they constitute a subclinical set of the psychotic spectrum. While some of those individuals will eventually make the transition to psychosis (albeit after the follow-up interval), there will be a significant proportion of non-converters. For this group of individuals, essentially two etiological scenarios are possible:

a) non-converters carry the same risk for development of a psychosis as the members of the transition-group, but due to favorable circumstances (for example a very healthy life-style) psychosis does not manifest. This would be in accordance with the diathesis-stress-model of schizophrenia (72).

b) non-converters do not carry a relevantly heightened risk for the development of a psychosis. They are thus "wrongfully" included in the CHR-set due to the intentionally low specificity-levels of criteria used in the establishment of risk-groups.

Our study cannot answer the question which of these scenarios is most likely. It would be beneficial to include the subgroup mentioned in a long-term follow-up to gain more statistical information on their outcome and CHR-members should also be evaluated according to the healthiness of the lifestyle they adopt.

# REFERENCES

- Hafner H, Riecher-Rossler A, Hambrecht M, Maurer K, Meissner S, Schmidtke A, et al. IRAOS: an instrument for the assessment of onset and early course of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (1992) 6:209–23. doi: 10.1016/0920-9964(92)90004-O
- Saha S, Chant D, Welham J, McGrath J. A systematic review of the prevalence of schizophrenia. *PLoS Med.* (2005) 2:e141. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0020141
- DeLisi LE. The concept of progressive brain change in schizophrenia: implications for understanding schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2008) 34:312– 21. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm164
- Riecher-Rossler A, Gschwandtner U, Aston J, Borgwardt S, Drewe M, Fuhr P, et al. The basel early-detection-of-psychosis (FEPSY)-studydesign and preliminary results. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2007) 115:114–25. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2006.00854.x
- Yung AR, McGorry PD, McFarlane CA, Jackson HJ, Patton GC, Rakkar A. Monitoring and care of young people at incipient risk of psychosis. *Schizophr Bull*. (1996) 22:283–303. doi: 10.1093/schbul/22.2.283
- Miller TJ, McGlashan TH, Rosen JL, Cadenhead K, Cannon T, Ventura J, et al. Prodromal assessment with the structured interview for prodromal syndromes and the scale of prodromal symptoms: predictive validity, interrater reliability, and training to reliability. *Schizophr Bull.* (2003) 29:703– 15. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a007040
- Koutsouleris N, Kambeitz-Ilankovic L, Ruhrmann S, Rosen M, Ruef A, Dwyer D, et al. Prediction models of functional outcomes for individuals in the clinical high-risk state for psychosis or with recent-onset depression: a multimodal, multisite machine learning analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2018) 75:1156–72. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.2165

# Summary

In line with previous research, our meta-analysis indicates that there occur hippocampal volume changes in members of an ultra-high-risk-group before the transition to psychosis, but results did not reach significance thresholds. Larger samples are needed for future research in this area, and studies should not only look in more detail at the macroscopic level, but also assess the changes that occur on a functional level.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SB and AW conceived the concept of the paper. BH and AW carried out the analysis of relevant literature. BH wrote the introduction, the results and the discussion section. BH and SA carried out the statistical analysis. SA wrote the Material and Methods section. CA revised the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge Yoonho Chan, Derek Dean, and Marita Pruessner who provided additional information and volumetric data.

- Addington J, Liu L, Buchy L, Cadenhead K, Cannon T, Cornblatt B, et al. North American Prodrome Longitudinal Study (NAPLS 2): the prodromal symptoms. J Nervous Mental Dis. (2015) 203:328–35. doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000000290
- Riecher-Rössler A, Aston J, Ventura J, Merlo M, Borgwardt S, Gschwandtner U, et al. Das Basel Screening Instrument f
  ür Psychosen (BSIP) : entwicklung, aufbau, reliabilität und validität. *Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr*. (2008) 76:207–16. doi: 10.1037/t68527-000
- Fusar-Poli P, Cappucciati M, Rutigliano G, Lee TY, Beverly Q, Bonoldi I, et al. Towards a standard psychometric diagnostic interview for subjects at ultra high risk of psychosis: CAARMS versus SIPS. *Psychiatry J.* (2016) 2016:7146341. doi: 10.1155/2016/7146341
- Woods SW, Walsh BC, Addington J, Cadenhead KS, Cannon TD, Cornblatt BA, et al. Current status specifiers for patients at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 158:69–75. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014. 06.022
- Andreou C, Bailey B, Borgwardt S. Assessment and treatment of individuals at high risk for psychosis. *BJPsych Adv.* (2019) 25:177–84. doi: 10.1192/bja.2019.3
- Schultze-Lutter F, Michel C, Schmidt SJ, Schimmelmann BG, Maric NP, Salokangas RK, et al. EPA guidance on the early detection of clinical high risk states of psychoses. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2015) 30:405–16. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.01.010
- Fusar-Poli P, Bonoldi I, Yung AR, Borgwardt S, Kempton MJ, Valmaggia L, et al. Predicting psychosis: meta-analysis of transition outcomes in individuals at high clinical risk. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2012) 69:220–9. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.1472
- 15. Wiltink S, Velthorst E, Nelson B, McGorry PM, Yung AR. Declining transition rates to psychosis: the contribution of potential changes in referral

pathways to an ultra-high-risk service. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. (2015) 9:200–6. doi: 10.1111/eip.12105

- Raballo A, Poletti M, Carpenter WT. Rethinking the psychosis threshold in clinical high risk. Schizophr Bull. (2019) 45:1–2. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby149
- Gothelf D, Soreni N, Nachman RP, Tyano S, Hiss Y, Reiner O, et al. Evidence for the involvement of the hippocampus in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2000) 10:389–95. doi: 10.1016/S0924-977X(00)00097-3
- Heckers S, Konradi C. Hippocampal neurons in schizophrenia. J Neural Transm. (2002) 109:891–905. doi: 10.1007/s007020200073
- Andreou C, Borgwardt S. Structural and functional imaging markers for susceptibility to psychosis. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2020) 25:2773–85. doi: 10.1038/s41380-020-0679-7
- Berger GE, Bartholomeusz CF, Wood SJ, Ang A, Phillips LJ, Proffitt T, et al. Ventricular volumes across stages of schizophrenia and other psychoses. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*. (2017) 51:1041–51. doi: 10.1177/0004867417715914
- Nenadic I, Dietzek M, Schonfeld N, Lorenz C, Gussew A, Reichenbach JR, et al. Brain structure in people at ultra-high risk of psychosis, patients with first-episode schizophrenia, and healthy controls: a VBM study. *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 161:169–76. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.10.041
- Witthaus H, Mendes U, Brune M, Ozgurdal S, Bohner G, Gudlowski Y, et al. Hippocampal subdivision and amygdalar volumes in patients in an atrisk mental state for schizophrenia. *J Psychiatry Neurosci.* (2010) 35:33–40. doi: 10.1503/jpn.090013
- Haijma SV, Van Haren N, Cahn W, Koolschijn P, Hulshoff Pol H, Kahn R. Brain volumes in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis in over 18 000 subjects. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:1129–38. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs118
- Okada N, Fukunaga M, Yamashita F, Koshiyama D, Yamamori H, Ohi K, et al. Abnormal asymmetries in subcortical brain volume in schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2016) 21:1460–6. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.209
- Sui J, Pearlson GD, Du Y, Yu Q, Jones TR, Chen J, et al. In search of multimodal neuroimaging biomarkers of cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2015) 78:794–804. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.02.017
- Cahn W, Hulshoff Pol HE, Bongers M, Schnack HG, Mandl RC, Van Haren NE, et al. Brain morphology in antipsychotic-naive schizophrenia: a study of multiple brain structures. *Br J Psychiatry Suppl.* (2002) 43:s66–72. doi: 10.1192/bjp.181.43.s66
- Steen RG, Mull C, McClure R, Hamer RM, Lieberman JA. Brain volume in first-episode schizophrenia: systematic review and meta-analysis of magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2006) 188:510–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.188.6.510
- Jung WH, Borgwardt S, Fusar-Poli P, Kwon JS. Gray matter volumetric abnormalities associated with the onset of psychosis. *Front Psychiatry*. (2012) 3:101. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2012.00101
- Ziermans TB, Schothorst PF, Schnack HG, Koolschijn PC, Kahn RS, van Engeland H, et al. Progressive structural brain changes during development of psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:519–30. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbq113
- Ebdrup BH, Glenthoj B, Rasmussen H, Aggernaes B, Langkilde AR, Paulson OB, et al. Hippocampal and caudate volume reductions in antipsychoticnaive first-episode schizophrenia. J Psychiatry Neurosci. (2010) 35:95–104. doi: 10.1503/jpn.090049
- Bois C, Levita L, Ripp I, Owens DC, Johnstone EC, Whalley HC, et al. Hippocampal, amygdala and nucleus accumbens volume in first-episode schizophrenia patients and individuals at high familial risk: a cross-sectional comparison. *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 165:45–51. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.03.024
- Borgwardt SJ, McGuire PK, Aston J, Gschwandtner U, Pfluger MO, Stieglitz RD, et al. Reductions in frontal, temporal and parietal volume associated with the onset of psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2008) 106:108–14. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.08.007
- González-Vivas C, Soldevila-Matías P, Sparano O, García-Martí G, Martí-Bonmatí L, Crespo-Facorro B, et al. Longitudinal studies of functional magnetic resonance imaging in first-episode psychosis: a systematic review. *Eur Psychiatry.* (2019) 59:60–9. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2019. 04.009
- 34. Li W, Li K, Guan P, Chen Y, Xiao Y, Lui S, et al. Volume alteration of hippocampal subfields in first-episode antipsychotic-naïve schizophrenia

patients before and after acute antipsychotic treatment. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2018) 20:169–76. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2018.07.008

- Baglivo V, Cao B, Mwangi B, Bellani M, Perlini C, Lasalvia A, et al. Hippocampal subfield volumes in patients with first-episode psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:552–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx108
- Haukvik U, Tamnes C, Söderman E, Agartz I. Neuroimaging hippocampal subfields in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Psychiatric Res. (2018) 104:217–26. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.08.012
- 37. Seidman L, Pantelis C, Keshavan M, Faraone S, Goldstein J, Horton N, et al. A review and new report of medial temporal lobe dysfunction as a vulnerability indicator for schizophrenia: a magnetic resonance imaging morphometric family study of the parahippocampal gyrus. *Schizophr Bull.* (2003) 29:803–30. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a007048
- Lieberman J, Chakos M, Wu H, Alvir J, Hoffman E, Robinson D, et al. Longitudinal study of brain morphology in first episode schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2001) 49:487–99. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01067-8
- Bernard JA, Orr JM, Mittal VA. Abnormal hippocampal-thalamic white matter tract development and positive symptom course in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *NPJ Schizophr.* (2015) 1:15009. doi: 10.1038/npjschz.2015.9
- Sapolsky RM. Glucocorticoids and hippocampal atrophy in neuropsychiatric disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (2000) 57:925–35. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.57.10.925
- Nakahara S, Matsumoto M, van Erp T. Hippocampal subregion abnormalities in schizophrenia: a systematic review of structural and physiological imaging studies. *Neuropsychopharmacol Rep.* (2018) 38:156–66. doi: 10.1002/npr2.12031
- Vargas T, Dean D, Osborne K, Gupta T, Ristanovic I, Ozturk S, et al. Hippocampal subregions across the psychosis spectrum. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:1091–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx160
- Opitz B. Memory function and the hippocampus. Front Neurol Neurosci. (2014) 34:51–9. doi: 10.1159/000356422
- 44. Burgess N, Maguire E, O'Keefe J. The human hippocampus and spatial and episodic memory. *Neuron.* (2002) 35:625–41. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00830-9
- Tamminga CA, Stan AD, Wagner AD. The hippocampal formation in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2010) 167:1178–93. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09081187
- Cannon TD. Brain biomarkers of vulnerability and progression to psychosis. Schizophr Bull. (2016) 42(Suppl. 1):S127–32. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv173
- Wood SJ, Kennedy D, Phillips LJ, Seal ML, Yucel M, Nelson B, et al. Hippocampal pathology in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis: a multi-modal magnetic resonance study. *Neuroimage*. (2010) 52:62–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.04.012
- Dean DJ, Orr JM, Bernard JA, Gupta T, Pelletier-Baldelli A, Carol EE, et al. Hippocampal shape abnormalities predict symptom progression in neuroleptic-free youth at ultrahigh risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2016) 42:161–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv086
- Walter A, Studerus E, Smieskova R, Kuster P, Aston J, Lang UE, et al. Hippocampal volume in subjects at high risk of psychosis: a longitudinal MRI study. *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 142:217–22. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.10.013
- Buehlmann E, Berger GE, Aston J, Gschwandtner U, Pflueger MO, Borgwardt SJ, et al. Hippocampus abnormalities in at risk mental states for psychosis? A cross-sectional high resolution region of interest magnetic resonance imaging study. J Psychiatr Res. (2010) 44:447–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2009.10.008
- Phillips LJ, Velakoulis D, Pantelis C, Wood S, Yuen HP, Yung AR, et al. Nonreduction in hippocampal volume is associated with higher risk of psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2002) 58:145–58. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00392-9
- Cannon TD, Chung Y, He G, Sun D, Jacobson A, van Erp TG, et al. Progressive reduction in cortical thickness as psychosis develops: a multisite longitudinal neuroimaging study of youth at elevated clinical risk. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2015) 77:147–57. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.05.023
- Harrisberger F, Buechler R, Smieskova R, Lenz C, Walter A, Egloff L, et al. Alterations in the hippocampus and thalamus in individuals at high risk for psychosis. NPJ Schizophr. (2016) 2:16033. doi: 10.1038/npjschz.2016.33
- 54. Klauser P, Zhou J, Lim JK, Poh JS, Zheng H, Tng HY, et al. Lack of evidence for regional brain volume or cortical thickness abnormalities in youths at clinical

high risk for psychosis: findings from the longitudinal youth at risk study. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41:1285–93. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv012

- Pruessner M, Bechard-Evans L, Pira S, Joober R, Collins DL, Pruessner JC, et al. Interplay of hippocampal volume and hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis function as markers of stress vulnerability in men at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Psychol Med.* (2017) 47:471–83. doi: 10.1017/S0033291716002658
- 56. Velakoulis D, Wood SJ, Wong MT, McGorry PD, Yung A, Phillips L, et al. Hippocampal and amygdala volumes according to psychosis stage and diagnosis: a magnetic resonance imaging study of chronic schizophrenia, first-episode psychosis, and ultra-high-risk individuals. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2006) 63:139–49. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.63.2.139
- 57. Mittal VA, Gupta T, Orr JM, Pelletier-Baldelli A, Dean DJ, Lunsford-Avery JR, et al. Physical activity level and medial temporal health in youth at ultra high-risk for psychosis. *J Abnorm Psychol.* (2013) 122:1101–10. doi: 10.1037/a0034085
- Walter A, Suenderhauf C, Harrisberger F, Lenz C, Smieskova R, Chung Y, et al. Hippocampal volume in subjects at clinical high-risk for psychosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 71:680– 90. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.10.007
- Pantelis C, Velakoulis D, McGorry P, Wood S, Suckling J, Phillips L, et al. Neuroanatomical abnormalities before and after onset of psychosis: a cross-sectional and longitudinal MRI comparison. *Lancet.* (2003) 361:281–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)12323-9
- Giuliani NR, Calhoun VD, Pearlson GD, Francis A, Buchanan RW. Voxelbased morphometry versus region of interest: a comparison of two methods for analyzing gray matter differences in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2005) 74:135–47. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.08.019
- Fusar-Poli P, Borgwardt S, Crescini A, Deste G, Kempton MJ, Lawrie S, et al. Neuroanatomy of vulnerability to psychosis: a voxelbased meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2011) 35:1175–85. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.12.005
- 62. Voevodskaya O, Simmons A, Nordenskjöld R, Kullberg J, Ahlström H, Lind L, et al. The effects of intracranial volume adjustment approaches on multiple regional MRI volumes in healthy aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2014) 6:264. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00264
- Hedges L, Olkin I. Overlap between treatment and control distributions as an effect size measure in experiments. *Psychol Methods*. (2016) 21:61–8. doi: 10.1037/met0000042
- DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Control Clin Trials. (1986) 7:177–88. doi: 10.1016/0197-2456(86)90046-2

- 65. Schwarzer G, Carpenter J, Rücker G. Metaanalysis With R. Berlin: Springer (2015).
- 66. Hu S, Coupé P, Pruessner JC, Collins D. Appearance-based modeling for segmentation of hippocampus and amygdala using multi-contrast MR imaging. *NeuroImage*. (2011) 58:549–59. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.06.054
- Patenaude B, Smith S, Kennedy D, Jenkinson M. A Bayesian model of shape and appearance for subcortical brain segmentation. *NeuroImage*. (2011) 56:907–22. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.02.046
- McHugo M, Armstrong K, Roeske MJ, Woodward N, Blackford J, Heckers S. Hippocampal volume in early psychosis: a 2-year longitudinal study. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2020) 10:306. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-00985-1
- Macdonald KE, Leung KK, Bartlett JW, Blair M, Malone I, Barnes J, et al. Automated template-based hippocampal segmentations from MRI: the effects of 1.5T or 3T field strength on accuracy. *Neuroinformatics*. (2014) 12:405–12. doi: 10.1007/s12021-013-9217-y
- Lötjönen J, Wolz R, Koikkalainen J, Julkunen V, Thurfjell L, Lundqvist R, et al. Fast and robust extraction of hippocampus from MR images for diagnostics of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroimage*. (2011) 56:185–96. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.01.062
- Blessing E, Murty V, Zeng B, Wang J, Davach L, Goff D. Anterior hippocampal-cortical functional connectivity distinguishes antipsychotic naïve first-episode psychosis patients from controls and may predict response to second-generation antipsychotic treatment. *Schizophr Bull.* (2020) 46:608– 89. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbz076
- Jones SR, Fernyhough C. A new look at the neural diathesis–stress model of schizophrenia: the primacy of social-evaluative and uncontrollable situations. *Schizophr Bull.* (2007) 33:1171–7. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbl058

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Hinney, Walter, Aghlmandi, Andreou and Borgwardt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Longitudinal Structural MRI Findings in Individuals at Genetic and Clinical High Risk for Psychosis: A Systematic Review

Kate Merritt<sup>1\*</sup>, Pedro Luque Laguna<sup>2</sup>, Ayela Irfan<sup>1</sup> and Anthony S. David<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Psychiatry, Institute of Mental Health, University College London, London, United Kingdom, <sup>2</sup> The Cardiff University Brain Research Imaging Centre (CUBRIC), Cardiff University, Cardiff, United Kingdom

**Background:** Several cross-sectional studies report brain structure differences between healthy volunteers and subjects at genetic or clinical high risk of developing schizophrenia. However, longitudinal studies are important to determine whether altered trajectories of brain development precede psychosis onset.

**Methods:** We conducted a systematic review to determine if brain trajectories differ between (i) those with psychotic experiences (PE), genetic (GHR) or clinical high risk (CHR), compared to healthy volunteers, and (ii) those who transition to psychosis compared to those who do not.

# **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Luca De Peri, Cantonal Sociopsychological Organization, Switzerland

#### Reviewed by:

Lena Kaethe Linda Oestreich, The University of Queensland, Australia Tim Ziermans, University of Amsterdam, Netherlands

> \*Correspondence: Kate Merritt K.merritt@ucl.ac.uk

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 22 October 2020 Accepted: 08 January 2021 Published: 02 February 2021

#### Citation:

Merritt K, Luque Laguna P, Irfan A and David AS (2021) Longitudinal Structural MRI Findings in Individuals at Genetic and Clinical High Risk for Psychosis: A Systematic Review. Front. Psychiatry 12:620401. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.620401 **Results:** Thirty-eight studies measured gray matter and 18 studies measured white matter in 2,473 high risk subjects and 990 healthy volunteers. GHR, CHR, and PE subjects show an accelerated decline in gray matter primarily in temporal, and also frontal, cingulate and parietal cortex. In those who remain symptomatic or transition to psychosis, gray matter loss is more pronounced in these brain regions. White matter volume and fractional anisotropy, which typically increase until early adulthood, did not change or reduced in high risk subjects in the cingulum, thalamic radiation, cerebellum, retrolenticular part of internal capsule, and hippocampal–thalamic tracts. In those who transitioned, white matter volume and fractional anisotropy reduced over time in the inferior and superior fronto-occipital fasciculus, corpus callosum, anterior limb of the internal capsule, superior corona radiate, and calcarine cortex.

**Conclusion:** High risk subjects show deficits in white matter maturation and an accelerated decline in gray matter. Gray matter loss is more pronounced in those who transition to psychosis, but may normalize by early adulthood in remitters.

Keywords: high risk psychosis, MRI, DTI, neuroimaging, clinical high risk (CHR), ultra high risk (UHR), psychotic like experiences, genetic high risk for psychosis

# INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia is posited to be a neurodevelopmental disorder, in which genetic and environmental factors interplay (1). A better understanding of the neurobiological changes that occur prior to the onset of disorder could identify new treatment targets to prevent transition to schizophrenia. With this aim, numerous studies have reported cross-sectional differences in brain structure

60

between subjects at high risk of developing schizophrenia and healthy volunteers. Such studies typically involve young persons ranging from adolescence to early adulthood, at a time of dynamic brain maturation. In order to fully recognize how brain development is altered in the run up to schizophrenia, it is key to conduct longitudinal studies in the prodrome. Therefore, we aimed to summarize longitudinal studies that track neuroimaging measures over time in individuals at genetic or clinical high risk of developing schizophrenia, and those in the general population who experience psychotic symptoms.

In general, neuroimaging studies examine three types of high risk cohorts; (i) help-seeking individuals who exhibit a reduction in functioning as well as attenuated psychotic symptoms or genetic risk for schizophrenia (clinical high risk; CHR, also known as an ultra-high risk of developing psychosis; UHR, or at-risk mental state; ARMS), (ii) individuals who exhibit attenuated psychotic symptoms and are not help seeking (psychotic experiences group; PE), and (iii) those with at least one relative diagnosed with schizophrenia (genetic high risk group; GHR) (2). The highest rate of transition is seen in the CHR group (36% after 3 years) (3), whereas transition rates are lower in the GHR (10-15%) (4) and PE groups (10%) (5). A metaanalysis of 14 cross-sectional voxel-based morphometry studies reported reduced gray matter in the anterior cingulate, middle frontal and temporal cortex in UHR subjects compared to healthy volunteers, and gray matter reductions were [more pronounced in schizophrenia] (6). A recent meta-analysis also reported decreased gray matter in frontal brain regions but increased gray matter volume in cingulate, right thalamus, left superior temporal gyrus and right fusiform gyrus (7), and it has been proposed that consequent volume reductions may occur with psychosis onset (8). In normal development, gray matter volume falls relative to total brain volume during adolescence and plateaus in the twenties (9). It is unclear from cross-sectional studies whether high risk subjects have a stable trait of lower gray matter, whether these differences emerge during brain maturation, or emerge following the onset of psychosis.

White matter development is more extended over the lifespan relative to gray matter. White matter volume increases over childhood and adolescence to reach peak levels in mid-adulthood, which coincides with the average age of schizophrenia onset. During this time the connectome is strengthened by increasing axonal diameter and myelination of white matter tracts (10). Fractional anisotropy (FA) values from diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) are sensitive to these changes in white matter microstructure. Cross-sectional studies report reduced FA in subjects at genetic and clinical high risk compared to healthy volunteers (11). As FA typically increases until mid-adulthood, it is not clear whether high risk groups have altered white matter trajectories or a stable deficit over time, or whether they recover from this deficit.

Longitudinal studies can also determine whether brain trajectories differ in high risk subjects who go on to transition to schizophrenia, compared to those who do not. A number of clinical services are now specialized to identify CHR individuals, however two-thirds of CHR individuals do not go on to develop psychosis, and it is not currently possible to predict who will transition (3). A meta-analysis of 25 crosssectional studies found decreased prefrontal, cingulate, insular and cerebellar gray matter volume in subjects who went on to transition to psychosis compared to those who did not (12). Moreover, a large multisite study found less parahippocampal gray matter volume in those who later developed psychosis (13). Machine learning of brain structure measures alone seem to be insufficient for individual outcome prediction, although the addition of clinical measures increases prediction accuracy (14). Longitudinal measures may offer more sensitivity to detect differences between transition groups, partly by taking into account individual differences but also by revealing trajectories which may aid better prediction models.

In this systematic review, we included longitudinal structural and diffusion weighted Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) studies examining participants at an enhanced risk of developing schizophrenia. We aimed to examine whether neurodevelopmental trajectories differ between (i) those with either psychotic experiences (PE), genetic (GHR) or clinical high risk (CHR, also known as UHR), compared to healthy volunteers, and (ii) those who transition compared to those who do not transition to psychosis. We hypothesized, first, that altered neurodevelopmental trajectories would be present in high risk populations (PE, GHR, and CHR) in comparison to healthy volunteers. Secondly, we predicted that these patterns of altered brain development would be more pronounced in subjects who remain symptomatic or transition to psychosis, compared to those who remit or do not transition.

# **METHODS**

The systematic review was pre-registered on PROSPERO (CRD42020199065), and adhered to PRISMA guidelines. PubMed (including MEDLINE) and PsychInfo databases were searched to identify journal articles published from inception until 6 June 2020, to search titles and abstracts using the following search terms: (mri OR fmri OR dti OR brain OR "grey matter" OR "gray matter" OR "white matter" OR neuroimaging OR fa OR "fractional anisotropy" OR myelin OR magnetic resonance imaging OR diffusion tensor imaging OR "resting state" OR structural OR connectivity OR "diffusion weighted" OR "DW MRI" OR "Brain development") AND ("Psychosis risk" OR UHR OR CHR OR "clinical High Risk" OR "at risk mental state" or GHR or "psychotic experience" or "psychosis spectrum" or "clinical risk" OR ["genetic risk" and (psychosis or schizophrenia)] OR ["ultra high risk" and (psychosis or schizophrenia)] OR ["ultra-high risk" and (psychosis or schizophrenia)] OR ["high risk" and (psychosis or schizophrenia)] OR "risk" and (psychosis or schizophrenia) OR (emerging and psychosis) OR (psychopathology and youth) OR (prodromal and psychosis) OR (subthreshold and psychosis)) AND (follow\* OR longitudinal\* OR prospective OR "birth cohort" or development or trajectory OR progressive). References of previous reviews were also searched. All longitudinal studies reporting structural MRI measures in a high risk group with a comparison group (either healthy volunteers, or comparisons between transition and nontransition high risk groups), or exploring an association with psychotic symptom scores or polygenic risk score for schizophrenia were included in the systematic review. Studies using overlapping samples were included, providing different MRI analyses had been applied. Study quality was assessed by the following criteria: (i) blinded groups at the analysis stage, (ii) participant drop out reported, and (iii) correction for multiple comparisons.

Clinical high risk subjects, also defined as ultra high risk or individuals meeting an at risk mental state, are referred to as "CHR" in this review. CHR, GHR, and PE subjects are referred to collectively as high risk subjects (HR).



TABLE 1 | Studies of gray matter indices included in the systematic review, with summary statistics on the final row.

Cohort	References	CHR = 1, GHR = 2, PE = 3	HV (n)	HR (n)	HR-T (n)	HR-NT (n)	HR-S (n)	HR-NS (n)	Age of HR (yrs)	Follow up (yrs)	AP naive	Cortical thick- ness	Volume	Surface area	Quality: B/DO/CMC
Toho University	Katagiri et al. (15)	1	16	42	5	37			22.3	1	x		~		ххх
ADAPT	Damme et al. (16)	1	38	81					19	1	x			$\checkmark$	XX√
NAPLS	Cannon et al. (17)	1	135	274	35	239			19.3	1	x	$\checkmark$			XVV
	Chung et al. (18)	1	135	274	35	239			19.3	1	x	$\checkmark$			XX√
	Chung et al. (19)	1	132	267	37	230			19.3	2	x	$\checkmark$			XX√
Singapore	Ho et al. (20)	1	54	93			41	52	21.4	2	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		XX√
NIMH COS Study	Gogtay et al. (21)	2	52	52					16.2	10	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			XVV
	Mattai et al. (22)	2	86	43					13.4	6	$\checkmark$	~			XVV
	Zalesky et al. (23)	2	102	86					18	10	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			XX√
	Greenstein et al. (24)	2	110	80					14.9	10	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		√XX
	Mattai et al. (25)	2	79	78					14.9	10	√		~		XXX
Sibling pair, Utrecht	Brans et al. (26)	2	33	11					41.2	5	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		XXX
Twin pair, Utrecht	Hedman et al. (27)	2	54	19					38.7	5	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		~	XVV
Dutch Prediction of	Ziermans et al. (28)	1	30	43	8	35			16.1	2	x	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		<b>VV</b>
Psychosis	de Wit et al. (29)	1	24	35			18	17	15.4	6	x	$\checkmark$	~	~	~~X
Edinburgh High Risk	Lawrie et al. (30)	2	20	66			19	47	23.1	2	√		~		XXX
Study	Job et al. (31)	2	19	65			18	47	21.4	2	$\checkmark$		~		XVV
	Mcintosh et al. (32)	2	36	146	17	72	57		21.2	10	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		~~X
	Bois et al. (33)	2	36	142	17	68	57		21	2	√	$\checkmark$		~	<b>v</b> X <b>v</b>
	Bois et al. (34)	2	36	142	17	68	57		21	2	√		~		X√-
Edinburgh Study of	Moorhead et al. (35)	3	45	53					15.9	1.5	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		XVV
Comorbidity	McKechanie et al. (36)	3	NA	43					16.2	6	x		$\checkmark$		XVV
FEPSY project	Walter et al. (37)	1	NA	23	10	13			24.2	5	x		~		√X-
	Walter et al. (38)	1	NA	18	8	10			25.7	5	х		$\checkmark$		√X-
	Borgwardt et al. (39)	1	NA	20	10	10			24.7	4	х		$\checkmark$		XX√
OASIS	Fusar-Poli et al. (40)	1	14	22	5	17			24.5	2	x		~		XJJ
PACE	Pantelis et al. (41)	1	NA	21	10	11			19.7	3	x		~		XVX
	Sun et al. (42)	1	NA	35	12	23			19.9	4	х			$\checkmark$	JXJ
	Takahashi et al. (43)	1	22	35	12	23			19.9	4	x		$\checkmark$		√XX
	Takahashi et al. (44)	1	20	31	11	20			19.9	4	x		$\checkmark$		<b>VV</b> -
Ludwig Maximilians	Koutsouleris et al. (45)	1	28	25	12	13			23.2	4	x		~		XVV
Western Psychiatric	Bhojraj et al. (46)	2	36	56					15.4	1	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	√X-
Institute and Clinic	Bhojraj et al. (47)	2	27	23					15.4	1	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		√XX
	Prasad et al. (48)	2	33	31					16.3	1	~	√	1	~	XVX

Merritt et al.

(Continued)

Longitudinal MRI in High-Risk Psychosis

			HR (yrs)	up (yrs)		thick- ness		area	B/DO/CMC
			14.4	4	>		>		X.//
			13.5	2	>		>		-XX
			11.3	2.3	×	7		>	111
	20	59	12.1	4	×	7	>	>	111
1128	287	222	Mean 19.7	Mean 3.9	19	14	26	თ	Mean 1.4/3
	1128		20 287	20 59 287 222	14.4 13.5 13.5 11.3 20 59 12.1 287 222 Mean 19.7	14.4 4 13.5 2 11.3 2.3 20 59 12.1 4 287 222 Mean Mean 3.9 19.7	14.4 4 <b> </b>	14.4 4 <b>*</b> 13.5 2 <b>*</b> 11.3 2.3 <b>*</b> 20 59 12.1 4 <b>* *</b> 287 222 Mean Mean 39 19 14	14.4       4 <b>*</b> 13.5       2 <b>* *</b> 13.5       2 <b>* *</b> 13.5       2 <b>* * *</b> 13.5       2 <b>* * *</b> 11.3       2.3 <b>* * *</b> 20       59       12.1       4 <b>* * *</b> 287       222       Mean       Mean 3.9       19       14       26         19.7       19.7       14       26       14       26

# RESULTS

The literature search identified 50 studies from 22 high risk (HR) cohorts, including 2,473 HR subjects and 990 healthy volunteers (HV) (Figure 1, PRISMA diagram). Twenty-six studies examined CHR subjects (also defined as ultra high risk or individuals meeting an at risk mental state), 19 studies examined GHR subjects, and 5 studies examined individuals with PE. Thirtyeight studies examined gray matter (Table 1) and 18 examined white matter (Table 2). The average age of the HR group was 21.4 years (SD 9.7) at baseline, with the follow-up scan occurring on average 3.4 years later (SD 2.7). CHR groups were assessed by the Comprehensive Assessment of At Risk Mental State, the Structured Interview for Prodromal Syndromes, the Basel Screening Instrument for Psychosis, and the Bonn Scale for the Assessment of Basic Symptoms. Four cohorts assess PE; (1) The Edinburgh Study of Comorbidity examines adolescents with cognitive impairment and schizotypal features which have been classified as PE in this review, assessed via the Structured Interview for Schizotypy, (2) The IMAGEN study used the Community Assessment of Psychic Experiences (CAPE) which takes into account frequency and distress of symptoms, (3) Calvo et al., used the SOCRATES template, which documents the presence of perceptual abnormalities and unusual thought content with no frequency or duration criteria, (4) The PNC cohort used the Scale of Prodromal Symptoms, and individuals were required to possess significant sub-threshold symptoms that persisted for at least two clinical assessments (on average 20 months apart). Detailed summaries of each study can be found in the Supplementary Tables 1, 2.

# Longitudinal Brain Trajectories in High Risk Subjects Compared to Healthy Volunteers

For studies of gray matter comparing HR groups to healthy volunteers (HV), 20 out of 24 studies measuring brain volume, cortical thickness, or surface morphology, reported altered gray matter trajectories in HR (**Table 3**). Altered gray matter development is seen regardless of the type of HR group examined; a significant change over time compared to HV was reported in 13 out of 16 studies of GHR, 4 out of 5 studies in CHR, and 3 out of 3 studies of PE. Significant results were primarily in the temporal (16 studies), frontal (9 studies), parietal lobe (6 studies), cingulate cortex (6 studies), and whole brain (6 studies).

In the temporal cortex, the majority of studies (13 studies) found a reduction in cortical thickness or volume over time in HR subjects, whereas 2 studies reported no change over time in HR, but a decrease (48) or an increase in HV (34). One study did not detect changes over time but instead found lower hippocampal volume at both timepoints in HR (50). In the frontal cortex and cingulate, gray matter volume, cortical thickness and surface morphology reduced over time in HR in the majority of studies, with the exception of two studies. One study found increased gray matter in the right inferior frontal gyrus, although an interaction between group and time was not assessed (40). One study found less steep decreases in surface area over time in CHR in frontal and parietal areas (29). In the parietal

**FABLE 1** | Continued

TABLE 2 | Studies of white matter indices included in the systematic review, with summary statistics on the bottom row.

Cohort	References	CHR = 1, GHR = 2, PE = 3	HV (n)	HR (n)	HR-T (n)	HR-NT (n)	Age of HR (yrs)	Follow up (yrs)	AP naive	MRI analysis	Quality: blind/drop- out/correct fo multiple comparisons
Sibling pair cohort	Brans et al. (26)	2	33	11			41.2	5	√	Struct: Volume	XVX
Dutch Prediction of Psychosis	Ziermans et al. (28)	1	30	43	8	35	16.1	2	X	Struct: Semiautomated volume + VBM	~~~
	de Wit et al. (29)	1	24	35	18	17	15.4	6	x	Struct: Volume	~~×
Edinburgh Study of Comorbidity	Moorhead et al. (35)	3	45	53			15.9	1.5	√	Struct: TBM	~~X
Ludwig-Maximilians	Koutsouleris et al. (45)	1	28	25	12	13	23.2	4	X	Struct: VBM Multivariate	XJJ
PACE	Walterfang et al. (53)	1	NA	21	10	11	20.5	1.3	×	Struct: VBM	Xvv
NIMH COS study	Gogtay et al. (54)	2	57	49			16.1	5	$\checkmark$	Struct: TBM	XX.
LBC1936 birth cohort	Alloza et al. (55)	NA	NA	488			76.4	3	√	DTI: Tractometry and connectomic	XJJ
Toho University	Katagiri et al. (56)	1	16	42	5	37	22.3	1	X	Struct: ROI volume (Corpus Callosum)	XXX
	Saito et al. (57)	1	16	46	7	39	22.9	1	x	DTI: Tractometry (Corpus Callosum)	XVX
	Katagiri et al. (58)	1	16	41	7	34	22.8	1	X	DTI: cross-sectional whole-brain TBSS followed by longitudinal ROI analysis	XJJ
Copenhagen	Krakauer et al. (59)	1	23	30			24.1	1	x	DTI: Whole-brain TBSS	XVV
ADAPT	Bernard et al. (60)	1	21	26			18.7	1	X	DTI: Tractometry (hippocampal–thalamic)	XX-
	Mittal et al. (61)	1	15	15			18.5	1	x	DTI: Atlas-based TBSS ROI analysis (Superior Cerebella Peduncles)	√√-
	Bernard et al. (62)	1	24	26			18.7	1	x	DTI: Tractometry (Cerebello-thalamo-cortical)	XVV
Genetic Risk and Outcome of Psychosis	Domen et al. (63)	2	49	55			30.9	3	$\checkmark$	DTI: Atlas-based TBSS ROI analysis (2x19 regions)	XJJ
OASIS	Carletti et al. (64)	1	32	22	5	17	23.4	2	x	DTI: Cluster-level suprathreshold voxel analysis	XJJ
PNC	Roalf et al. (65)	3	89	38			15.5	2	X	DTI: Whole-brain TBSS followed by Atlas-based ROI analysis	XJJ
Totals:		3 GHR, 12 CHR, 2 PE, 1 Older adults	518	1,066	72	203	Mean 24.6	Mean 2.3	5	8 Structural, 3 Tractometry, 1 Connectomic, 2 Whole-brain-TBSS, 3 ROI-TBSS, 1 Cluster-level DTI	Mean 1.7/3

GHR, Genetic high risk; CHR, Clinical high risk; T, transition; NT, no transition; S, symptomatic; NS, no symptomas; HR, high risk; HV, Healthy Volunteers; PE, psychotic experiences; AP, antipsychotic medication; NA, Not Applicable.

Merritt et al.

Dataset	References	BL: HR vs. HV	Time: HR vs.	Time: CHR-T	BL: Predict		nificant	t brai	n reg	ions fo	or HR v	vs. H\	/ over	time			Si	gnifica	nt br	ain reg o	ions fo ver tir		R-T vs.	CHR	-NT	
			HV	vs. CHR-NT	Transition				al	_	al	sn	ala	àanglia	Ium	٥	brain				al	_	al	Nucleus Accumbens	llum	٥
						Whole brain	Frontal	ACC	Temporal	Parietal	Occipital	Thalamus	Amygdala	Basal Ganglia	Cerebellum	Ventricle	Whole brain	Frontal	Insula	ACC	Temporal	Parietal	Occipital	Nucleu	Cerebellum	Ventricle
Toho University	Katagiri et al. (15)	NA	NA	NA	x																					
ADAPT	Damme et al. (16)	√	x	NA	NA																					
NAPLS	Cannon et al. (17)	NA	NA	√	X													↓ CT								^ /
	Chung et al. (18)	NA	NA	NA	NA																					
	Chung et al. (19)	NA	NA	NA	NA																					
Singapore	Ho et al. (20)	NA	NA	√	x																↓ Vol					
NIMH COS Study	Gogtay et al. (21)	x	~	NA	NA		↓ CT		↓ CT	- ↓ C1	-															
	Mattai et al. (22)	×	~	NA	NA		$\downarrow CT$		↓ CT	- ↓ CT	-															
	Zalesky et al. (23)	NA	~	NA	NA				↓ Con		↓ Con															
	Greenstein et al. (24	) 🗸	$\checkmark$	NA	NA										↓ Vo	1										
	Mattai (25)	X	Х	NA	NA																					
Sibling pair, Utrecht	Brans et al. (26)	NA	x	NA	NA																					
Twin pair, Utrecht	Hedman et al. (27)	NA	~	NA	NA	↓ CT			↓ CT	-																
Dutch Prediction Psychosis	Ziermans et al. (28)	×	√	$\checkmark$	×				↓ CT	-							↓ Vo	bl		↓ CT	↓ CT	↓ CT	↓ CT			
	de Wit et al. (29)	NA	V	√	NA	↔ SA	A ↔ SA ↑ Vol				A↓SA ↓GI ↓Vol	Vol				↑ Va	I ↓ C <sup>-</sup> SA*		Ļ	↓ Vol ↑ Gl	↓ Vol ↓ CT ↔ C	* Vol* 、	Ļ	↓ Vol*		↑ \
Edinburgh High Risk Study	Lawrie et al. (30)	√	x	√	NA																↓ Vol					
	Job et al. (31)	NA	Effect of time	Effect of time	NA			↓ Vol	↓ Vo	I ↓ Vo	I				↓ Vo	I										

Longitudinal MRI in High-Risk Psychosis

TABLE 3 | Continued

Dataset	References	BL: HR vs. HV	Time: HR vs.	Time: CHR-T	BL: Predict	Sig	nifica	int bra	in re	egions	for H	R vs.	HV o	over t	ime			Si	gnifica	ant br	ain reg c	jions f over ti		R-T vs	6. CHI	R-NT	
			HV	vs. CHR-NT	Transition	_									lia			_							cumbens		
						Whole brain	Frontal	ACC	Temporal	Parietal	Occipital	Thalamus		Amygdala	Basal Ganglia	Cerebellum	Ventricle	Whole brain	Frontal	Insula	ACC	Temporal	Parietal	Occipital	Nucleus Accumbens	Cerebellum	Ventricle
	Mcintosh et al. (32)	√	√	√	x	↓ Vol	↓ Vc		↓ '	Vol									↓ Vc								
	Bois et al. (33)	x	√	x	~	↓ CT, ↔ SA		T ↓ CT	-		$\leftrightarrow$	СТ															
	Bois et al. (34)	NA	√	x	NA				$\leftrightarrow$	Vol																	
Edinburgh Study of Comorbidity	Moorhead et al. (35)	NA	~	NA	NA				↓ `	Vol			`	↓ Vol													
	McKechanie et al. (36)	NA	NA	NA	NA																						
FEPSY project	Walter et al. (37)	NA	NA	x	~																						
	Walter et al. (38)	NA	NA	x	NA																						
	Borgwardt et al. (39)	) NA	NA	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$														↓ Vc	d		↓ Vc	I ↓ Vo	I		↓ Vc	bl
OASIS	Fusar-Poli et al. (40)	√	Effect of time	Effect of time	√		†↓ Vol	↑ Vo	I						↓ Vo	I ↑ Vc	d					↓ Vo	I				
PACE	Pantelis et al. (41)	NA	NA	Effect of time	~														↓ Vc	I	↓ Vo	I ↓ Vo		↑ Vo	I	↓ Vc	bl
	Sun et al. (42)	NA	NA	1	NA														↓ SA	4							
	Takahashi et al. (43)	NA	NA	$\checkmark$	x																	↓ Vc	l				
	Takahashi et al. (44)	NA	NA	~	√															↓ Vo	ol						
Ludwig Maximilians	Koutsouleris et al. (45)	NA	√	√	√		↓ Vc	I ↓ Vo	↓'	Vol ↓V	/ol ↓	Vol			↓ Vo	I ↓ Vc	l ↑ Vo	l			↓ Vo	I	↓ Vo	I			<u>۱</u> ۱
Western Psychiatric Institute and Clinic	Bhojraj et al. (46)	NA	1	NA	NA				↓ :	SA																	
	Bhojraj et al. (47)	~	√	NA	√		↓ Vc	l ↓ Vo	↓'	Vol																	
	Prasad et al. (48)	1	√	NA	NA	↓ SA	↓ SA ↓ Vc ↑ C1	l,		Vol, ↓ V CT ↑ C																	
IMAGEN	Yu et al. (49)	NA	~	NA	NA					Vol																	

(Continued)

Longitudinal MRI in High-Risk Psychosis

TABLE 3 | Continued

Dataset	References	BL: HR vs. HV	Time: HR vs.	Time: CHR-T	BL: Predict	Sig	gnifica	ant bra	ain reg	jions f	or HR	vs. H	V over	time			Si	ignific	ant br		gions f over ti		IR-T v	s. CH	R-NT	
			ΗV	vs. CHR-NT	Transition	Whole brain	Frontal	ACC	Temporal	Parietal	Occipital	Thalamus	Amygdala	Basal Ganglia	Cerebellum	Ventricle	Whole brain	Frontal	Insula	ACC	Temporal	Parietal	Occipital	Nucleus Accumbens	Cerebellum	Ventricle
Dublin & Kildare	Calvo et al. (50)	√	Effect of group	NA	NA				↓ Vo	) *																
Barcelona	Sugranyes et al. (51	) 🗸	√	NA	NA	$\leftrightarrow S$	A																			
	Sugranyes et al. (52	) NA	NA	1	✓												↓ C <sup>-</sup> ↓ S/ NT vs. H ↔ SA+	4* ⊣V:					↑ C.	Т		
TOTAL:		9/14	20/24	15/19	9/15	6	9	6	16	6	4	1	1	2	4	2	3	6	1	4	9	4	3	1	3	3
		BL: HR vs. H	Time: HF V vs. HV		BL: Predict	Whole brain	Frontal	ACC	Temporal	Parietal	Occipital	Thalamus	Amygdala	Basal Ganglia	Cerebellum	Ventricle	Whole brain	Frontal	Insula	ACC	Temporal	Parietal	Occipital	Nucleus Accumbens	Cerebellum	Ventricle

Arrows indicate altered trajectories between groups in specified brain region, 1 indicate a decrease in the HR or CHR-T group compared to HV or CHR-NT respectively, † indicate an increase and  $\leftrightarrow$  indicate no change over time in HR whereas an increase/decrease is seen in HV. HR, high risk; HV, healthy volunteer; CHR-T, clinical high risk transition; CHR-NT, no transition; ACC, Anterior cingulate cortex; NA, Not Applicable (for example studies examine other contrasts such as medicated vs. unmedicated); CT, cortical thickness; Vol, gray matter volume; Conn, structural connectivity; SA, surface area; GI, gyrification. \*volume was lower in HR vs. HV at both timepoints but there was no group x time interaction.

lobe, the majority of studies reported reduced gray matter volume and cortical thickness over time in HR, bar the aforementioned study (29) and another study which found increased cortical thickness but reduced volume over time (48). For whole brain, differences were found in cortical surface area and gray matter. A number of studies found smaller longitudinal decreases in global surface area in HR compared to healthy volunteers (29, 33, 51), although one study found a reduction in GHR (48). For whole brain gray matter, greater reductions over time in GHR compared to HV were reported (32), and more pronounced global cortical thinning in discordant twin pairs compared with healthy control twin pairs, although no difference in surface area was observed in this study (27).

For studies of white matter comparing HR groups to HV, 9 out of 13 studies reported altered trajectories in HR groups (5/7 studies in CHR, 2/3 studies in GHR, 1/2 in PE, 1 in subjects with polygenic risk scores for schizophrenia). Altered trajectories were reported principally in whole brain, in the cingulum and in the thalamic radiation (3 studies) amongst other regions (**Table 4**). Studies measuring white matter volume found reduced volume over time or showed smaller increases compared to HV, in the whole brain, parietal lobes and in the corpus callosum of HR subjects (3 out of 5 volume studies). Slower white matter growth in the parietal lobe normalized by age 14 in GHR subjects (54).

Most tract-based spatial statistics (TBSS) and tractography studies focused their analysis on regions of interest (ROI) rather than on the whole brain, finding a reduction or no change in FA in HR groups, whereas FA increased over time in HV; 2 studies examined the cerebellar tracts (61, 62), and 1 study measured tracts connecting the thalamus and hippocampus (60). For whole brain TBSS analyses, mean FA values reduced over time in GHR but increased for HV in the whole brain, the right cingulum, and the left posterior thalamic radiation, with a smaller increase in the right retrolenticular part of the internal capsule (63). Two whole brain TBSS studies did not find altered neurodevelopmental trajectories in HR, but instead found lower FA at baseline (59) or through both timepoints (65). Of these, Krakauer et al. (59) reported reduced FA in the right anterior thalamic radiation (ATR), left corticospinal tract (CST) and left superior longitudinal fasciculus (SLF), and Roalf et al. (65) reported lower FA in the CST and in the cingulum bundle of the hippocampus (CGH). Lower FA at baseline in the SLF may normalize over time, as another TBSS study found that FA in this tract increased over the course of 1 year in UHR subjects (59). A study in an older age cohort (mean age 76 years) found that polygenic risk score for schizophrenia correlated with increased mean diffusivity over time in the splenium, arcuate, ATR and cingulum, which may reflect reduced neuropil or increases in cerebrospinal fluid (55).

# Longitudinal Brain Trajectories in Subjects That Transition to Psychosis

For studies of gray matter comparing HR groups based on transition status (pre vs. post), 15 out of 19 studies report altered gray matter trajectories in those whose symptoms persist or transition to psychosis compared to those whose symptoms remit or those who do not transition to psychosis. Significant findings centered on the temporal (9 studies) and frontal cortex (6 studies), with fewer findings in the parietal lobe and anterior cingulate cortex (4 studies) (Table 3). Studies consistently reported greater reductions in gray matter volume, cortical thickness and surface area over time in those who remained symptomatic or transitioned to psychosis, with the exception of one study (29). In this study both resilient and nonresilient CHR individuals showed decreased cortical thickness over time in the superior temporal cortex and posterior cingulate gyrus, which started out lower in non-resilient subjects, however, the non-resilient group showed a slower rate of change than the resilient group. Furthermore, in the anterior cingulate cortex the study reported greater volume reductions over time in the non-resilient CHR group but an increase in gyrification over time. In general, studies comparing transition and non-transition groups alongside HV found greater cortical thinning in frontal and temporal lobes, as well as the caudate and insula, which were not apparent in the non-transition group when compared to HV (17, 20, 28, 32, 43, 44, 52).

For studies in CHR (rather than GHR), 11 out of 13 studies report altered trajectories in subjects who were most unwell. No studies in subjects with PE examined transitioned patients, although one study subtyped PE subjects based on negative symptom severity, finding widespread gray matter loss in those with more severe negative symptoms (36). In GHR 4 out of 6 studies found significant longitudinal changes based on clinical presentation (5 studies from the Edinburgh High-Risk cohort). Differing results in GHR subjects from the Edinburgh High-Risk cohort depend on the applied MRI analysis method. The most reliable results are described by Bois et al. (33), which was one of two studies in this cohort to apply correction for multiple comparisons. In this study, cortical thickness did not change over time according to clinical status, but differed in the whole GHR group compared to HV. As GHR subjects were split into three clinical groups; well, symptomatic and transitioned, this cohort may have been under-powered to detect differences between groups, and only a small proportion of participants transitioned in this cohort (n = 8).

For white matter, only 5 studies examined whether brain development differs in those who transition to psychosis and those who do not (Table 4), and all found greater reductions in white matter volume or FA in the former group, principally in the corpus callosum (3 studies) and in white matter regions near the superior fronto-occipital fasciculus (SFOF) (2 studies). One study used DTI methods and found reduced FA over time in transitioned subjects in a cluster of voxels in the anterior limb of the left internal capsule (left ALIC), the body of the corpus callosum (bCC), left superior corona radiata (SCR), and left SFOF (64), with an increase over time in non-transitioned subjects. Four studies measured white matter volume; 3 studies found reduced volume over time in the corpus callosum, left inferior frontal occipital fasciculus (IFOF), calcarine cortex, and whole brain of transitioned subjects (28, 45, 53). The other study of white matter found that corpus callosum volume reduced over time in all groups (healthy volunteers, resilient and nonresilient UHR) but that corpus callosum volume was highest in TABLE 4 | List of studies examining white matter, ticks indicate significant differences between groups either at baseline (BL) or a significant group × time interaction.

Dataset	References	BL: HR vs. HV	Time: HF vs. HV	CHR-T	BL: Predict Transition	Significant brain regions for HR vs. HV over time																in reg ver tim		or CH	IR-T			
				vs. CHR-NT		Whole brain	Cingulum	Fronto-occipital fasciculus	Cerebellum	Cerebello-thalamo-cortical	Parietal	Splenium	Arcuate	Thalamic radiations	SLF	Inferior longitudinal fasciculus	Thalamic – hippocampal	Internal capsule	Forceps major	Corticospinal	Corpus collosum	Whole brain	Fronto-occipital fasciculus	Cerebellum	Calcarine cortex	Internal capsule	Corona radiata	Corpus collosum
Sibling pair cohort	Brans et al. (26)	NA	x	NA	NA																							
Dutch Prediction Psychosis	Ziermans et al. (28)	X	√	~	X	↔ Vol																↓ Vo	bl					
	De Wit et al. (29)	NA	x	$\checkmark$	NA																							↓ Vo
Edinburgh Study Co-morbidity	Moorhead et al. (35)	NA	x	NA	NA																							
Ludwig- Maximilians	Koutsouleris et al. (45)	NA	~	$\checkmark$	NA																↓V	ol						$\downarrow$
PACE	Walterfang et al. (53)	NA	NA	√	√																		↓ Vo	ol ↑ Vo	ol↓Vo	bl		
NIMH COS study	Gogtay et al. (54)	x	~	NA	NA						↔ Vol																	
LBC1936 birth cohort	Alloza et al. (55)	x	~	NA	NA		↑ M	D				↑ M	D↑M	D↑ M	D													
Toho University	Katagiri et al. (56)	NA	NA	NA	NA																							
	Saito et al. (57)	√	NA	NA	√																							
	Katagiri et al. (58)	√	NA	NA	x																							
Copenhagen	Krakauer et al. (59)	√	Effect of time	NA	NA										↑ FA	A												
ADAPT	Bernard et al. (60)	NA	~	NA	√												↓ ↔ FA											
	Mittal et al. (61)	x	~	NA	NA				↓ FA	Ą																		

(Continued)

TABLE 4 | Continued

Dataset	References	BL: HR vs. HV	Time: HI vs. HV		BL: Predict Transition	Significant brain regions for HR vs. HV over time														gnificant brain regions for CHR-T . CHR-NT over time								
				vs. CHR-NT		Whole brain	Cingulum	Fronto-occipital fasciculus	Cerebellum	Cerebello-thalamo-cortical	Parietal	Splenium	Arcuate	Thalamic radiations	SLF	Inferior longitudinal fasciculus	Thalamic – hippocampal	Internal capsule	Forceps major	Corticospinal	Corpus collosum	Whole brain	Fronto-occipital fasciculus	Cerebellum	Calcarine cortex	Internal capsule	Corona radiata	Corpus collosum
	Bernard et al. (62)	. NA	√	NA	NA					↓ F⁄	4																	
Genetic Risk and Outcome of Psychosis	Domen et al. e (63)	x	√	NA	NA	↓ F⁄	A↓F/	Ą						↓ FA	4			↔ F	Ā									
OASIS	Carletti et al. (64)	x	NA	√	x																		↓E	A		↓ FA	A↓FA	A ↓ FA
PNC	Roalf et al. (65)	NA	Effect of group	NA	NA	↓ F⁄	A*↓ F/	4*↓ F⁄	۹*					↓ FA	4*↓ F/	A*↓ F/	۹*		↓ FA	4*↓ F4	4*							
TOTAL:		3/9	9/13	5/5	3/6	3	3	1	1	1	1	1	1	3	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	1	1	1	1	3
		BL: HR vs. HV	Time: HF vs. HV		BL: Predict S.Transition	Whole brain	Cingulum	Fronto-occipital fasciculus	Cerebellum	Cerebello-thalamo-cortical	Parietal	Splenium	Arcuate	Thalamic radiations	SLF	Inferior longitudinal fasciculus	Thalamic-ippocampal	Internal capsule	Forceps major	Corticospinal	Corpus collosum	Whole brain	Fronto-occipital fasciculus	Cerebellum	Calcarine cortex	Internal capsule	Corona radiata	Corpus collosum

Arrows indicate significant difference between groups over time in specified brain region, 1 indicate a decrease in the HR or CHR-T group compared to HV or CHR-NT respectively, 1 indicate an increase and +> indicate no change over time in HR whereas an increase is seen in HV. HR, high risk; HV, healthy volunteer; CHR-T, clinical high risk transition; CHR-NT, no transition; NA, Not Applicable; Vol, white matter volume; MD, mean diffusivity; FA, fractional anisotropy;

SLF, superior longitudinal fasciculus;  $FA^*$ , lower in HR vs. HV at both timepoints but no group  $\times$  time interaction.
resilient UHR, intermediate in HV and lowest in non-resilient UHR (29). This contrasts with 2 studies reporting that the level of reduced white matter volume over time was intermediate in non-transitioned subjects between that seen in HV and transitioned subjects (28, 45), although no studies using DTI methods compared clinical subgroup trajectories to HV.

# Cross-Sectional MRI Differences at Baseline

Since the majority of studies find that "brain development" differs in HR groups compared to HV, with the most pronounced changes seen in subjects that transition to psychosis, this leaves open the question of whether differences are present crosssectionally at the baseline timepoint. At baseline, 9 out of 14 studies report lower gray matter volume, cortical thickness, and surface area in HR subjects compared to HV in the frontal (5 studies), temporal (4 studies) and parietal lobe (4 studies) (**Table 3**). As more studies report longitudinal differences (20 out of 24), this suggests that longitudinal studies may have greater sensitivity to detect differences in gray matter. For white matter, a similar trend is seen, with 3 out of 9 studies finding lower fractional anisotropy at baseline between HR and HV, in the corpus callosum, CST, SLF, and ATR (**Table 4**), whereas 9 out of 13 studies detected longitudinal differences.

It is of interest whether baseline structural measures can predict clinical outcome in HR, as this could guide clinical interventions. At baseline, 9 out of 15 studies found lower gray matter volumes in those who went on to transition compared to those who did not, in the frontal (5 studies), parietal (4 studies), insula, and temporal lobe (3 studies). This is lower than the proportion of studies that detected longitudinal differences between clinical subgroups (15 out of 19 studies). For baseline measures of white matter, 3 out of 6 studies found higher white matter volume or FA in those who went on to transition compared to those who did not, with higher volume in the SLF and SFOF (53) and higher FA in the corpus callosum (57). Also in CHR higher FA in hippocampal-thalamic tracts was associated with more severe positive symptoms 12 months later (60). Taken together with the longitudinal findings in the left SFOF of transitioned subjects, it appears that those with higher FA values and white matter volume at baseline show the largest reductions over time. The proportion of studies finding white matter differences at baseline is lower than the proportion of studies that detected longitudinal differences between transition and non-transition groups (5 out of 5 studies).

## DISCUSSION

The aim of this systematic review was to examine whether neurodevelopmental trajectories differ between (i) high risk subjects (HR) compared to healthy volunteers (HV), and (ii) those who transition to psychosis compared to those who do not. HR subjects, regardless of subtype (CHR, GHR, and PE), show an accelerated decline in gray matter primarily in the temporal cortex, and also the frontal, cingulate and parietal cortex. In those who remain symptomatic or transition to psychosis, there



**FIGURE 2** | Hypothetical trajectories of whole brain gray matter. In typical development, gray matter volume and thickness reduce in late childhood, and plateau in mid adulthood [blue line, based on (9)]. In high risk subjects, gray matter volume and thickness is lower than healthy volunteers. In those whose symptoms improve this deficit may persist (dashed green line) or recover (solid green line). In those who transition to psychosis, lower gray matter is found at baseline and longitudinally compared to non-transition subjects (red line).

was a greater reduction in these same brain regions. Altered gray matter trajectories may normalize by early adulthood in HR cohorts whose sub-threshold symptoms resolve, whereas brain abnormalities progress in those whose symptoms do not remit. White matter volume and diffusion anisotropy, which usually increase until early adulthood, did not change or were reduced in HR subjects, principally in the cingulum and thalamic radiation amongst other regions including the cerebellum, retrolenticular part of internal capsule, and tracts connecting the hippocampus and thalamus. In subjects who transitioned to psychosis, there was reduced FA or volume principally in the superior and inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus and the corpus callosum, as well as the anterior limb of the left internal capsule, superior corona radiata and calcarine cortex.

In normal development, gray matter volume reduces from late childhood until the early twenties as a result of synaptic pruning and increased intra-cortical myelination (9, 66). Gray matter declines first in somatosensory areas, and last in higherorder association areas such as the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, inferior parietal, and superior temporal gyrus (67, 68). This review suggests that latent vulnerability to schizophrenia is associated with premature gray matter loss in multiple higherorder brain regions. Diverging gray matter trajectories in the frontal and temporal cortex of HR populations are consistent with gray matter changes seen in schizophrenia (69, 70). In studies which include a patient group, reduced gray matter in HR appear to be intermediate between changes seen in schizophrenia and HV (23, 24), although one study reports a similar decline in cortical thickness in both patients and their healthy co-twins (27) and one study reports reduced hippocampal volume in schizophrenia patients but not GHR subjects (25).

Brain development differs in those who go on to transition from those who do not. Although greater reductions in temporal, frontal, cingulate, and parietal lobe gray matter are observed in HR subjects as a whole, more pronounced changes in these same regions are observed in those who transition to schizophrenia, particularly in the temporal cortex. A number of hypothetical neurodevelopmental models may explain the diverging gray matter trajectories in HR subjects depending on clinical outcome (Figure 2). For HR subjects that do not transition, gray matter volume may initially be lower than HV, but during adolescence non-transition subjects have a slower trajectory of typical grav matter loss, allowing typically developing subjects to "catch up" to the same level of gray matter volume, as shown in the NIMH cohort and the Barcelona cohort (21, 52). This infers premature gray matter loss in HR or a neurodevelopmental deficit in gray matter volume, which no longer differs from HV later on in development. Alternatively, remitted HR subjects may retain this deficit in gray matter volume, but to a lesser extent than that seen in subjects who transition to psychosis. The former is most likely, as studies generally do not find an intermediate level of gray matter loss in remitted subjects compared to HV and transitioned subjects (17, 20, 28, 43, 44, 52). Cognition may be affected in HR subjects whose brain trajectories later "normalize," as initial gray matter deficits alongside protracted loss are associated with poor intelligence (71), which is reported to be lower in GHR groups (72).

Gray and white matter differences between transition and non-transition subjects were more likely to be detected using longitudinal measures than baseline measures, and thus may offer predictive value to guide clinicians' care. Recent studies infer that cross-sectional brain structure measures offer additional predictive value to using clinical ratings alone (14, 73). Moreover, machine learning of "brain age," the deviation between chronological and neuroanatomical age, has successfully identified CHR subjects from HV (74), further supporting the presence of accelerated brain aging in these subjects. To date, these multivariate models have not included cross-sectional or longitudinal DTI measures or longitudinal measures of gray matter. This review indicates that longitudinal studies better capture subtle changes in brain maturation, and so these measures may offer a higher degree of prediction accuracy.

White matter volume and diffusion anisotropy (measured by FA) typically increase until early adulthood, however in HR these measures did not change, reduced over time or showed smaller increases compared to HV. ROI analyses in HR reported reduced FA over time in the cerebellum and tracts connecting the thalamus and hippocampus (60-62), whereas whole brain analyses most commonly found reduced FA in the thalamic radiation and cingulum in HR subjects compared to HV (55, 63, 65). Some studies did not find an interaction between group and time, and instead report lower FA at both timepoints in the SLF, ATR, corticospinal tracts, and the cingulum (59, 65). The absence of an interaction may occur when FA values stabilize in HV in mid-adulthood. Reduced FA is consistent with findings in schizophrenia, which are widespread throughout the brain, with the strongest effect in the anterior corona radiata and corpus callosum (75, 76). When psychotic disorder patients were examined alongside HR groups, baseline FA was lowest in patients, intermediate in CHR and highest in controls (64). Psychotic disorder patients had lower wholebrain mean FA at both timepoints, whereas FA reduced over time in GHR and slightly increased in HV (63). This suggests accelerated aging begins in prodromal individuals, which creates a later deficit when psychosis emerges. Depending on age, lower FA may represent delayed neurodevelopment (before mid-adulthood) or premature aging (after mid-adulthood) (**Figure 3**). Another possible interpretation would be an overdevelopment of secondary white matter pathways in HR, causing reduced FA in regions with increased crossing fibers.

It is unclear whether altered white matter development "recovers" in HR, as although one study found that slower white matter growth normalized by age 14 (54), the majority of studies detected reduced FA and volume after this age. Instead the level of white matter volume reduction may be intermediate in non-transitioned subjects between that of transitioned subjects and HV (28, 45), meaning that nontransitioned subjects show a neurodevelopmental deficit which may not recover. Alternatively, white matter volume or FA may increase in non-transitioned subjects as a compensatory process; one study found that FA increased over time in these subjects but reduced in those who transitioned (64), and one study reported that corpus callosum volume reduced over time in all groups, but was consistently larger in resilient UHR, intermediate in HV and lowest in nonresilient UHR groups (29). Therefore, further work is needed to establish whether low FA in HR represents a stable deficit, accelerated aging or a neurodevelopmental delay which recovers.

In those who transition, reduced volume or FA over time was principally reported in the IFOF, the SFOF and the corpus callosum, as well as the anterior limb of the internal capsule and superior corona radiata, which are white matter regions showing the strongest alterations in schizophrenia (76). Crosssectional studies report higher white matter volume and FA at baseline in those who went on to transition compared to those who did not, in a number of brain regions (57, 60) including the SFOF (53). If white matter integrity then reduces over time, this could suggest premature development and aging of white matter in transitioned subjects. Although longitudinal studies assessed here generally found higher FA at baseline, this is in contrast with the wider cross-sectional literature (11). Further studies in those who go on to transition are needed to conclude whether FA is initially higher (premature development) or lower (neurodevelopmental deficit), which then progressively reduces beyond that seen in non-transition subjects (neurodegenerative) (Figure 3).

There are significantly fewer longitudinal studies investigating white matter compared to gray matter in HR, in particular those examining white matter in transition and non-transition subjects, which were limited to small sample sizes (ranging from n = 5 to n = 18). Eight studies measured white matter volume, which (a) has less anatomical specificity than tractography and (b) are inherently coarser measures than the microstructural metrics offered by DTI. Ten studies used



DTI, half of which focused on ROI or specific tract analyses rather than whole-brain approaches, which may not provide a complete picture of white matter differences between groups. The specificity of the observed white-matter changes is limited, even with DTI, as they are often reported in regions of overlapping tracts and complex white matter microstructure. For example, the reported alterations in transitioned subjects point toward areas of crossing or overlapping fibers in the frontal lobe, which these studies have referred to as the SFOF. The existence of the SFOF in humans has been disputed (78-80), and the results from these studies may instead refer to corticostriatal and thalamic peduncle fibers interconnecting the cortex with the striatum and the thalamus. More advanced diffusion-weighted MRI techniques based on multi-shell MRI acquisition sequences can derive more detailed measures of the cellular environment, and will help to disentangle which specific tracts underlie the white matter changes (81).

The studies included in the systematic review have a number of limitations. Firstly, the majority of studies include participants who are taking antipsychotic medication. Treatment with antipsychotics is associated with reductions in global gray matter volume and enlarged lateral ventricles (82). This can bias results, particularly if the majority of the transition group are medicated whereas the non-transition group are not (41). However, in the largest study to date, reductions in cortical thickness in those who transitioned remained significant when analyses were restricted to unmedicated subjects (17), whilst another study found trend-level associations after excluding medicated subjects (52). Future studies could make use of sampling psychotic experiences in the general population, which were examined by 5 studies in this review. These samples are not help seeking, and thus rarely receive antipsychotic medication.

The majority of studies were of low to medium quality, and a third of studies examining gray matter did not correct for multiple comparisons. As changes in HR are more subtle

than those seen in schizophrenia, it is recommended that future studies use a priori small volume correction (SVC) in regions of interest, such as the medial temporal lobe. For example, one study detected gray matter loss in those with psychotic experiences compared to those without, but only when SVC was applied in the temporal lobe (35). Brain differences in HR are not global, or localized to discrete regions, but instead appear to affect certain networks such as the frontoparietal, and limbic-temporal networks. Although SVC will increase the power to detect subtle changes, these must be complemented with whole brain and network based approaches. Lastly, an important issue in the reporting of MRI studies is publication bias, which cannot be formally assessed by a systematic review. A number of studies examined brain changes over time in HR and HV groups separately, whereas future studies should report interaction analyses between group and time.

In conclusion, HR subjects show accelerated gray matter loss in the temporal, frontal, cingulate and parietal cortex. This is alongside reduced white matter volume and reduced FA over time in the thalamic radiation and cingulum, which may reflect a neurodevelopmental deficit in white matter maturation or premature aging. Over time gray matter trajectories may converge between HR and HV groups, but not in those who remain symptomatic or transition to disease. Transitioned subjects show progressive gray matter reductions in the temporal and frontal lobes, and reduced white matter in the SFOF, IFOF, corpus callosum, and corona radiata, on a continuum with that seen in schizophrenia. Longitudinal gray and white matter measures were more likely to detect differences between transition and non-transition subjects than baseline measures, and thus may offer predictive value to guide clinicians' care. The availability of advanced neuroimaging technologies will allow future studies to better track white matter changes in the prodrome, which may offer promising markers of clinical outcome.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions generated in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KM, PL, and AI: extracted data. KM, PL, and AD: wrote the manuscript. All authors: contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## REFERENCES

- Davis J, Eyre H, Jacka FN, Dodd S, Dean O, McEwen S, et al. A review of vulnerability and risks for schizophrenia: beyond the two hit hypothesis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 65:185–94. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.03.017
- Seiler N, Nguyen T, Yung A, O'Donoghue B. Terminology and assessment tools of psychosis: a systematic narrative review. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2020) 74:226–46. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12966
- Fusar-Poli P, Bonoldi I, Yung AR, Borgwardt S, Kempton MJ, Valmaggia L, et al. Predicting psychosis: meta-analysis of transition outcomes in individuals at high clinical risk. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2012) 69:220–9. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.1472
- Johnstone EC, Abukmeil SS, Byrne M, Clafferty R, Grant E, Hodges A, et al. Edinburgh high risk study—Findings after four years: demographic, attainment and psychopathological issues. *Schizophr Res.* (2000) 46:1–15. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(99)00225-X
- Sullivan SA, Kounali D, Cannon M, David AS, Fletcher PC, Holmans P, et al. A population-based cohort study examining the incidence and impact of psychotic experiences from childhood to adulthood, and prediction of psychotic disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2020) 177:308–17. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19060654
- Fusar-Poli P, Radua J, McGuire P, Borgwardt S. Neuroanatomical maps of psychosis onset: voxel-wise meta-analysis of antipsychotic-naive VBM studies. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:1297–307. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr134
- Ding Y, Ou Y, Pan P, Shan X, Chen J, Liu F, et al. Brain structural abnormalities as potential markers for detecting individuals with ultra-high risk for psychosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2019) 209:22–31. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.05.015
- Palaniyappan L. Progressive cortical reorganisation: a framework for investigating structural changes in schizophrenia. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2017) 79:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.04.028
- Mills KL, Goddings AL, Herting MM, Meuwese R, Blakemore SJ, Crone EA, et al. Structural brain development between childhood and adulthood: convergence across four longitudinal samples. *Neuroimage*. (2016) 141:273– 81. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.07.044
- Hagmann P, Sporns O, Madan N, Cammoun L, Pienaar R, Wedeen VJ, et al. White matter maturation reshapes structural connectivity in the late developing human brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2010) 107:19067–72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1009073107
- Karlsgodt HK, Jacobson CS, Seal M, Fusar-Poli P. The relationship of developmental changes in white matter to the onset of psychosis. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2012) 18:422–33. doi: 10.2174/138161212799316073
- Smieskova R, Fusar-Poli P, Allen P, Bendfeldt K, Stieglitz RD, Drewe J, et al. Neuroimaging predictors of transition to psychosis–a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2010) 34:1207–22. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.01.016
- Mechelli A, Riecher-Rössler A, Meisenzahl EM, Tognin S, Wood SJ, Borgwardt SJ, et al. Neuroanatomical abnormalities that predate the onset of psychosis: a multicenter study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2011) 68:489–95. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.42

## FUNDING

This work was supported by MRC Grant Reference MR/S003436/1.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.620401/full#supplementary-material

- Koutsouleris N, Kambeitz-Ilankovic L, Ruhrmann S, Rosen M, Ruef A, Dwyer DB, et al. Prediction models of functional outcomes for individuals in the clinical high-risk state for psychosis or with recent-onset depression. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2018) 75:1156. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.20 18.2165
- Katagiri N, Pantelis C, Nemoto T, Tsujino N, Saito J, Hori M, et al. Longitudinal changes in striatum and sub-threshold positive symptoms in individuals with an 'at risk mental state' (ARMS). *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2019) 285:25–30. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2019.01.008
- Damme KSF, Gupta T, Nusslock R, Bernard JA, Orr JM, Mittal VA. Cortical morphometry in the psychosis risk period: a comprehensive perspective of surface features. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging*. (2019) 4:434– 43. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2018.01.003
- Cannon TD, Chung Y, He G, Sun D, Jacobson A, Van Erp TGM, et al. Progressive reduction in cortical thickness as psychosis develops: a multisite longitudinal neuroimaging study of youth at elevated clinical risk. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2015) 77:147–57. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.05.023
- Chung Y, Jacobson A, He G, van Erp TGM, McEwen S, Addington J, et al. Prodromal symptom severity predicts accelerated gray matter reduction and third ventricle expansion among clinically high-risk youth developing psychotic disorders. *Mol Neuropsychiatry*. (2015) 1:13–22. doi: 10.1159/000371887
- Chung Y, Haut KM, He G, van Erp TGM, McEwen S, Addington J, et al. Ventricular enlargement and progressive reduction of cortical gray matter are linked in prodromal youth who develop psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) 189:169–74. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.02.014
- Ho NF, Holt DJ, Cheung M, Iglesias JE, Goh A, Wang M, et al. Progressive decline in hippocampal CA1 volume in individuals at ultra-high-risk for psychosis who do not remit: findings from the longitudinal youth at risk study. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2017) 42:1361–70. doi: 10.1038/npp.2017.5
- Gogtay N, Greenstein D, Lenane M, Clasen L, Sharp W, Gochman P, et al. Cortical brain development in nonpsychotic siblings of patients with childhood-onset schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2007) 64:772–80. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.64.7.772
- 22. Mattai AA, Weisinger B, Greenstein D, Stidd R, Clasen L, Miller R, et al. Normalization of cortical gray matter deficits in nonpsychotic siblings of patients with childhood-onset schizophrenia. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2011) 50:697–704. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2011. 03.016
- Zalesky A, Pantelis C, Cropley V, Fornito A, Cocchi L, McAdams H, et al. Delayed development of brain connectivity in adolescents with schizophrenia and their unaffected siblings. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2015) 72:900– 8. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.0226
- Greenstein D, Lenroot R, Clausen L, Chavez A, Vaituzis AC, Tran L, et al. Cerebellar development in childhood onset schizophrenia and non-psychotic siblings. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2011) 193:131–7. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2011.02.010
- Mattai A, Hosanagar A, Weisinger B, Greenstein D, Stidd R, Clasen L, et al. Hippocampal volume development in healthy siblings of childhood-onset schizophrenia patients. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2011) 168:427–35. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.10050681

- Brans RGH, Van Haren NEM, Van Baal GCM, Staal WG, Schnack HG, Kahn RS, et al. Longitudinal MRI study in schizophrenia patients and their healthy siblings. Br J Psychiatry. (2008) 193:422–3. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.107.041467
- Hedman AM, van Haren NEM, van Baal GCM, Brouwer RM, Brans RGH, Schnack HG, et al. Heritability of cortical thickness changes over time in twin pairs discordant for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 173:192–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.06.021
- Ziermans TB, Schothorst PF, Schnack HG, Koolschijn CMPP, Kahn RS, van Engeland H, et al. Progressive structural brain changes during development of psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:519–30. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbq113
- de Wit S, Wierenga LM, Oranje B, Ziermans TB, Schothorst PF, van Engeland H, et al. Brain development in adolescents at ultra-high risk for psychosis: longitudinal changes related to resilience. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2016) 12:542–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2016.08.013
- Lawrie SM, Whalley H, Abukmeil SS, Kestelman JN, Miller P, Best JJK, et al. Temporal lobe volume changes in people at high risk of schizophrenia with psychotic symptoms. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2002) 181:138–43. doi: 10.1017/S0007125000161860
- Job DE, Whalley HC, Johnstone EC, Lawrie SM. Grey matter changes over time in high risk subjects developing schizophrenia. *Neuroimage*. (2005) 25:1023–30. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.01.006
- Mcintosh AM, Owens DC, Moorhead WJ, Whalley HC, Stanfield AC, Hall J, et al. Longitudinal volume reductions in people at high genetic risk of schizophrenia as they develop psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2011) 69:953–8. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.11.003
- Bois C, Ronan L, Levita L, Whalley HC, Giles S, McIntosh AM, et al. Cortical surface area differentiates familial high risk individuals who go on to develop schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2015) 78:413–20. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.12.030
- 34. Bois C, Levita L, Ripp I, Owens DCG, Johnstone EC, Whalley HC, et al. Longitudinal changes in hippocampal volume in the Edinburgh High Risk Study of Schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 173:146–51. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.12.003
- Moorhead TWJ, Stanfield A, Spencer M, Hall J, McIntosh A, Owens DC, et al. Progressive temporal lobe grey matter loss in adolescents with schizotypal traits and mild intellectual impairment. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2009) 174:105–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2009.04.003
- McKechanie AG, Moorhead TWJ, Stanfield AC, Whalley HC, Johnstone EC, Lawrie SM, et al. Negative symptoms and longitudinal grey matter tissue loss in adolescents at risk of psychosis: preliminary findings from a 6-year followup study. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2016) 208:565–70. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.114.154526
- Walter A, Studerus E, Smieskova R, Tamagni C, Rapp C, Borgwardt SJ, et al. Pituitary gland volume in at-risk mental state for psychosis: a longitudinal MRI analysis. CNS Spectr. (2015) 20:122–9. doi: 10.1017/S109285291400011X
- Walter A, Studerus E, Smieskova R, Kuster P, Aston J, Lang UE, et al. Hippocampal volume in subjects at high risk of psychosis: a longitudinal MRI study. Schizophr Res. (2012) 142:217–22. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.10.013
- Borgwardt SJ, McGuire PK, Aston J, Gschwandtner U, Pflüger MO, Stieglitz RD, et al. Reductions in frontal, temporal and parietal volume associated with the onset of psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2008) 106:108–14. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.08.007
- Fusar-Poli P, Crossley N, Woolley J, Carletti F, Perez-Iglesias R, Broome M, et al. Gray matter alterations related to P300 abnormalities in subjects at high risk for psychosis: longitudinal MRI-EEG study. *Neuroimage*. (2011) 55:320–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.11.075
- Pantelis C, Velakoulis D, McGorry PD, Wood SJ, Suckling J, Phillips LJ, et al. Neuroanatomical abnormalities before and after onset of psychosis: a cross-sectional and longitudinal MRI comparison. *Lancet.* (2003) 361:281–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)12323-9
- Sun D, Phillips L, Velakoulis D, Yung A, McGorry PD, Wood SJ, et al. Progressive brain structural changes mapped as psychosis develops in "at risk" individuals. *Schizophr Res.* (2009) 108:85–92. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.11.026
- 43. Takahashi T, Wood SJ, Yung AR, Soulsby B, McGorry PD, Suzuki M, et al. Progressive gray matter reduction of the superior temporal gyrus during transition to psychosis. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2009) 66:366–76. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.12

- 44. Takahashi T, Wood SJ, Yung AR, Phillips LJ, Soulsby B, McGorry PD, et al. Insular cortex gray matter changes in individuals at ultrahigh-risk of developing psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2009) 111:94–102. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.03.024
- 45. Koutsouleris N, Gaser C, Bottlender R, Davatzikos C, Decker P, Jäger M, et al. Use of neuroanatomical pattern regression to predict the structural brain dynamics of vulnerability and transition to psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 123:175–87. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.08.032
- 46. Bhojraj TS, Sweeney JA, Prasad KM, Eack S, Rajarethinam R, Francis AN, et al. Progressive alterations of the auditory association areas in young non-psychotic offspring of schizophrenia patients. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2011) 45:205–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.05.018
- Bhojraj TS, Sweeney JA, Prasad KM, Eack SM, Francis AN, Miewald JM, et al. Gray matter loss in young relatives at risk for schizophrenia: relation with prodromal psychopathology. *Neuroimage*. (2011) 54(Suppl. 1):S272–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.04.257
- Prasad KM, Goradia D, Eack S, Rajagopalan M, Nutche J, Magge T, et al. Cortical surface characteristics among offspring of schizophrenia subjects. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 116:143–51. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.11.003
- Yu T, Jia T, Zhu L, Desrivières S, Macare C, Bi Y, et al. Cannabis-associated psychotic-like experiences are mediated by developmental changes in the Parahippocampal gyrus. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2020) 59:642–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2019.05.034
- Calvo A, Roddy DW, Coughlan H, Kelleher I, Healy C, Harley M, et al. Reduced hippocampal volume in adolescents with psychotic experiences: a longitudinal population-based study. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0233670. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0233670
- Sugranyes G, Solé-Padullés C, de la Serna E, Borras R, Romero S, Sanchez-Gistau V, et al. Cortical morphology characteristics of young offspring of patients with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2017) 56:79–88. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2016.09.516
- 52. Sugranyes G, de la Serna E, Ilzarbe D, Pariente JC, Borras R, Romero S, et al. Brain structural trajectories in youth at familial risk for schizophrenia or bipolar disorder according to development of psychosis spectrum symptoms. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry Allied Discip.* (2020) doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13321. [Epub ahead of print].
- Walterfang M, McGuire PK, Yung AR, Phillips LJ, Velakoulis D, Wood SJ, et al. White matter volume changes in people who develop psychosis. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2008) 193:210–5. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.107.043463
- Gogtay N, Hua X, Stidd R, Boyle CP, Lee S, Weisinger B, et al. Delayed white matter growth trajectory in young nonpsychotic siblings of patients with childhood-onset schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2012) 69:875–84. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.2084
- 55. Alloza C, Cox SR, Blesa Cábez M, Redmond P, Whalley HC, Ritchie SJ, et al. Polygenic risk score for schizophrenia and structural brain connectivity in older age: a longitudinal connectome and tractography study. *Neuroimage*. (2018) 183:884–96. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.08.075
- 56. Katagiri N, Pantelis C, Nemoto T, Tsujino N, Saito J, Hori M, et al. Symptom recovery and relationship to structure of corpus callosum in individuals with an 'at risk mental state.' *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2018) 272:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2017.11.016
- 57. Saito J, Hori M, Nemoto T, Katagiri N, Shimoji K, Ito S, et al. Longitudinal study examining abnormal white matter integrity using a tract-specific analysis in individuals with a high risk for psychosis. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2017) 71:530–41. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12515
- Katagiri N, Pantelis C, Nemoto T, Zalesky A, Hori M, Shimoji K, et al. A longitudinal study investigating sub-threshold symptoms and white matter changes in individuals with an "at risk mental state" (ARMS). *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 162:7–13. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.01.002
- Krakauer K, Nordentoft M, Glenthøj BY, Raghava JM, Nordholm D, Randers L, et al. White matter maturation during 12 months in individuals at ultra-high-risk for psychosis. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2018) 137:65–78. doi: 10.1111/acps.12835
- Bernard JA, Orr JM, Mittal VA. Abnormal hippocampal-thalamic white matter tract development and positive symptom course in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *NPJ Schizophr.* (2015) 1:15009. doi: 10.1038/npjschz.2015.9

- Mittal VA, Dean DJ, Bernard JA, Orr JM, Pelletier-Baldelli A, Carol EE, et al. Neurological soft signs predict abnormal cerebellar-thalamic tract development and negative symptoms in adolescents at high risk for psychosis: a longitudinal perspective. *Schizophr Bull.* (2014) 40:1204–15. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt199
- Bernard JA, Orr JM, Mittal VA. Cerebello-thalamo-cortical networks predict positive symptom progression in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2017) 14:622–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2017.03.001
- 63. Domen P, Peeters S, Michielse S, Gronenschild E, Viechtbauer W, Roebroeck A, et al. Differential time course of microstructural white matter in patients with psychotic disorder and individuals at risk: a 3-year follow-up study. *Schizophr Bull.* (2017) 43:160–70. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw061
- Carletti F, Woolley JB, Bhattacharyya S, Perez-Iglesias R, Fusar Poli P, Valmaggia L, et al. Alterations in white matter evident before the onset of psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:1170–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs053
- Roalf DR, de la Garza AG, Rosen A, Calkins ME, Moore TM, Quarmley M, et al. Alterations in white matter microstructure in individuals at persistent risk for psychosis. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2019) 25:2441–54. doi: 10.1038/s41380-019-0360-1
- Paus T. Mapping brain maturation and cognitive development during adolescence. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2005) 9:60–8. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2004.12.008
- Gogtay N, Giedd JN, Lusk L, Hayashi KM, Greenstein D, Vaituzis AC, et al. Dynamic mapping of human cortical development during childhood through early adulthood. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2004) 101:8174–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0402680101
- Giedd JN. Structural magnetic resonance imaging of the adolescent brain. *Ann* N Y Acad Sci. (2004) 1021:77–85. doi: 10.1196/annals.1308.009
- Hulshoff Pol HE, Kahn RS. What happens after the first episode? A review of progressive brain changes in chronically ill patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2008) 34:354–66. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm168
- van Erp TGM, Walton E, Hibar DP, Schmaal L, Jiang W, Glahn DC, et al. Cortical brain abnormalities in 4474 individuals with schizophrenia and 5098 control subjects via the enhancing neuro imaging genetics through meta analysis (ENIGMA) consortium. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2018) 84:644–54. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.04.023
- Shaw P, Greenstein D, Lerch J, Clasen L, Lenroot R, Gogtay N, et al. Intellectual ability and cortical development in children and adolescents. *Nature*. (2006) 440:676–9. doi: 10.1038/nature04513
- Gochman PA, Greenstein D, Sporn A, Gogtay N, Nicolson R, Keller A, et al. Childhood onset schizophrenia: familial neurocognitive measures. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 71:43–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.01.012
- Schmidt A, Cappucciati M, Radua J, Rutigliano G, Rocchetti M, Dell'Osso L, et al. Improving prognostic accuracy in subjects at clinical high risk for psychosis: systematic review of predictive models and metaanalytical sequential testing simulation. *Schizophr Bull.* (2017) 43:375–88. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw098

- Koutsouleris N, Davatzikos C, Borgwardt S, Gaser C, Bottlender R, Frodl T, et al. Accelerated brain aging in schizophrenia and beyond: a neuroanatomical marker of psychiatric disorders. *Schizophr Bull.* (2014) 40:1140–53. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt142
- Kochunov P, Hong LE. Neurodevelopmental and neurodegenerative models of schizophrenia: white matter at the center stage. *Schizophr Bull.* (2014) 40:721–8. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu070
- 76. Kelly S, Jahanshad N, Zalesky A, Kochunov P, Agartz I, Alloza C, et al. Widespread white matter microstructural differences in schizophrenia across 4322 individuals: results from the ENIGMA Schizophrenia DTI Working Group. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2018) 23:1261–9. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.170
- Westlye LT, Walhovd KB, Dale AM, Bjornerud A, Due-Tonnessen P, Engvig A, et al. Life-span changes of the human brain white matter: diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) and volumetry. *Cereb Cortex*. (2010) 20:2055–68. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhp280
- 78. Bao Y, Wang Y, Wang W, Wang Y. The superior fronto-occipital fasciculus in the human brain revealed by diffusion spectrum imaging tractography: an anatomical reality or a methodological artifact? *Front Neuroanat.* (2017) 11:119. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2017.00119
- Meola A, Comert A, Yeh FC, Stefaneanu L, Fernandez-Miranda JC. The controversial existence of the human superior fronto-occipital fasciculus: connectome-based tractographic study with microdissection validation. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2015) 36:4964–71. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22990
- Liu X, Kinoshita M, Shinohara H, Hori O, Ozaki N, Nakada M. Does the superior fronto-occipital fascicle exist in the human brain? Fiber dissection and brain functional mapping in 90 patients with gliomas. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2020) 25:102192. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2020.102192
- Novikov DS, Fieremans E, Jespersen SN, Kiselev VG. Quantifying brain microstructure with diffusion MRI: theory and parameter estimation. NMR Biomed. (2019) 32:3998. doi: 10.1002/nbm.3998
- Fusar-Poli P, Smieskova R, Kempton MJ, Ho BC, Andreasen NC, Borgwardt S. Progressive brain changes in schizophrenia related to antipsychotic treatment? A meta-analysis of longitudinal MRI studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2013) 37:1680–91. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.06.001

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Merritt, Luque Laguna, Irfan and David. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Hyperactivation of Posterior Default Mode Network During Self-Referential Processing in Children at Familial High-Risk for Psychosis

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

Edited by:

Antonio Vita, University of Brescia, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Michael W. Best, University of Toronto Scarborough, Canada Pilar Salgado-Pineda, FIDMAG Hermanas Hospitalarias Research Foundation, Spain

#### \*Correspondence:

Guusje Collin gcollin@mit.edu; g.collin@umcutrecht.nl

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 01 October 2020 Accepted: 04 January 2021 Published: 09 February 2021

#### Citation:

Collin G, Bauer CCC, Anteraper SA, Gabrieli JDE, Molokotos E, Mesholam-Gately R, Thermenos HW, Seidman LJ, Keshavan MS, Shenton ME and Whitfield-Gabrieli S (2021) Hyperactivation of Posterior Default Mode Network During Self-Referential Processing in Children at Familial High-Risk for Psychosis. Front. Psychiatry 12:613142. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.613142 Guusje Collin<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, Clemens C. C. Bauer<sup>1,4</sup>, Sheeba Arnold Anteraper<sup>1,4</sup>, John D. E. Gabrieli<sup>1</sup>, Elena Molokotos<sup>5</sup>, Raquelle Mesholam-Gately<sup>2</sup>, Heidi W. Thermenos<sup>2</sup>, Larry J. Seidman<sup>2</sup>, Matcheri S. Keshavan<sup>2</sup>, Martha E. Shenton<sup>6†</sup> and Susan Whitfield-Gabrieli<sup>1,4†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Brain and Cognitive Sciences, McGovern Institute for Brain Research, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychiatry, University Medical Center Utrecht Brain Center, Utrecht, Netherlands, <sup>4</sup> Department of Psychology, Northeastern University, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Psychology, Suffolk University, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>6</sup> Psychiatry Neuroimaging Laboratory, Department of Psychiatry, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

Patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders show disturbances in self-referential processing and associated neural circuits including the default mode network (DMN). These disturbances may precede the onset of psychosis and may underlie early social and emotional problems. In this study, we examined self-referential processing in a group of children (7–12 years) at familial high risk (FHR) for psychosis (N = 17), compared to an age and sex-matched group of healthy control (HC) children (N = 20). The participants were presented with a list of adjectives and asked to indicate whether or not the adjectives described them (self-reference condition) and whether the adjectives described a good or bad trait (semantic condition). Three participants were excluded due to chance-level performance on the semantic task, leaving N = 15 FHR and N = 19HC for final analysis. Functional MRI (fMRI) was used to measure brain activation during self-referential vs. semantic processing. Internalizing and externalizing problems were assessed with the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL). Evaluating main effects of task (self > semantic) showed activation of medial prefrontal cortex in HC and precuneus/posterior cingulate cortex (PCC) in FHR. Group-comparison yielded significant results for the FHR > HC contrast, showing two clusters of hyperactivation in precuneus/ PCC (p = 0.004) and anterior cerebellum / temporo-occipital cortex (p = 0.009). Greater precuneus/PCC activation was found to correlate with greater CBCL internalizing (r = 0.60, p = 0.032) and total (r = 0.69, p = 0.009) problems. In all, this study shows hyperactivity of posterior DMN during self-referential processing in pre-adolescent FHR children. This

finding posits DMN-related disturbances in self-processing as a developmental brain abnormality associated with familial risk factors that predates not just psychosis, but also the prodromal stage. Moreover, our results suggest that early disturbances in self-referential processing may be related to internalizing problems in at-risk children.

Keywords: schizophrenia, self-referential processing, default mode network, familial high-risk, psychosis

## INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia spectrum disorders are widely considered to be disorders of brain development, even though their most characteristics symptoms do not appear until the first manifestation of psychosis, typically in adolescence or early adulthood (1, 2). The neurodevelopmental model of schizophrenia accounts for observations that children who have an increased risk to develop psychosis show delays in neuromotor, language, and cognitive development and socioemotional problems (3, 4). These findings suggest that psychosis may be the end result of abnormal neurodevelopmental processes that start years before illness onset (5).

There are various theories as to why psychotic symptoms take so long to manifest when the underlying etiology is likely neurodevelopmental in nature. On such theory is the "two-hit" hypothesis, which posits that early genetic and environmental risk factors may disrupt certain aspects of brain development, but only to the extent that they render an individual vulnerable to a "second hit." This second hit, such as exposure to trauma or substance abuse, would then be the catalyst for the actual manifestation of the illness (6). Another theory is that early, subtle, deficits in brain development may progress beyond a threshold critical for the expression of psychotic symptoms as a function of otherwise normal neuro-maturational events (7). For example, early dendritic spine deficits may be aggravated by (in itself normal) synaptic pruning in adolescence and only then become detrimental to brain and cognitive functioning.

To clarify the developmental trajectory leading up to the manifestation of psychosis, we need to understand the timing of brain and socio-cognitive abnormalities that have been observed in patients with established illness. One consistent finding in schizophrenia is that patients show disturbances in self-related processing, which have been attributed to abnormal processing of the default-mode network (DMN) and related structures (8-11). The DMN comprises medial prefrontal cortex (MPFC), precuneus/posterior cingulate cortex (PCC), and lateral parietal cortex and the cortical midline sections in particular-i.e., MFPC and precuneus/PCC-are thought to be involved in internally focused processes (12, 13). Disturbances in self-referential processing have been linked to delusions, hallucinations, poor insight, and social deficits (14) and have been hypothesized to "represent an early, premorbid (i.e., pre-prodromal) indicator of schizophrenia risk that results from abnormalities of the structure and function of the neural circuitry of self" (14). However, there are few neuroimaging studies in pre-adolescent FHR children, and none that have directly studied neuroimaging correlates of self-referential processing.

To address this knowledge gap, we investigated a group of children between 7 and 12 years of age who are at Familial High Risk (FHR) for psychosis because they have a parent or sibling affected by psychotic illness. A data-driven analysis of resting-state functional MRI (fMRI) in this sample revealed abnormal functional connectivity of posterior superior temporal gyrus with a set of language and DMN-associated brain regions (15). In the current study, we studied brain activation during self-referential processing using a commonly used fMRI self-reference paradigm that was adapted to meet the developmental level of children in this age range. Based on theoretical accounts of self-referential processing as a premorbid indicator of schizophrenia (referenced above) and previous findings of DMN abnormalities in unaffected relatives of patients with schizophrenia (16, 17), we hypothesized to find hyperactivity of DMN midline regions during self-referential processing in FHR children relative to HC. If the current study confirms this hypothesis, it would confer important new information about the timing of DMN changes in psychotic illness development.

Moreover, as FHR children show elevated levels of behavioral problems (18, 19), we set out to assess putative disturbances in self-related processing for associations with behavioral data. Childhood behavioral problems are generally classified into two broad categories: internalizing and externalizing problems (20). Disturbances in self-referential processing may relate specifically to internalizing problems. For example, excessive worrying or rumination has been related to negative self-referential processing and a heightened focus on negative emotional states, in association with activation of core DMN regions (21, 22). Moreover, specific behavioral problems, including withdrawn behavior and thought problems, have been associated with increased risk for developing psychosis (23, 24). This association may also be mediated by self-processing deficits, as difficulties in distinguishing self-relevant from self-irrelevant information may render the perception of neutral environmental stimuli as abnormally salient and thereby contribute to the development of psychosis (-like) symptoms (25). Therefore, we aimed to investigate how putative disturbances in selfrelated processing relate to childhood behavioral indicators of future psychopathology.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Participants**

A total of 37 children, ages 7–12 years, participated in this study. Our sample included 17 FHR children and 20 age/sex-matched healthy control (HC) children. Three children (two FHR, one

HC) showed chance-level performance on the behavioral task (see behavioral data analysis for details) and were therefore excluded from further analysis. The remaining 15 FHR had at least one first-degree relative affected by psychotic illness (see Table 1 for details) and originated from a total of 10 families, including three sibling pairs and one set of three siblings. The remaining 19 HC originated from 16 families and included three sibling pairs. Exclusion criteria for HC included a family history of psychosis or bipolar disorder in first-degree relatives, personal lifetime history of a major mental disorder, and a lifetime history of antipsychotic treatment. Exclusion criteria for FHR participants included current or recent use (within the last 30 days) of anti-psychotic medication. Current or recent use (defined as within four half-lives of the concerned medication) of any other psychotropic medication was an exclusion criterion for all participants. Intellectual disability (i.e., IQ < 70) was also an exclusion criterion for both groups. Participants were recruited at the Department of

	FHR (N = 15)	HC (N = 19)	Statistics
Age in years, mean (sd) [range]	9.6 (2.0) [7.0 – 12.4]	9.3 (1.7) [7.2 – 12.2]	$F_{(1,33)} = 0.3, p = 0.572$
Sex, M/F	5 / 10	9 / 10	$\chi^2 = 0.7, \rho = 0.409$
WISC IQ, mean (sd) [range]	102.9 (15.0) [73 – 132]	111.5 (17.0) [81 – 153]	$F_{(1,33)} = 2.5, p = 0.126$
DSM-diagnosis			$\chi^2 = 9.4, p = 0.025$
ADHD	4	0	
ADHD/ODD	2	0	
No diagnosis	6	14	
Data missing	3	5	
CBCL scores			
Internalizing problems, mean (sd) [range] <sup>a,b</sup>	6.9 (8.6) [0 – 33]	1.8 (2.5) [0 – 10]	$F_{(1,32)} = 6.0, p = 0.020$
Externalizing problems, mean (sd) [range] <sup>a,b</sup>	8.1 (8.6) [0 – 34]	1.7 (4.1) [0 – 18]	$F_{(1,32)} = 6.9, p = 0.013$
Total problems, mean (sd) [range] <sup>a,b</sup>	31.7 (29.4) [2 – 119]	8.8 (12.1) [0 – 54]	$F_{(1,32)} = 9.5, \rho = 0.004$
Affected relative, parent / sibling	10/5	N/A	
Diagnosis proband, SCZ / SA / other	8/5/2	N/A	
Motion, scrubbed volumes (%) across 2 runs, mean (sd) [range]	7.2 (3.6) [1.7 – 15.5]	. ,	$F_{(1,33)} = 0.0, p = 0.993$

Statistical comparisons were performed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) for continuous and chi-squared tests for categorical variables.

<sup>a</sup>Data missing for one participant.

<sup>b</sup>There was one major outlier in Childhood Behavior Checklist (CBCL) scores (i.e., all > 3 sd above the mean) (**Supplementary Figure 1**). Group-effects were highly similar if this participant was excluded (all  $p \le 0.02$ ).

ADHD, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder; ODD, oppositional defiant disorder.

Psychiatry of Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center (BIDMC) in Boston. BIDMC's Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved the study. Parental consent to participate in the study was obtained for all participants, and the participants themselves provided assent.

## **Clinical Evaluation**

#### Clinical Assessment

All HC and FHR participants were assessed for current psychiatric disorders using the SCID for Childhood Diagnoses (Kid-SCID) (26). Clinical diagnoses of affected family members of FHR participants were confirmed using the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV (SCID) (27), combined with an evaluation of their medical history and interviewing at least one informant, and determined in consensus during meetings attended by senior clinicians (LJS, MSK, RMG).

#### **Cognitive Assessment**

Overall IQ was estimated using subtests from all four domains of the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children-IV (WISC-IV) (28).

#### **Behavioral Assessment**

Behavioral problems were assessed using the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL) (29). The CBCL includes eight subscales (anxious/depressed, withdrawn, somatic complaints, social problems, thought problems, attention problems, rule breaking, and aggressive behaviors) and two broadband domains: internalizing problems (consisting of withdrawn, somatic complaints, and anxious/depressed subscales) and externalizing problems (consisting of rule breaking and aggressive behavior scales).

Demographic, clinical, cognitive, and behavioral variables are summarized in **Table 1**.

## fMRI Self-Reference Task

To assess self-referential processing, participants performed a self-reference task during fMRI, in which they were presented with two lists of 24 adjectives, describing positive (e.g., friendly, honest) and negative (e.g., boring, rude) traits. The lists were presented in six blocks of 4 words each, alternating between a semantic and a self-reference condition. The average number of letters and syllables per word was similar between valences and across the lists.

### Semantic Condition

In the semantic condition, participants were asked to determine for each presented word, whether it described a good or bad trait, using a two-alternative forced-choice button press ("good" or "bad").

### Self-Reference Condition

In the self-reference condition, participants were asked to determine for each presented word whether it described them or not, using a two-alternative forced-choice button press ("me" or "not me").

# Behavioral Data Analysis

#### Semantic Condition

Semantic performance, measured as the percentage of correct responses during the semantic condition, was assessed for each participant to gauge task engagement and performance. Three participants (i.e., one HC and two FHR, mean age of 8.1 years) were found to perform around chance-level, responding correctly to an average (sd) [range] of 58.3% (4.2%) [54.2–62.5%] of semantic stimuli, and were excluded from further analysis.

### Self-Reference Condition

For each participant, the percentage of semantically good and bad adjectives associated with "me" were computed as a measure of positive and negative self-appraisal, respectively.

### **Statistical Analysis**

Semantic performance and positive and negative self-appraisal were compared between groups using Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) and assessed for correlations with clinical variables (i.e., CBCL scores and IQ) in each group separately.

## Imaging

## Image Acquisition

MRI scans were acquired on a Siemens Magnetom Trio 3T scanner, using a commercially available 32-channel radio frequency brain array coil (Siemens AG, Healthcare Sector, Erlangen, Germany). A single-shot gradient-echo sequence was used to collect task functional MRI (task-fMRI) data (88 functional volumes per run, TR = 2,000 ms, TE = 30 ms, 3 mm isotropic voxels, duration 2'56" per run). A 3-dimensional high-resolution T1-weighted structural scan was collected for anatomical localization (MPRAGE, TR = 2,530 ms, TE = 3.39 ms, inversion time = 1,100 ms, FA = 7°, voxel size 1.3 ×  $1 \times 1.3 \text{ mm}^3$ ).

### Image Preprocessing

Preprocessing of imaging data was performed with FSL Version 5.0.9 (FMRIB, Oxford, UK) (30) and included brain extraction using FSL's BET (Brain Extraction Tool) (31), normalization to MNI space, and motion correction using MCFLIRT (intramodal motion correction tool) (32). The remaining fMRI signals were spatially blurred with a 5 mm full-width-at-half-maximum (FWHM) Gaussian kernel. A subject-dependent number of individual nuisance regressors for removing outlier time points were created with FSL's Motion Outliers tool, which uses the spatial root mean square of the data after temporal differencing (DVARS) to identify intensity outliers, using the standard boxplot outlier threshold set in FSL. The threshold for exclusion was set at >20% of scans identified as outliers; none of the participants exceeded this threshold.

### fMRI Analysis and Experimental Design

Analysis of fMRI task-data was performed using FSL FEAT (FMRI Expert Analysis Tool) Version 6.00 (33). Brain activation for self-reference vs. semantic processing ("self-ref > semantic") was calculated separately for each run of each participant. To this end, first-level GLM analyses included two regressors modeling the self-reference and semantic condition per run.

These regressors were modeled as a boxcar function with values one, respectively, convolved with a single gamma hemodynamic response function. The global mean time series of each preprocessed run, six motion parameters, and the motion outliers were added to the GLM as nuisance regressors. The resulting individual contrast images were entered into a second level fixed-effects analysis including both runs for each participant. In third-level analysis, mixed effects Analysis of Variance tests were conducted to assess main effects of task and group (FHR > HC and HC > FHR) were conducted. Significant effects were followed up with post-hoc testing. All analyses were performed on a whole-brain level. Results are reported with Z-statistic (Gaussianised T/F) images thresholded using clusters determined by Z > 3 and a (corrected) cluster significance threshold of p = 0.01 (34, 35) after correcting for age and sex.

# **Associations With Clinical Measures**

Group-differences in brain activation during self-referential processing were assessed for correlations with clinical variables. To this end, signal intensity values from each participant's contrast parameter estimates for the significant clusters were extracted using Featquery (36) and assessed for correlations with CBCL scores and IQ. In addition, exploratory analyses were performed to assess correlations with CBCL subscale scores and associations with emotion regulation strategies measured with the Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (ERQ) (37, 38) were assessed in a *post-hoc* analysis.

# RESULTS

## **Group Characteristics**

Group-comparisons on demographic characteristics confirmed that the groups were well-matched for age and sex. Average IQ was almost nine points lower in FHR than HC, but this group-difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.13), possibly due to sample size. Approximately 40% of FHR had a DSM-diagnosis (mainly ADHD), while there were no DSM-diagnoses in the HC group ( $\chi^2 = 10.2$ , p = 0.02). FHR showed more internalizing, externalizing, and total problems on CBCL (all  $p \le 0.02$ ). See **Table 1** and **Supplementary Figure 1** for details.

## **Behavioral Results**

There were no significant group-differences in semantic performance or positive and negative self-appraisal (**Table 2**). In FHR, semantic performance and negative self-appraisal were associated with IQ, such that higher IQ was associated with better semantic performance (r = 0.63, p = 0.013) and lower negative self-appraisal (r = -0.59, p = 0.018) (**Supplementary Figure 2**).

### fMRI Results Main Effect of Task per Group

Assessing main effects of task in each group revealed activation clusters in bilateral MPFC/ACC in HC and precuneus/PCC in FHR (**Figure 1A**, **Table 3**).

#### **Group-Effects**

The FHR > HC contrast yielded two clusters of hyperactivation in FHR. The largest cluster was localized in right precuneus/PCC. A second cluster was found in bilateral anterior cerebellum and inferior temporo-occipital cortex, including parahippocampal and lingual gyrus (**Figure 1B**, **Table 3**). No significant clusters were found for the HC > FHR contrast.

#### Validation Analyses

To ensure that effects were not driven by familial ties within subject groups, group-effects were reassessed in a subset including only unrelated individuals (N = 26, including 10 FHR and 16 HC), which confirmed increased activation in FHR vs. HC for both the precuneus/PCC (p = 0.003) and cerebellar (p = 0.019) cluster (see **Supplementary Materials** and **Supplementary Figure 3** for details). In addition, to ascertain that the current results were not driven by the preponderance of ADHD diagnoses in the FHR group, we compared cluster

TABLE 2 | Behavioral results.

	FHR ( <i>N</i> = 15)	HC (N = 19)	Statistics
Semantic condition			
Semantic performance (%)	89.1 (9.9) [66.7 – 100]	89.7 (7.8) [70.8 – 100]	$F_{(1,33)} = 0.0, p = 0.864$
Self-reference condition			
Positive self-appraisal (%)	87.6 (12.1) [66.7 – 100]	89.7 (9.8) [66.7 – 100]	$F_{(1,33)} = 0.3, p = 0.565$
Negative self-appraisal (%)	20.0 (15.5) [0 – 58.3]	18.7 (19.0) [0 – 66.7]	$F_{(1,33)} = 0.0, p = 0.829$

Semantic performance, measured as the percentage of correct responses during the semantic condition, and positive- and negative self-appraisal, measured as the percentage of semantically good and bad adjectives associated with "me," per subject group.

activation levels between FHR with and without an ADHD diagnosis, and between each of these groups and HC, which confirmed that the current results were not accounted for by psychiatric diagnosis (see **Supplementary Materials** including **Supplementary Figure 4**).

### Characterization of Cerebellar Cluster

The cerebellar section of the second cluster was projected onto a cerebellar flat map (39) (**Figure 2A**) and compared to a functional atlas (**Figure 2B**), which showed that the cerebellar cluster spans areas related to left/right hand presses and active maintenance/verbal fluency.

## Associations With Clinical Measures

Activation in the precuneus/PCC cluster was associated with CBCL internalizing and total problems in FHR, such that higher activation was associated with increased internalizing (r = 0.60, p = 0.032) and total (r = 0.69, p = 0.009) problems (**Figures 3A,B**). The cerebellar cluster did not show significant behavioral associations. IQ was not associated with activation in either cluster. Neither cluster showed an association with motion (both p > 0.38).

#### **Exploratory Analysis**

Given the association between precuneus/PCC activation and CBCL total problems, exploratory analyses were performed to assess correlations with CBCL subscale scores. These analyses showed associations with CBCL thought problems (r = 0.91, p < 0.001), social problems (r = 0.70, p = 0.005), and withdrawn (r = 0.66, p = 0.011) subscales (**Supplementary Materials**, **Supplementary Figure 5**).

#### Post-hoc Analysis

Following the observation that activation in the right precuneus/PCC cluster was associated with internalizing problems, a *post-hoc* analysis was performed to test for



**FIGURE 1** | Main effects of task and group on brain activation. (A) Mean activation during self-referential processing (self-reference > semantic) per group. MNI coordinates for HC: x = -4, y = -68, x = 28, consistent with MPFC/ACC; for FHR: x = -4, y = 48, z = 10, consistent with precuneus/PCC. (B) Significant clusters in the FHR > HC contrast. MNI coordinates for cluster 1: x = 16, y = -64, z = 22, consistent with right precuneus/PCC; cluster 2: x = -10, y = -44, z = 22, consistent with anterior cerebellum/parahippocampal gyrus/lingual gyrus. Significant clusters are overlaid on the MNI template brain. Bar charts depict mean (sd) activation per group.

#### TABLE 3 | Neural activation during self-referential processing.

Brain regions	Side	BA		MNI		Voxels (No.)	Z-max	P-value
			x	У	z			
нс								
MPFC / ACC	L/R	9, 10, 24, 32	-4	36	-8	691	4.18	<0.0001
FHR								
Precuneus / PCC	L/R	23, 29, 31	-6	-62	32	1,608	5.34	<0.0001
FHR > HC								
Precuneus / PCC	R	31	16	-40	26	378	4.37	0.004
Anterior cerebellum /	L/R	I-V <sup>a</sup>	-20	-34	-8	319	4.06	0.009
Parahippocampal gyrus /		27, 35						
Lingual gyrus		19						

Activation clusters for self-reference > semantic processing, showing main effect of task for HC and FHR groups, and for the FHR > HC group-contrast. No significant clusters were detected for the HC > FHR contrast.

MNI, Montreal Neurological Institute; BA, Brodmann area.

<sup>a</sup> For cerebellar regions, we list lobules rather than BA area.



associations with emotion regulation strategies. A significant correlation was observed between precuneus/PCC activation and ERQ reappraisal in FHR, such that more frequent use of cognitive reappraisal as a strategy for emotion regulation was associated with less prominent hyperactivation of precuneus/PCC (r = -0.66, p = 0.008; Figure 3C).

## DISCUSSION

In this study, we examined functional brain activation related to self-referential processing in children with a familial risk for psychosis. While making judgments on whether or not a list of adjectives described them, in contrast to making a semantic evaluation on whether the words described a good or bad trait, FHR children were found to show hyperactivation of posterior DMN regions including precuneus/PCC as compared to a group of age- and sex-matched HC children. This finding suggests that DMN hyperactivation, as has been observed in adult patients with schizophrenia, dates back at least to middle to late childhood, and thus predates the manifestation of the illness by many years.

The current results are highly consistent with previous literature showing a pattern of anterior DMN (MPFC) hypoactivation and posterior DMN (precuneus/PCC) hyperactivation during self-related processing in (adult) patients with schizophrenia (8–10, 16, 40, 41) and their unaffected relatives (16, 17). Replicating these findings in FHR children confirms and extends these earlier results by showing that DMN-related abnormalities are present in children with a familial risk for psychosis, years before the typical age of onset. Given the young age of our sample, our results indicate that DMN changes also predate adolescence and the maturational



**FIGURE 3** Associations with CBCL scores. Scatter plots showing associations between activation in right precuneus/PCC cluster and CBCL internalizing (A) and total (B) problem scores, and ERQ cognitive reappraisal (C) in FHR. The major CBCL outlier (**Supplementary Figure 1**) was omitted from the correlation analysis with CBCL scores. Including this participant yielded similar but less significant correlations (i.e., r = 0.50, p = 0.072 and r = 0.56, p = 0.039 for internalizing and total problems, respectively).

brain changes that take place during this developmental epoch. Taken together, our findings thus support hypotheses that abnormal DMN-related self-referential processing is a developmental brain abnormality associated with familial risk for psychosis.

Dissimilar results have also been reported by studies investigating self-referential processing in psychotic illness. For example, van der Meer et al. reported precuneus/PCC *hypo*activation for a self-vs.-baseline contrast in schizophrenia patients (42) and Zhang et al. found similarly located hypoactivations in bipolar disorder patients, with schizophrenia patients showing an intermediate effect (43). Other regions, including the left inferior temporal gyrus, bilateral temporal poles (44), and left lateral frontal cortex (45) have also been implicated. These divergent results may relate to differences in experimental paradigms including baseline conditions (42). In particular, the studies referenced here used either non-valenced statements of general knowledge or a lexical control condition rather than positive vs. negative semantic evaluations as used in e.g., Holt et al. (9) and our current study.

Another important finding of the current study is that hyperactivation of precuneus/PCC in FHR was found to correlate with CBCL internalizing and total problems. This finding is of interest as internalizing problems-e.g., feeling anxious, sad, self-conscious, worrying about the future, and ruminationhave been linked to maladaptive (excessive) self-focus and aberrant activity in self-referential brain circuits (46, 47). Clinical staging models of psychotic illness development emphasize that internalizing problems in childhood, followed by depressive symptoms in adolescence, may be the antecedents of later psychopathology ranging from major depression to bipolar disorder and schizophrenia (48, 49). Moreover, exploratory correlational analyses with CBCL subscale scores showed that precuneus/PCC hyperactivation may be associated with thought problems, social problems, and withdrawn behavior. The associations with the thought problems and withdrawn subscales specifically suggest that the observed hyperactivity in posterior DMN may be related to ruminative thinking or basic self-disturbances. In light of the aforementioned studies noting the clinical utility of CBCL thought problems and withdrawn subscales as an adjunctive risk screening measure to aid in early detection of at-risk youth (23, 24), these findings suggest that FHR children who are characterized by more severe internalizing and thought problems and more pronounced hyperactivity of posterior DMN may be at greater risk to develop an affective or non-affective psychotic disorder.

This finding is important as it offers opportunities for early intervention. Mindfulness meditation, for example, has been shown to reduce internalizing symptoms, presumably by promoting a shift from narrative self-focus to present-centered experiential awareness [for review, see (21)]. These changes have been linked to modulations of hyperactive self-referential brain systems (50-52). Consistent with the premise that clinical staging models may improve the logic and timing of interventions in psychiatry (53), using mindfulness-meditation or a similar intervention to address internalizing problems and self-related neural processing deficits in high-risk children may prevent or delay progression to later stages of disorder. Importantly, studies have shown that mindfulness training is both feasible in school-aged children and effective in modulating stress and associated neural systems (54). Moreover, emerging evidence suggests that mindfulness training augmented with real-time fMRI neurofeedback to modulate DMN activity may be effective in reducing symptoms in established psychotic illness (55).

To follow up on the observed association between precuneus/PCC activation and internalizing symptoms, we assessed potential correlations with emotion-regulation strategies. Two strategies that are measured with the ERQ were tested: expressive suppression and cognitive reappraisal. Expressive suppression is the process of inhibiting ongoing emotion-expressive behavior; e.g., holding back tears when feeling sad in public. In contrast, cognitive reappraisal is construing a potentially emotion-eliciting situation in a way that changes its emotional impact. For example, viewing a job interview as an opportunity to find out how well a job would fit their person and vice versa, rather than as a test of one's worth. Out of the two, reappraisal has been found to have a more positive influence on affect, relationships, and well-being, and is viewed as the more adaptive emotion regulation strategy (37, 56). Interestingly, FHR children who endorsed using this strategy more habitually were found to show less precuneus/PCC hyperactivation, consistent with studies showing that overactive self-referential processing may impair top-down emotion regulation (21, 57). Furthermore, the association with cognitive reappraisal may be construed as further evidence that (cognitive) modulation of self-referential brain systems is both possible and potentially beneficial to at-risk individuals.

In addition to the precuneus/PCC cluster, FHR children also showed hyperactivation of a cluster encompassing anterior cerebellum and parahippocampal gyrus. High-risk studies have noted that hyperactivity (58, 59) and volume reductions (60-63) of the parahippocampal cortex predate the onset of psychosis and are most pronounced in at-risk youth who go on to develop full psychosis. Evidence on cerebellar abnormalities predating psychosis is scarce but includes evidence for volume reductions of the anterior cerebellum in high-risk youth (64). Moreover, data from patients with schizophrenia is consistent with hyperactivity and hyperconnectivity of the anterior cerebellum (65, 66). Our current finding of anterior cerebellum / parahippocampal hyperactivity in pre-adolescent FHR children suggests that similar changes observed in patients and highrisk youth predate not just psychosis but also the onset of prodromal symptoms.

This study has a number of limitations to consider when interpreting the current results. The first and main limitation is our sample size, which may have reduced our ability to detect more subtle group-differences. Recruiting children in this age range who have a parent or sibling with a psychotic disorder is difficult, as patients affected by psychosis are less likely to have children (67) and considering the destabilizing effects that psychosis can have on families, especially if it affects (one of) the parents. In addition, as psychotic disorders tend to manifest in late teens or early twenties, most people who are diagnosed with schizophrenia no longer have siblings in the 7-12 years range. As a result, recruiting such a young sample of children with a parent or sibling affected by psychosis is highly challenging and we believe that our data and findings are thus a valuable resource to advance our understanding of trajectories of brain abnormalities in early schizophrenia. Moreover, we note that despite our modest sample size, we found robust effects that survived conservative voxel- and cluster-level thresholds (35). Second, our subject groups were not matched on current DSM diagnosis as 40% of the FHR children had a diagnosis of ADHD with or without co-morbid ODD, while none of the HC children had a DSM-diagnosis. However, it is important to appreciate that childhood developmental disorders are common in FHR individuals and may be linked to (genetic) risk factors for schizophrenia (68). As such, including only FHR without any DSM-diagnoses is likely to produce an overly healthy

subset of FHR that may exclude much of the important risk signal. Moreover, direct comparison of FHR with and without current DSM diagnoses did not show group-effects. Third, our processing involved spatial normalization to a standard adult template rather than an age-specific template. The use of age-appropriate templates for normalization is thought to be particularly important in children under 6 years of age (69), but has been shown to improve results in older children as well (70, 71). Important advantages of using age-appropriate templates include reduced individual variation and thus greater statistical power to detect group-differences (71). Although we do not assume that the impact of spatial normalization procedures would affect our groups differentially, we note that the lack of age-specific templates signifies a limitation to our study. Fourth, our results are inherently limited by known confounds of fMRI, including head motion and cardio-respiratory influences. We dealt with these issues to current standards and found no groupdifferences in motion parameters, but we cannot exclude the possibility that motion and physiological influences impacted our results. Finally, the inclusion of siblings in each subject group may have inflated group-effects. However, reassessing the main findings in a subset of only unrelated individuals confirmed our main results.

In summary, the results of this study in a unique sample of FHR children between 7 and 12 years of age suggest that hyperactivity of posterior DMN during self-referential processing develops many years before the typical manifestation of psychosis in association with familial (possibly reflecting genetic) risk factors. Moreover, our study links aberrant self-referential processing to increased levels of internalizing problems and less frequent use of cognitive reappraisal for emotion regulation. These findings have implications for our understanding of the developmental timeline of DMN abnormalities in schizophrenia spectrum disorders and may inform strategies for early intervention: aiming to reduce internalizing problems by modulating DMN-related self-referential processing in the early premorbid stage.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: the raw data from this study is not publicly available because participants did not agree for their data to be shared publicly. De-identified processed data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author, upon reasonable request. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to gcollin@mit.edu.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

This study involved human participants and was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center (BIDMC), Boston, MA, USA. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' parents/legal guardians and participants provided assent to participate in the study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LS, MK, JG, HT, and SW-G contributed to conception and design of the study, and the acquisition of funding. EM, RM-G, and HT contributed to data acquisition. LS, RM-G, and MK led clinical consensus meetings. GC and CB performed the statistical analysis. GC wrote the first draft of the manuscript. CB wrote sections of the manuscript. SA contributed to the cerebellar analyses. GC, CB, SA, MS, and SW-G contributed to data interpretation. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

#### REFERENCES

- Hare E, Glahn DC, Dassori A, Raventos H, Nicolini H, Ontiveros A, et al. Heritability of age of onset of psychosis in schizophrenia. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet.* (2009) 153B:298–302. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.b. 30959
- Schimmelmann BG, Conus P, Cotton S, McGorry PD, Lambert M. Pretreatment, baseline, and outcome differences between early-onset and adultonset psychosis in an epidemiological cohort of 636 first-episode patients. *Schizophr Res.* (2007) 95:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.06.004
- Liu CH, Keshavan MS, Tronick E, Seidman LJ. Perinatal risks and childhood premorbid indicators of later psychosis: next steps for early psychosocial interventions. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41:801–16. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv047
- Collin G, Keshavan M. Connectome development and a novel extension to the neurodevelopmental model of schizophrenia. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* (2018) 20:101–11. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2018.20.2/gcollin
- Rapoport J, Giedd J, Gogtay N. Neurodevelopmental model of schizophrenia: update 2012. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2012) 17:1228–38. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.23
- Maynard TM, Sikich L, Lieberman JA, LaMantia AS. Neural development, cell-cell signaling, and the "two-hit" hypothesis of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2001) 27:457–76. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a006887
- Cannon TD. How schizophrenia develops: cognitive and brain mechanisms underlying onset of psychosis. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2015) 19:744–56. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2015.09.009
- Blackwood N, Bentall R, Simmons A, Murray R, Howard R. Persecutory delusions and the determination of self-relevance: an fMRI investigation. *Psychol M.* (2004) 34:591–6. doi: 10.1017/S0033291703008997
- Holt DJ, Cassidy BS, Andrews-Hanna JR, Lee SM, Coombs G, Goff DC, et al. An anterior-to-posterior shift in midline cortical activity in schizophrenia during self-reflection. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2011) 69:415–23. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.10.003
- Shad MU, Keshavan MS, Steinberg JL, Mihalakos P, Thomas BP, Motes MA, et al. Neurobiology of self-awareness in schizophrenia: an fMRI study. *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 138:113–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.03.016
- Murphy ER, Brent BK, Benton M, Pruitt P, Diwadkar V, Rajarethinam RP, et al. Differential processing of metacognitive evaluation and the neural circuitry of the self and others in schizophrenia: a pilot study. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 116:252–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.11.009
- Raichle ME, MacLeod AM, Snyder AZ, Powers WJ, Gusnard DA, Shulman GL. A default mode of brain function. *PNAS.* (2001) 98:676–82. doi: 10.1073/pnas.98.2.676
- Buckner RL, Andrews-Hanna JR, Schacter DL. The brain's default network

   anatomy, function, and relevance to disease. Ann NY Acad Sci. (2008) 1124:1–38. doi: 10.1196/annals.1440.011
- Brent BK, Seidman LJ, Thermenos HW, Holt DJ, Keshavan MS. Selfdisturbances as a possible premorbid indicator of schizophrenia risk: a neurodevelopmental perspective. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 152:73–80. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.07.038
- 15. Arnold Anteraper S, Collin G, Guell X, Scheinert T, Molokotos E, Toft Henriksen M, et al. Altered resting-state functional connectivity in young

### **FUNDING**

This work was supported by the National Institute of Mental Health (R21 MH 092840) and the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Sklodowska-Curie grant agreement No. 749201.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.613142/full#supplementary-material

children at familial high risk for psychotic illness: a preliminary study. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) 216:496–503. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.09.006

- Whitfield-Gabrieli S, Thermenos HW, Milanovic S, Tsuang MT, Faraone SV, McCarley RW, et al. Hyperactivity and hyperconnectivity of the default network in schizophrenia and in first-degree relatives of persons with schizophrenia. *PNAS*. (2009) 106:1279–84. doi: 10.1073/pnas.08091 41106
- Buuren M Van, Vink M, Kahn RS. Default-mode network dysfunction and self-referential processing in healthy siblings of schizophrenia patients. *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 142:237–43. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.09.017
- Giles LL, DelBello MP, Stanford KE, Strakowski SM. Child behavior checklist profiles of children and adolescents with and at high risk for developing bipolar disorder. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev.* (2007) 38:47–55. doi: 10.1007/s10578-006-0041-6
- Mesman E, Birmaher BB, Goldstein BI, Goldstein T, Derks EM, Vleeschouwer M, et al. Categorical and dimensional psychopathology in Dutch and US offspring of parents with bipolar disorder: a preliminary cross-national comparison. J Affect Disord. (2016) 205:95–102. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.06.011
- Renshaw TL, Cook CR. Initial development and validation of the youth internalizing problems screener. J Psychoeduc Assess. (2018) 36:366–78. doi: 10.1177/0734282916679757
- Lin Y, Callahan CP, Moser JS. A mind full of self: self-referential processing as a mechanism underlying the therapeutic effects of mindfulness training on internalizing disorders. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2018) 92:172–86. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.06.007
- Zhou HX, Chen X, Shen YQ, Li L, Chen NX, Zhu ZC, et al. Rumination and the default mode network: meta-analysis of brain imaging studies and implications for depression. *Neuroimage*. (2020) 206:116287. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116287
- Simeonova DI, Nguyen T, Walker EF. Psychosis risk screening in clinical high-risk adolescents: a longitudinal investigation using the Child Behavior Checklist. Schizophr Res. (2014) 159:7–13. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014. 07.046
- Salcedo S, Rizvi SH, Freeman LK, Youngstrom JK, Findling RL, Youngstrom EA. Diagnostic efficiency of the CBCL thought problems and DSM-oriented psychotic symptoms scales for pediatric psychotic symptoms. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2018) 27:1491–8. doi: 10.1007/s00787-018-1140-1
- Pankow A, Katthagen T, Diner S, Deserno L, Boehme R, Kathmann N, et al. Aberrant salience is related to dysfunctional self-referential processing in psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2016) 42:67–76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv098
- Hien D, Matzner FJ, First MB, Spitzer RL, Gibbon M, Williams JBW. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV-Child Edition (Version 1.0). New York, NY: Colombia University (1994).
- First M, Spitzer R, Gibbon M, Williams J. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV-TR Axis I Disorders, Research Version, Patient Edition. (SCID-I/P). New York, NY: Biometrics Research, New York State Psychiatric Institute (2002).
- Wechsler D. Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children Fourth Edition: Technical and interpretive manual. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation (2003). doi: 10.1037/t15174-000

- Achenbach TM, Rescorla LA. Manual for the ASEBA School-Age Forms and Profiles. Burlington, VT: University of Vermont Research Center for Children, Youth, & Families (2001).
- Smith SM, Jenkinson M, Woolrich MW, Beckmann CF, Behrens TEJ, Johansen-Berg H, et al. Advances in functional and structural MR image analysis and implementation as FSL. *Neuroimage*. (2004) 23:S208–19. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.07.051
- Smith SM. Fast robust automated brain extraction. Hum Brain Mapp. (2002) 155:143–55. doi: 10.1002/hbm.10062
- Jenkinson M, Bannister P, Brady M, Smith S. Improved optimization for the robust and accurate linear registration and motion correction of brain images. *Neuroimage*. (2002) 841:825–41. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2002.1132
- Woolrich MW, Behrens TEJ, Beckmann CF, Jenkinson M, Smith SM. Multilevel linear modelling for FMRI group analysis using Bayesian inference. *Neuroimage*. (2004) 21:1732–47. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.12.023
- Worsley KJ. Chapter 14: statistical analysis of activation images. In: Jezzard P, Matthews PM, Smith SM, editors. *Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging: An Introduction to Methods*. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2001). p. 251–70.
- Woo CW, Krishnan A, Wager TD. Cluster-extent based thresholding in fMRI analyses: pitfalls and recommendations. *Neuroimage*. (2014) 91:412–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.12.058
- Mumford J. A Guide to Calculating Percent Change with Featquery. (2007). Available online at: http://mumford.bol.ucla.edu/perchange\_guide. pdf (accessed August 1, 2020).
- Gross JJ, John OP. Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (2003) 85:348–62. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.348
- Preece DA, Becerra R, Robinson K, Gross JJ. The emotion regulation questionnaire: psychometric properties in general community samples. J Pers Assess. (2020) 102:348–56. doi: 10.1080/00223891.2018.1564319
- Diedrichsen J, Zotow E. Surface-based display of volumeaveraged cerebellar imaging data. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0133402. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0133402
- Bedford NJ, Surguladze S, Giampietro V, Brammer MJ, David AS. Self-evaluation in schizophrenia: an fMRI study with implications for the understanding of insight. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2012) 12:106. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-12-106
- Tan S, Zhao Y, Fan F, Zou Y, Jin Z, Zen Y, et al. Brain correlates of selfevaluation deficits in schizophrenia: a combined functional and structural MRI study. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:1–12. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138737
- 42. van der Meer L, de Vos AE, Stiekema APM, Pijnenborg GHM, van Tol MJ, Nolen WA, et al. Insight in schizophrenia: involvement of self-reflection networks? *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:1352–62. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs122
- Zhang L, Opmeer EM, Ruhé HG, Aleman A, van Der Meer L. Brain activation during self- and other-reflection in bipolar disorder with a history of psychosis: comparison to schizophrenia. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2015) 8:202–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2015.04.010
- Pauly KD, Kircher TTJ, Schneider F, Habel U. Me, myself and I: temporal dysfunctions during self-evaluation in patients with schizophrenia. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2014) 9:1779–88. doi: 10.1093/scan/nst174
- Fuentes-Claramonte P, Martin-Subero M, Salgado-Pineda P, Santo-Angles A, Argila-Plaza I, Salavert J, et al. Brain imaging correlates of selfand other-reflection in schizophrenia. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2020) 25:102134. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2019.102134
- Mor N, Winquist J. Self-focused attention and negative affect: a meta-analysis. Psychol Bull. (2002) 128:638–62. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.128.4.638
- Nejad AB, Fossati P, Lemogne C. Self-referential processing, rumination, and cortical midline structures in major depression. *Front Comput Neurosci.* (2013) 7:1–9. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00666
- McGorry P, Keshavan M, Goldstone S, Amminger P, Allott K, Berk M, et al. Biomarkers and clinical staging in psychiatry. *World Psychiatry*. (2014) 13:211–23. doi: 10.1002/wps.20144
- Grierson AB, Hickie IB, Naismith SL, Scott J. The role of rumination in illness trajectories in youth: linking trans-diagnostic processes with clinical staging models. *Psychol Med.* (2016) 46:2467–84. doi: 10.1017/S00332917160 01392
- Farb NAS, Segal ZV, Mayberg H, Bean J, McKeon D, Fatima Z, et al. Attending to the present: mindfulness meditation reveals distinct neural modes of self-reference. SCAN. (2007) 2:313–22. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsm030

- Grant JA, Courtemanche J, Rainville P. A non-elaborative mental stance and decoupling of executive and pain-related cortices predicts low pain sensitivity in Zen meditators. *Pain.* (2011) 152:150–6. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2010.10.006
- 52. Taylor VA, Grant J, Daneault V, Scavone G, Breton E, Roffe-Vidal S, et al. Impact of mindfulness on the neural responses to emotional pictures in experienced and beginner meditators. *Neuroimage.* (2011) 57:1524–33. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.06.001
- McGorry PD, Hickie IB, Yung AR, Pantelis C, Jackson HJ. Clinical staging of psychiatric disorders: a heuristic framework for choosing earlier, safer and more effective interventions. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*. (2006) 40:616–22. doi: 10.1080/j.1440-1614.2006.01860.x
- Bauer CCC, Caballero C, Scherer E, West MR, Mrazek MD, Whitfield-Gabrieli S, et al. Mindfulness training reduces stress and amygdala reactivity to fearful faces in middle-school children. *Behav Neurosci.* (2019) 133:569–85. doi: 10.1037/bne0000337
- 55. Bauer CCC, Okano K, Ghosh SS, Lee YL, Melero H, de los Angeles C, et al. Real-time fMRI neurofeedback reduces auditory hallucinations and modulates resting state connectivity of involved brain regions: part 2: default mode network -preliminary evidence. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 284:112770. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112770
- Goldin PR, Moodie CA, Gross JJ. Acceptance versus reappraisal: behavioral, autonomic, and neural effects. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci.* (2019) 19:927–44. doi: 10.3758/s13415-019-00690-7
- Etkin A, Schatzberg AF. Common abnormalities and disorder-specific compensation during implicit regulation of emotional processing in generalized anxiety and major depressive disorders. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2011) 168:968–78. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.10091290
- Thermenos HW, Juelich RJ, DiChiara SR, Mesholam-Gately RJ, Woodberry KA, Wojcik J, et al. Hyperactivity of caudate, parahippocampal, and prefrontal regions during working memory in never-medicated persons at clinical high-risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 173:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.02.023
- Gisselgård J, Lebedev AV., Kurz KD, Joa I, Johannessen JO, Brønnick K. Structural and functional alterations in the brain during working memory in medication-naïve patients at clinical high-risk for psychosis. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:1–16. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0196289
- Chung Y, Allswede D, Addington J, Bearden CE, Cadenhead K, Cornblatt B, et al. Cortical abnormalities in youth at clinical high-risk for psychosis: findings from the NAPLS2 cohort. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2019) 23:101862. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2019.101862
- Pantelis C, Velakoulis D, McGorry PD, Wood SJ, Suckling J, Phillips LJ, et al. Neuroanatomical abnormalities before and after onset of psychosis: a cross-sectional and longitudinal MRI comparison. *Lancet.* (2003) 361:281–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)12323-9
- 62. Mechelli A, Riecher-Rossler A, Meisenzahl EM, Tognin S, Wood SJ, Borgwardt SJ, et al. Neuroanatomical abnormalities that predate the onset of psychosis: a multicenter study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2011) 68:489–95. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.42
- Tognin S, Riecher-Rössler A, Meisenzahl EM, Wood SJ, Hutton C, Borgwardt SJ, et al. Reduced parahippocampal cortical thickness in subjects at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Psychol Med.* (2014) 44:489–98. doi: 10.1017/S0033291713000998
- 64. Dean DJ, Bernard JA, Orr JM, Pelletier-Baldelli A, Gupta T, Carol EE, et al. Cerebellar morphology and procedural learning impairment in neurolepticnaive youth at ultrahigh risk of psychosis. *Clin Psychol Sci.* (2014) 2:152–64. doi: 10.1177/2167702613500039
- Bernard JA, Mittal VA. Dysfunctional activation of the cerebellum in schizophrenia: a functional neuroimaging meta-analysis. *Clin Psychol Sci.* (2015) 3:545–66. doi: 10.1177/2167702614542463
- Shinn AK, Baker JT, Lewandowski KE, Öngür D, Cohen BM. Aberrant cerebellar connectivity in motor and association networks in schizophrenia. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2015) 9:1–16. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015. 00134
- Power R, Kyaga S, Uher R, MacCabe J, Langstrom N, Landen M, et al. Fecundity of patients with schizophrenia, autism, bipolar disorder, depression, anorexia nervosa, or substance abuse vs. their unaffected siblings. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2013) 70:22–30. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.268
- Keshavan MS, Sujata M, Mehra A, Montrose DM, Sweeney JA. Psychosis proneness and ADHD in young relatives of schizophrenia

patients. Schizophr Res. (2003) 59:85-92. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(01) 00400-5

- Muzik O, Chugani DC, Juhász C, Shen C, Chugani HT. Statistical parametric mapping: assessment of application in children. *Neuroimage*. (2000) 12:538– 49. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2000.0651
- Sanchez CE, Richards JE, Almli CR. Age-specific MRI templates for pediatric neuroimaging. *Dev Neuropsychol.* (2012) 37:379–99. doi: 10.1080/87565641.2012.688900
- Weng J, Dong S, He H, Chen F, Peng X. Reducing individual variation for fMRI studies in children by minimizing template related errors. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:1–16. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 34195

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Collin, Bauer, Anteraper, Gabrieli, Molokotos, Mesholam-Gately, Thermenos, Seidman, Keshavan, Shenton and Whitfield-Gabrieli. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The Role of Peripheral Inflammation in Clinical Outcome and Brain Imaging Abnormalities in Psychosis: A Systematic Review

#### Melisa Kose<sup>1</sup>, Carmine M. Pariante<sup>1,2</sup>, Paola Dazzan<sup>1,2</sup> and Valeria Mondelli<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychological Medicine, King's College London, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, London, United Kingdom, <sup>2</sup> National Institute for Health Research Mental Health Biomedical Research Centre, South London and Maudsley National Health Service Foundation Trust and King's College London, London, United Kingdom

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Antonio Vita, University of Brescia, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Anilkumar Pillai, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States Davide Papola, University of Verona, Italy

> \***Correspondence:** Valeria Mondelli valeria.mondelli@kcl.ac.uk

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 30 September 2020 Accepted: 22 January 2021 Published: 19 February 2021

#### Citation:

Kose M, Pariante CM, Dazzan P and Mondelli V (2021) The Role of Peripheral Inflammation in Clinical Outcome and Brain Imaging Abnormalities in Psychosis: A Systematic Review. Front. Psychiatry 12:612471. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.612471 Promising research investigating the association between inflammatory biomarkers and response to antipsychotic and/or adjunctive therapy, observed by improvement in psychiatric assessment, is emerging. Increased inflammation has been suggested to contribute to higher severity of symptoms/treatment resistance through the effects that this has on brain structure and function. The present systematic review aims to clarify the potential role of peripheral inflammatory markers as predictors of clinical outcomes and their association with neuroimaging markers in patients with psychosis. Systematic searches of the literature using the databases Psychlnfo, OVID Medline, and Embase were conducted to collate studies investigating the association of inflammatory biomarkers with clinical outcome in patients with psychotic disorders and studies examining the relationships between inflammatory biomarkers and neuroimaging data. Seventeen studies on predictors of clinical outcome and 14 on associations between neuroimaging data and inflammatory biomarkers in psychosis were identified, and risk of bias was assessed using the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS). The main inflammatory markers associated with clinical outcome in psychosis were interleukin (IL)-6, IL-10, and C-reactive protein (CRP). High levels of CRP and IL-6 were associated with worse clinical outcome and deterioration of symptoms over time; in contrast, increased levels of IL-10 were associated with greater symptoms improvement. Smaller hippocampal volume and reduced cortical thickness were the main neuroimaging markers associated with increased peripheral inflammation. The heterogeneity across the studies (i.e., treatments strategies, duration) suggests that potential prediction power of inflammatory biomarkers could partially depend on the methodologies, supported by the overall NOS ratings of the studies. Future studies may need to consider whether a combination of these inflammatory and neuroimaging markers could further improve our ability of predicting clinical outcome in patients with psychosis.

Keywords: inflammation, neuroimaging, biomarker, psychosis, predictor, treatment response

# INTRODUCTION

Psychotic disorders are severe mental health disorders that cause abnormal thinking and perceptions. Although a good number of patients with psychotic disorders will achieve clinical remission after starting antipsychotic treatment, there remains a considerable number of patients who will continue to present persistent psychotic symptoms despite pharmacological treatment (1). Finding the best approach to predict clinical response to antipsychotic treatment is essential if we want to improve treatment strategies for patients currently not responding to antipsychotic treatment. Inflammatory biomarkers have been recently suggested to hold potential as predictors of clinical outcome in patients with psychotic disorders. At the same time, researchers call for an increasing need for combinations of different biomarkers to improve the predictive ability of biomarkers tested in isolation (2). In this context, a better understanding of the association between inflammatory markers and measures of brain structure and function could help us to identify the best neuroimaging markers that could be used in combination with inflammatory ones to improve the prediction of clinical outcome in patients with psychosis.

The presence of a relationship between increased peripheral inflammation and psychotic disorders is well-established in the literature (3-13). One recent review (8) investigated cytokine alterations in patients with schizophrenia and the association with severity of symptoms. The review concluded that these cytokine alterations are not only occurring more consistently in patients with schizophrenia compared with controls, but also suggests that sub-groups of patients such as drug-free patients, recent onset/first episode psychosis patients, or stable patients may have differing cytokine and inflammatory profiles. All the reviews and meta-analyses conducted so far have, however, not focused specifically on investigating the role of inflammatory markers in predicting clinical outcomes, in terms of response to treatment or prediction of changes in symptoms over time. A thorough review of the studies conducted on this topic so far is paramount to understand whether the use of inflammatory markers could be supported in future research and trials that want to target patients with worse clinical outcomes. In the long term, these could help patients bypass the delay in getting the treatment best tailored for them. The present paper builds on the previous reviewed evidence of increased levels inflammatory markers in psychosis and their association with severity of symptoms and focus on the aspect of prediction of clinical outcomes which has not been specifically reviewed in previous papers.

The main inflammatory markers studied in patients with psychotic disorder include C-reactive protein (CRP) and cytokines analyzed from blood samples. CRP is an acute phase protein synthetized by the liver in response to factors released by macrophages and adipocytes; it plays a role in innate immunity as an early defense system against infections and its levels increase following secretion of interleukin (IL)-6 by macrophages and T cells. Cytokines are small protein produced by a broad range of immune cells, including macrophages, lymphocytes and mast cells and represent important signaling molecules for the regulation of the immune response. Interleukin (IL)-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  are among the cytokines more frequently found to be elevated in patients with psychosis (7, 8) and are mostly viewed as pro-inflammatory cytokines. Other cytokines such as IL-10 have also been reported to be abnormally regulated in patients with psychosis (8); IL-10 is better known for its anti-inflammatory effect. Increased levels of inflammatory cytokines can potentially affect brain structure and function as mainly shown in models of depression, by affecting neurogenesis, neuroplasticity and glutamate function (14).

Neural changes across various brain regions and structures have been suggested as one of the mechanisms through which elevated peripheral inflammation could contribute to development of psychosis and treatment resistance in patients with psychosis. Some studies have previously reported associations between increased peripheral inflammation and brain structure and function abnormalities in psychosis (15– 17) as well as in healthy controls (18, 19) and patients with depression (20–25). The natural progression of this research is to investigate which neural changes are mostly associated with abnormalities in inflammatory response in patients with psychosis to facilitate our understanding of the possible neural pathways between increased inflammation and poor clinical outcome in psychosis.

This systematic review aimed to investigate (1) whether peripheral inflammatory biomarkers, such as CRP and cytokines, predict clinical outcome in patients with psychosis and (2) how neural changes detected by various neuroimaging techniques, such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), may be associated with these inflammatory markers.

## METHODS

In the present review, two parallel systematic searches of the literature were conducted in accordance to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

**TABLE 1** Summary of star allocation and final rating calculation in accordance with the Newcastle-Ottawa Quality Assessment Scale criteria used to assess the quality of each study.

Quality rating	Selection	Comparability	Exposure	Calculation method
Good	3 or 4 stars	1 or 2 stars	2 or 3 stars	Must meet ALL three conditions to gain rating
Fair	2 stars	1 or 2 stars	2 or 3 stars	Must meet ALL three conditions to gain rating
Poor	0 or 1 star	0 stars	0 or 1 stars	Can meet ANY of the three conditions to gain rating

(PRISMA) guidelines (**Appendix A** in **Supplementary Material**) (26). The search included studies published up to June 2020.

# Inflammatory Markers and Clinical Outcome

To identify relevant studies investigating the efficacy of inflammatory biomarkers in predicting clinical outcome in psychosis, a systematic search across the databases PsychInfo, OVID Medline, and Embase was conducted. This search was performed by using three categories of keywords across the databases—"inflammatory markers," "psychosis," and "treatment response." The database search began with these categories; the keywords ["peripheral biomarker" OR "peripheral marker" OR "inflammation" OR "inflammatory\*" OR "cytokine" OR "interleukin\*" OR "IL-6" OR "IL-1" OR "CRP" OR "c reactive protein" OR TNF\*" OR "tumo\* necrosis factor"] AND ["psychosis" OR "psychotic disorder" OR "schizophrenia"] AND ["treatment\*" OR "treatment response" OR "antipsychotic\*"] were used. In addition to electronic searches, we manually searched relevant meta-analyses and reference lists of the retrieved articles for eligible studies that may have been missed.

Studies were included if they met the following inclusion criteria: (1) studies focusing on individuals with a diagnosis of psychotic disorder at the time of the assessment, (2)



at least one inflammatory biomarker measured at least at one time point, and (3) longitudinal design. Studies were excluded if they met one of the following criteria: (1) comorbidity of malignancy or chronic inflammatory disorder, (2) review articles, (3) meta-analysis, (4) conference abstracts (5) posters, (6) book/chapters, (7) case reports, (8) editorials, and (9) letter to the editor/non-research letter/discussion.

## Inflammatory and Neuroimaging Markers

To identify papers which investigated neuroimaging findings in relation to inflammation in psychosis, a parallel systematic search was conducted. This similarly used three categories of search terms across the same databases—"inflammatory markers," "psychosis," and "neuroimaging"—and included the same keywords as before except replacing "treatment\*" OR "treatment response" OR "antipsychotic\*" with "neuroimage\*" OR "brain scan" OR "magnetic resonance imaging" OR "MRI" OR "functional magnetic resonance imaging" "fMRI" OR "resting state" OR "connectivity" OR "neuroimage\*" OR "positron emission tomography" OR "PET scan" OR "computer tomography" OR "CT scan" OR "single photon emission computer tomography" OR "SPECT" OR "diffusion weighted imaging" OR "diffusion tension imaging."



#### TABLE 2 Demographics of participants from the 17 studies investigating inflammatory biomarkers as predictors of clinical outcome in psychosis.

Study	Total sample	Cases (%women)	Controls (%women)	Mean age of cases (SD)	Mean age of controls (SD)	Country	Drug	Dose	Comorbidities	Covariate adjustments
Borovcanin et al. (28)	82*	47 (60%)	35 (0%)	35.84 (1.75)	35.46 (1.78)	Serbia	Various	Various	None	Age, sex
Chen et al. (29)	195	95 (40%)	100 (45%)	30.37 (0.87)	31.55 (0.66)	China	RISP + DXM [OR] RISP + Placebo	DXM 60 mg/day	Smoking	Age, sex
Crespo-Facorro et al. (30)	84	56 (35.7%)	28 (57.1%)	26.6 (6.6)	27.1 (3.7)	Spain	RISP, OLZ, HAL	RISP 3–6 mg/day; OLZ 5–20 mg/day; HAL 3–9 mg/day	Smoking	Age, sex
Ding et al. (31)	91	ES 28 (53.6%) Placebo 26 (46.2%)	29 (51.7%)	ES 42.4 (12.7) Placebo 49.7 (9.4)	41.8 (8.5)	China	Escitalopram, Placebo	5 mg/day for the first 3 days, 10 mg/day for day 4 to week 4, and 20 mg/day for weeks 5–8	None	None mentioned
Fathian et al. (5)	208	208 (32.2%)	-	33.5 (13.1)	-	Norway	Various	Various	None	Metabolic syndrome smoking, being medication naïve, illi drug use, and educational level
Gonzalez- Blanco et al. (32)	50	50 (38%)	-	30.8 (7.1)	-	Spain	Various	Various	None	Age, sex, smoking, BMI, duration of illne antipsychotic doses
Hatziagelaki et al. (33)	14	14 (50%)	-	26.5 (6.02)	-	Greece	OLZ	15  mg (n = 6)  or 20 mg (n = 8)	None	None mentioned
He et al. (34)	71	35 (43%)	36 (54%)	26.1 (9.7)	25.8 (5.1)	China	OLZ equivalents	8.19 mg/day (SD = 7.73)	None	Age, sex, BMI, dose
Luo et al. (35)	148	68 (57%)	80 (19%)	34.29 (11.17)	26.77 (5.37)	China	Various	Various	None	Age, sex, alcohol us smoking
Mondelli et al. (36)	79	49 (32.7%)	30 (36.7%)	28.2 (0.9)	27 (0.8)	United Kingdom	Various	Various	None	Childhood trauma, number of recent stressors, perceived stress
Nettis et al. (37)	88	42 (40.5%)	46 (60.9%)	30.3 (9.8)	28.7 (9.2)	United Kingdom	Various	Various	None	Sociodemographics BMI, triglycerides
Noto et al. (38)	53	31 (38.7%)	22 (40.9%)	25.8 (6.4)	25.0 (6.7)	Brazil	RISP	Various	None	Age, sex
Sobis et al. (39)	17	17 (41.2%)	-	51.1 (11.8)	-	Poland	ARI	Various	Type 2 diabetes, hypertension ( $n =$ 1); Arrhythmia ( $n =$ 1); Smoking ( $n =$ 14)	Age, BMI, duration illness, weight, wais circumference

(Continued)

Inflammation and Outcome in Psychosis

Kose	et	al.	

Study	Total sample	Cases (%women)	Controls (%women)	Mean age of cases (SD)	Mean age of controls (SD)	Country	Drug	Dose	Comorbidities	Covariate adjustments
Strzelecki et al. (40)	60	Sarcosine 30 (33.3%) Placebo 30 (50%)	1	Sarcosine 36.9 (11.4) Placebo 40.2 (10.1)	I	Poland	Various + sarcosine	Various	None	Age, sex, smoking, BMI and body fat
de Witte et al. (41)	530	180 (34.4%)	350 (41.1%)	30 (10)	32 (10)	Gemany	Various	Various	None	Age, sex, smoking, BMI
Zhang et al. (42)	108	RISP 41 (26.8%) HAL 37 (18.9%)	30 (26.7%)	RISP 43.8 (6.4) HAL 43.7 (8.1)	40.4 (10.3)	China	RISP, HAL, Placebo	RISP 6 mg/day; HAL 20 mg/day	None	Age, sex, smoking, duration of illness
Zhang et al. (43)	75	MINO low dose 25 (48%) MINO high dose 25 (52%) Placebo (52%)		MINO low dose 33.04 (7.78) MINO high dose 33.24 (6.48) Placebo 33.68 (6.18)	I	China	RISP, MINO	MINO Iow = 100 mg/day; MINO high = 200 mg/day	None	Baseline PANSS scores

Studies were included if they met the following criteria: (1) studies investigating neuroimaging abnormalities in patients with a clinical diagnosis of psychosis at the time of assessment, (2) at least one inflammatory biomarker measured at least at one time point—for consistency between this search and the previous which looked at biomarkers and treatment outcome, and (3) use of at least one neuroimaging technique. Studies were excluded if they met the same exclusion criteria described in section Inflammatory Markers and Clinical Outcome, with the exception that both longitudinal and cross-sectional design studies were included. Positron Emission Tomography (PET) studies which reported results on translocator protein (TSPO) expression, but not TSPO associations with peripheral markers were excluded from the final selection. This process is outlined further with the PRISMA diagram in **Figure 2**.

Key information including sample demographics, study drugs, and covariate adjustments as well as major findings for each selected study were collated.

### **Quality Assessment and Risk of Bias**

Full text screenings and quality assessments for each of the included papers were conducted by one researcher (MK); these were then verified by a second researcher (VM) and any uncertainties were discussed with the other authors until a decision on whether or not to include the paper in the review was reached.

To assess the quality of each study, we used the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) (27) for assessing the quality of non-randomized cohort and case-control studies. The NOS is comprised of eight items covering three domains—selection (including representativeness and source of sample), comparability (including study design and considerations in analysis), and exposure (for cohort studies, the exposure domain is instead the "outcome" domain). Each paper can be assigned a score of 9 stars and was rated in accordance with the guidelines outlined in the **Table 1** legend as either "good," "fair" or "poor." The criteria used to assess the quality rating to each paper can be found in **Appendix B** (**Supplementary Material**).

## RESULTS

### **Study Inclusion and Quality**

The literature search of studies investigating inflammatory markers in relation to clinical outcome yielded 7,188 papers which then underwent deduplication. After duplicates were removed, 4,197 papers were identified; following screening of titles to exclude any studies irrelevant to the topic of inflammation in psychotic disorder, 60 papers underwent full-text screenings. Out of these 60, 17 papers met inclusion criteria and were included in the review. This process is demonstrated in full, with the PRISMA flow diagram, in **Figure 1**. Demographics of the participants from the 17 studies and information on covariates included in the studies' analyses are presented in **Table 2**.

The literature search of studies investigating inflammatory markers in relation to neuroimaging markers yielded a total of 1,591 papers. After applying our defined limits, 631 papers were identified and screened by title and abstract to remove irrelevant papers; the remaining 38 studies underwent full-text screenings. Out of these 38, 14 papers met inclusion criteria and were included in the review. This process is demonstrated in full, with the PRISMA flow diagram, in **Figure 2**. Demographics of the participants from the 14 studies are presented in **Table 3**.

Regarding quality of papers, from the total of 31 studies from both literature searches, 17 were rated "good" (10 from the clinical outcome search and seven from the neuroimaging search), five were rated "fair" (all of which were from the clinical outcome search) and 9 were rated poor (six for the clinical outcome search and one from the neuroimaging search). Full results for the risk of bias quality assessment can be found in **Table 4** for case-control studies and **Table 5** for cohort studies.

The summarized findings are presented in **Table 6** (for the clinical outcome search) and **Table 7** (for the neuroimaging search). We will present below separately the results from the studies investigating the association between C-reactive protein and clinical outcome and the results from the studies investigating the association between cytokines and clinical outcome.

## **C-Reactive Protein and Clinical Outcome**

Out of the 17 studies identified in the search on clinical outcome, five investigated levels of CRP with treatment outcome and changes in symptoms severity. Clinical outcome was defined by the symptom profile at follow-up or by changes in symptoms severity measured with the PANSS. Duration of follow-up ranged across the studies from 4 weeks (39) to 52 weeks (37). All five of the studies investigated patients on antipsychotic medication and 1 of these studies tested the effects of add-on antidepressant medication (4).

Three of the five studies (5, 32, 37) identified significant associations between baseline CRP levels and changes in symptoms severity and treatment outcome at follow-up. More specifically, González-Blanco et al. (32) found that baseline high levels of CRP (3-10 mg/L) were associated with deterioration in positive, negative, and general symptoms as measured by PANSS at 1-year follow-up (p < 0.05), while patients with lower levels of CRP ( $\leq 3$  mg/L) showed improvements in psychotic symptoms across these same domains (p < 0.05). Furthermore, in conjunction with age, high levels of CRP predicted total and general symptoms whilst high level CRP in conjunction with Body Mass Index (BMI) and female sex predicted positive symptoms. Similarly, Fathian et al. (5) found that a reduction in CRP levels during the first month of treatment predicted greater cognitive improvement at 6-month follow-up, though they did not investigate correlations with severity of symptoms measured with PANSS. The third study used a different approach by combining baseline levels of CRP with BMI and triglycerides levels in one single immune-metabolic factor. The study showed that this combined metabolic factor predicted poor treatment response, defined as deterioration in overall psychotic symptoms over time, and worse scores of both negative and positive symptoms at 1-year follow-up (37).

Two of the studies examining CRP did not find significant correlations between baseline CRP and later symptoms severity or treatment outcome at follow-up. Both studies focused on a shorter follow-up period, compared with the three positive studies mentioned above. In particular, Ding et al. tested effects

Study	Total sample	Cases (%women)	Controls (%women)	Mean age of cases (SD)	Mean age of controls (SD)	Country of participants
Bossù et al. (44)	100	71 (37%)	29 (31%)	41.8 (11.6)	41.9 (11.6)	Italy
Cannon et al. (45)	170	35 (29%)	135 (46%)	18.8 (3.8)	20.5 (4.6)	United States
De Picker et al. (46)	31	14 (0%)	17 (0%)	32.2 (8.3)	27.2 (5.5)	Belgium
Fillman et al. (47)	86	43 (41.9%)	43 (51.2%)	33.6 (range = 20–48)	32.5 (range = 22-48)	Australia
Hoseth et al. (48)	345	109 (45.9)	236 (55.9%)	30 (13)	35 (17)	Norway
Jacomb et al. (49)	156	85 (40%)	71 (52.1%)	35.8 (8.6)	32.2 (8.3)	Australia
(50)	506	250 (49.6%)	256 (49.2%)	42.5 (14)	41.8 (12.7)	Japan
Lesh et al. (51)	122	69 (12%)	53 (36%)	19.9 (3.5)	19.5 (3.3)	United States
Lizano et al. (52)	887	554 (51.8%)	333 (55.3%)	35.5 (12.5)	37.0 (12.4)	United States
Miller et al. (15)	97	31 (39%)	66 (39%)	34 (0.7) 43 (0.6)	34 (0.7) 43 (0.6)	Finland
Mondelli et al. (16)	79	49 (32.7%)	30 (36.7%)	28.2 (0.9)	27 (0.8)	United Kingdom
Prasad et al. (17)	68**	IL-6 33 (45.5%) CRP 37 (43.2%)	IL-6 23 (69.6%) CRP 27 (66.7%)	IL-6 26.39 (8.57) CRP 26.49 (8.21)	IL-6 25.44 (5.50) CRP 26.68 (6.41)	United States
Tsai et al. (53)	32	32 (71.8%)	-	58.8 (7.3)	_	Taiwan
Wu et al. (54)	88	44 (40.9%)	44 (54.5%)	31.25 (11.09)	34.32 (8.23)	China

\*\*Not all recruited participants were included in the IL-6 or CRP analyses, hence the inconsistency between total, IL-6, and CRP sample sizes.

Inflammation and Outcome in Psychosis

Study ID		Sel	ection			Compar	ability		Expo	osure		
	Case definition adequate?	Representativeness of the cases	Selection of controls	Definition of controls	SCORE	Matched in design?	Score	Ascertainment of exposure		Same Non- response rate?	Score	Adequacy
Studies investigati	ng inflammatory	biomarkers as predict	ors of treatme	ent outcome in	psychosis							
Borovcanin et al. (28)	Yes*	No	No	No	1	Yes**	2	Yes*	No	No	1	Poor
Chen et al. (29)	Yes*	Yes*	No	No	2	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes*	No	2	Fair
Crespo-Facorro et al. (30)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes*	No	2	Good
Ding et al. (31)	Yes*	Yes*	No	Yes*	3	No	0	Yes*	Yes*	No	2	Poor
He et al. (34)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	3	Good
Luo et al. (35)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes *	4	No	0	Yes*	Yes*	No	2	Poor
Mondelli et al. (36)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	No	0	Yes*	Yes*	No	2	Poor
Nettis et al. (37)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes*	1	Yes*	Yes*	No	2	Good
Noto et al. (38)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes*	No	2	Good
de Witte et al. (41)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes*	No	2	Good
Zhang et al. (42)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes*	No	2	Good
Studies investigati	ng associations b	between inflammatory	biomarkers a	nd neuroimagii	ng abnorma	lities in psychos	is					
Bossù et al. (44)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes**	2	Yes*	No	N/A	1	Poor
Cannon et al. (45)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes*	1	Yes*	Yes*	No	2	Good
De Picker et al. (46)	Yes*	No	No	Yes*	2	Yes*	1	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	3	Fair
Fillman et al. (47)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	No	3	Yes*	1	Yes*	No	N/A	1	Fair
Hoseth et al. (48)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes*	N/A	2	Good
Jacomb et al. (49)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes*	N/A	2	Good
Kudo et al. (50)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes*	N/A	2	Good
Lesh et al. (51)	Yes*	No	No	Yes*	2	Yes*	1	Yes*	Yes*	N/A	2	Fair
Lizano et al. (52)	Yes*	No	No	Yes*	2	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes*	N/A	2	Fair
Miller et al. (15)	Yes*	Yes*	No	Yes*	3	Yes*	1	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	3	Good
Mondelli et al. (16)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes*	1	Yes*	Yes*	N/A	2	Good
Prasad et al. (17)	Yes*	No	No	No	1	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes*	N/A	2	Poor
Wu et al. (54)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes*	N/A	2	Good

Scoring criteria (i.e., what terms must be met to earn a star?) and adequacy (i.e., how many stars must be scored in each of the three domains to determine the studies quality?) can be found in **Table 3** and **Appendix B** (Supplementary Material).

TABLE 5 | Result of the systematic quality assessment in accordance to the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale for cohort studies.

Study		:	Selection			Compa	ability		Outc	ome		
	Representativeness of the cases	Selection of non- intervention cohort	Ascertainmen of exposure		SCORE	Matched in design?	SCORE	Assessment of outcome	Follow-up long enough for outcomes? (≥2 months)	Adequacy of follow-up cohorts	Score	Adequacy
Studies investigati	ing inflammatory biom	narkers as pre	dictors of treat	tment outcome	in psychosis	6						
Fathian et al. (5)	Yes*	N/A	Yes*	Yes*	3	Yes*	1	Yes*	Yes* - 6 months	No	2	Good
Gonzalez-Blanco et al. (32)	Yes*	N/A	Yes*	Yes*	3	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes* - 1 year	Yes*	3	Good
Hatziagelaki et al. (33)	No	N/A	Yes*	Yes*	3	No	0	Yes*	Yes* - 2 months	Yes*	3	Poor
Sobis et al. (39)	No	N/A	Yes*	Yes*	2	Yes**	2	Yes*	No - 1 month	No	1	Poor
Strzelecki et al. (40)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes**	2	Yes*	Yes* - 6 months	Yes*	3	Good
Zhang et al. (43)	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	4	Yes*	1	Yes*	Yes* - 3 months	Yes*	3	Good
Studies investigati	ing associations betw	een inflamma	tory biomarker	s and neuroima	iging abnorn	nalities in psych	osis					
Tsai et al. (53)	Yes*	N/A	Yes*	Yes*	3	No	0	Yes*	N/A	N/A	1	Poor

Scoring criteria (i.e., what terms must be met to earn a star?) and adequacy (i.e., how many stars must be scored in each of the three domains to determine the studies quality?) can be found in **Table 3** and **Appendix B** (Supplementary Material).

9

TABLE 6 | Summary of findings for selected studies investigating inflammatory biomarkers and clinical outcomes.

Study	Treatment	Duration	Туре	Biomarkers	Assessment	Major findings: correlations	Major findings: predictors
Borovcanin et al. (28)	Unspecified	30 days	AAP, TAP	IL-23	PANSS	IL-23: No significant correlation between changes and PANSS scores at baseline nor at 30-day follow-up.	1
Chen et al. (29)	[RISP + DXT] or [RISP + placebo]	11 weeks	AAP, ATVS	IL-1β, TNF-α	PANSS	IL-1β/TNF-α/BDNF ratio: No significant correlations between levels and PANSS scores at 11 weeks.	/
Crespo-Facorro, (30)	RISP, OLZ, HAL	6 weeks	AAP, TAP	IL-12	BPRS, SANS, SAPS	IL-12: No significant correlations between changes in IL-12 levels from baseline to 6-week follow-up and BPRS, SANS nor SAPS scores at 6 weeks.	/
Ding et al. (31)	[OLZ + RISP] or [RISP + ARI] or OLZ or RISP (WITH Escitalopram)	8 weeks	AAP, AD	IL-6 and CRP	PANSS	IL-6: Positive correlation between changes from baseline to 8-week follow-up and changes in PANSS-Negative, PANSS-Total, and PANSS-Cognitive scores. IL-6: Positive correlations between both baseline and 8-week follow-up levels with PANSS-Negative, PANSS-Total, and PANSS-Cognitive scores. CRP: No significant correlation with PANSS scores.	Baseline IL-6 predicted reduction in PANSS-Negative, PANSS-Total, and PANSS-Affective scores.
Fathian et al. (5)	RISP, OLZ, Quetiapine, or Ziprasidone	24 weeks	AAP	CRP	PANSS, CDSS, RBANS	/	Lower baseline CRP predicted cognitiv improvement, as measured by the RBANS, following treatment.
Gonzalez- Blanco et al. (32)	Chlorpromazine	Follow-up study	TAP	CRP	PANSS	/	CRP 3–10 mg/L + age predicted both PANSS-Total and PANSS-General scc CRP 3–10 mg/L + BMI + female sex predicted PANSS–Positive scores.
Hatziagelaki et al. (33)	OLZ	8 weeks	AAP	IL-2, IL-17F, IL-17A, IL-22, IL-17F, IL-21, IL-23, IL-27, IL-4, IL-6, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , TGF- $\beta$ 1, TGF- $\beta$ 2, TGF- $\beta$ 3	PANSS	IL-6: Positive correlation between baseline levels and PANSS-Negative score at follow up. IL-6: Positive correlation between baseline levels and % change in PANSS-Negative score from baseline to follow-up. IL-27: Positive correlation between baseline levels and PANSS-Negative score at follow up. IL-27: Positive correlation between baseline levels and % change in PANSS-Negative score from baseline to follow-up.	Higher baseline IL-6 and also higher baseline IL-27 both predicted PANSS-Negative percentage change time and greater improvement in PANSS-Negative score at 8-week follow-up.
He et al. (34)	Various including RISP, OLZ, HAL, ARI, clozapine, amisulpride	6 months	AAP	IL-1β, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-12, TNF-α, IFN-γ	PANSS, CGI	IL-6: Positive correlation between baseline levels and PANSS-Negative score.	Higher baseline IL-6 predicted greater improvement in PANSS-Negative sco at follow-up. Lower baseline IL-8 predicted greater improvement in PANSS-Negative sco at follow-up.

(Continued)

Inflammation and Outcome in Psychosis

#### TABLE 6 | Continued

Study	Treatment	Duration	Туре	Biomarkers	Assessment	Major findings: correlations	Major findings: predictors
Luo et al. (36)	RISP, ARI, Clozapine Quetiapine OLZ, Ziprasidone,	69 days (±45.66)	AAP	TNF-α, IL-18, IL-6	PANSS	<ul> <li>IL-6: Positive correlation between baseline levels and PANSS-Negative scores</li> <li>IL-6: Positive correlations between follow-up levels and PANSS-Positive, PANSS-Negative, and PANSS-Total scores.</li> <li>IL-6: Positive correlations between changes in levels and follow-up PANSS-Positive, PANSS-Negative, and PANSS-Total scores.</li> <li>IL-18: No significant correlation with PANSS scores.</li> <li>TNF-α: No significant correlation with PANSS scores.</li> </ul>	/
Mondelli et al. (36)	RISP, OLZ, ARI, Quetiapine	12 weeks	AAP	IL-1β, IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, TNF-α, IFN-γ	PANSS	IFN-γ: Positive correlation between baseline levels and PANSS-Negative score at follow-up.	Higher IL-6 at baseline predicted poorer clinical outcome at follow-up, as measured by PANSS-Total scores. Highe IFN-γ at baseline predicted poorer clinica outcome at follow-up (PANSS-Total)
Nettis et al. (37)	RISP, OLZ, ARI, HAL, Quetiapine, Zuclopenthixol	52 weeks	AAP, TAP	hsCRP; Factor 1: CRP, BMI, and Triglycerides (TG)	PANSS	Factor 1: Positive correlation with PANSS-Positive, PANSS-Negative, PANSS-Total, and PANSS-Global scores	Factor 1 (CRP, BMI and TG) at baseline predicted 1-year follow-up treatment response, shown by percentage improvement.
Noto et al. (38)	RISP	10 weeks	AAP	IL-1β, IL-10, IL-13, IL-6, IL-7, IL-15, IL-5, IL-12, IL-1RA, IL-2, IL-17, sIL-2R, IL-4, IL-8, IFN-γ, and TNF-α	PANSS	IL-6: Positive correlations between levels and PANSS-Negative, PANSS-Psychosis, PANSS-Affective, and PANSS-Excitation. IL-8: Positive correlations between levels and PANSS-Negative, PANSS-Psychosis, PANSS-Affective, and PANSS-Excitation.	Higher baseline levels of IL-10 and sTNF-R1 predicted greater improvement at 10-week follow-up, as measured by PANSS-Negative and PANSS-Positive scores.
Sobis et al. (39)	ARI	4 weeks	AAP	IL-6, TNF-α, IL-1β, IFN-γ, sTNF-R1, IL-12, IL-23, IL-1Ra, TGF-β1, IL-4, and IL-10 and CRP	PANSS	IL-10: Negative correlations between follow-up levels and follow-up PANSS-Positive, PANSS-Negative and PANSS-Total scores. IL-6/IL-10 ratio: Positive correlation between follow-up levels and follow-up PANSS-Positive, PANSS-Negative, PANSS-Total, and PANSS-Global scores.	/
Strzelecki et al. (40)	[Unspecified Antipsychotic + Sarcosine] or Placebo	6 months	aap, tap, gti	ΤΝΕ-α	PANSS, CDSS	TNF- $\alpha$ : Positive correlation between levels and CDSS score at baseline. No correlations between TNF- $\alpha$ and any PANSS scores.	Baseline TNF- $\alpha$ did not predict response to sarcosine, as measured by PANSS scores.

Kose et al.

(Continued)

Inflammation and Outcome in Psychosis

#### TABLE 6 | Continued

Study	Treatment	Duration	Туре	Biomarkers	Assessment	Major findings: correlations	Major findings: predictors
de Witte et al. (41)	RISP, OLZ, Quetiapine	6 weeks	AAP	IFN-γ, IL-1α, IL-1RA, IL-5, IL-10, IL-12, IL-15, IL-18, TNF-α	PANSS	IL-10: Positive correlations between changes in levels from baseline to 6-week follow-up and PANSS-Negative, PANSS-Total, and PANSS-General scores. IL-1Ra: No correlations between changes in levels from baseline to 6-week follow-up and any PANSS scores.	/
Zhang et al. (42)	RISP, HAL	12 weeks	AAP, TAP	IL-2, IL-6	PANSS	IL-2: Positive correlation between reduction in levels and reduction in PANSS-Total scores IL-2: Negative correlation between baseline levels and reduction in PANSS-Positive scores.	Lower baseline IL-2 (with lower superoxide dismutase activity and female sex) was associated with greater clinical response, as measured by PANSS scores.
Zhang et al. (43)	RISP, MINO	12 weeks	AAP, TCAB	IL-1β, IL-6, TNF-α	PANSS, SANS	In high-dose minocycline group: IL-6: Positive correlation between reduction in levels and reduction in PANSS-Negative scores. IL-1β: Positive correlation between reduction in levels and reduction in PANSS-Negative scores. In low-dose minocycline group: IL-6: Positive correlation between reduction in levels and reduction in PANSS-Negative scores. IL-1β: Positive correlation between reduction in levels and reduction in SANS scores.	/

SCZ, schizophrenia; FEP, first episode psychosis; DXM, Dextromethorphan; RISP, Risperidone; OLZ, Olanzapine; HAL, Haloperidol; ES, Escitalopram; MINO, minocycline; ARI, Aripiprazole; AAT, atypical antipsychotic; TAP, typical antipsychotic; ATVS, Antitussives; GTI, glycine transport inhibitor; TCAB, tetracycline antibiotic; CRP, c-reactive protein; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor-alpha; IL-#, interleukin-#; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale, CDSS, Calgary Depression Scale for Schizophrenia; BPRS, Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale; SANS, Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms; SAPS, Scale for the Assessment of Positive Symptoms; RBANS, Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status.

Kose et al.

of adjunctive treatment with escitalopram over an 8-week period (31) and although they did not find any significant correlation between CRP and PANSS scores, they reported a reduction in CRP levels after 8-weeks of treatment. Sobiś et al. tested the effects of airpiprazole on inflammatory markers over a 4-week period and although they did not find any significant correlation between CRP and PANSS scores, they also identified reduction in CRP over the 4-week treatment (39).

## **Cytokines and Clinical Outcome**

Out of the 17 studies identified in the search on clinical outcome, 14 investigated levels of cytokines with treatment outcome and changes in symptoms severity. Of note, four of these studies investigated the use of an adjunctive treatment to the prescribed antipsychotic medication; predictors amongst these studies would be predictors of response to add-on minocycline (43), escitalopram (31), sarcosine (40), or dextromethorphan (29) rather than to conventional antipsychotic. The main significant findings were found for the studies testing the effects of add-on minocycline (43) and add-on escitalopram (31) as reported more in detail below.

We found 9 studies investigating IL-6 levels in relation to either clinical outcome or changes in symptoms. Six studies highlight a significant positive correlation between either baseline IL-6 and follow-up PANSS scores or changes in IL-6 and changes in PANSS scores, particularly with PANSS negative symptoms, including the results from two studies with add-on treatment with minocycline or escitalopram (31, 33-35, 38, 43). Four of the 9 studies specifically investigated IL-6 as a predictor of treatment outcome and they all reported baseline IL-6 levels as a successful predictor of treatment response at follow-up (31, 33, 34, 36). Only two studies did not identify a specific correlation between baseline IL-6 levels and changes in symptom severity over 4-week and 12-week trials with aripiprazole or haloperidol/risperidone respectively (39, 42), although the aripiprazole trial reported a reduction in IL-6 levels over the 4-week treatment period (39). Reduction in IL-6 levels from baseline to follow-up were also found to be associated with improvement in cognitive performance and follow-up PANSS positive (r = 0.260, p < 0.260,0.01), negative (r = 0.366, p < 0.01), and total (r = 326, p< 0.01) symptoms (35). Similarly, a reduction in IL-6 levels was associated with an improvement in negative symptoms in patients receiving add-on treatment with a high dose of minocycline (43).

We found seven studies investigating IL-1 $\beta$  levels in relation to either clinical outcome or changes in symptoms. Only one study reported a significant finding, showing correlation between a decrease in IL-1 $\beta$  levels and improvement in negative symptoms only in patients who received add-on minocycline treatment (43).

We found 4 studies investigating IL-2, IL-4, and/or IL-10 levels in relation to either clinical outcome or changes in symptoms. Zhang et al. (42) found that a decrease in IL-2 following antipsychotic treatment significantly correlated with reduction in positive (r = 0.38, p < 0.01) and total (r = -0.36, p < 0.01) PANSS sub-score domains. This study also confirmed that higher baseline levels of IL-2 in patients is predictive of poorer response to antipsychotic medication. The other three studies

did not find any significant finding with IL-2. No significant finding was reported when looking at the association with IL-4 levels. With regards to IL-10, we found significant findings in three out of four studies. In particular, de Witte et al. showed that IL-10 reduction over time was significantly correlated with improvement in negative (r = 0.41, p < 0.05), general (r = 0.37, p < 0.05), and total PANSS scores (r = 0.45, p < 0.05) after 6-week treatment with antipsychotic (41).

Further, Noto et al. showed that higher baseline levels of IL-10 predicted greater improvement in negative and positive symptoms at 10-week follow-up (38). Finally, Sobiś et al. showed that elevated IL-10 levels were negatively correlated with PANSS-Negative (p = 0.03), -Positive (p = 0.022), and -Total (p = 0.008) sub-scores at 4-week follow-up (39).

We found 5 studies investigating IL-8 and 1 study investigating IL-27 levels in relation to either clinical outcome or changes in symptoms. Lower baseline IL-8 levels predicted greater reduction in PANSS-Negative scores, marking greater improvement in negative symptoms at 6-month follow-up (34). Higher levels of IL-27 at baseline was associated with greater improvement in negative symptoms at 8-week follow-up in a sample of first-episode psychosis patients (33). No other significant finding was reported for these two cytokines in the remaining studies.

Although levels of TNF- $\alpha$  were investigated in 9 studies, no significant association was found between this particular cytokine and clinical outcome or changes in symptoms.

Finally, although six studies investigated IFN- $\gamma$  levels, only one reported association between this marker and treatment response at 12-week follow-up (36). Other cytokines were investigated in 2 or fewer studies and the results are reported in **Table 6**.

# Association Between Inflammatory and Neuroimaging Markers

In the neuroimaging studies identified by our search, the most consistently used neuroimaging technique was MRI with 13 studies; one of these studies also included the use of PET imaging. Only one study used Diffusion Tensor Imaging (DTI) as neuroimaging technique. The results are summarized in **Table 7**.

The hippocampus was the region of interest most commonly studied in association with inflammatory markers (N = 8). Increased levels of IL-6 levels were associated with smaller total hippocampal volumes in two studies (15, 16). One study (48) found elevated levels of osteoprotegerin—a tumor necrosis factor receptor—associated with smaller total hippocampal volume, though no correlations with other cytokines, including TNF- $\alpha$ , nor IL-6, were found in the same study. Kudo et al. (50) observed negative association between sTNF-R2 and hippocampal volume while Tsai et al. (53) found sTNF-R1 was positively associated with right amygdala volume. Bossù et al. reported an association between lower levels of pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-18 and smaller hippocampal volumes (44). Fillman et al. reported an association between general elevated inflammation (measured by a specified range of cytokines) and deterioration of Broca's area

#### TABLE 7 | Summary of findings for selected studies investigating inflammatory and neuroimaging markers.

Study	NI	Observed region	Key biomarkers	Major findings
Bossù et al. (44)	MRI	Hippocampus	IL-18	Lower amounts of free IL-18 were related to smaller hippocampal volume measures in patients with SCZ.
Cannon et al. (45)	MRI	Prefrontal, superior temporal, and parahippocampal regions	TNF-α, IFN-γ, IL-2, IL-10, IL-1RA, CCL2	Rate of prefrontal cortical thinning from baseline to follow-up had significant negative association with higher levels of pro-inflammatory biomarkers – greater in converters (CHR to FEP)
De Picker et al. (46)	PET, MRI	Cerebellum, brainstem, cingulate cortex, thalamus, basal ganglia, amygdala, hippocampus	TSPO, IL-6, IL-8, TNFα, CRP, IL-1RA	Plasma CRP and quinolinic acid were independently associated with lower regional volume of distribution. No significant associations between any peripheral immune markers and TSPO uptake.
illman et al. (47)	MRI	Broca's, Wernicke's	IL-1β, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8 and IL-18	Higher cytokine levels associated with greater reduction in left pars opercularis (Broca's area) volume. IL-1β mRNA levels negatively correlated with left pars opercularis volume
Hoseth et al. (48)	MRI	Hippocampus	Plasma sTNF-R1, osteoprotegerin, IL1-Ra and IL-6	A trend ( $p = 0.09$ ) toward a negative association (b = 0.10) between osteoprotegerin and the volume of the total hippocampal formation after controlling for age, sex, estimated intracranial volume and diagnosis. No significant correlations between any measured cytokines and hippocampal volumes.
Jacomb et al. (49)	MRI	Cortical thickness	CRP	Higher CRP levels were associated with lower cortical thickness. CRP significantly predicted cortical thickness in most regions (frontal pole, medial orbital frontal, lateral orbitofrontal, temporal pole, middle temporal, entorhinal, insula, and paracentral regions).
Kudo et al. (50)	MRI	Hippocampus	Plasma sTNFR2	Higher sTNFR2 levels significantly associated with smaller hippocampal volume in patients with schizophrenia
Lesh et al. (51)	MRI	Total GM and WM	ΙL-1β, IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12p70, IFN-γ, and TNF-α	Higher IFN-γ levels negatively correlated with whole-brain GM volume. Trend toward a negative correlation between IFN-γ and left middle frontal gyrus thickness. No correlations of cytokines with cortical thickness were observed
Lizano et al. (52)	MRI	Choroid plexus	IL-1b, IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, IL-12p70, IFN- γ, TNF- α, CRP	Higher IL-6 levels associated with larger choroid plexus volume in probands.
Miller et al. (15)	MRI	Hippocampus	CRP, IL-6, IL-17, IL-1α, IL-1β, IL-4, IL-8, IP 10, and MCP1	Higher blood IL-6 levels were a predictor of smaller left and right hippocampal volumes, between ages 34 and 43 years. Significant association between IL-6 levels and hippocampal volumes.
Mondelli et al. (16)	MRI	Hippocampus	BDNF, IL-6, TNF-α	Increased IL-6 expression significantly predicted a smaller left hippocampal volume. IL-6 mRNA levels correlated with left hippocampal volume.
Prasad et al. (17)	DTI	WM and connectivity; Fractional anisotropy and radial diffusivity.	IL-6, CRP	IL-6 levels negatively correlated with fractional anisotropy and positively correlated with radial diffusivity—localized to the forceps major, the inferior longitudinal fasciculus and the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus. CRP levels negatively correlated with fractional anisotropy within forceps major.
Tsai et al. (53)	ai et al. (53) MRI Total GM and WM, hippocampus, amygdala, prefrontal, orbitofrontal, frontal lobe.		Plasma IL1-β, slL-2R, slL-6R, IL-1Ra, and sTNF-R1	Higher plasma sTNF-R1 levels significantly associated with lower volume in right amygdala. Higher plasma sIL-2R levels significantly associated with lower volume in the left anterior cingulum. Higher plasma IL-1Ra levels were associated with greater volume of right anterior cingulum

(Continued)

TABLE 7 | Continued

Study	NI	Observed region	Key biomarkers	Major findings
Wu et al. (54)	MRI	Cortical thickness, surface area, and cortical and subcortical GM volumes.	IFN-γ, IL-1β, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, and TGF-β	<ul> <li>IL-6 levels significantly associated with the cortical thickness in the left pars opercularis, superior temporal gyrus, right middle temporal gyrus, and pars triangularis.</li> <li>IL-10 levels significantly associated with cortical thickness in right caudal anterior-cingulate cortex and GM volume in fronta gyrus and cingulate cortex.</li> <li>IL-6 levels significantly associated with GM volume in the righ lingual gyrus</li> <li>IL-8 levels significantly associated with GM volume in the left medial orbital frontal cortex</li> <li>IL-10 levels significantly associated with GM volume in the left medial orbital frontal cortex</li> <li>IL-10 levels significantly associated with GM volume in the left lateral and medial orbital frontal cortex, rostral middle frontal gyrus, right caudal middle frontal gyrus, and precuneus cortex. None of these were associated with subcortical structures' GM volumes.</li> </ul>

SCZ, schizophrenia; NI, neuroimaging technique; GM, gray matter; WM, white matter; FEP, first episode psychosis; CHR, clinical high risk; AAT, atypical antipsychotic; TAP, typical antipsychotic; TCAB, tetracycline antibiotic; CRP, c-reactive protein; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor-alpha; IL-#, interleukin-#; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale, BLE, Brief Life Events questionnaire; PSS, Perceived Stress Scale; CECAQ, Childhood Experience of Care and Abuse Questionnaire; SIPS, Structured Interview for Prodromal Syndromes; SOPS, Scale of Prodromal Symptoms; SCID, Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV.

volume; further, IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA were negatively correlated with volume of this region (47).

Several studies also investigated associations between levels of inflammatory cytokines and cortical thickness. Jacomb et al. (49) reported significant negative association between CRP levels and cortical thickness, and CRP was a reliable predictor of cortical thickness in a wide range of brain regions. Similar findings were reported in a later study (54) in which increased levels of both IL-6 and IL-10 were shown as significantly associated with cortical thickness in a range of brain regions. In contrast, no such correlations were observed by Lesh et al. (51) between CRP, nor with any cytokines, and cortical thickness. Finally, in a study on clinical high risk for psychosis and first episode psychosis patients (45), higher levels of proinflammatory markers were negatively associated with rates of cortical thinning between baseline and 12-month followup.

We found only 1 DTI study which analyzed the association between peripheral inflammatory markers and brain connectivity, showing a negative correlation between IL-6 and CRP levels with fractional anisotropy within the forceps major (17).

IL-6 was the marker most frequently investigated in association with neuroimaging markers (N = 9, plus one study looking at sIL-6R); five of these found significant associations between levels of IL-6 and differences in brain structures, including the two studies finding association with hippocampal volume (15, 16), the study finding association with cortical thickness (54) and the study showing association with fractional anisotropy in the forceps major (17). The fifth study reporting significant association between neuroimaging markers and IL-6 found an association between elevated levels of IL-6 and larger choroid plexus volume (52). Further details of the studies and their findings can be found in **Table 7**.

## DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first comprehensive systematic review of the literature investigating the potential role of inflammatory biomarkers as predictors of clinical outcome and their association with neuroimaging markers in patients with psychosis. The following key findings were identified: (1) IL-6, IL-10, and CRP were most consistently correlated with clinical outcome, either as predictors of treatment response or associated with changes in symptoms severity over time, and (2) increased inflammatory markers were mainly associated with smaller hippocampal volumes and reduced cortical thickness in patients with psychosis.

Rather limited research investigating the relationship between various inflammatory biomarkers and treatment efficacy has been conducted (5, 10-12, 55), and thus, the present systematic review highlighted key areas that future research in the field may investigate, including which biomarkers may be most useful to observe and which methodologies appear to work best.

CRP is well-established in the literature as an efficient biomarker of inflammatory state (5, 12, 31, 32). Three studies indicated that decreasing levels of CRP between baseline and follow-up were significantly correlated with improvements in symptom severity following treatment (5, 32, 37). These studies were also the same ones to highlight the predictive power of baseline CRP levels on treatment outcome at follow-up. Of note, these studies had significantly longer durations, with the shortest lasting 24 weeks between baseline and follow-up (5). In contrast, the two other CRP studies (31, 39) which did not show an association of CRP with clinical outcome had signicantly shorter time frames (8 weeks and 4 weeks respectively). This could potentiall suggest CRP as a better marker for long term followups, while other inflammatory markers (such as IL-6) may better suited for shorter term follow-up (1–3 months). Furthermore, of the two studies which did not yield significant correlation between CRP and symptoms severity, Ding et al. (31) investigated the use of adjunctive antidepressant escitalopram, so potentially suggesting that CRP levels are indicative for change in symptoms or prediction of clinical response to antipsychotic treatment only when used independently of any add-on medication.

When looking at the relationship between cytokines and clinical outcome, we found that higher IL-6 levels were associated with worse clinical outcome or deterioration in symptoms over time. Interestingly, one study testing the effect of add-on antiinflammatory treatment with minocycline reported that the reduction in IL-6 levels induced by the minocycline treatment was associated with an improvement in negative symptoms (43), suggesting that IL-6 would be a potential marker not only to identify patients with worse clinical outcome but that it could also be used to stratify patients populations for add-on treatment with anti-inflammatory medications. IL-10 was the other cytokine which was mostly associated with clinical outcome. IL-10 is mainly viewed as an anti-inflammatory cytokine. Interestingly, three studies reported an association between high levels of IL-10 and greater symptoms improvement and less severe symptoms at follow-up (38, 39, 41), suggesting that an anti-inflammatory response as mediated by IL-10 pathway may contribute to a treatment-induced recovery in psychosis. Future studies would need to consider the possible balance between pro- and antiinflammatory pathways (IL-6/IL-10 ratio) and how this could also contribute to clinical outcome.

The mechanisms through which peripheral inflammation could contribute to worse clinical outcome are still partly unclear. However, it has been suggested that peripheral inflammation could potentially lead to immune activation in the Central Nervous System (CNS) and affect neuroplasticity, neurogenesis and influence neurotransmitter signaling including the glutamate pathway (14). Only few studies have investigated levels of cytokines in cerebrospinal fluid showing increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1β, and IL-8 in the CSF of patients with psychotic disorders (12); however, we could not identify any study on CSF cytokines which looked specifically at their association with clinical outcome in patients with psychosis. Other evidence supporting the presence of central inflammation in patients with psychosis derives mainly from post-mortem studies suggesting the presence of activated microglia, the main cells regulating immune response in the brain (9). Various pathways have been suggested in the peripheral immune-tobrain communication including increased permeability of the blood brain barrier, the lymphatic system, and infiltration of peripheral immune cells, such as macrophages, to the brain (56). Unfortunately, the investigation of neuroinflammation in humans in vivo is particularly challenging as we lack neuroimaging techniques and tools to be able to identify the low-grade inflammation that characterizes patients with psychosis. The last decades have seen an increase in PET studies using ligands binding the translocator protein (TSPO) as a potential tool to study microglia activation in patients with psychiatric disorders. However, recent studies cast doubt on the efficacy of TSPO ligands as markers of neuroinflammation in psychiatry (57).

In this context our systematic review on the association between peripheral inflammatory markers and neuroimaging findings in patients with psychosis could potentially open other avenues to identify central markers relevant to the peripheral immune-to-brain communication.

Most of the studies identified in this systematic review consistently demonstrate a significant association between increased peripheral inflammation and smaller hippocampal volume and reduced cortical thickness. The association between elevated levels of IL-6 and larger choroid plexus volume is also an interesting finding as the choroid plexus is a particular brain area where the blood brain barrier is usually less tight and could therefore represent one main structure involved in the communication between peripheral inflammation and the brain (52).

## **Quality Assessment and Risk of Bias**

The NOS was used to assess the quality of the 31 papers included in the present systematic review (27, 58). In 26 of these studies, participant groups were matched by at least age and in 17 papers samples were matched by age and at least one other factor. The remaining five studies which did not have matched samples raises some concerns about the possibility of confounding variable, however, in 2 of these studies a range of factors such as age, sex, alcohol and smoking (35) and childhood trauma and perceived stress (36) were considered covariate adjustments in analysis. Amongst case-control studies (N = 24), studies performed better than anticipated with 13 studies achieving a NOS adequacy rating of "good" compared to 6 with a rating of "poor" and 5 "fair"; amongst cohort studies (N = 7), the split was far closer to even with 4 studies achieving a rating of "good" and 3 achieving "poor." With regards to the 3 domains, most studies performed well by reporting sampling methodologies sufficiently; for most, cases were validated by researchers and clinicians directly with the use of structured interviews and/or reference to medical records. The exposure domain was where many studies performed their worst; specifically, with regards to responserates and attrition which many studies did not provide any information on. While over half of the papers (N = 17) did achieve a NOS rating of "good," 14 did not and as such the trustworthiness of observations and quality of papers should be scrutinized. However, it should be noted that a majority of the shortcomings in the selection and exposure (or outcome for the cohort studies) domains are as a result of a failure to sufficiently report information rather than deficiencies in methodology. For further details on performances across the three domains, see Table 4 for case-control studies and Table 5 for cohort studies.

## Limitations

The heterogeneity in the methodologies and treatment approaches in the reviewed studies is a limit for the interpretation of findings; with the relatively small sample of papers included, this only further hinders our ability to draw decisive conclusions. However, this literature review aims to present the data as it currently stands comprehensively and concisely, so while this diversity should be highlighted, the consistencies between the studies such as observed inflammatory biomarkers, sample sizes and demographics, and statistical analyses allow us to still draw valuable conclusions and suggestions for future studies and clinical trials. Another potential limitation is represented by the observational design of most studies that implies a reduced reliability to prove causal associations; experimental medicine studies in preclinical models using immune challenges may be better placed to understand causality.

## CONCLUSION

The findings of this systematic review may be used as guidance for future research which aims to use the most promising inflammatory and neuroimaging markers when investigating prediction of clinical outcome in psychosis. The heterogeneity among the examined studies, in terms of analyzed biomarkers and implemented treatments strategies, indicates that the ability of these inflammatory biomarkers to predict clinical outcome are highly dependent on the combinations of treatments, markers and symptoms that are measured. Levels of IL-6, IL-10, and CRP appeared to be the most promising inflammatory biomarkers for prediction of clinical outcome in patients with psychosis, though further research is needed to establish their validation. Interestingly smaller hippocampal volume and reduced cortical thickness were consistently associated with levels of peripheral inflammation; future studies may need to consider whether a combination of these inflammatory and neuroimaging markers could further improve our ability of predicting clinical outcome in patients with psychosis.

## REFERENCES

- Demjaha A, Lappin JM, Stahl D, Patel MX, MacCabe JH, Howes OD, et al. Antipsychotic treatment resistance in first-episode psychosis: prevalence, subtypes and predictors. *Psychol Med.* (2017) 47:1981–9. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717000435
- Fond G, d'Albis M-A, Jamain S, Tamouza R, Arango C, Fleischhacker WW, et al. The promise of biological markers for treatment response in firstepisode psychosis: a systematic review. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41:559–73. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv002
- Baumeister D, Russell A, Pariante CM, Mondelli V. Inflammatory biomarker profiles of mental disorders and their relation to clinical, social and lifestyle factors. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2014) 49:841–9. doi: 10.1007/s00127-014-0887-z
- Di Nicola M, Cattaneo A, Hepgul N, Di Forti M, Aitchison KJ, Janiri L, et al. Serum and gene expression profile of cytokines in first-episode psychosis. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2013) 31:90–5. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.06.010
- Fathian F, Løberg E-M, Gjestad R, Steen VM, Kroken RA, Jørgensen HA, et al. Associations between C-reactive protein levels and cognition during the first 6 months after acute psychosis. *Acta Neuropsychiatr.* (2019) 31:36–45. doi: 10.1017/neu.2018.25
- Hepgul N, Pariante CM, Dipasquale S, DiForti M, Taylor H, Marques TR, et al. Childhood maltreatment is associated with increased body mass index and increased C-reactive protein levels in first-episode psychosis patients. *Psychol Med.* (2012) 42:1893–901. doi: 10.1017/S0033291711002947
- Miller BJ, Buckley P, Seabolt W, Mellor A, Kirkpatrick B. Meta-analysis of cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: clinical status and antipsychotic effects. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2011) 70:663–71. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.04.013
- Momtazmanesh S, Zare-Shahabadi A, Rezaei N. Cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: an updated review. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:892. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00892

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MK was responsible for conducting the systematic searches, reviewing the studies for eligibility and drafted the first draft of the manuscript. VM conceived the study, oversaw the systematic searches and contributed to the drafting of the manuscript and to the interpretation of the results. CP and PD contributed intellectually to the interpretation of the results. All authors reviewed and contributed to the final manuscript.

## FUNDING

This research was funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London. The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR, or the Department of Health and Social Care. VM was supported by MQ: Transforming Mental Health (Grant: MQBF1) and by the Medical Research Foundation (grant number MRF-160-43-ELP-MONDE). MK has been supported by an undergraduate bursary from the British Association of Psychopharmacology.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.612471/full#supplementary-material

- Mondelli V, Vernon AC, Turkheimer F, Dazzan P, Pariante CM. Brain microglia in psychiatric disorders. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2017) 4:563–72. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30101-3
- Pillinger T, Osimo EF, Brugger S, Mondelli V, McCutcheon RA, Howes OD. A meta-analysis of immune parameters, variability, and assessment of modal distribution in psychosis and test of the immune subgroup hypothesis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 45:1120–33. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby160
- Trovão N, Prata J, VonDoellinger O, Santos S, Barbosa M, Coelho R. Peripheral biomarkers for first-episode psychosis-opportunities from the neuroinflammatory hypothesis of schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Investig.* (2019) 16:177–84. doi: 10.30773/pi.2018.12.19.1
- Wang AK, Miller BJ. Meta-analysis of cerebrospinal fluid cytokine and tryptophan catabolite alterations in psychiatric patients: comparisons between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and depression. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:75– 83. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx035
- Zajkowska Z, Mondelli V. First-episode psychosis: an inflammatory state? NeuroimmunoModulation. (2014) 21:102. doi: 10.1159/000356536
- Miller AH, Raison CL. The role of inflammation in depression: from evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2016) 16:22–34. doi: 10.1038/nri.2015.5
- Miller BJ, Herzig KH, Jokelainen J, Karhu T, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S, Järvelin MR, et al. (2020). Inflammation, hippocampal volume, and cognition in schizophrenia: results from the Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1966. *Euro Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2019). doi: 10.1007/s00406-020-01134-x
- Mondelli V, Cattaneo A, Murri MB, Forti M, Di Handley R, Hepgul N, et al. Stress and inflammation reduce brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in first-episode psychosis: a pathway to smaller hippocampal volume. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (2011) 72:1677–4. doi: 10.4088/JCP.10m06745
- 17. Prasad KM, Upton CH, Nimgaonkar VL, Keshavan MS. Differential susceptibility of white matter tracts to inflammatory mediators in

schizophrenia: an integrated DTI study. Schizophr Res. (2015) 161:119–25. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.09.043

- Gu Y, Vorburger R, Scarmeas N, Luchsinger JA, Manly JJ, Schupf N, et al. Circulating inflammatory biomarkers in relation to brain structural measurements in a non-demented elderly population. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2017) 65:150–60. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.04.022
- Marsland AL, Gianaros PJ, Abramowitch SM, Manuck SB, Hariri AR. Interleukin-6 covaries inversely with hippocampal grey matter volume in middle-aged adults. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2008) 64:484–90. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.04.016
- 20. Cattaneo A, Cattane N, Malpighi C, Czamara D, Suarez A, Mariani N, et al. FoxO1, A2M, and TGF-β1: three novel genes predicting depression in gene X environment interactions are identified using cross-species and cross-tissues transcriptomic and miRNomic analyses. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2018) 23:2192–208. doi: 10.1038/s41380-017-0002-4
- Cattaneo A, Ferrari C, Turner L, Mariani N, Enache D, Hastings C, et al. Whole-blood expression of inflammasome- and glucocorticoid-related mRNAs correctly separates treatment-resistant depressed patients from drugfree and responsive patients in the BIODEP study. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2020) 10:232. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-00874-7
- Cattaneo A, Ferrari C, Uher R, Bocchio-Chiavetto L, Riva MA, Pariante CM. Absolute Measurements of macrophage migration inhibitory factor and interleukin-1-β mRNA levels accurately predict treatment response in depressed patients. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2016) 19:pyw045. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/pyw045
- 23. Cattaneo A, Gennarelli M, Uher R, Breen G, Farmer A, Aitchison KJ, et al. Candidate genes expression profile associated with antidepressants response in the GENDEP study: differentiating between baseline "predictors" and longitudinal "targets". *Neuropsychopharmacology.* (2013) 38:377–85. doi: 10.1038/npp.2012.191
- Chen M-H, Chang W-C, Hsu J-W, Huang K-L, Tu P-C, Su T-P, et al. Correlation of proinflammatory cytokines levels and reduced gray matter volumes between patients with bipolar disorder and unipolar depression. J Affect Disord. (2019) 245:8–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.10.106
- Kakeda S, Watanabe K, Katsuki A, Sugimoto K, Igata N, Ueda I, et al. Relationship between interleukin (IL)-6 and brain morphology in drug-naïve, first-episode major depressive disorder using surface-based morphometry. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:10054. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-28300-5
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *BMJ*. (2009) 339:b2535. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2535
- Wells GA, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, et al. (2004). *The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for Assessing the Quality of Nonrandomised Studies in Meta-Analysis.* (2004). Available online at: http://www.ohri.ca/ programs/clinical\_epidemiology/oxford.asp
- Borovcanin M, Jovanovic I, Dejanovic SD, Radosavljevic G, Arsenijevic N, Lukic ML. Increase systemic levels of IL-23 as a possible constitutive marker in schizophrenia. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2015) 56:143–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.03.003
- Chen S-L, Lee S-Y, Chang Y-H, Chen S-H, Chu C-H, Tzeng N-S, et al. Inflammation in patients with schizophrenia: the therapeutic benefits of risperidone plus add-on dextromethorphan. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. (2012) 7:656–64. doi: 10.1007/s11481-012-9382-z
- Crespo-Facorro B, Carrasco-Marín E, Pérez-Iglesias R, Pelayo-Terán JM, Fernandez-Prieto L, Leyva-Cobián F, et al. Interleukin-12 plasma levels in drug-naive patients with a first episode of psychosis: effects of antipsychotic drugs. *Psychiatry Res.* (2008) 158:206–16. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2006.08.005
- Ding N, Li Z, Liu Z. Escitalopram augmentation improves negative symptoms of treatment resistant schizophrenia patients - A randomized controlled trial. *Neurosci. Lett.* (2018) 681:68–72. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2018.05.030
- 32. González-Blanco L, Garcia-Portilla MP, Garcia-Alvarez L, de la Fuente-Tomas L, Garcia CI, Saiz PA, et al. Elevated C-reactive protein as a predictor of a random one-year clinical course in the first ten years of schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 269:688–91. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.08.042
- 33. Hatziagelaki E, Tsiavou A, Gerasimou C, Vavougios GD, Spathis A, Laskos E, et al. Effects of olanzapine on cytokine profile and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in drug-naive subjects with first-episode psychosis. *Exp Ther Med.* (2019) 17:3071–6. doi: 10.3892/etm.2019.7285

- 34. He X, Ma Q, Fan Y, Zhao B, Wang W, Zhu F, et al. The role of cytokines in predicting the efficacy of acute stage treatment in patients with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2020) 16:191–9. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S2 18483
- 35. Luo Y, He H, Zhang J, Ou Y, Fan N. Changes in serum TNF-alpha, IL-18, and IL-6 concentrations in patients with chronic schizophrenia at admission and at discharge. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2019) 90:82–7. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2019.01.003
- Mondelli V, Ciufolini S, Belvederi Murri M, Bonaccorso S, Di Forti M, Giordano A, et al. Cortisol and inflammatory biomarkers predict poor treatment response in first episode psychosis. *Schizophr Bull*. (2015) 41:1162– 70. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv028
- Nettis MA, Pergola G, Kolliakou A, O'Connor J, Bonaccorso S, David A, et al. Metabolic-inflammatory status as predictor of clinical outcome at 1-year follow-up in patients with first episode psychosis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2019) 99:145–53. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.09.005
- Noto MN, Maes M, Nunes SOV, Ota VK, Rossaneis AC, Verri WA, et al. Activation of the immune-inflammatory response system and the compensatory immune-regulatory system in antipsychotic naive first episode psychosis. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2019) 29:416–31. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2018.12.008
- Sobiś J, Rykaczewska-Czerwińska M, Swietochowska E, Gorczyca P. Therapeutic effect of aripiprazole in chronic schizophrenia is accompanied by anti-inflammatory activity. *Pharmacol Rep.* (2015) 67:353–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2014.09.007
- Strzelecki D, Urban-Kowalczyk M, Wysokiński A. Serum levels of TNF-alpha in patients with chronic schizophrenia during treatment augmentation with sarcosine (results of the PULSAR study). *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 268:447–53. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.08.002
- de Witte L, Tomasik J, Schwarz E, Guest PC, Rahmoune H, Kahn RS, et al. Cytokine alterations in first-episode schizophrenia patients before and after antipsychotic treatment. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 154:23–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.02.005
- Zhang XY, Zhou DF, Qi LY, Chen S, Cao LY, Chen DC, et al. Superoxide dismutase and cytokines in chronic patients with schizophrenia: association with psychopathology and response to antipsychotics. *Psychopharmacology*. (2009) 204:177–84. doi: 10.1007/s00213-008-1447-6
- Zhang L, Zheng H, Wu R, Zhu F, Kosten TR, Zhang X-Y, et al. Minocycline adjunctive treatment to risperidone for negative symptoms in schizophrenia: Association with pro-inflammatory cytokine levels. *Prog Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry.* (2018) 85:69–76. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.04.004
- 44. Bossù P, Piras F, Palladino I, Iorio M, Salani F, Ciaramella A, et al. Hippocampal volume and depressive symptoms are linked to serum IL-18 in schizophrenia. *Neurol NeuroImmunol NeuroInflammation*. (2015) 2:e111. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000111
- 45. Cannon TD, Chung Y, He G, Sun D, Jacobson A, van Erp TGM, et al. Progressive reduction in cortical thickness as psychosis develops: a multisite longitudinal neuroimaging study of youth at elevated clinical risk. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2015) 77:147–57. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.05.023
- 46. de Picker L, Ottoy J, Verhaeghe J, Deleye S, Wyffels L, Fransen E, et al. State-associated changes in longitudinal [18F]-PBR111 TSPO PET imaging of psychosis patients: evidence for the accelerated ageing hypothesis? *Brain Behav Immun.* (2019) 77:46–54. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2018.11.318
- 47. Fillman SG, Weickert TW, Lenroot RK, Catts SV, Bruggemann JM, Catts VS, et al. Elevated peripheral cytokines characterize a subgroup of people with schizophrenia displaying poor verbal fluency and reduced Broca's area volume. *Mol. Psychiatry*. (2016) 21:1090–8. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.90
- Hoseth EZ, Westlye LT, Hope S, Dieset I, Aukrust P, Melle I, et al. Association between cytokine levels, verbal memory and hippocampus volume in psychotic disorders and healthy controls. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2016) 133:53– 62. doi: 10.1111/acps.12467
- Jacomb I, Stanton C, Vasudevan R, Powell H, O'Donnell M, Lenroot R, et al. C-reactive protein: higher during acute psychotic episodes and related to cortical thickness in schizophrenia and healthy controls. *Front. Immunol.* (2018) 9:2230. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02230
- 50. Kudo N, Yamamori H, Ishima T, Nemoto K, Yasuda Y, Fujimoto M, et al. Plasma levels of soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor 2 (STNFR2)

are associated with hippocampal volume and cognitive performance in patients with schizophrenia. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2018) 21:631–9. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/pyy013

- Lesh TA, Careaga M, Rose DR, McAllister AK, Van de Water J, Carter CS, et al. Cytokine alterations in first-episode schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: relationships to brain structure and symptoms. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2018) 15:165. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1197-2
- Lizano P, Lutz O, Ling G, Lee AM, Eum S, Bishop JR, et al. Association of choroid plexus enlargement with cognitive, inflammatory, and structural phenotypes across the psychosis spectrum. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2019) 176:564– 72. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.18070825
- Tsai S, Sajatovic M, Hsu J, Chung K, Chen P, Huang Y. Body mass index, residual psychotic symptoms, and inflammation associated with brain volume reduction in older patients with schizophrenia. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2020) 35:728–36. doi: 10.1002/gps.5291
- 54. Wu D, Lv P, Li F, Zhang W, Fu G, Dai J, et al. Association of peripheral cytokine levels with cerebral structural abnormalities in schizophrenia. *Brain Res.* (2019) 1724:146463. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2019. 146463
- 55. Johnsen E, Fathian F, Kroken RA, Steen VM, Jørgensen HA, Gjestad R, et al. The serum level of C-reactive protein (CRP) is associated with cognitive performance in acute phase psychosis. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2016) 16:60. doi: 10.1186/s12888-016-0769-x
- Upthegrove R, Khandaker GM. Cytokines, oxidative stress and cellular markers of inflammation in schizophrenia. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci.* (2019) 44:49–60. doi: 10.1007/7854\_2018\_88

- 57. Nettis MA, Veronese M, Nikkheslat N, Mariani N, Lombardo G, Sforzini L, et al. PET imaging shows no changes in TSPO brain density after IFN-α immune challenge in healthy human volunteers. *Transl. Psychiatry.* (2020) 10:89. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-0768-z
- Stang A. Critical evaluation of the Newcastle-Ottawa scale for the assessment of the quality of nonrandomized studies in meta-analyses. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* (2010) 25:603–5. doi: 10.1007/s10654-010-9491-z

**Conflict of Interest:** CP and VM have received research funding from Johnson and Johnson as part of a research program on depression and inflammation. CP has received research funding from the Medical Research Council (UK) and the Wellcome Trust for research on depression and inflammation as part of two large consortia that also include Johnson and Johnson, GSK and Lundbeck. PD has received speaker honoraria from Lundbeck and Janssen.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Kose, Pariante, Dazzan and Mondelli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




# White Matter Correlates of Theory of Mind in Patients With First-Episode Psychosis

Nahrie Suk Kim<sup>1,2</sup>, Tae Young Lee<sup>3,4</sup>, Wu Jeong Hwang<sup>1</sup>, Yoo Bin Kwak<sup>1</sup>, Seowoo Kim<sup>1</sup>, Sun-Young Moon<sup>3</sup>, Silvia Kyungjin Lho<sup>3</sup>, Sanghoon Oh<sup>3</sup> and Jun Soo Kwon<sup>1,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Brain and Cognitive Sciences, Seoul National University College of Natural Science, Seoul, South Korea, <sup>2</sup> Biomedical Research Institute, Pusan National University Yangsan Hospital, Yangsan, South Korea, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea, <sup>4</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Pusan National University Yangsan Hospital, Yangsan, South Korea

Deficits in theory of mind (ToM) are considered as a distinctive feature of schizophrenia.

# Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies have suggested that aberrant activity among the regions comprising the mentalizing network is related to observed ToM deficits. However, the white matter structures underlying the ToM functional network in schizophrenia remain unclear. To investigate the relationship between white matter integrity and ToM impairment, 35 patients with first-episode psychosis (FEP) and 29 matched healthy controls (HCs) underwent diffusion tensor imaging (DTI). Using tract-based spatial statistics (TBSS), fractional anisotropy (FA) values of the two regions of interest (ROI)–the cingulum and superior longitudinal fasciculus (SLF)–were acquired, and correlational analysis with ToM task scores was performed. Among the patients with FEP, ToM strange story scores were positively correlated with the FA values of the left cingulum and left SLF. There was no significant correlation between FA and ToM task scores in HCs. These results suggest that the left cingulum and SLF constitute a possible neural basis for ToM deficits in schizophrenia. Our study is the first to demonstrate the white matter connectivity underlying the mentalizing network, as well as its relation to ToM ability in patients with FEP.

Keywords: social cognition, theory of mind, schizophrenia, first episode psychosis, DTI, TBSS, white matter

# INTRODUCTION

Social cognition abnormalities are core features of schizophrenia (1, 2). Among many aspects of social cognition, deficits in theory of mind (ToM) are consistently reported in patients with schizophrenia across different stages of the disease (3-5). ToM is the mentalizing capacity to infer others' thoughts, intentions, beliefs, and emotions (6). Compared to its severity in other psychiatric disorders, ToM impairment is more severe in schizophrenia (7) and is strongly associated with psychopathology, neurocognitive function, and general functioning (1, 7-11). The impairment has trait-like characteristics that precede the onset of illness and persist across disease progression, even after remission (12-14). Moreover, ToM deficits have been reported as a possible predictor of illness onset among individuals with high-risk psychosis (15). Taken together, these observations suggest the significance of ToM in understanding the pathophysiology of schizophrenia.

# **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Luca De Peri, Cantonal Sociopsychological Organization, Switzerland

#### Reviewed by:

Xiaohua Liu, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China Teresa Sanchez-Gutierrez, Universidad Internacional De La Rioja, Spain

> \*Correspondence: Jun Soo Kwon kwonjs@snu.ac.kr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 15 October 2020 Accepted: 08 February 2021 Published: 05 March 2021

#### Citation:

Kim NS, Lee TY, Hwang WJ, Kwak YB, Kim S, Moon S-Y, Lho SK, Oh S and Kwon JS (2021) White Matter Correlates of Theory of Mind in Patients With First-Episode Psychosis. Front. Psychiatry 12:617683. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.617683

108

Over the last few decades, the neural correlates of ToM have been largely investigated using the functional magnetic resonance (fMRI) approach (16, 17). According to studies in healthy subjects, the mentalizing network, including the medial pre-frontal cortex (mPFC), temporoparietal junction (TPJ), and precuneus/posterior cingulate cortex (PCC), is activated during the performance of various ToM tasks, regardless of task modality (2, 17–20). In schizophrenia, the aberrant activities of the mPFC, TPJ, and precuneus/PCC within the mentalizing network were related to ToM deficits (21–26).

To specify the direct structural connections among the abovementioned ToM regions, white matter studies are necessary. However, there are insufficient number of studies, despite the crucial roles of white matter structures in connecting distal cortical areas (17). Particularly in schizophrenia, only a few studies have attempted to investigate the relationship between white matter and social cognition, such as face perception (27), emotion attribution (28), empathy (29), and social relationships (30). Structural abnormalities that may cause disrupted neural activations and ToM impairment in schizophrenia have not yet been studied.

To explore the white matter neural correlates of ToM deficits in schizophrenia, the cingulum and superior longitudinal fasciculus (SLF) were selected as the white matter regions of interest (ROIs). According to the previous fMRI studies in schizophrenia and DTI literature from healthy individuals and those with other diseases, the two ROIs connect the crucial nodes of mentalizing network as the cingulum passes mPFC and precuneus/PCC and SLF passes through the PFC and TPJ (17, 31–33).

The aim of this study was to investigate the association between ToM deficits and the cingulum and the SLF. With respect to ToM performance, it was hypothesized that patients with FEP would have decreased ToM abilities compared to those of HCs. Additionally, considering previous findings, impaired ToM abilities in FEP patients were hypothesized to be related to the FA reduction in the cingulum and SLF.

# **METHODS**

# **Participants**

Thirty-five patients with FEP and 29 HCs participated in the study. Age, sex, and handedness were matched between the groups. All participants were part of a prospective cohort study recruited from the psychosis clinic at Seoul National University Hospital. Past and current psychotic symptoms of the patients were evaluated using the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) (34), and a Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I disorders (SCID-I) was administered. Additionally, Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) and Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAM-D) scores were collected. The inclusion criteria for FEP patients were being aged between 15 and 37 years old with a brief psychotic disorder, schizophreniform disorder, schizophrenia, or schizoaffective disorder. The duration of the illness of all FEP individuals was less than a year. Individuals were excluded from the HC group if they had a past or current SCID-I Non-patient Edition (SCID-NP) axis I

diagnosis and any first- to third-degree biological relatives with a psychiatric disorder. The exclusion criteria for both groups were substance abuse, medical illness that could cause psychiatric symptoms, intellectual disability (intelligence quotient [IQ] <70), neurological disorders, or previous head injury. The study procedures were explained in detail to all participants, who then provided written informed consent. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Seoul National University Hospital.

# **Behavioral Measures**

ToM was assessed with the short form of two verbal ToM tasks: the false belief and strange story tasks (35–38). All tasks were translated into Korean by psychiatrists and clinical psychologists, taking cultural backgrounds into accounts (39). The false belief task consisted of first-order (35) and second-order (36) tasks. The first-order task was used to evaluate whether the subject recognized a character's false belief about reality. The secondorder task questioned a character's understanding of the other character's mental state. Each task is comprised of a short vignette with a picture and two questions: one for the comprehension test and the other to assess the subjects' capacity to infer the character's thoughts (justification question). The maximum total score of the false belief task was 12 points.

The strange story task (38) consisted of eight vignettes, each accompanied by a picture and two questions: one for comprehension test and the other to measure subjects' cognitive capacity to infer the character's mental state and emotion in complex naturalistic situations. The task included two examples for each of the four types of stories: double bluff, white lie, persuasion, and misunderstanding. The maximum score of the story task was 26.

# Image Acquisition and DTI Pre-processing

All participants underwent magnetic resonance imaging scanning on a 3T scanner (MAGNETOM Trio Tim Syngo MR B17, 12 channel head coil, Siemens, Erlangen, Germany) at Seoul National University Hospital. Diffusion tensor images were acquired via echo-planar imaging with the following parameters: TR 11400 ms, TE 88 ms, matrix 128 × 128, FOV 240 mm and a voxel size of  $1.9 \times 1.9 \times 3.5$ . Diffusion-sensitizing gradient echo encoding was applied in 64 directions using a diffusion-weighting factor b of 1,000 s/mm<sup>2</sup>. One volume was acquired with b factor of 0 s/mm<sup>2</sup> (without gradient).

The diffusion images were pre-processed via three steps with the FSL software package (version 5.0.10; https://fsl.fmrib.ox.ac. uk/fsl/fslwiki/). First, the eddy-current correction was applied to correct distortions and subject movements. Then, the skull was removed by the brain extraction tool (BET). After the BET process, raw brain images underwent visual inspection, and one healthy control was excluded because the dorsal surface of the brain was not covered in the MRI. As the final step, DTIFIT was applied to fit the diffusion tensor model, and individual FA values were obtained.



# **Region of Interest**

To test the structural connectivity among the mentalizing network, two white matter tracts were selected as the regions of interest (ROI). The tracts included the left and right cingulum, which pass through the PFC and precuneus, and the left and right SLF, which pass through the mPFC and TPJ. The ROI masks were obtained from Johns Hopkins University ICBM-DTI-81 white-matter labels atlas (40–42) (**Figure 1**).

# **DTI Processing**

Voxel-wise statistical analysis was performed using tract-based spatial statistics (TBSS) in FSL (43, 44). First, a brain mask was generated as a pre-processing step. Then, all subjects' FA images were aligned into a 1 mm  $\times$  1 mm  $\times$  1 mm Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) 152 space via FMRIB's Non-linear Image Registration Tool (FNIRT). The aligned images were all merged into a single 4D image file, and the mean FA image was created. A 4D image of the FA skeleton was generated from the mean FA with a threshold of 0.2.

Voxel-wise significant differences between the FEP and HC were investigated using the randomize tool in TBSS. Before processing, age, sex, and handedness were demeaned and fed into the design matrix and contrast file as covariates. The randomize was carried out with 5,000 permutations and threshold-free cluster enhancement (TFCE). The left and right cingulum

and SLF masks were used as ROI masks. The threshold for significance was p < 0.05.

# **Statistical Analysis**

The age, sex, and handedness of the final set of subjects were tested to determine whether the variables matched between the groups. The normality of the ToM task scores (e.g., false belief and strange story) was verified, and the scores were compared between the groups via the Mann-Whitney test.

To explore the correlation between ToM task results and the white matter integrity of ROIs, the individual mean FA of each ROI was acquired from 3D individual skeleton images. The individual images were obtained by splitting the 4D skeleton image, which was created from TBSS analysis. Correlation analyses were performed for each mean FA of the cingulum and SLF for both the left and right sides with the false belief and strange story. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS, version 25 (IBM, Armonk, N.Y.).

# RESULTS

## **Demographic Data**

The demographic data of the subjects are presented in **Table 1**. There were no significant differences in the sex ratio, age, handedness, IQ, and education year between the FEP and HC groups.

Variables	FEP patients	HCs	Statist	ics
	(n = 35)	(n = 28)	$\chi^2$ , <b>F</b> or t	р
Age (years)	$23.40\pm5.76$	21.68 ± 3.48	-0.612	0.543
Sex (male/female)	16/19	15/13	0.384	0.535
Handedness (right/left) <sup>†</sup>	30/5	26/2	0.804	0.370
IQ	$98.11 \pm 13.94$	$100.50 \pm 10.63$	0.748	0.458
Education (year)	$13.26\pm2.02$	$13.79\pm1.89$	-1.187	0.235
Parental SES score	$2.71\pm0.86$	$2.79\pm0.63$	4.28	0.233
PANSS total	$68.54 \pm 12.00$			
PANSS positive	$16.23\pm4.61$			
PANSS negative	$17.63 \pm 4.64$			
PANSS general	$34.69\pm6.80$			
GAF	$47.8 \pm 11.31$			
HAM-D	$10.54 \pm 4.83$			
Olanzapine equivalent dose of antipsychotics (mg/day)	9.07 ± 8.54			

Data are given as the mean  $\pm$  S.D.

<sup>†</sup>Classified using Annett Hand Preference Questionnaire.

FEP, first-episode psychosis; HC, healthy control; SES, socioeconomic status; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale; GAF, Global Assessment of Functioning; HAM-D, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale.

TABLE 2   Theory of mind task results.									
Variables	FEP patients	HCs	Statistics						
	(n = 35)	(n = 28)	Z	p					
False belief task	$7.54\pm2.24$	$9.68 \pm 2.21$	-3.506	0.000					
Strange story task	$20.06\pm2.84$	$22.75\pm1.65$	-4.049	0.000					

Data are given as the mean  $\pm$  S.D.

FEP, first-episode psychosis; HC, healthy control.

## **Theory of Mind Task Scores**

The Mann-Whitney test revealed significant group differences in the two ToM task scores (**Table 2**). FEP patients exhibited significantly worse performance than HCs in the false belief task (z = -3.506, p < 0.001) and strange story task (z = -4.049, p < 0.001). The ToM task results are presented in **Figure 2**.

## **TBSS Data and Correlations**

TBSS analysis showed no significant voxel-wise difference in any of the ROI regions between FEP and HC groups. To explore the relationship between ToM and white matter integrity, correlational analyses were performed. The results, presented in **Figure 3**, showed a significant positive correlation between the FA value of the left cingulum and strange story task scores in FEP patients (r = 0.35, p = 0.039). Also, a significant positive correlation was observed between the FA value of the left SLF and the scores of the strange story task (r = 0.374, p = 0.027) in FEP patients. No correlation was found between the FA values and false belief scores in FEP patients. There was no significant correlation among the FA values and any ToM task in HCs.

# DISCUSSION

The present study was designed to explore the structural basis of theory of mind (ToM) deficits in schizophrenia. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first attempt to demonstrate the relationship between white matter integrity and ToM in firstepisode psychosis (FEP). The results of the false belief task and strange story task showed that the patients with FEP had impaired ToM abilities. The correlation analysis revealed positive associations between the integrity of left ROIs and ToM deficits in FEP patients. However, this correlation was not observed in the healthy controls (HCs). These findings underscore the crucial roles of the left cingulum and left SLF as the structural basis of impaired ToM abilities in FEP.

# ToM Abilities in FEP

The ToM task results were consistent with previous studies that showed decreased ToM performance in FEP patients (5, 45, 46). In this study, two verbal ToM tasks-the false belief task and strange story task-were conducted. The false belief task is the most heavily researched ToM task and is used to assess participants' ability to understand others' mental states, such as thoughts and intentions. The strange story task, invented to measure higher-order ToM, is employed to evaluate the ability to infer not only the thoughts or intentions but also the emotions of others in complex naturalistic situations (38). In the false belief task, FEP patients scored significantly lower than healthy controls, suggesting that the patients have an impaired ability to recognize others' mental states. Similar to the false belief results, the strange story scores of FEP patients were also significantly lower than those of HCs, suggesting the difficulties patients have in inferring others' mental states and emotions in complex situations. These results are in line with previous findings showing ToM deficits as a distinctive feature of schizophrenia, which is found not only in chronic patients but also in the early course of the disease and even in remission (12, 14, 47). As previous meta-analysis studies have suggested, these ToM impairments may be related to the functional outcome of the patients and could be able to predict prognosis (1, 9, 11).

## White Matter Integrity and ToM Abilities

The two ROIs-the cingulum and SLF-were selected based on the atlas-listed white matter tracts that are reported to connect the nodes of the mentalizing network; the mPFC, TPJ, and precuneus/PCC. Our results suggest that the integrity of these white matter ROIs are positively correlated with the strange story task performance in FEP. The correlations were maintained in significant level (p < 0.05) even after controlling age and olanzapine equivalent antipsychotic doses (**Supplementary Tables 3**, **5**). This finding is in line with recent DTI studies in healthy children and other patient groups reporting that ToM abilities were associated with the integrity of the cingulum and SLF (31–33, 48).



**FIGURE 2** | Individual scores of theory of mind tasks (false belief task, strange task) tested using Mann-Whitney. (A) False belief scores of FEP patients and HCs (Z = -3.506, p < 0.001). (B) Strange story scores of FEP patients and HCs (Z = -4.049, p < 0.001). FE, first-episode psychosis; HC, healthy control. \*\*\* $P \le 0.001$ .



**FIGURE 3** | Correlations between the mean fractional anisotropy (FA) values and the strange story task score in first-episode psychosis (FEP) patients. (A) The mean FA of the left cingulum and the strange story score (r = 0.350;  $\rho = 0.039$ ). (B) The mean FA of the left superior longitudinal fasciculus (SLF) and the strange story score (r = 0.374;  $\rho = 0.027$ ).

The cingulum is an association fiber tract that starts from the mPFC and passes through the PCC and precuneus. More precisely, a probabilistic tractography study has revealed that among the listed tracts in the atlas, the cingulum overlaps with 62.59% of the dorsomedial pre-frontal cortex (dmPFC)– PCC fibers and 92.01% of the ventromedial pre-frontal cortex (vmPFC)–PCC fibers (17). The cingulum is known to be involved in attention, memory, and emotional processing (49, 50) and has been postulated as a major white matter tract comprising the mentalizing network (31). In schizophrenia, decreased FA in the cingulum has been reported in both chronic and FEP patients (51–55) and has been linked to both positive and negative symptoms and decreased neurocognition (56, 57).

The SLF is a large association fiber bundle that connects the parietal, occipital and temporal lobes with the frontal cortex (58, 59). The SLF is a core structure involved in attention, memory, language, and emotions (60–63). According to a probabilistic tractography study, 45% of fibers between the dmPFC and TPJ

overlap with the SLF (17). Similar to the cingulum, abnormalities in the SLF have been observed in schizophrenia (64–66) and in association with symptoms and neurocognition (67, 68). Along with our results, the abovementioned observations provide converging evidence that the cingulum and SLF are key structures underlying the symptoms and both social and non-social cognitions of schizophrenia.

In this study, only the strange story task scores that reflect higher order ToM were correlated with white matter integrity in FEP patients. According to previous research, complex and higher-order ToM continues to mature until adulthood (47, 69, 70). Several imaging studies have demonstrated neural activations and brain structures related to higher-order ToM change throughout adolescence (71–73). This evidence suggests that the correlation between strange story scores and white matter may reflect an abnormal developmental trajectory of higher-order ToM and related white matter structures in schizophrenia. These findings corroborate the neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia (74, 75) and could offer insight into the pathophysiology of the disease, especially focusing on the prodromal stage and early phase.

In contrast to the results of FEP patients, no correlation between the ToM task scores and WM integrities were found in HCs. There can be several reasons for this. First, the homogeneity of the HC group could have led to smaller intragroup variations of the task scores. It is known that age and education level are associated with theory of mind ability (76) but those factors were strictly controlled in this study. Second, it is possible that HCs are less dependent on the direct white matter pathways connecting the mentalizing network regions. Instead, they could use various direct and indirect structural connections among distal brain regions to subserve ToM ability since their neural structures are relatively intact compared to schizophrenia patients. Conversely, schizophrenia patients may utilize large white matter bundles such as cingulum and SLF for ToM process due to the extensive neural degeneration. To specify the association of white matter structures and ToM ability in healthy participants, further research is needed with other ToM task modalities, such as "reading the mind in the eyes" test and subjects with different conditions.

Another finding of the study is that only the left ROIs showed correlation with the ToM task scores in FEP patients. This result matches with the studies of children with traumatic brain injury and patients with surgical resection for diffuse low-grade glioma that reported associations between the left cingulum and ToM abilities (33, 77). These observations suggest that the key white matter structures underlying ToM deficits in FEP may be lateralized to the left hemisphere. However, several studies have indicated that the bilateral or right cingulum is related to ToM abilities (31, 78). Such inconsistency is also evident in findings related to the SLF (32, 48, 78–81).

Despite the inconsistent results, there are studies that have proposed the right SLF may play a crucial role in ToM abilities, while the left contributes mainly to language processing (78, 82). This argument is in contrast to our findings, which showed a relation between the left SLF and ToM ability in FEP patients. There are several possible explanations for this discrepancy. First, different subject groups may result in different outcomes. The "right social brain" argument was developed based on studies of healthy participants and brain damaged patients. However, multiple fMRI studies in schizophrenia and FEP patients have reported bilateral abnormalities in ToM networks (21, 83, 84). This observation suggests that the association between white matter and ToM in schizophrenia may be different than that in other groups.

In addition, the laterality difference between other subject groups and FEP patients may reflect Crows' lateralization hypotheses of schizophrenia (85). Numerous studies have indicated reduced or altered asymmetry in both brain functional connectivity and structures in schizophrenia patients (86, 87), and such alterations are also found in FEP patients (68, 85). These abnormalities in brain asymmetry and functional outcomes are related to developmental problems and the laterality changes in accordance with age (88). Therefore, factors such as the age of onset are closely related to abnormal brain asymmetry (89). Along with the variance in ToM task modalities and heterogeneity among FEP groups, altered or reduced brain asymmetry may have affected the results differently. Since this is the first attempt to investigate the specific white matter structure underlying ToM deficits in schizophrenia, future studies will be necessary to provide reliable evidence on the structural basis of ToM impairment.

# Limitations

Several limitations must be taken into consideration when interpreting the present results. First, no significant differences in FA values between FEP patients and HCs were found in this study. Several DTI studies have reported that the arcuate fasciculus, SLF, and cingulum are intact in FEP patients (90-92), while others have reported white matter alterations in the SLF and cingulum (54, 65). Such inconsistencies may reflect the heterogeneity of the FEP subjects. Symptoms, medications, age of onset, treatment intervention, and other factors may affect white matter changes differently. Additionally, if abnormal structures in FEP patients were located in small sub regions within the cingulum or SLF, the ROI-based TBSS approach would not be able to detect these abnormalities. Since the cingulum and SLF are widely distributed fiber tracts connecting various distal brain regions, averaging the FA values across the whole ROI risks losing some valuable information. To address these issues and to define precise fiber tracts related to impaired ToM in FEP, a probabilistic tractography analysis while controlling the covariates would be necessary in future studies. Second, unlike previous studies the FEP patients in this study were on antipsychotics at the time of scanning and ToM measurements. Antipsychotics are known to be associated with structural alteration in brain (93). However, there was no correlation between olanzapine equivalent antipsychotic doses of the FEP patients and their FA values of white matter ROIs in this study (Supplementary Table 2). Also, the additional partial correlational analysis revealed that the positive correlations between higher order ToM and left cingulum and left SLF were maintained in significant level (p <0.05) even after controlling the effect of antipsychotics. Although, given the previous studies that antipsychotics are associated with white matter alteration (94), it may be beneficial to investigate the relationship between white matter and ToM in drug-naïve FEP patients in future studies.

# CONCLUSION

Our study was the first to demonstrate the association between FA values in two white matter tracts, the cingulum and the SLF, and ToM ability in FEP patients. This white matter study using DTI methods extends our insight into the neural basis of ToM and suggests that the left cingulum and SLF are vital structures underlying the impairment of ToM in schizophrenia.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Academic Affairs Institutional Review Board Seoul National University Hospital. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

NK: conceptualization, methodology, software, validation, formal analysis, investigation, data curation, writing-original draft, writing-review and editing, and visualization. TL: conceptualization, methodology, validation, writing-review and editing, and supervision. WH: conceptualization, methodology, and writing-review and editing. YK: software and writing-review and editing. SK: validation, investigation, and writing-review and editing. S-YM: investigation and writing-review and editing. SL: investigation and writing-review and editing.

# REFERENCES

- Fett AK, Viechtbauer W, Dominguez MD, Penn DL, van Os J, Krabbendam L. The relationship between neurocognition and social cognition with functional outcomes in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2011) 35:573–88. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.07.001
- Green MF, Horan WP, Lee J. Social cognition in schizophrenia. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2015) 16:620–31. doi: 10.1038/nrn4005
- Frith CD, Corcoran R. Exploring 'theory of mind' in people with schizophrenia. *Psychol Med.* (1996) 26:521– 30. doi: 10.1017/S0033291700035601
- Sprong M, Schothorst P, Vos E, Hox J, van Engeland H. Theory of mind in schizophrenia: meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry. (2007) 191:5– 13. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.107.035899
- Bora E, Pantelis C. Theory of mind impairments in first-episode psychosis, individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis and in first-degree relatives of schizophrenia: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 144:31–6. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.12.013
- Frith CD, Frith U. The neural basis of mentalizing. *Neuron*. (2006) 50:531– 4. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.05.001
- Bora E, Yucel M, Pantelis C. Theory of mind impairment in schizophrenia: meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2009) 109:1– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.12.020
- Roncone R, Falloon IR, Mazza M, De Risio A, Pollice R, Necozione S, et al. Is theory of mind in schizophrenia more strongly associated with clinical and social functioning than with neurocognitive deficits? *Psychopathology*. (2002) 35:280–8. doi: 10.1159/000067062
- Champagne-Lavau M, Charest A, Anselmo K, Rodriguez JP, Blouin G. Theory of mind and context processing in schizophrenia: the role of cognitive flexibility. *Psychiatry Res.* (2012) 200:184– 92. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2012.06.011
- Cotter J, Granger K, Backx R, Hobbs M, Looi CY, Barnett JH. Social cognitive dysfunction as a clinical marker: a systematic review of metaanalyses across 30 clinical conditions. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2018) 84:92– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.11.014
- Catalan A, Angosto V, Diaz A, Martinez N, Guede D, Pereda M, et al. The relationship between theory of mind deficits and neurocognition in first episode-psychosis. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 268:361–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.06.066
- 12. Inoue Y, Yamada K, Hirano M, Shinohara M, Tamaoki T, Iguchi H, et al. Impairment of theory of mind in patients in remission following first

SO: investigation and writing-review and editing. JK: conceptualization, writing-review and editing, resources, supervision, project administration, and funding acquisition. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This research was supported by the Brain Research Program through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) funded by the Ministry of Science, ICT & Future Planning (Grant No. 2017M3C7A1029610).

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.617683/full#supplementary-material

episode of schizophrenia. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2006) 256:326–8. doi: 10.1007/s00406-006-0608-z

- Green MF, Bearden CE, Cannon TD, Fiske AP, Hellemann GS, Horan WP, et al. Social cognition in schizophrenia, part 1: performance across phase of illness. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:854–64. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbq171
- Lee TY, Hong SB, Shin NY, Kwon JS. Social cognitive functioning in prodromal psychosis: a meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 164:28– 34. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.02.008
- Kim HS, Shin NY, Jang JH, Kim E, Shim G, Park HY, et al. Social cognition and neurocognition as predictors of conversion to psychosis in individuals at ultra-high risk. *Schizophr Res.* (2011) 130:170–5. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.04.023
- Kronbichler L, Tschernegg M, Martin AI, Schurz M, Kronbichler M. Abnormal brain activation during theory of mind tasks in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Schizophr Bull*. (2017) 43:1240–50. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx073
- Wang Y, Metoki A, Alm KH, Olson IR. White matter pathways and social cognition. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2018) 90:350– 70. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.04.015
- Carrington SJ, Bailey AJ. Are there theory of mind regions in the brain? A review of the neuroimaging literature. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2009) 30:2313– 35. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20671
- Schurz M, Radua J, Aichhorn M, Richlan F, Perner J. Fractionating theory of mind: a meta-analysis of functional brain imaging studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2014) 42:9–34. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.01.009
- 20. Mar RA. The neural bases of social cognition and story comprehension. *Annu Rev Psychol.* (2011) 62:103–34. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-120709-145406
- Lee J, Quintana J, Nori P, Green MF. Theory of mind in schizophrenia: exploring neural mechanisms of belief attribution. Soc Neurosci. (2011) 6:569– 81. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2011.620774
- de Achával D, Villarreal MF, Costanzo EY, Douer J, Castro MN, Mora MC, et al. Decreased activity in right-hemisphere structures involved in social cognition in siblings discordant for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 134:171–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.11.010
- Das P, Lagopoulos J, Coulston CM, Henderson AF, Malhi GS. Mentalizing impairment in schizophrenia: a functional MRI study. *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 134:158–64. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.08.019
- Eack SM, Wojtalik JA, Newhill CE, Keshavan MS, Phillips ML. Prefrontal cortical dysfunction during visual perspective-taking in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 150:491–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.08.022
- 25. Dodell-Feder D, Tully LM, Lincoln SH, Hooker CI. The neural basis of theory of mind and its relationship to social functioning and social

anhedonia in individuals with schizophrenia. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2014) 4:154–63. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2013.11.006

- Bartholomeusz CF, Ganella EP, Whittle S, Allott K, Thompson A, Abu-Akel A, et al. An fMRI study of theory of mind in individuals with first episode psychosis. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2018) 281:1– 11. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2018.08.011
- Zhao X, Sui Y, Yao J, Lv Y, Zhang X, Jin Z, et al. Reduced white matter integrity and facial emotion perception in never-medicated patients with first-episode schizophrenia: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2017) 77:57–64. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.03.025
- Miyata J, Yamada M, Namiki C, Hirao K, Saze T, Fujiwara H, et al. Reduced white matter integrity as a neural correlate of social cognition deficits in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 119:232–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.12.038
- Fujino J, Takahashi H, Miyata J, Sugihara G, Kubota M, Sasamoto A, et al. Impaired empathic abilities and reduced white matter integrity in schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2014) 48:117– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2013.09.018
- 30. Saito Y, Kubicki M, Koerte I, Otsuka T, Rathi Y, Pasternak O, et al. Impaired white matter connectivity between regions containing mirror neurons, and relationship to negative symptoms and social cognition, in patients with first-episode schizophrenia. *Brain Imaging Behav.* (2018) 12:229–37. doi: 10.1007/s11682-017-9685-z
- Yordanova YN, Duffau H, Herbet G. Neural pathways subserving face-based mentalizing. *Brain Struct Funct.* (2017) 222:3087– 105. doi: 10.1007/s00429-017-1388-0
- 32. Jalbrzikowski M, Villalon-Reina JE, Karlsgodt KH, Senturk D, Chow C, Thompson PM, et al. Altered white matter microstructure is associated with social cognition and psychotic symptoms in 22q11.2 microdeletion syndrome. *Front Behav Neurosci.* (2014) 8:393. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00393
- Levin HS, Wilde EA, Hanten G, Li X, Chu ZD, Vasquez AC, et al. Mental state attributions and diffusion tensor imaging after traumatic brain injury in children. *Dev Neuropsychol.* (2011) 36:273–87. doi: 10.1080/87565641.2010.549885
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1987) 13:261–76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/13.2.261
- Wimmer H, Perner J. Beliefs about beliefs: representation and constraining function of wrong beliefs in young children's understanding of deception. *Cognition*. (1983) 13:103–28. doi: 10.1016/0010-0277(83)90004-5
- Perner J, Wimmer H. "John thinks that Mary thinks that..." attribution of 2ndorder beliefs by 5-year-old to 10-year-old children. J Exp Child Psychol. (1985) 39:437–71. doi: 10.1016/0022-0965(85)90051-7
- Happé F, Brownell H, Winner E. Acquired 'theory of mind' impairments following stroke. *Cognition*. (1999) 70:211– 40. doi: 10.1016/S0010-0277(99)00005-0
- Happé FG. An advanced test of theory of mind: understanding of story characters' thoughts and feelings by able autistic, mentally handicapped, and normal children and adults. J Autism Dev Disord. (1994) 24:129– 54. doi: 10.1007/BF02172093
- Chung YS, Kang DH, Shin NY, Yoo SY, Kwon JS. Deficit of theory of mind in individuals at ultra-high-risk for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2008) 99:111–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.11.012
- 40. Mori S, Wakana S, Van Zijl PC, Nagae-Poetscher LM. *MRI Atlas of Human White Matter*. Elsevier (2005).
- Hua K, Zhang J, Wakana S, Jiang H, Li X, Reich DS, et al. Tract probability maps in stereotaxic spaces: analyses of white matter anatomy and tract-specific quantification. *Neuroimage*. (2008) 39:336–47. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.07.053
- Wakana S, Caprihan A, Panzenboeck MM, Fallon JH, Perry M, Gollub RL, et al. Reproducibility of quantitative tractography methods applied to cerebral white matter. *Neuroimage*. (2007) 36:630–44. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.02.049
- Smith SM, Jenkinson M, Johansen-Berg H, Rueckert D, Nichols TE, Mackay CE, et al. Tract-based spatial statistics: voxelwise analysis of multi-subject diffusion data. *Neuroimage*. (2006) 31:1487–505. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.02.024

- 44. Smith SM, Jenkinson M, Woolrich MW, Beckmann CF, Behrens TE, Johansen-Berg H, et al. Advances in functional and structural MR image analysis and implementation as FSL. *Neuroimage*. (2004) 23(Suppl. 1):S208– 19. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.07.051
- Song MJ, Choi HI, Jang SK, Lee SH, Ikezawa S, Choi KH. Theory of mind in Koreans with schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 229:420– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.05.108
- Lindgren M, Torniainen-Holm M, Heiskanen I, Voutilainen G, Pulkkinen U, Mehtala T, et al. Theory of mind in a first-episode psychosis population using the Hinting Task. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 263:185–92. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.03.014
- Stanford AD, Messinger J, Malaspina D, Corcoran CM. Theory of Mind in patients at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2011) 131:11– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.06.005
- Grosse Wiesmann C, Schreiber J, Singer T, Steinbeis N, Friederici AD. White matter maturation is associated with the emergence of Theory of Mind in early childhood. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:14692. doi: 10.1038/ncomms14692
- Catani M, Dell'acqua F, Thiebaut de Schotten M. A revised limbic system model for memory, emotion and behaviour. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2013) 37:1724–37. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.07.001
- Catani M, Thiebaut de Schotten M. A diffusion tensor imaging tractography atlas for virtual in vivo dissections. *Cortex.* (2008) 44:1105–32. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2008.05.004
- Kubicki M, Westin CF, Nestor PG, Wible CG, Frumin M, Maier SE, et al. Cingulate fasciculus integrity disruption in schizophrenia: a magnetic resonance diffusion tensor imaging study. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2003) 54:1171– 80. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00419-0
- Sun Z, Wang F, Cui L, Breeze J, Du X, Wang X, et al. Abnormal anterior cingulum in patients with schizophrenia: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *Neuroreport*. (2003) 14:1833–6. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200310060-00015
- Wang F, Sun Z, Cui L, Du X, Wang X, Zhang H, et al. Anterior cingulum abnormalities in male patients with schizophrenia determined through diffusion tensor imaging. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2004) 161:573– 5. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.161.3.573
- Federspiel A, Begre S, Kiefer C, Schroth G, Strik WK, Dierks T. Alterations of white matter connectivity in first episode schizophrenia. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2006) 22:702–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2006.01.015
- Lee SH, Kubicki M, Asami T, Seidman LJ, Goldstein JM, Mesholam-Gately RI, et al. Extensive white matter abnormalities in patients with first-episode schizophrenia: a Diffusion Tensor Iimaging (DTI) study. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 143:231–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.11.029
- 56. Fujiwara H, Namiki C, Hirao K, Miyata J, Shimizu M, Fukuyama H, et al. Anterior and posterior cingulum abnormalities and their association with psychopathology in schizophrenia: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *Schizophr Res.* (2007) 95:215–22. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.05.044
- Whitford TJ, Lee SW, Oh JS, de Luis-Garcia R, Savadjiev P, Alvarado JL, et al. Localized abnormalities in the cingulum bundle in patients with schizophrenia: a Diffusion Tensor tractography study. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2014) 5:93–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2014.06.003
- Schmahmann JD, Smith EE, Eichler FS, Filley CM. Cerebral white matter: neuroanatomy, clinical neurology, and neurobehavioral correlates. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2008) 1142:266–309. doi: 10.1196/annals.1444.017
- Kamali A, Flanders AE, Brody J, Hunter JV, Hasan KM. Tracing superior longitudinal fasciculus connectivity in the human brain using high resolution diffusion tensor tractography. *Brain Struct Funct*. (2014) 219:269– 81. doi: 10.1007/s00429-012-0498-y
- Klarborg B, Skak Madsen K, Vestergaard M, Skimminge A, Jernigan TL, Baare WF. Sustained attention is associated with right superior longitudinal fasciculus and superior parietal white matter microstructure in children. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2013) 34:3216–32. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22139
- Vestergaard M, Madsen KS, Baare WF, Skimminge A, Ejersbo LR, Ramsoy TZ, et al. White matter microstructure in superior longitudinal fasciculus associated with spatial working memory performance in children. *J Cogn Neurosci*. (2011) 23:2135–46. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2010.21592
- Madhavan KM, McQueeny T, Howe SR, Shear P, Szaflarski J. Superior longitudinal fasciculus and language functioning in healthy aging. *Brain Res.* (2014) 1562:11–22. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.03.012

- Multani N, Galantucci S, Wilson SM, Shany-Ur T, Poorzand P, Growdon ME, et al. Emotion detection deficits and changes in personality traits linked to loss of white matter integrity in primary progressive aphasia. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2017) 16:447–54. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2017.08.020
- 64. Buchsbaum MS, Schoenknecht P, Torosjan Y, Newmark R, Chu KW, Mitelman S, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging of frontal lobe white matter tracts in schizophrenia. *Ann Gen Psychiatry*. (2006) 5:19. doi: 10.1186/1744-859X-5-19
- Szeszko PR, Robinson DG, Ashtari M, Vogel J, Betensky J, Sevy S, et al. Clinical and neuropsychological correlates of white matter abnormalities in recent onset schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2008) 33:976– 84. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301480
- 66. Knöchel C, O'Dwyer L, Alves G, Reinke B, Magerkurth J, Rotarska-Jagiela A, et al. Association between white matter fiber integrity and subclinical psychotic symptoms in schizophrenia patients and unaffected relatives. *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 140:129–35. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012. 06.001
- Karlsgodt KH, van Erp TG, Poldrack RA, Bearden CE, Nuechterlein KH, Cannon TD. Diffusion tensor imaging of the superior longitudinal fasciculus and working memory in recent-onset schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2008) 63:512–8. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.06.017
- Szeszko PR, Tan ET, Ulug AM, Kingsley PB, Gallego JA, Rhindress K, et al. Investigation of superior longitudinal fasciculus fiber complexity in recent onset psychosis. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2018) 81:114– 21. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.10.019
- 69. O'Hare AE, Bremner L, Nash M, Happe F, Pettigrew LM. A clinical assessment tool for advanced theory of mind performance in 5 to 12 year olds. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2009) 39:916–28. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0699-2
- Kaland N, Callesen K, Moller-Nielsen A, Mortensen EL, Smith L. Performance of children and adolescents with Asperger syndrome or high-functioning autism on advanced theory of mind tasks. J Autism Dev Disord. (2008) 38:1112–23. doi: 10.1007/s10803-007-0496-8
- Wang AT, Lee SS, Sigman M, Dapretto M. Developmental changes in the neural basis of interpreting communicative intent. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2006) 1:107–21. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsl018
- 72. Moriguchi Y, Ohnishi T, Mori T, Matsuda H, Komaki G. Changes of brain activity in the neural substrates for theory of mind during childhood and adolescence. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2007) 61:355–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2007.01687.x
- Blakemore SJ. The social brain in adolescence. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2008) 9:267–77. doi: 10.1038/nrn2353
- Murray RM, Lewis SW. Is schizophrenia a neurodevelopmental disorder? Br Med J (Clin Res Ed). (1987) 295:681–2. doi: 10.1136/bmj.295.6600.681
- Owen MJ, O'Donovan MC. Schizophrenia and the neurodevelopmental continuum:evidence from genomics. World Psychiatry. (2017) 16:227– 35. doi: 10.1002/wps.20440
- 76. Franco MG, Smith PK. Theory of mind, old age, and educational opportunity in Colombia. *Int J Aging Hum Dev.* (2013) 77:107–25. doi: 10.2190/AG.77.2.b
- Herbet G, Lafargue G, Moritz-Gasser S, Menjot de Champfleur N, Costi E, Bonnetblanc F, et al. A disconnection account of subjective empathy impairments in diffuse low-grade glioma patients. *Neuropsychologia*. (2015) 70:165–76. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2015.02.015
- Herbet G, Lafargue G, Bonnetblanc F, Moritz-Gasser S, Menjot de Champfleur N, Duffau H. Inferring a dual-stream model of mentalizing from associative white matter fibres disconnection. *Brain*. (2014) 137(Pt 3):944– 59. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt370
- Cabinio M, Rossetto F, Blasi V, Savazzi F, Castelli I, Massaro D, et al. Mindreading ability and structural connectivity changes in aging. *Front Psychol.* (2015) 6:1808. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01808
- Kana RK, Libero LE, Hu CP, Deshpande HD, Colburn JS. Functional brain networks and white matter underlying theory-of-mind in autism. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2014) 9:98–105. doi: 10.1093/scan/nss106

- Herbet G, Lafargue G, Moritz-Gasser S, Bonnetblanc F, Duffau H. Interfering with the neural activity of mirror-related frontal areas impairs mentalistic inferences. *Brain Struct Funct.* (2015) 220:2159–69. doi: 10.1007/s00429-014-0777-x
- Nagae LM, Zarnow DM, Blaskey L, Dell J, Khan SY, Qasmieh S, et al. Elevated mean diffusivity in the left hemisphere superior longitudinal fasciculus in autism spectrum disorders increases with more profound language impairment. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2012) 33:1720–5. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A3037
- Brüne M, Lissek S, Fuchs N, Witthaus H, Peters S, Nicolas V, et al. An fMRI study of theory of mind in schizophrenic patients with "passivity" symptoms. *Neuropsychologia*. (2008) 46:1992–2001. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.01.023
- Beauchamp MS. The social mysteries of the superior temporal sulcus. *Trends* Cogn Sci. (2015) 19:489–90. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2015.07.002
- Crow TJ, Ball J, Bloom SR, Brown R, Bruton CJ, Colter N, et al. Schizophrenia as an anomaly of development of cerebral asymmetry. A postmortem study and a proposal concerning the genetic basis of the disease. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (1989) 46:1145–50. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1989.01810120087013
- Mitchell RL, Crow TJ. Right hemisphere language functions and schizophrenia: the forgotten hemisphere? *Brain*. (2005) 128(Pt 5):963–78. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh466
- Ribolsi M, Daskalakis ZJ, Siracusano A, Koch G. Abnormal asymmetry of brain connectivity in schizophrenia. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2014) 8:1010. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.01010
- Crow TJ, Colter N, Frith CD, Johnstone EC, Owens DG. Developmental arrest of cerebral asymmetries in early onset schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (1989) 29:247–53. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(89)90053-X
- Aso M, Kurachi M, Suzuki M, Yuasa S, Matsui M, Saitoh O. Asymmetry of the ventricle and age at the onset of schizophrenia. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*. (1995) 245:142–4. doi: 10.1007/BF02193086
- Peters BD, de Haan L, Dekker N, Blaas J, Becker HE, Dingemans PM, et al. White matter fibertracking in first-episode schizophrenia, schizoaffective patients and subjects at ultra-high risk of psychosis. *Neuropsychobiology*. (2008) 58:19–28. doi: 10.1159/000154476
- Kawashima T, Nakamura M, Bouix S, Kubicki M, Salisbury DF, Westin CF, et al. Uncinate fasciculus abnormalities in recent onset schizophrenia and affective psychosis: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *Schizophr Res.* (2009) 110:119–26. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.01.014
- Luck D, Buchy L, Czechowska Y, Bodnar M, Pike GB, Campbell JS, et al. Fronto-temporal disconnectivity and clinical short-term outcome in first episode psychosis: a DTI-tractography study. J Psychiatr Res. (2011) 45:369– 77. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.07.007
- Ho BC, Andreasen NC, Ziebell S, Pierson R, Magnotta V. Longterm antipsychotic treatment and brain volumes: a longitudinal study of first-episode schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (2011) 68:128–37. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.199
- 94. Bartzokis G, Lu PH, Nuechterlein KH, Gitlin M, Doi C, Edwards N, et al. Differential effects of typical and atypical antipsychotics on brain myelination in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2007) 93:13–22. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.02.011

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Kim, Lee, Hwang, Kwak, Kim, Moon, Lho, Oh and Kwon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Neuroimaging as a Window Into the Pathophysiological Mechanisms of Schizophrenia

#### Nina Vanessa Kraguljac and Adrienne Carol Lahti\*

Neuroimaging and Translational Research Laboratory, Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Neurobiology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Luca De Peri, Cantonal Sociopsychological Organization, Switzerland

#### Reviewed by:

Jessica A. Turner, Georgia State University, United States Xiaochen Tang, Shanghai Mental Health Center, China

\*Correspondence:

Adrienne Carol Lahti alahti@uabmc.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 03 October 2020 Accepted: 15 February 2021 Published: 11 March 2021

#### Citation:

Kraguljac NV and Lahti AC (2021) Neuroimaging as a Window Into the Pathophysiological Mechanisms of Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 12:613764. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.613764

Schizophrenia is a complex neuropsychiatric disorder with a diverse clinical phenotype that has a substantial personal and public health burden. To advance the mechanistic understanding of the illness, neuroimaging can be utilized to capture different aspects of brain pathology in vivo, including brain structural integrity deficits, functional dysconnectivity, and altered neurotransmitter systems. In this review, we consider a number of key scientific guestions relevant in the context of neuroimaging studies aimed at unraveling the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and take the opportunity to reflect on our progress toward advancing the mechanistic understanding of the illness. Our data is congruent with the idea that the brain is fundamentally affected in the illness, where widespread structural gray and white matter involvement, functionally abnormal cortical and subcortical information processing, and neurometabolic dysregulation are present in patients. Importantly, certain brain circuits appear preferentially affected and subtle abnormalities are already evident in first episode psychosis patients. We also demonstrated that brain circuitry alterations are clinically relevant by showing that these pathological signatures can be leveraged for predicting subsequent response to antipsychotic treatment. Interestingly, dopamine D2 receptor blockers alleviate neural abnormalities to some extent. Taken together, it is highly unlikely that the pathogenesis of schizophrenia is uniform, it is more plausible that there may be multiple different etiologies that converge to the behavioral phenotype of schizophrenia. Our data underscore that mechanistically oriented neuroimaging studies must take non-specific factors such as antipsychotic drug exposure or illness chronicity into consideration when interpreting disease signatures, as a clear characterization of primary pathophysiological processes is an imperative prerequisite for rational drug development and for alleviating disease burden in our patients.

Keywords: pharmacological challenge, treatment response, duration of untreated psychosis, functional MRI, magnetic resonance spectroscopy, diffusion weighted imaging, first episode psychosis, antipsychotic naïve

# INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia is a complex neuropsychiatric disorder with a diverse clinical phenotype that manifests in variable levels of positive and negative symptoms and cognitive impairment. Even though the course of the illness can be variable, for many patients the disease is chronic and debilitating, resulting in a substantial personal and public health burden (1). Available pharmacological interventions can alleviate positive symptoms, but effective treatments across symptom dimensions are lacking and a cure remains elusive. This can in part be attributed to the gaps in the knowledge of the underlying brain pathology. To close these gaps, tremendous efforts geared toward elucidating key pathophysiological brain signatures and at advancing our mechanistic understanding of the illness are undertaken with the ultimate goal to lower disease burden and improve long-term outcomes for patients.

Neuroimaging offers versatility in terms of capturing different aspects of brain pathology in vivo, including brain structural integrity deficits, functional dysconnectivity, and altered neurotransmitter systems, positioning the field well to contribute to the discovery of clinically relevant biological processes in schizophrenia. The first mechanistic discovery studies utilizing neuroimaging date back to the 1970s and 80s, when ventricular enlargement was described as a potential diagnostic marker (2-4). Since these early studies, the field has grown exponentially; more than 16,000 neuroimaging manuscripts in schizophrenia spectrum disorder patients have been published (Figure 1). Even though major strides toward delineating relevant pathophysiological processes have been made, progress in the field has been impeded by a number of confounding factors that make interpretation of data difficult. This ultimately hampers the development of a comprehensive explanatory model capturing the complex underlying pathophysiology and integrating findings from diverse imaging modalities. Two principal confounding variables need to be considered when interpreting neuroimaging studies. These are antipsychotic medication exposure and illness chronicity, which impact virtually all imaging measures. This has resulted in a debate to what extent brain imaging alterations reported in schizophrenia studies reflect primary disease pathology (5). To make further progress, it is imperative to disentangle confounding effects from illness specific brain signatures. Investigating the impact of antipsychotic medications in longitudinal brain imaging studies and studying patients in the early illness stages who have had no prior antipsychotic medication exposure affords the opportunity to characterize antipsychotic drug action, mitigate confounds and gain a more in depth understanding of the nature of the illness.

Our group's work has been dedicated to contribute to the efforts in delineating the schizophrenia pathophysiology and in disentangling disease signatures from those of antipsychotic medications and disease chronicity. In the following paragraphs, we discuss a number of key scientific questions and take the opportunity to reflect on our progress toward advancing the mechanistic understanding of the illness.

# KEY SCIENTIFIC QUESTIONS IN NEUROIMAGING RESEARCH IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

# What Can We Learn From Longitudinal Neuroimaging Studies That Investigate Antipsychotic Drug Effects?

Antipsychotic medications are the cornerstone of treating patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. They principally act on the dopamine D2 receptors (6), but also modulate a number of other neurotransmitter systems (7, 8), affect receptor expression profiles, have downstream effects on protein synthesis (9), and impact brain plasticity (9). Given the complexity of antipsychotic drug action, it is plausible that molecular imaging geared at investigating the dopamine system and other imaging markers are impacted by these medications. Longitudinal brain imaging studies that contrast neural signatures in the same patients before and after they are treated can shed light on modulatory effects of antipsychotic medications on brain structure, function and neurochemistry [for reviews of the larger field, see (10-15)]. We have conducted several studies utilizing different imaging techniques to broadly characterize antipsychotic drug effects on neural signatures (Table 1).

Our structural imaging studies show mixed results in terms of antipsychotic medication effects. We observed antipsychotic medication related changes in cortical thickness (17), but not in white matter microstructural integrity or radial fiber trophy (a surrogate marker for white matter volume) (18, 19). The disparity in effects across tissue classes is perhaps not surprising, given the different anatomical, functional and neurochemical makeup of these tissues. For example, brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is a neurotrophin that regulates synaptic plasticity (37, 38) and spine density (39). The 66met allele has been associated with diminished activity-dependent BDNF secretion (40) and decreased cortical volumes (41) but not with white matter integrity in healthy subjects (42). BDNF also is found to be abnormally low in schizophrenia (43) and can be increased by second generation antipsychotics (44). It is therefore possible that antipsychotic medication related modulation of BDNF results in alleviation of dendritic deficits in the outer layers of the cortex (45), which would be reflected in an increase in cortical thickness, but not white matter integrity. Alternatively, it is possible that the acute gray matter tissue response can be captured at the time scale at which we investigated structural changes, but the duration is not sufficient to demonstrate subtle changes in white matter architecture and microstructure that may become more evident with longer duration of antipsychotic treatment.

Our longitudinal task based and resting state functional neuroimaging studies consistently show changes associated with antipsychotic drugs at different time scales, ranging from a single dose drug administration to several weeks of treatment. Our findings are in agreement with drug challenge studies in healthy subjects demonstrating that dopamine antagonism affects brain function (46) and animal studies showing that antipsychotics can be used to restore cortical synchronization and functional connectivity after disruption with hallucinogenic



agents (47, 48). When interpreting our functional data in context of differences between patients and healthy controls, we show that antipsychotic treatment appears to, at least partially, restore abnormal brain function to levels that are more similar to those of healthy controls. We also observed a recurring theme of brain regions that are functionally modulated by antipsychotic treatment. Relevant areas include the anterior cingulate cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, caudate and putamen. This suggests that cortico-striatal circuitry may be functionally remodeled by antipsychotic medications. Interestingly, anterior cingulate and medial frontal cortex function (35, 49-52) and cortico-striatal connectivity have also been identified as critical for antipsychotic drug action by other groups (53, 54). When examining brain function on a more global level, we found that antipsychotic medications affect brain network topology, i.e., global efficiency and clustering, but not dynamic connectivity states (26, 29), which is consistent with the idea that antipsychotic medications partially but not fully restore abnormal brain function.

In our magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies, we unexpectedly did not find changes with antipsychotic medications on glutamate levels. Several lines of evidence describe complex interactions between the dopamine and glutamate systems and identify glutamate receptor complexes as potentially important indirect targets for dopamine D2 receptor blockers (55-57), suggesting antipsychotic medications may affect glutamate levels. A number of prior studies report a decrease of glutamate in the temporal lobe (58), striatum, and the anterior cingulate cortex (59), though the group failed to replicate the latter in a subsequent report (60). It is possible that this discrepancy is due to differential effects of various antipsychotic medications on the glutamate system. Alternatively, risperidone may affect glutamate levels only in a subset of patients, or the shifts in glutamatergic neurotransmission may be too subtle to be captured with magnetic resonance spectroscopy, which measures tissue metabolites rather than compartment specific levels.

Our data also suggest that heterogeneity in the patient population may need to be taken into account when examining

### TABLE 1 | Neuroimaging studies of antipsychotic drug effects from by the authors.

Authors	Year	n (HC/SZ)	Treatment duration	Imaging marker	Region of interest	Baseline group differences	Effects of antipsychotic treatment on imaging marker
Structural MRI							
Nelson et al. (16)	2018	23/37	6 weeks	Graph theory measures	Whole brain	HC< SZ in clustering, local efficiency and modularity	Baseline group differences in clustering, local efficiency, and modularity were no longer present after antipsychotic treatment
Nelson et al. (17)	2020	23/34	6 weeks	Cortical thickness, local gyrification index	Whole brain	HC> SZ in cortical thickness in the left brain hemisphere and global gyrification. HC> SZ in gyrification in the inferior frontal cortex, temporal cortex, insula, pre/postcentral gyri, temporoparietal junction, and supramarginal gyrus	Greater increase in cortical thickness after treatment was associated with a more favorable clinical response to treatment
Diffusion imaging							
Kraguljac et al. (18)	2019	42/42	6 weeks	Fractional anisotropy, mean diffusivity, radial diffusivity, radial fiber trophy	Whole brain	HC> SZ in fractional anisotropy in the medial temporal white matter, SZ> HC in mean diffusivity in the cingulum bundle	No change in microstructural diffusion indices or radial fiber trophy (surrogate marker of whit matter volume)
Kraguljac et al. (19)	2019	42/42	6 weeks	Orientation dispersion index, extracellular free water	Whole brain	HC< SZ in orientation dispersion	No change in diffusion indices
Task fMRI							
Hutcheson et al. (20)	2015	20/21	1 week	BOLD response (episodic memory retrieval task), effective connectivity	11 regions of interest	HC < SZ in BOLD response in the middle cingulate gyrus during successful memory retrieval. HC> SZ in six effective connectivity paths, within frontal nodes, fronto-temporal projections and posterior to frontal projections. HC < SZ in four effective connectivity paths	Decrease in BOLD response in the middle frontal gyrus, postcentral gyrus, precuneus, superior parietal lobule, angular gyrus, and caudate. For effective connectivity, the number of edges increased after treatment. Five paths within the frontal nodes, and frontal to posterio projections showed lesser connectivity after treatment, whereas 19 paths showed greater connectivity after treatment
Cadena et al. (21)	2018	20/22	6 weeks	BOLD response (Stroop task)	Whole brain	HC> SZ BOLD response in the ACC, caudate, putamen and midbrain	Increase in BOLD response in the ACC and caudate, decrease in BOLD response in the putamen, and midbrain
Cadena et al. (22)	2018	20/22	6 weeks	BOLD response (Stroop task)	Whole brain	HC> SZ BOLD response in the salience network and posterior default mode network	
Cadena et al. (23)	2019	20/22	6 weeks	Functional connectivity	Fronto-striatal network	HC< SZ in connectivity between the ACC, caudate and midbrain, HC> SZ between ACC and putamen	Decrease in connectivity between ACC, putamen, midbrain, and caudate
Gurler et al. (24)	2020	17/17	6 weeks	BOLD response (episodic memory encoding task)	Whole brain	HC> SZ in BOLD response in the right insula, hippocampus, inferior frontal and temporal cortex. SZ> HC in BOLD response in the PCC and precuneus	Increase in BOLD response in the hippocampus

(Continued)

Neuroimaging in Schizophrenia

TABLE 1	Continued
---------	-----------

Authors	Year	n (HC/SZ)	Treatment duration	Imaging marker	Region of interest	Baseline group differences	Effects of antipsychotic treatment on imaging marker
Resting state fMRI							
Hadley et al. (25)	2014	21/21	1 week	Seed based functional connectivity, fALFF	Ventral tegmental area/midbrain (connectivity), whole brain (fALFF)	HC> SZ VTA connectivity to the ACC, superior, middle and inferior frontal gyri, insula, precuneus, inferior parietal cortex, thalamus, hippocampus, caudate, putamen and cerebellum. HC> SZ in fALFF in the ACC, MPFC, precuneus, PCC. HC< SZ in fALFF in the cerebellum	Ventral tegmental area/midbrain connectivity to the thalamus increased after treatment. fALFF increased in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and fronto-insular regions after treatment
Hadley et al. (26)	2016	32/32	6 weeks	Graph theory measures	Whole brain	HC< SZ in global clustering. HC> SZ in global efficiency	Global clustering decreased in good but not poor treatment responders. Global efficiency decreased in good but not poor responders
Kraguljac et al. (27)	2016	34/34	6 weeks	Seed based functional connectivity	Anterior and posterior hippocampus	HC< SZ in left anterior hippocampus connectivity with areas of the default mode network. HC> SZ in right anterior hippocampus connectivity to the PCC, precuneus, calcarine sulcus. HC> SZ in right posterior hippocampus connectivity to the ACC, supplemental motor cortex, inferior parietal cortex, PCC and precuneus	After treatment, connectivity between the right posterior hippocampus, ACC, and caudate increased, right anterior and posterior hippocampus connectivity to the lingual gyrus increased. Right anterior hippocampus connectivity to the auditory cortex and caudate decreased. Left anterior and posterior hippocampus connectivity to the auditory cortex decreased
Kraguljac et al. (28)	2016	34/34	6 weeks	Seed based functional connectivity	DMN, ECN, SN and DAN	$\mbox{HC}\xspace <$ SZ in the ECN, SN, and DAN	DAN connectivity decreased after treatment
Lottman et al. (29)	2017	35/34	1 week, 6 weeks	ICA based static and dynamic functional connectivity	whole brain	HC< SZ within network connectivity in the cognitive control network and mixed increase and decrease in between network connectivity for static connectivity. SZ> HC in subcortical and somato-motor network connectivity in some instances in the sparsely connected state in dynamic connectivity	No change in static or dynamic connectivity after 1 or 6 weeks of treatment, respectively
MRS							
Cadena et al. (22)	2018	20/22	6 weeks	Glx	ACC	HC> SZ in Glx	No change in neurometabolites
Kraguljac et al. (30)	2019	31/61	6 weeks	Glx, NAA, Cho	ACC, hippocampus	HC< SZ in hippocampus Glx	No change in neurometabolites
Birur et al. (31)	2020	22/29	6 weeks, 16 weeks	Glx, NAA, Cho, Cr	MPFC	No group differences	No change in neurometabolites
PET							
Lahti et al. (32)	2003	0/6	12+/10 weeks (HAL); 23±12 weeks (CLOZ)	rCBF	Whole brain	Not applicable	HAL and CLOZ increased rCBF in the ventral striatum and decreased rCBF in hippocampus and ventrolateral frontal cortex. The rCBF increase associated with HAL was greater tha that with CLOZ in the dorsal and ventral striatum; the rCBF increase with CLOZ was greater than that with HAL in cortical regions, including the ACC and dorsolateral frontal cortex

Kraguljac and Lahti

Neuroimaging in Schizophrenia

Authors	Year	n (HC/SZ)	Treatment duration	Imaging marker	Region of interest	Baseline group differences	Effects of antipsychotic treatment on imaging marker
Lahti et al. (33)	2004	12/6	12+/10 weeks (HAL); 23 ± 12 weeks (CLOZ)	rCBF	ACC	HC< SZ in rCBF during sensory motor control task HC> SZ in rCBF during decision task. No group differences at rest	CLOZ, but not HAL, reversed the abnormal ACC rCBF pattern in unmedicated patients
Lahti et al. (34)	2005	0/12	single dose	rCBF	Whole brain	Not applicable	rCBF increased in the striatum, thalamus, and ACC but decreased in frontal, temporal, and cerebellum regions after single dose HAL. rCB increased in the ventral striatum, ACC, and temporal cortex but decreased in the thalamus and lingual cortex after single dose olanzapine Both drugs activated the caudate nucleus
Lahti et al. (35)	2009	0/29	1 week, 6 weeks	rCBF	Whole brain	Not applicable	After 6 weeks of treatment both HAL and olanzapine increased rCBF in the pre- and post-central cortex, ventral striatum, and caudate, and decreased rCBF in the anterior cingulate and medial frontal cortex
Bolding et al. (36)	2012	0/29	1 week, 6 weeks	rCBF, functional connectivity	Whole brain, ROI analysis	Not applicable	rCBF increased in the striatum and decreased in the MPFC after 1 week of treatment. rCBF increased in the thalamus and decreased in the putamen, hippocampus, and middle frontal cortex between week one and six of treatment. Functional connectivity between the middle frontal cortex and nucleus accumbens increased after 1 week of treatment, connectivity between the middle frontal cortex and hippocampus decreased after 6 weeks of treatment
Multimodal imaging							
Cadena et al. (22)	2018	20/22	6 weeks	ACC Glx, BOLD response (Stroop task)	Whole brain	Gix and BOLD response in the salience network and posterior default network correlated in HC but not SZ at baseline	After treatment, the relationship between Glx and BOLD response changed direction in both groups
Gurler et al. (24)	2020	17/17	6 weeks	hippocampus Glx, BOLD response (memory encoding task)	Whole brain	In SZ but not in HC, hippocampal Glx and BOLD response the posterior DMN correlated. The relationship between BOLD signal in the DMN and hippocampal Glx was significantly different between groups	After treatment, the correlation between Glx and BOLD response was not significant and was not significantly different from HC

ACC, anterior cingulate cortex; BOLD, Blood oxygen dependent level: Cho, choline; CLOZ, clozapine; Cr, Creatine; DAN, dorsal attention network; DMN, default mode network; ECN, executive control network; fALFF, fraction of the amplitude of low frequency fluctuations; Glx, glutamate+glutamine; HAL, haloperidone; HC, Healthy control; ICA, independent component analysis; MPFC, medial prefrontal cortex; NAA, N-acetyl-aspartate; PCC, posterior cingulate cortex; rCBF, regional cerebral blood flow; ROI, region of interest; SN, salience network; SZ, patients with schizophrenia.

antipsychotic medication related changes in neural signatures. We demonstrated in several studies that changes in brain structure and function following antipsychotic treatment may be more prominent in patients with a favorable clinical response, compared to those who show little improvement with medications (17, 26, 27). It is tempting to speculate that the variability in modulatory effects of antipsychotics is reflective of differences in brain pathology. It is possible that patients who respond favorably to medications do so because they still have actively destructive, yet reversible, neurobiological changes that can be ameliorated with antipsychotic treatment. In contrast, poor responders may be beyond the period of active deficit process formation in their brain and the pathological state becomes more permanent, rendering antipsychotic medications ineffective both on a clinical level and in reversing structural and functional brain injury. If that is the case, it should be possible to leverage neuroimaging data to aid in the prediction of response to antipsychotic treatment. Much of the work described here has been performed in patients who had prior antipsychotic medication exposure, and in mixed groups of antipsychotic medication-naïve patients previously medicated patients. Adequately powered longitudinal studies conducted in exclusively medication-naïve patients are direly needed to reduce the possible effects of illness chronicity and prior antipsychotic medication exposure on changes related to antipsychotic medication treatment.

# Can Neuroimaging Data Aid in Predicting Subsequent Clinical Response to Antipsychotic Treatment?

The current strategy for management of psychosis spectrum disorders consists of sequential treatment with different antipsychotic medications based on trial and error. Unfortunately, it is not possible to predict how a patient will respond to treatment based on clinical assessments alone. To make progress in this context, we have conducted a number of studies geared toward characterizing neural signatures in unmedicated and antipsychotic medication-naïve patients that predict a subsequent favorable response to antipsychotic treatment (**Table 2**). Here, the ultimate goal is to realize the potential of neuroimaging in guiding treatment decisions based on the underlying brain pathology [for further review of the topic, see (63, 64)].

In structural imaging studies, we found that both gray and white matter integrity at baseline are predictive of subsequent response to antipsychotic treatment. Lower cortical thickness and greater basal ganglia volumes [basal ganglia volumes are increased in patients, possibly as a result of antipsychotic drug exposure (65)] are associated with better treatment response (17, 61). This suggests that greater baseline alterations in gray matter are indicative of a favorable clinical outcome. In contrast, greater alterations in whole brain fractional anisotropy, a nonspecific marker of white matter integrity, and in whole brain orientation dispersion, a measure of fiber complexity, were associated with subsequent poor treatment response, suggesting that greater alterations in white matter are indicative of poor clinical outcomes (18, 19, 62).

Our functional neuroimaging studies, both positron emission tomography (PET) and functional MRI, found consistent associations between more intact brain function at baseline and a favorable subsequent response to antipsychotic medications. Here again we found a recurring theme of brain regions and networks that were relevant for clinical outcomes, specifically anterior cingulate cortex, hippocampus, thalamus, striatum and caudate, as well as the default mode network and dorsal attention network. Interestingly, we also found that the degree of normalization in brain function after 1 week of antipsychotic medication was predictive of clinical outcomes after 6 weeks of treatment (35, 36). Our data suggest that both baseline function and early functional changes may be important predictors of treatment response.

Our magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies investigated neurometabolite levels in the anterior cingulate cortex and the hippocampus (30). We found that N-acetyl-aspartate (NAA), a marker of neuronal health, in the anterior cingulate cortex and glutamate in the hippocampus at baseline were associated with response to risperidone after 6 weeks of treatment. At first glance, the association between low cortical NAA and good response to treatment appears counter-intuitive. It is striking, however, that greater alterations in both NAA and glutamate are linked to better treatment response. One could speculate that these features point toward an excitation/inhibition imbalance and a deprived neuronal state that is reversible by successful antipsychotic treatment.

Taken together, our studies suggest two groups of neuroimaging markers that are relevant for subsequent antipsychotic treatment response. The first is a set of markers for which greater abnormalities predict subsequent poor response to antipsychotic treatment. These markers are largely centered around the theme of brain connectivity, where greater abnormal functional connectivity and white matter integrity deficits are indicative of worse response to antipsychotic treatment. The second is a set of markers where greater abnormalities predict a favorable response to antipsychotic treatment. These markers include cortical thickness, subcortical brain volumes and neurometabolites levels. Abnormalities in these imaging features may signify a deprived neuronal state or a disequilibrium in the excitation/inhibition balance that may be reversible with successful antipsychotic treatment. Overall, our findings suggest that the brain is structurally and functionally "wired" in a way that does or does not favor response to antipsychotic medication treatment. However, based on these studies, it remains unclear if the neural signatures relevant for antipsychotic treatment response are also core features of the schizophrenia pathophysiology or not. To disentangle core illness features from confounds of antipsychotic medication exposure as well as illness chronicity, it is imperative to characterize neuroimaging signatures in antipsychotic medication-naïve first-episode psychosis patients.

TABLE 2 | Selected baseline neuroimaging markers that are relevant to the prediction of subsequent antipsychotic drug response.

Authors	Year	n	Illness stage	Duration of treatment	Imaging marker	Association between baseline imaging findings and subsequent antipsychotic treatment response
Structural MRI						
Hutcheson et al. (61)	2014	23	mixed	6 weeks	Regional subcortical brain volume	Higher volumes of the caudate, putamen, and pallidum predicts better antipsychotic treatment response.
Nelson et al. (17)	2020	34	Mixed	6 weeks	Cortical thickness, local gyrification index	Lower cortical thickness in the prefrontal cortex, pre- and post-central gyri, cingulate, and insula is associated with favorable subsequent response to treatment. Gyrification index is not predictive of treatment response.
Diffusion imag	ing					
Kraguljac et al. (62)	2020	66	First episode	16 weeks	Fractional anisotropy, mean diffusivity, radial diffusivity, axial diffusivity	Lower whole brain baseline fractional anisotropy predicts poorer antipsychotic treatment response.
Kraguljac et al. (19)	2019	42	Mixed	6 weeks	Orientation dispersion index, extracellular free water	Higher baseline whole brain orientation dispersion index predicts poorer antipsychotic treatment response.
Task fMRI						
Cadena et al. (22)	2018	22	Chronic	6 weeks	BOLD response (Stroop task)	Greater BOLD response in the striatum and midbrair predicts better antipsychotic treatment response.
Cadena et al. (23)	2019	22	Chronic	6 weeks	Functional connectivity	Greater connectivity between the ACC and putamen predicts better antipsychotic treatment response.
Resting state f	MRI					
Hadley et al. (25)	2014	21	Mixed	1 week, 6 weeks	Seed based functional connectivity of the ventral tegmental area, whole brain fALFF	Baseline ventral tegmental area connectivity to the dorsal ACC and supplemental motor cortex was positively correlated with treatment response. Baseline connectivity between the ventral tegmental area and the DMN was negatively correlated with treatment response.
Kraguljac et al. (27)	2016	34	Mixed	6 weeks	Seed based functional connectivity of the hippocampus	Baseline connectivity between the hippocampus, ACC, caudate nucleus, auditory cortex, and calcarine sulcus predicts subsequent antipsychotic treatment response.
Kraguljac et al. (28)	2016	34	Mixed	6 weeks	Seed based functional connectivity of the DMN, ECN, SN, and DAN	Baseline connectivity of the DAN to the cuneus, precuneus, superior and inferior parietal lobes, lingual gyrus, middle occipital lobe, and calcarine sulcus is positively correlated with antipsychotic treatment response.
MRS						
Kraguljac et al. (30)	2019	61	Mixed	6 weeks	Glx, NAA, Cho	Lower NAA in the ACC and higher Glx in the hippocampus at baseline were associated with better response to treatment at trend level.
PET						
Lahti et al. (35)	2009	29	Chronic	1 week, 6 weeks	rCBF	Greater increase in rCBF in the ventral striatum and greater decrease in rCBF in the hippocampus after 1 week of treatment was associated with a good response to antipsychotic medication after 6 weeks of treatment.
Bolding et al. (36)	2012	29	Chronic	1 week, 6 weeks	Functional connectivity	Functional connectivity between the middle frontal cortex and left hippocampus after 1 week of treatment predicted response to antipsychotic treatment after 6 weeks.

ACC, anterior cingulate cortex; BOLD, blood oxygen dependent level; CEN, central executive network; Cho, Choline; DAN, dorsal attention network; DMN, default mode network; fALFF, fractional amplitude of low frequency fluctuations; Glx, glutamate+glutamine; NAA, N-acetyl-aspartate; Rcbf, regional cerebral blood flow; SN, salience network.

#### TABLE 3 | Neuroimaging studies of antipsychotic medication-naïve first episode psychosis patients from our group.

Authors	Year	n (HC/FEP)	Imaging marker	Region of Interest	Group differences
Structural MRI					
Maximo et al. (68)	2019	0/55	Gray matter volume, cortical thickness, cortical surface area	DMN, CEN, SN	Greater duration of untreated psychosis was associated with reduced surface area in the salience network and central executive network. Cortical thickness and duration of untreated psychosis were correlated in the SN and DMN.
Briend et al. (69)	2020	40/40	Gray matter volume	Hippocampus subfields	HC> FEP in whole hippocampus volume, as well as volume of the CA1, molecular layer, subiculum, presubiculum, and hippocampal tail.
Nelson et al. (17) <b>Diffusion imaging</b>	2020	23/22	Cortical thickness, gyrification index	Whole brain	HC> FEP in gyrification in the precentral and postcentral gyri, and at trend level in cortical thickness
	0010	40/20	Exectional opioatropy moon	Maala brain	LIC. FED in fractional anisatrony in the medial
Kraguljac et al. (18)	2019	42/30	Fractional anisotropy, mean diffusivity, radial diffusivity	Whole brain	HC> FEP in fractional anisotropy in the medial temporal lobe. HC< FEP in mean diffusivity in the hippocampal part of the cingulum bundle.
Kraguljac et al. (19)	2019	42/30	Orientation dispersion index, extracellular free water	Whole brain	HC< FEP in orientation dispersion in the posterior limb of the internal capsule. No group differences in extracellular free water.
Kraguljac et al. (62)	2020	45/66	Fractional anisotropy, mean diffusivity, radial diffusivity, axial diffusivity	Whole brain	HC> FEP in whole brain fractional anisotropy and axia diffusivity.
Resting state fMR	I				
Maximo et al. (68)	2019	0/55	Seed based functional connectivity	DMN CEN, SN	Longer duration of untreated psychosis was associated with reduced connectivity in all three networks and with a single cluster of increased
Briend et al. (70)	2020	40/40	Static and dynamic connectivity (quasi-periodic patterns)	Fronto-parietal network	connectivity in the CEN. HC> FEP in static connectivity. The strength of the correlation of quasi-periodic patterns in the quasi-periodic pattern sliding vector was stronger in FEP than in HC, suggesting a greater impact on intrinsic brain activity in FEP. Regressing quasi-periodic patterns from functional scans erased connectivity group differences, suggesting that abnormal connectivity in FEP could result from altered quasi-periodic patterns.
Nelson et al. (71)	2020	41/55	Seed based functional connectivity	Hippocampus	HC < FEP in hippocampus connectivity to the cuneus, precuneus, and lingual gyrus. HC > FEP in hippocampus connectivity to the PCC, parahippocampus, and rostral orbitofrontal cortex.
MRS					
Sivaraman et al. (72)	2018	18/14	Glx, NAA, Cho	Associative striatum	HC < FEP in choline levels, relationship between NAA and GIx is disrupted in patients.
Birur et al. (31)	2020	22/29	Glx, NAA, Cho, Cr	MPFC	No group differences
Nelson et al. (71)	2020	41/55	GIx, NAA	Hippocampus	No group differences
Briend et al. (69)	2020	41/54	Glx	Hippocampus	HC< FEP in GIx in patients with long but not short duration of untreated psychosis.
Multimodal imagir	ng				
Nelson et al. (71)	2020	41/55	Glx, seed based functional connectivity	Hippocampus	Greater hippocampal connectivity was correlated with higher Glx levels in the anterior and posterior DMN in both groups. In the entorhinal and orbitofrontal cortices, higher Glx levels predicted greater connectivity in HC, and the opposite was true in FEP.
Briend et al. (69)	2020	41/54	Glx, subfield volumes	Hippocampus	No associations between Glx and hippocampus subfield volumes in both groups.

CEN, central executive network; Cho, Choline; Cr, Creatine; DMN, default mode network; FEP, first episode psychosis patients; Glx, glutamate+glutamine; HC, healthy control; NAA, N-acetyl-aspartate; SN, salience network.

# What Are the Neuroimaging Signatures That Reflect the Core Pathology in Schizophrenia?

There is a growing sense that progressive brain changes occur beyond the first psychotic episode and that illness chronicity may fundamentally affect the brain (66). It is difficult to pinpoint the extent to which abnormalities can be attributed to antipsychotic medication effects or to ongoing disease progression. Studying patients at later illness stages makes it problematic to discern downstream effects of pathology and prior treatment attempts from primary pathology. Even though this patient population is difficult to recruit (67), studying antipsychotic medication-naïve first episode psychosis patients can mitigate these issues. Our group has conducted studies in this population using different imaging modalities in an effort to characterize relevant neural signatures (**Table 3**).

Using structural neuroimaging techniques, we found that a number of alterations are already present in medicationnaive patients. Alterations include decreased gyrification in the pre- and post-central gyri, decreased total hippocampus and hippocampus subfield volumes, a trend level decrease in cortical thickness, as well as a decrease in whole brain fractional anisotropy and axial diffusivity (17, 18, 62, 69). Additionally, an increase in mean diffusivity in the hippocampal part of the cingulum, which is often interpreted as evidence of neuroinflammation, is already evident in first episode patients (18). Importantly, the duration of untreated psychosis, which is the time between first onset of psychotic symptoms and the first antipsychotic treatment, seems to be an important modulatory factor for structural integrity, as a longer duration of untreated psychosis is associated with greater gray and white matter alterations (62, 68, 69).

We saw similar results in our functional imaging studies where greater duration of untreated psychosis was associated with greater disruptions in functional connectivity in largescale brain networks supporting higher order cognition (68). In the overall group of antipsychotic medication-naïve patients, we note that hippocampus connectivity is disrupted. Spatial patterns of dysconnectivity resemble those in unmedicated, chronic schizophrenia patients (71). When examining dynamic connectivity, we found that quasi-periodic patterns had a greater impact of fronto-parietal control network connectivity in first episode patients compared to controls, suggesting that brain network dynamics are already altered in this patient group (70). Taken together, connectivity alterations are clearly already present in medication-naïve patients, which is consistent with the hypothesis that brain network dysconnectivity is a core feature of the illness (73-75).

In magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies, we found elevated choline and a disruption of the relationship between NAA and glutamate in the left striatum, indicating possible mitochondrial, membrane, and glial dysfunction (72). However, we reported no neurometabolite abnormalities in the medial prefrontal cortex or the hippocampus when contrasting antipsychotic medication-naïve first episode patients and controls in the overall group (31, 69). It is important to note that glutamate levels in both areas showed a greater variance in patients compared to controls, suggesting heterogeneity in glutamatergic metabolism in first episode psychosis. When the duration of untreated psychosis is taken into consideration, those with a shorter but not those with a longer duration of untreated psychosis did have an elevation in hippocampal glutamate (69).

Collectively, it is evident that functional and structural abnormalities are already present in patients who are in their early illness stages who have no prior exposure to antipsychotic medications. However, wee did not observe group level alterations in NAA or glutamate which was somewhat unexpected. Interestingly, the variance in measurements was greater in patients compared to controls, suggesting that neurometabolite alterations may only be present in a subset of patients, or become more pronounced as the illness progresses. Importantly, we found the duration of untreated psychosis to be an important mediator, such that a longer interval adversely impacts brain structure and function, underscoring the importance of early intervention efforts in this syndrome.

# Can Multimodal Brain Imaging Help Us Better Characterize the Complex Pathophysiology in Schizophrenia?

The field is moving from traditional models of schizophrenia focused on the disruption of a single molecule such as dopamine or glutamate, to models of pathway dysregulation as a means of integrating findings from diverse imaging modalities. An individual component of a pathway in this context can be best understood as part of a highly interactive network that may influence other parts of the network and in turn be regulated by a number of other factors (76). An abnormality may represent a primary etiological factor, but could also be present because of a disruption in modulatory inputs and thus reflect a secondary consequence of a pathophysiological process. It is critical to develop disease models with a degree of complexity that accurately reflect these highly interactive patterns. Multimodal imaging allows investigation of brain dysfunction using a range of techniques within the same individual and to test hypotheses about relationships between biological mechanisms. This approach may reveal details about the pathophysiology that would not be detectable when using one modality alone.

For example, glutamatergic hyperactivity is hypothesized to be a key pathological feature in schizophrenia (77, 78). Glutamate neurotransmitter flux, neuronal firing rate, and the blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) response are tightly coupled (79, 80), and glutamate plays a role in long-range functional connections (81). In preclinical studies, excess glutamate has been shown to be associated with disorganized neuronal activity (82) and may result in increased synapse turnover as well as axonal or glial injury (83–85). If this premise holds true, multimodal neuroimaging studies should detect relationships between glutamate levels and brain function in healthy subjects that are disrupted in patients with schizophrenia. They also should reveal an association between glutamate excess and structural integrity deficits in patients. Our group has conducted a number of such studies to empirically test the relationship between glutamate and brain function the impact of glutamate excess on brain structure.

We used several task paradigms and resting state functional MRI to characterize the relationship between glutamate levels and brain function in healthy subjects and schizophrenia spectrum patients. We reported a positive correlation between hippocampal glutamate and inferior frontal activation during a memory retrieval task in controls that was absent in medicated chronic schizophrenia patients (86). The relationship between hippocampal glutamate and the BOLD response in default mode network regions during memory encoding also differed between unmedicated patients and controls (24). Using a Stroop task, we observed a negative correlation between anterior cingulate cortex glutamate and the BOLD response in the posterior cingulate cortex, precuneus, occipital cortex and cerebellum in controls; this correlation was inverted in medicated firstepisode psychosis patients (87). Similarly, we noted a correlation between anterior cingulate cortex glutamate and the BOLD response in the salience network and posterior default network during a Stroop task in healthy controls but not unmedicated patients with schizophrenia (22). Using a reward task, we observed an association between the prediction error related BOLD response in the midbrain and substantia nigra glutamate in healthy controls but not medicated patients with chronic schizophrenia. Interestingly, glutamate levels were elevated in patients, suggesting that glutamatergic dysfunction might contribute to abnormal neural prediction error coding (88). At rest, we initially did not detect a relationship between hippocampal glutamate and aberrant hippocampal connectivity to the precuneus in a small group of unmedicated schizophrenia patients (89). However, after expanding the sample size, we did observe that higher glutamate levels were correlated with higher hippocampus resting state connectivity to the anterior default mode network in healthy controls, but the relationship between measures was inverse in first episode psychosis patients (71). Taken together, our studies consistently demonstrated a link between glutamate levels and brain function, regardless of task condition and even in absence of a task in healthy subjects. Importantly, this relationship was consistently found to be altered or absent in patients across paradigms tapping into various aspects of brain function, which implicates that the disruption in this coupling may be a fundamental feature of the illness. Interestingly, a detectable alteration in glutamate levels does not seem to be a necessary element to reach the threshold of a disruption in brain function, suggesting the presence of subtle abnormalities in glutamatergic neurotransmission that may be below the level of detection with magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Our longitudinal studies further demonstrate that the relationship between glutamate and brain function in patients is modulated by antipsychotic drug treatment, suggesting a potential mechanism of antipsychotic drug action (22, 24).

We also conducted studies to examine the impact of glutamate (excess) on brain structures. In unmedicated chronic schizophrenia patients, we found that higher hippocampal glutamate was associated with lower hippocampal volumes, suggesting that glutamate related excitotoxicity (neurotransmitter excess related increased synapse turnover) might affect brain structure (90). Our finding is in agreement with a later study that reported a negative relationship between glutamate excess and brain volumes in the caudate nucleus in first episode psychosis patients (91). In contrast, we did not observe a linear relationship between hippocampus subfield volumes and glutamate levels in antipsychotic medication-naïve first episode psychosis patients (69). Interestingly though, those with a longer duration of untreated psychosis showed lower hippocampus subfield volumes. While this discrepancy between our studies at first glance does not support the hypothesis that glutamate impacts brain structures as a fundamental mechanism of the illness, it is possible that the amount of time the brain is exposed to altered glutamate is the key factor in adversely affecting brain structures rather than the amount of glutamate present in the brain at any given time.

As demonstrated with the above examples, multimodal neuroimaging clearly can give important insights into the pathophysiology of the illness, and allows testing of hypotheses about the relationships between biological mechanisms which is not possible with a single imaging modality. However, because different aspects of the pathophysiology are typically assessed at the same time in multimodal imaging, interpretations are limited to discovery of associations but not causality. In other words, it is possible to detect a relationship between two different imaging markers, but it is not feasible to discern if one abnormality is caused by the other or vice versa.

# Can Pharmacological Challenge Studies Provide a Framework for the Interpretation of Neuroimaging Findings in Schizophrenia?

A complementary line of research, pharmacological challenge studies, which are designed to model aspects of the pathophysiology, can inform inferences drawn about causality for neuroimaging alterations seen in schizophrenia spectrum patients. Our group has done several pharmacological challenge studies using subanesthetic ketamine, a non-competitive Nmethyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) receptor blocker that transiently induces a behavioral phenotype similar to that seen in the illness (92–96), to test the hypothesis that experimentally induced NMDA receptor hypofunction causes changes in brain function and neurochemistry that are comparable to neural signatures observed in schizophrenia.

Early imaging studies testing the effects of a pharmacological challenge found that sub-anesthetic ketamine affects regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF). In response to the drug, an increase in psychosis symptom severity was paralleled by an increase in rCBF in the anterior cingulate cortex, both in healthy controls and medicated patients with schizophrenia (97). In addition to a ketamine related increase in rCBF in the anterior cingulate cortex, a reduction in rCBF was found in the hippocampus, lingual gyrus and fusiform gyrus in a different study of healthy controls (98). Interestingly, kinetic analyses suggest that the ketamine induced rCBF response differs across brain areas (99). Using a MRI based rather than PET based technique to quantify blood flow, our group later reported increased rCBF

in the prefrontal cortex, cingulate cortex caudate, putamen, thalamus and hippocampus, as well as interregional connectivity alterations in areas of the salience network (100). This again suggests systems level, but not uniform, effects of experimentally induced NMDA receptor hypofunction.

In a combined magnetic resonance spectroscopy and resting state functional connectivity study of the hippocampus (101), we reported that experimentally induced NMDA receptor hypofunction resulted in an increase in glutamate that was similar in magnitude to that we saw in unmedicated schizophrenia patients (90). In parallel, we also found a reduction in hippocampal resting state connectivity to the anterior cingulate cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, insula, hippocampus, precuneus, posterior cingulate cortex and lingual gyrus. Spatial patterns of abnormalities here closely resemble those we observed in both unmedicated schizophrenia patients (27, 71) and antipsychotic medication-naïve first episode psychosis patients (71).

Taken together, our findings from ketamine challenge studies lend empirical support to the putative link between NMDA receptor hypofunction, disruption in brain function and glutamate excess and provide a theoretical framework for the interpretation of abnormal brain signatures in schizophrenia in the context of NMDA receptor hypofunction. It is important to note that this type of framework can also be leveraged to test target engagement for putative novel pharmacological agents as recently demonstrated a multi-center proof of mechanism study of pomaglumetad (102), which will ideally translate into accelerated development of novel drugs.

# How Can Postmortem Work Provide Context for the Neuroimaging Findings in Schizophrenia?

Postmortem studies reporting abnormalities in y-Aminobutyricacid (GABA)ergic interneurons (103, 104) and glutamatergic signaling (105) provided the impetus for the measurement of glutamate and GABA using MR spectroscopy, as well as the measurement of brain oscillations using EEG/MEG. The fast-spiking GABA-interneurons play a fundamental role in controlling of the synchrony of cortical pyramidal neurons by producing rhythmic inhibitory postsynaptic potentials. Consequently, these interneurons appear to be key to the generation of gamma oscillations (106). In a group of first episode psychosis patients scanned using an ultra-high field magnet [7 Tesla (T)] we reported a decrease in glutamate, but not GABA levels, in the anterior cingulate cortex (107). Interestingly, in a larger group of first episode psychosis patients also scanned at 7T, Wang reported both a decrease in anterior cingulate glutamate and GABA levels (108). In the same group of first episode psychosis patients in which we found a glutamate decrease (107), we did not find abnormalities in gamma range oscillations using MEG (109), although others, also in first episode patients, have reported such alterations (110-112). All three of these studies used EEG, and it has been shown that there can be differences in the cortical auditory evoked response between MEG and EEG (113). Inspired by imaging studies reporting decrease in N-acetyl-aspartate, a marker of neuronal integrity, in the anterior cingulate cortex in schizophrenia (114), Roberts (115) used electron microscopy in anterior cingulate cortex postmortem brain samples and identified a decrease in the number of excitatory synaptic connections, as well as a decrease in the number of mitochondria per neuronal somata, suggesting a decrease in cortical efficiency in schizophrenia.

# How Does Neuroimaging Inform Our Mechanistic Understanding of the Illness?

Our work has contributed to the extensive efforts in studying the structural and functional neuroanatomy of schizophrenia by mapping relevant neural signatures in psychosis spectrum patients. Our data is congruent with the idea that the brain is fundamentally affected in the illness, where widespread structural gray and white matter involvement, functionally abnormal cortical and subcortical information processing, and neurometabolic dysregulation are present in patients. Importantly, data indicate that pathology is not merely diffusely distributed across the entire brain, rather it appears that certain brain circuits are preferentially affected. The evidence is compelling that many of the subtle abnormalities described in chronic schizophrenia are already evident in first episode psychosis patients, highlighting that these brain signatures are likely to be relevant to the core pathology and not a just be a consequence of other non-specific factors associated with the illness (116). We also demonstrated that these brain circuitry alterations are clinically relevant by showing that these pathological signatures can be leveraged for predicting subsequent response to antipsychotic treatment, further underscoring that they are key features of the illness.

Despite these successes in delineating disease signatures, it remains challenging to identify casual factors leading to these alterations through cross-sectional unimodal mapping alone (117). To gain further insights, our group has leveraged different approaches. First, we used various pharmacological challenges to characterize the effects of active modulation of major neurotransmitter systems on neural signatures. We clearly demonstrated that dopamine D2 receptor blockers alleviate neural abnormalities to some extent, and that experimentally induced NMDA receptor blockage results in alterations that resemble those seen schizophrenia, underscoring the pathophysiological relevance of these neurotransmitter systems. Second, we combined findings from different imaging modalities to gain additional insights into the role of glutamatergic neurotransmission for the modulation of functional brain networks. Our studies consistently demonstrated a disruption in the link between glutamate levels and brain function in patients across paradigms tapping into various aspects of brain function, which implicates that the disruption in this coupling may be a fundamental feature of the illness. Third, postmortem studies can also inform mechanistic understanding. For example, decrease in mitochondrial function observed in schizophrenia postmortem samples (115) suggest abnormalities in brain bioenergetics.

Taken together, it is highly unlikely that the pathogenesis of schizophrenia is uniform (118), it is more plausible that there may be multiple different etiologies that converge to the behavioral phenotype of schizophrenia (119). Our data underscore that mechanistically oriented neuroimaging studies must take non-specific factors such as antipsychotic drug exposure or illness chronicity into consideration when interpreting disease signatures, as a clear characterization of primary pathophysiological processes is an imperative prerequisite for rational drug development and for alleviating disease burden in our patients.

## REFERENCES

- Charlson FJ, Ferrari AJ, Santomauro DF, Diminic S, Stockings E, Scott JG, et al. Global epidemiology and burden of schizophrenia: findings from the global burden of disease study 2016. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:1195– 203. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby058
- Johnstone EC, Crow TJ, Frith CD, Husband J, Kreel L. Cerebral ventricular size and cognitive impairment in chronic schizophrenia. *Lancet.* (1976) 2:924–6. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(76)90890-4
- Reveley AM, Reveley MA, Clifford CA, Murray RM. Cerebral ventricular size in twins discordant for schizophrenia. *Lancet.* (1982) 1:540–1. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(82)92047-5
- Andreasen NC, Olsen SA, Dennert JW, Smith MR. Ventricular enlargement in schizophrenia: relationship to positive and negative symptoms. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1982) 139:297–302. doi: 10.1176/ajp.139.3.297
- Tomelleri L, Jogia J, Perlini C, Bellani M, Ferro A, Rambaldelli G, et al. Neuroimaging Network of the, Brain structural changes associated with chronicity and antipsychotic treatment in schizophrenia. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2009) 19:835– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2009.07.007
- Seeman P, Kapur S. Schizophrenia: more dopamine, more D2 receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2000) 97:7673–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.14.7673
- 7. Ananth J, Burgoyne KS, Gadasalli R, Aquino S. How do the atypical antipsychotics work? J Psychiatry Neurosci. (2001) 26:385–94.
- Reynolds GP. Antipsychotic drug mechanisms and neurotransmitter systems in schizophrenia. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl. (1994) 380:36– 40. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1994.tb05830.x
- 9. Morrison PD, Murray RM. The antipsychotic landscape: dopamine and beyond. *Ther Adv Psychopharmacol.* (2018) 8:127–35. doi: 10.1177/2045125317752915
- Davis CE, Jeste DV, Eyler LT. Review of longitudinal functional neuroimaging studies of drug treatments in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2005) 78:45–60. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2005.05.009
- 11. Tarcijonas G, Sarpal DK. Neuroimaging markers of antipsychotic treatment response in schizophrenia: an overview of magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2019) 131:104209. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2018.06.021
- Egerton A, Stone JM, Chaddock CA, Barker GJ, Bonoldi I, Howard RM, et al. Relationship between brain glutamate levels and clinical outcome in individuals at ultra high risk of psychosis. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2014) 39:2891–9. doi: 10.1038/npp.2014.143
- Gonzalez-Vivas C, Soldevila-Matias P, Sparano O, Garcia-Marti G, Marti-Bonmati L, Crespo-Facorro B, et al. Longitudinal studies of functional magnetic resonance imaging in first-episode psychosis: a systematic review. *Eur Psychiatry.* (2019) 59:60–9. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2019.04.009
- Garcia GJ, Chagas MH, Silva CH, Machado-de-Sousa JP, Crippa JA, Hallak JE. Structural and functional neuroimaging findings associated with the use of clozapine in schizophrenia: a systematic review. *Braz J Psychiatry*. (2015) 37:71–9. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2014-1387
- Roiz-Santianez R, Suarez-Pinilla P, Crespo-Facorro B. Brain structural effects of antipsychotic treatment in schizophrenia: a systematic review. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* (2015) 13:422– 34. doi: 10.2174/1570159X13666150429002536

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AL and NK wrote the manuscript. Both authors contributed to and approved the final version of this manuscript.

# FUNDING

This work as supported by the National Institute of mental Health [Grant Nos: K23MH06683 and R01MH118484 (NK), R01MH081014, R01MH102951, and R01MH113800 [AL)].

- Nelson EA, White DM, Kraguljac NV, Lahti AC. Gyrification connectomes in unmedicated patients with schizophrenia and following a short course of antipsychotic drug treatment. *Front Psychiatry.* (2018) 9:699. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00699
- Nelson EA, Kraguljac NV, White DM, Jindal RD, Shin AL, Lahti AC. A prospective longitudinal investigation of cortical thickness and gyrification in schizophrenia. *Can J Psychiatry.* (2020) 65:381–91. doi: 10.1177/0706743720904598
- Kraguljac NV, Anthony T, Skidmore FM, Marstrander J, Morgan CJ, Reid MA, et al. Micro- and macrostructural white matter integrity in never-treated and currently unmedicated patients with schizophrenia and effects of shortterm antipsychotic treatment. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging*. (2019) 4:462–71. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2019.01.002
- Kraguljac NV, Anthony T, Monroe WS, Skidmore FM, Morgan CJ, White DM, et al. A longitudinal neurite and free water imaging study in patients with a schizophrenia spectrum disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2019) 44:1932–9. doi: 10.1038/s41386-019-0427-3
- Hutcheson NL, Sreenivasan KR, Deshpande G, Reid MA, Hadley J, White DM, et al. Effective connectivity during episodic memory retrieval in schizophrenia participants before and after antipsychotic medication. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2015) 36:1442–57. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22714
- Cadena EJ, White DM, Kraguljac NV, Reid MA, Lahti AC. Evaluation of fronto-striatal networks during cognitive control in unmedicated patients with schizophrenia and the effect of antipsychotic medication. NPJ Schizophr. (2018) 4:8. doi: 10.1038/s41537-018-0051-y
- 22. Cadena EJ, White DM, Kraguljac NV, Reid MA, Maximo JO, Nelson EA, et al. A longitudinal multimodal neuroimaging study to examine relationships between resting state glutamate and task related BOLD response in schizophrenia. *Front Psychiatry*. (2018) 9:632. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00632
- Cadena EJ, White DM, Kraguljac NV, Reid MA, Jindal R, Pixley RM, et al. Cognitive control network dysconnectivity and response to antipsychotic treatment in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2019) 204:262– 70. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.07.045
- Gurler D, White DM, Kraguljac NV, Ver Hoef L, Martin C, Tennant B, et al. Neural signatures of memory encoding in schizophrenia are modulated by antipsychotic treatment. *Neuropsychobiology*. (2021) 80:12– 24. doi: 10.1159/000506402
- Hadley JA, Nenert R, Kraguljac NV, Bolding MS, White DM, Skidmore FM, et al. Ventral tegmental area/midbrain functional connectivity and response to antipsychotic medication in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2014) 39:1020–30. doi: 10.1038/npp.2013.305
- Hadley JA, Kraguljac NV, White DM, Ver Hoef L, Tabora J, Lahti AC. Change in brain network topology as a function of treatment response in schizophrenia: a longitudinal resting-state fMRI study using graph theory. NPJ Schizophr. (2016) 2:16014. doi: 10.1038/npjschz.2016.14
- Kraguljac NV, White DM, Hadley N, Hadley JA, Ver Hoef L, Davis E, et al. Aberrant hippocampal connectivity in unmedicated patients with schizophrenia and effects of antipsychotic medication: a longitudinal resting state functional MRI study. *Schizophr Bull.* (2016) 42:1046–55. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv228
- 28. Kraguljac NV, White DM, Hadley JA, Visscher K, Knight D, ver Hoef L, et al. Abnormalities in large scale functional networks in unmedicated

patients with schizophrenia and effects of risperidone. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2016) 10:146–58. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2015.11.015

- Lottman KK, Kraguljac NV, White DM, Morgan CJ, Calhoun VD, Butt A, et al. Risperidone effects on brain dynamic connectivity-a prospective resting-state fMRI study in Schizophrenia. *Front Psychiatry*. (2017) 8:14. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00014
- 30. Kraguljac NV, Morgan CJ, Reid MA, White DM, Jindal RD, Sivaraman S, et al. A longitudinal magnetic resonance spectroscopy study investigating effects of risperidone in the anterior cingulate cortex and hippocampus in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2019) 210:239–44. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.12.028
- Birur B, Kraguljac NV, VerHoef L, Morgan CJ, Jindal RD, Reid MA, et al. Neurometabolic correlates of 6 and 16 weeks of treatment with risperidone in medication-naive first-episode psychosis patients. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2020) 10:15. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-0700-6
- Lahti AC, Holcomb HH, Weiler MA, Medoff DR, Tamminga CA. Functional effects of antipsychotic drugs: comparing clozapine with haloperidol. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2003) 53:601–8. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(02)01602-5
- 33. Lahti AC, Holcomb HH, Weiler MA, Medoff DR, Frey KN, Hardin M, et al. Clozapine but not haloperidol Re-establishes normal task-activated rCBF patterns in schizophrenia within the anterior cingulate cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology.* (2004) 29:171–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.13 00312
- Lahti AC, Weiler MA, Medoff DR, Tamminga CA, Holcomb HH. Functional effects of single dose first- and second-generation antipsychotic administration in subjects with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2005) 139:19– 30. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2005.02.006
- Lahti AC, Weiler MA, Holcomb HH, Tamminga CA, Cropsey KL. Modulation of limbic circuitry predicts treatment response to antipsychotic medication: a functional imaging study in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2009) 34:2675–90. doi: 10.1038/npp.2009.94
- Bolding MS, White DM, Hadley JA, Weiler M, Holcomb HH, Lahti AC. Antipsychotic drugs alter functional connectivity between the medial frontal cortex, hippocampus, and nucleus accumbens as measured by H215O PET. *Front Psychiatry*. (2012) 3:105. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2012.00105
- Kuipers SD, Bramham CR. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor mechanisms and function in adult synaptic plasticity: new insights and implications for therapy. *Curr Opin Drug Discov Devel.* (2006) 9:580–586.
- Pandya CD, Kutiyanawalla A, Pillai A. BDNF-TrkB signaling and neuroprotection in schizophrenia. Asian J Psychiatry. (2013) 6:22– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2012.08.010
- Tyler WJ, Pozzo-Miller L. Miniature synaptic transmission and BDNF modulate dendritic spine growth and form in rat CA1 neurones. J Physiol. (2003) 553:497–509. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2003.052639
- Egan MF, Kojima M, Callicott JH, Goldberg TE, Kolachana BS, Bertolino A, et al. The BDNF val66met polymorphism affects activity-dependent secretion of BDNF and human memory and hippocampal function. *Cell.* (2003) 112:257–69. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00035-7
- Pezawas L, Verchinski BA, Mattay VS, Callicott JH, Kolachana BS, Straub RE, et al. The brain-derived neurotrophic factor val66met polymorphism and variation in human cortical morphology. *J Neurosci.* (2004) 24:10099– 102. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2680-04.2004
- 42. Montag C, Schoene-Bake JC, Faber J, Reuter M, Weber B. Genetic variation on the BDNF gene is not associated with differences in white matter tracts in healthy humans measured by tract-based spatial statistics. *Genes Brain Behav.* (2010) 9:886–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1601-183X.2010.00626.x
- Fernandes BS, Steiner J, Berk M, Molendijk ML, Gonzalez-Pinto A, Turck CW, et al. Peripheral brain-derived neurotrophic factor in schizophrenia and the role of antipsychotics: meta-analysis and implications. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2015) 20:1108–19. doi: 10.1038/mp.2014.117
- 44. Park SW, Lee CH, Cho HY, Seo MK, Lee JG, Lee BJ, et al. Effects of antipsychotic drugs on the expression of synaptic proteins and dendritic outgrowth in hippocampal neuronal cultures. *Synapse.* (2013) 67:224–234. doi: 10.1002/syn.21634
- Lieberman JA, Bymaster FP, Meltzer HY, Deutch AY, Duncan GE, Marx CE, et al. Antipsychotic drugs : comparison in animal models of efficacy, neurotransmitter regulation, and neuroprotection. *Pharmacol Rev.* (2008) 60:358–403. doi: 10.1124/pr.107.00107

- Cole DM, Beckmann CF, Oei NY, Both S, van Gerven JM, Rombouts SA. Differential and distributed effects of dopamine neuromodulations on resting-state network connectivity. *NeuroImage*. (2013) 78:59–67. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.04.034
- Kargieman L, Riga MS, Artigas F, Celada P. Clozapine reverses phencyclidine-induced desynchronization of prefrontal cortex through a 5-HT1A receptor-dependent mechanism. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2012) 37:723–33. doi: 10.1038/npp.2011.249
- Celada P, Puig MV, Díaz-Mataix L, Artigas F. The hallucinogen DOI reduces low-frequency oscillations in rat prefrontal cortex: reversal by antipsychotic drugs. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2008) 64:392–400. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.03.013
- Ngan ET, Lane CJ, Ruth TJ, Liddle PF. Immediate and delayed effects of risperidone on cerebral metabolism in neuroleptic naive schizophrenic patients: correlations with symptom change. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2002) 72:106–10. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.72.1.106
- Holcomb HH, Cascella NG, Thaker GK, Medoff DR, Dannals RF, Tamminga CA. Functional sites of neuroleptic drug action in the human brain: PET/FDG studies with and without haloperidol. *Am J Psychiatry.* (1996) 153:41–9. doi: 10.1176/ajp.153.1.41
- Miller DD, Andreasen NC, O'Leary DS, Rezai K, Watkins GL, Ponto LL, et al. Effect of antipsychotics on regional cerebral blood flow measured with positron emission tomography. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (1997) 17:230– 40. doi: 10.1016/S0893-133X(97)00042-0
- 52. Snitz BE, MacDonald A, 3rd, Cohen JD, Cho RY, Becker T, Carter CS. Lateral and medial hypofrontality in first-episode schizophrenia: functional activity in a medication-naive state and effects of short-term atypical antipsychotic treatment. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2005) 162:2322–9. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.162.12.2322
- Sarpal DK, Argyelan M, Robinson DG, Szeszko PR, Karlsgodt KH, John M, et al. Baseline striatal functional connectivity as a predictor of response to antipsychotic drug treatment. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2016) 173:69– 77. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.14121571
- Sarpal DK, Robinson DG, Lencz T, Argyelan M, Ikuta T, Karlsgodt K, et al. Antipsychotic treatment and functional connectivity of the striatum in first-episode schizophrenia. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2015) 72:5–13. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.1734
- 55. Krzystanek M, Bogus K, Palasz A, Krzystanek E, Worthington JJ, Wiaderkiewicz R. Effects of long-term treatment with the neuroleptics haloperidol, clozapine and olanzapine on immunoexpression of NMDA receptor subunits NR1, NR2A and NR2B in the rat hippocampus. *Pharmacol Reports.* (2015) 67:965–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2015. 01.017
- 56. Hanaoka T, Toyoda H, Mizuno T, Kikuyama H, Morimoto K, Takahata R, et al. Alterations in NMDA receptor subunit levels in the brain regions of rats chronically administered typical or atypical antipsychotic drugs. *Neurochem Res.* (2003) 28:919–24. doi: 10.1023/A:10232316 11616
- Del'guidice T, Beaulieu JM. Messing up with traffic: different effects of antipsychotic agents on glutamate receptor complexes *in vivo. Mol Pharmacol.* (2008) 73:1339–42. doi: 10.1124/mol.108. 046540
- Szulc A, Galinska B, Tarasow E, Waszkiewicz N, Konarzewska B, Poplawska R, et al. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study of brain metabolite changes after antipsychotic treatment. *Pharmacopsychiatry.* (2011) 44:148– 57. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1279739
- 59. Egerton A, Broberg BV, Van Haren N, Merritt K, Barker GJ, Lythgoe DJ, et al. Response to initial antipsychotic treatment in first episode psychosis is related to anterior cingulate glutamate levels: a multicentre (1)H-MRS study (OPTiMiSE). *Mol Psychiatry*. (2018) 23:2145–55. doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0082-9
- Merritt K, Perez-Iglesias R, Sendt KV, Goozee R, Jauhar S, Pepper F, et al. Remission from antipsychotic treatment in first episode psychosis related to longitudinal changes in brain glutamate. *NPJ Schizophr.* (2019) 5:12. doi: 10.1038/s41537-019-0080-1
- Hutcheson NL, Clark DG, Bolding MS, White DM, Lahti AC. Basal ganglia volume in unmedicated patients with schizophrenia is associated with treatment response to antipsychotic medication.

*Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 221:6–12. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2013. 10.002

- Kraguljac NV, Anthony T, Morgan CJ, Jindal RD, Burger MS, Lahti AC. White matter integrity, duration of untreated psychosis, and antipsychotic treatment response in medication-naive first-episode psychosis patients. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2020). doi: 10.1038/s41380-020-0765-x
- Kraguljac NV, McDonald WM, Widge AS, Rodriguez CI, Tohen M, Nemeroff CB. Neuroimaging biomarkers in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2021). doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2020.20030340. [Epub ahead of print].
- Dazzan P. Neuroimaging biomarkers to predict treatment response in schizophrenia: the end of 30 years of solitude? *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*. (2014) 16:491–503. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2014.16.4/pdazzan
- Heckers S, Neuropathology of schizophrenia: cortex, thalamus, basal ganglia, and neurotransmitter-specific projection systems. Schizophr Bull. (1997) 23:403-21. doi: 10.1093/schbul/23.3.403
- Hulshoff Pol HE, Kahn RS. What happens after the first episode? A review of progressive brain changes in chronically ill patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2008) 34:354–66. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbm168
- Kempton MJ, McGuire P. How can neuroimaging facilitate the diagnosis and stratification of patients with psychosis? *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2015) 25:725–32. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2014.07.006
- Maximo JO, Nelson EA, Armstrong WP, Kraguljac NV, Lahti AC. Duration of untreated psychosis correlates with brain connectivity and morphology in medication-naive patients with first-episode psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging.* (2020) 5:231–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2019. 10.014
- 69. Briend F, Nelson EA, Maximo O, Armstrong WP, Kraguljac NV, Lahti AC. Hippocampal glutamate and hippocampus subfield volumes in antipsychotic-naive first episode psychosis subjects and relationships to duration of untreated psychosis. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2020) 10:137. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-0812-z
- Briend F, Armstrong WP, Kraguljac NV, Keilhloz SD, Lahti AC. Aberrant static and dynamic functional patterns of frontoparietal control network in antipsychotic-naive first-episode psychosis subjects. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2020) 41:2999–3008. doi: 10.1002/hbm.24992
- 71. Nelson EA, Kraguljac NV, Maximo JO, Briend F, Armstrong W, Ver Hoef LW, et al. Hippocampal dysconnectivity and altered glutamatergic modulation of the default mode network: a combined resting-state connectivity and magnetic resonance spectroscopy study in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging*. (2020). doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2020.04.014. [Epub ahead of print].
- Sivaraman S, Kraguljac NV, White DM, Morgan CJ, Gonzales SS, Lahti AC. Neurometabolic abnormalities in the associative striatum in antipsychoticnaive first episode psychosis patients. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2018) 281:101–6. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2018.06.003
- Pettersson-Yeo W, Allen P, Benetti S, McGuire P, Mechelli A. Dysconnectivity in schizophrenia: where are we now? *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2011) 35:1110–24. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.11.004
- M.P. van den Heuvel, Fornito A. Brain networks in schizophrenia. Neuropsychol Rev. (2014) 24:32–48. doi: 10.1007/s11065-014-9248-7
- Baker JT, Holmes AJ, Masters GA, Yeo BT, Krienen F, Buckner RL, et al. Disruption of cortical association networks in schizophrenia and psychotic bipolar disorder. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2014) 71:109–18. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.3469
- Goff DC, Romero K, Paul J, M. Mercedes Perez-Rodriguez, Crandall D, and Potkin SG. Biomarkers for drug development in early psychosis: current issues and promising directions. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2016) 26:923– 37. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2016.01.009
- Olney JW, Farber NB. Glutamate receptor dysfunction and schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1995) 52:998– 1007. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1995.03950240016004
- Javitt DC, Zukin SR. Recent advances in the phencyclidine model of schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry. (1991) 148:1301– 8. doi: 10.1176/ajp.148.10.1301
- Hyder F, Rothman DL, Shulman RG, Total neuroenergetics support localized brain activity: implications for the interpretation of fMRI. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2002) 99:10771–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.132272299

- Smith AJ, Blumenfeld H, Behar KL, Rothman DL, Shulman RG, Hyder F, et al. Cerebral energetics and spiking frequency: the neurophysiological basis of fMRI. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2002) 99:10765–70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.132272199
- Duncan NW, Wiebking C, Northoff G. Associations of regional GABA and glutamate with intrinsic and extrinsic neural activity in humans-a review of multimodal imaging studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2014) 47:36– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.07.016
- Moghaddam B, Javitt D. From revolution to evolution: the glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia and its implication for treatment. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2012) 37:4–15. doi: 10.1038/npp.2011.181
- Matute C, Alberdi E, Domercq M, Sanchez-Gomez MV, Perez-Samartin A, Rodriguez-Antiguedad A, et al. Excitotoxic damage to white matter. *J Anat.* (2007) 210:693–702. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7580.2007.00733.x
- Hassel B, Boldingh KA, Narvesen C, Iversen EG, Skrede KK. Glutamate transport, glutamine synthetase and phosphate-activated glutaminase in rat CNS white matter. A quantitative study. J Neurochem. (2003) 87:230– 7. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2003.01984.x
- Karadottir R, Cavelier P, Bergersen LH, Attwell D. NMDA receptors are expressed in oligodendrocytes and activated in ischaemia. *Nature*. (2005) 438:1162-6. doi: 10.1038/nature04302
- Hutcheson NL, Reid MA, White DM, Kraguljac NV, Avsar KB, Bolding MS, et al. Multimodal analysis of the hippocampus in schizophrenia using proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy and functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 140:136–42. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012. 06.039
- 87. Overbeek G, Gawne TJ, Reid MA, Salibi N, Kraguljac NV, White DM, et al. Relationship between cortical excitation and inhibition and task-induced activation and deactivation: a combined magnetic resonance spectroscopy and functional magnetic resonance imaging study at 7T in first-episode psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging*. (2019) 4:121– 30. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2018.10.002
- White DM, Kraguljac NV, Reid MA, Lahti AC. Contribution of substantia nigra glutamate to prediction error signals in schizophrenia: a combined magnetic resonance spectroscopy/functional imaging study. NPJ Schizophr. (2015) 1:14001. doi: 10.1038/npjschz.2014.1
- Kraguljac NV, White DM, Hadley J, Reid MA, Lahti AC. Hippocampal-parietal dysconnectivity and glutamate abnormalities in unmedicated patients with schizophrenia. *Hippocampus*. (2014) 24:1524–32. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22332
- 90. Kraguljac NV, White DM, Reid MA, Lahti AC. Increased hippocampal glutamate and volumetric deficits in unmedicated patients with schizophrenia. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2013) 70:1294– 302. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.2437
- Plitman E, Patel R, Chung JK, Pipitone J, Chavez S, Reyes-Madrigal F, et al. Glutamatergic metabolites, volume and cortical thickness in antipsychoticnaive patients with first-episode psychosis: implications for excitotoxicity. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2016) 41:2606–13. doi: 10.1038/npp. 2016.84
- Lahti AC, Weiler MA, Tamara Michaelidis BA, Parwani A, Tamminga CA. Effects of ketamine in normal and schizophrenic volunteers. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2001) 25:455–67. doi: 10.1016/S0893-133X(01)00243-3
- Lahti AC, Koffel B, LaPorte D, Tamminga CA. Subanesthetic doses of ketamine stimulate psychosis in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (1995) 13:9–19. doi: 10.1016/0893-133X(94)00131-I
- Kraguljac NV, Carle M, Frolich MA, Tran S, Yassa MA, White DM, et al. Mnemonic discrimination deficits in first-episode psychosis and a ketamine model suggests dentate gyrus pathology linked to N-Methyl-D-Aspartate receptor hypofunction. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging*. (2018) 3:231–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2017.02.005
- Parwani A, Weiler MA, Blaxton TA, Warfel D, Hardin M, Frey K, et al. The effects of a subanesthetic dose of ketamine on verbal memory in normal volunteers. *Psychopharmacology.* (2005) 183:265– 74. doi: 10.1007/s00213-005-0177-2
- Weiler MA, Thaker GK, Lahti AC, Tamminga CA. Ketamine effects on eye movements. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2000) 23:645–53. doi: 10.1016/S0893-133X(00)00156-1

- Holcomb HH, Lahti AC, Medoff DR, Cullen T, Tamminga CA. Effects of noncompetitive NMDA receptor blockade on anterior cingulate cerebral blood flow in volunteers with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2005) 30:2275–82. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300824
- Lahti AC, Holcomb HH, Medoff DR, Tamminga CA. Ketamine activates psychosis and alters limbic blood flow in schizophrenia. *Neuroreport.* (1995) 6:869–72. doi: 10.1097/00001756-199504190-00011
- 99. Holcomb HH, Lahti AC, Medoff DR, Weiler M, Tamminga CA. Sequential regional cerebral blood flow brain scans using PET with H2(15)O demonstrate ketamine actions in CNS dynamically. *Neuropsychopharmacology.* (2001) 25:165–72. doi: 10.1016/S0893-133X(01)00229-9
- 100. Bryant JE, Frolich M, Tran S, Reid MA, Lahti AC, Kraguljac NV. Ketamine induced changes in regional cerebral blood flow, interregional connectivity patterns, and glutamate metabolism. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2019) 117:108– 15. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.07.008
- 101. Kraguljac NV, Frolich MA, Tran S, White DM, Nichols N, Barton-McArdle A, et al. Ketamine modulates hippocampal neurochemistry and functional connectivity: a combined magnetic resonance spectroscopy and resting-state fMRI study in healthy volunteers. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2017) 22:562–9. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.122
- 102. Kantrowitz JT, Grinband J, Goff DC, Lahti AC, Marder SR, Kegeles LS, et al. Proof of mechanism and target engagement of glutamatergic drugs for the treatment of schizophrenia: RCTs of pomaglumetad and TS-134 on ketamine-induced psychotic symptoms and pharmacoBOLD in healthy volunteers. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2020) 45:1842–50. doi: 10.1101/2020.03.09.20029827
- 103. de Jonge JC, Vinkers CH, Hulshoff Pol HE, Marsman A. GABAergic mechanisms in schizophrenia: linking postmortem and *in vivo* studies. *Front Psychiatry*. (2017) 8:118. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00118
- 104. Glausier JR, Lewis DA. GABA and schizophrenia: where we stand and where we need to go. Schizophr Res. (2017) 181:2–3. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.01.050
- Hu W, MacDonald ML, Elswick DE, Sweet RA. The glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia: evidence from human brain tissue studies. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2015) 1338:38–57. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12547
- Whittington MA, Traub RD, Jefferys JG. Synchronized oscillations in interneuron networks driven by metabotropic glutamate receptor activation. *Nature*. (1995) 373:612–5. doi: 10.1038/373612a0
- 107. Reid MA, Salibi N, White DM, Gawne TJ, Denney TS, and Lahti AC. 7T proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy of the anterior cingulate cortex in first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 45:180– 9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx190
- Wang AM, Pradhan S, Coughlin JM, Trivedi A, DuBois SL, Crawford JL, et al. Assessing brain metabolism with 7-T proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy in patients with first-episode psychosis. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2019) 76:314–23. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.3637
- 109. Gawne TJ, Overbeek G, Killen JF, Kraguljac NV, White DM, Reid MA, et al. A multimodal magnetoencephalography, 7T fMRI stroop and

7T proton MR spectroscopy study in first episode psychosis. (2020) 6:23. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx023.070

- 110. Spencer KM, Niznikiewicz MA, Nestor PG, Shenton ME, McCarley RW. Left auditory cortex gamma synchronization and auditory hallucination symptoms in schizophrenia. *BMC Neurosci.* (2009) 10:85. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-10-85
- 111. Tada M, Nagai T, Kirihara K, Koike S, Suga M, Araki T, et al. Differential alterations of auditory gamma oscillatory responses between pre-onset high-risk individuals and first-episode schizophrenia. *Cereb Cortex.* (2016) 26:1027–35. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhu278
- 112. Wang J, Tang Y, Curtin A, Chan CKR, Wang Y, Li H, et al. Abnormal auditory-evoked gamma band oscillations in first-episode schizophrenia during both eye open and eye close states. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry.* (2018) 86:279–86. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.04.016
- 113. Edgar JC, Fisk CI, Chen YH, Stone-Howell B, Hunter MA, Huang M, et al. By our bootstraps: comparing methods for measuring auditory 40 Hz steady-state neural activity. *Psychophysiology*. (2017) 54:1110– 27. doi: 10.1111/psyp.12876
- 114. Reid MA, Stoeckel LE, White DM, Avsar KB, Bolding MS, Akella NS, et al. Assessments of function and biochemistry of the anterior cingulate cortex in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2010) 68:625–33. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.04.013
- 115. Roberts RC, McCollum LA, Schoonover KE, Mabry SJ, Roche JK, Lahti AC. Ultrastructural evidence for glutamatergic dysregulation in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2020). doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2020.01.016. [Epub ahead of print].
- Kalin NH. Gaining ground on schizophrenia: conceptualizing how to use neuroimaging and genomics in its diagnosis and treatment. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2019) 176:771–3. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19080828
- Meyer-Lindenberg A. From maps to mechanisms through neuroimaging of schizophrenia. *Nature*. (2010) 468:194–202. doi: 10.1038/nature09569
- Kahn RS, Sommer IE. The neurobiology and treatment of first-episode schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2015) 20:84–97. doi: 10.1038/mp.2014.66
- Green IW, Glausier JR. Different paths to core pathology: the equifinal model of the schizophrenia syndrome. *Schizophr Bull.* (2016) 42:542– 9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv136

Conflict of Interest: NK serves as consultant for Neurocrine Biosciences, Inc.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Kraguljac and Lahti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Abnormal Habituation of the Auditory Event-Related Potential P2 Component in Patients With Schizophrenia

Prune Mazer<sup>1,2\*†</sup>, Inês Macedo<sup>1†</sup>, Tiago O. Paiva<sup>1</sup>, Fernando Ferreira-Santos<sup>1</sup>, Rita Pasion<sup>1</sup>, Fernando Barbosa<sup>1</sup>, Pedro Almeida<sup>3</sup>, Celeste Silveira<sup>4,5</sup>, Cassilda Cunha-Reis<sup>1</sup> and João Marques-Teixeira<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratory of Neuropsychophysiology, Faculty of Psychology and Education Sciences of the University of Porto, Porto, Portugal, <sup>2</sup> School of Health, Polytechnic Institute of Porto, Porto, Portugal, <sup>3</sup> Faculty of Law, School of Criminology and Interdisciplinary Research Center on Crime, Justice and Security, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal, <sup>4</sup> Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal, <sup>5</sup> Psychiatry Department, Hospital S. João, Porto, Portugal

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

# Edited by:

Luca De Peri, Cantonal Sociopsychological Organization, Switzerland

#### Reviewed by:

Raoul Bell, Heinrich Heine University of Düsseldorf, Germany Hanjun Liu, Sun Yat-Sen University, China

> \*Correspondence: Prune Mazer prunemazer@gmail.pt

<sup>†</sup>These authors share first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 17 November 2020 Accepted: 19 February 2021 Published: 18 March 2021

#### Citation:

Mazer P, Macedo I, Paiva TO, Ferreira-Santos F, Pasion R, Barbosa F, Almeida P, Silveira C, Cunha-Reis C and Marques-Teixeira J (2021) Abnormal Habituation of the Auditory Event-Related Potential P2 Component in Patients With Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 12:630406. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.630406 Auditory event-related potentials (ERP) may serve as diagnostic tools for schizophrenia and inform on the susceptibility for this condition. Particularly, the examination of N1 and P2 components of the auditory ERP may shed light on the impairments of information processing streams in schizophrenia. However, the habituation properties (i.e., decreasing amplitude with the repeated presentation of an auditory stimulus) of these components remain poorly studied compared to other auditory ERPs. Therefore, the current study used a roving paradigm to assess the modulation and habituation of N1 and P2 to simple (pure tones) and complex sounds (human voices and bird songs) in 26 first-episode patients with schizophrenia and 27 healthy participants. To explore the habituation properties of these ERPs, we measured the decrease in amplitude over a train of seven repetitions of the same stimulus (either bird songs or human voices). We observed that, for human voices, N1 and P2 amplitudes decreased linearly from stimulus 1-7, in both groups. Regarding bird songs, only the P2 component showed a decreased amplitude with stimulus presentation, exclusively in the control group. This suggests that patients did not show a fading of neural responses to repeated bird songs, reflecting abnormal habituation to this stimulus. This could reflect the inability to inhibit irrelevant or redundant information at later stages of auditory processing. In turn schizophrenia patients appear to have a preserved auditory processing of human voices.

Keywords: schizophrenia, auditory, EEG, event-related potentials, habituation, N1, P2

# INTRODUCTION

The orienting response to novel/rare stimuli is considered a fundamental reaction in living organisms. However, when confronted with the repetition of stimuli in stable and non-threatening conditions, neural responses are expected to fade with repetition, demonstrating that humans tend to adapt to the surrounding environment (1). Auditory event-related potentials (ERP) and early components such as the N1 and P2, allow tracking the time course of neural activity related to auditory processing (2) and respective habituation

133

(i.e., component amplitudes decrease with successive repetitions) and sensory gating processes (i.e., inhibition of the processing of repeated information).

N1 is a negative component that peaks around 100 ms after the onset of an auditory stimulus and is followed by the P2, a positive component occurring approximately after 200 ms (3). N1 and P2 are sensitive to the exogenous physical properties of the stimuli (4), although they also encompass endogenous characteristics (2, 3). At the exogenous level, early auditory categorical differences have been reported for distinct categories of sounds (e.g., voices and bird songs) such that results suggest a rapid brain discrimination of human voices (5–8). At the endogenous level, N1 also seems to reflect a selective-orienting attention response toward novel/rare stimuli (9, 10), while P2 probably represents a subsequent stage of stimulus recognition toward specific stimuli (e.g., human voices) independently of attentional demands (5–7, 11).

Regarding habituation processes, the N1-like orienting neural responses are likely to decrease in magnitude with the repeated presentation of an auditory stimulus (1, 9). Similarly, P2 also shows habituation and sensory gating properties, especially for the consecutive stimuli repetition with shorter and constant inter-stimulus intervals (1, 4, 12). Nevertheless, the mechanisms underlying ERP adaptation are complex (13) and further investigation is still required in order to unveil their potential clinical applications.

Several studies have focused indeed on the potential of auditory ERP components and habituation properties (e.g., P50 and P300) as diagnostic tools for schizophrenia (14, 15). N1 and P2 can be particularly useful to study the mechanisms underlying the pathophysiology of schizophrenia since they are especially sensitive to early cortical auditory processing (that appears to be affected by this disorder) and seem to arise from temporal lobe generators, which are also affected in schizophrenia (9, 16). More specifically, the ability to filter out irrelevant or repetitive information-as assessed through sensory gating and habituation processes-maps early pre-attentive and later-stages of information processing, respectively (17). Research consistently reports reduced N1 amplitudes in first-episode, as well as chronic schizophrenic patients and first-degree relatives using both simple (18-21) and complex stimuli (22, 23). Conversely, P2 is often examined in the context of the N1/P2 complex, and thus it has been less studied independently. Studies that have examined both components show either smaller P2 amplitudes (19) or no differences in first-episode schizophrenia (using simple stimuli) compared to healthy controls (21), despite systematic reductions in N1. A meta-analysis by Ferreira-Santos et al. (24) reviewed 20 studies on P2 in schizophrenia and showed that patients exhibited smaller amplitudes to standard stimuli and larger amplitudes for target stimuli when compared to controls in oddball tasks. In addition, even if fewer studies have assessed habituation processes for N1 and P2, there is evidence of less attenuation in schizophrenia (25, 26), although a metaanalysis by Rosburg (27) found that patients with schizophrenia display reduced N1 gating due to the initial/novel stimulus-not to effects of repetition/habituation. Such abnormalities extend to the processing of voice stimuli with N1 being smaller to pre-recorded voices (23, 28) and P2 exhibiting larger amplitudes for voices with affective content (29) and no differences in amplitude for neutral content (30) in Schizophrenia.

Studying voice processing in schizophrenia is particularly important since auditory verbal hallucinations and abnormal social cognition represent well-recognized symptoms of this pathology. Also, the study of pre-attentive and later-stages of information processing could help us understand which stages of the auditory cortical information processing are impaired (and which are intact) in schizophrenia, as well as if the type of stimuli (i.e., complex, simple, or social) interferes with this process. Since neurobiological impairments precede the beginning of a full clinical syndrome, it is of extreme relevance to study the N1 and P2 in pre-psychotic and early-psychotic states of schizophrenia (31) to explore deficits underlying genetic susceptibility for schizophrenia (9, 20). For this purpose, the current study assessed the habituation of auditory ERP components in first-episode schizophrenia such that amplitude attenuations at N1 and P2 time-windows were measured in a roving paradigm including both complex sounds (human voices and bird songs) and a target/rare pure sinusoidal tone. In healthy participants, the reviewed literature indicates that (a) N1 increases for rare stimuli vs. frequent stimuli (9, 10), (b) P2 is particularly responsive to human voices vs. bird sounds (5), and (c) both components decrease as a function of repetition/habituation (1, 4, 12, 32). Inversely, we hypothesized that patients with schizophrenia would show: (H1) a diminished N1 amplitude for target stimuli—pure tones (9); (H2) a diminished P2 to human voices, considering P2 specificity to voices (5) and deficits in voice processing in schizophrenia (33); and (H3) reduced habituation of N1 and P2 when compared to controls (25), considering deficits reported in sensory gating in early ERP components in schizophrenia (34).

# METHOD

# **Participants**

first-episode patients Twenty-seven diagnosed with schizophrenia were originally recruited, but one was excluded due to excessive noise in EEG recordings. Thus, the clinical group included 26 participants (8 female; 2 left-handed), with a mean age of 27.88 years (SD = 11.94) and a mean education of 11.73 years (SD = 2.69). All patients were medicated with second generation antipsychotics corresponding to, on average, 12.63 mg of olanzapine equivalents (SD = 5.01). Mean illness duration was 15.11 months (SD = 8.01). The control group included 27 healthy individuals (seven female; two left-handed), with a mean age of 27.56 years (SD = 7.79) and a mean education of 13.67 years (SD = 2.26). All participants reported being free from head injuries, other neurological disorders, learning disabilities, or substance abuse, and all disclosed having normal hearing. There were statistically significant differences between groups for education (p = 0.006) but not for age (p = 0.897). Although education varied between groups, all participants in the patient group had completed at least compulsory school (9 years), except for one who completed 8 years. All participants signed the informed consent before the beginning of the experiment.

# **Stimuli and Procedures**

The selection of auditory stimulus for the task was based on a preliminary validation study (for more details see section Validation study of the auditory stimuli in the **Supplementary Material**). Using a modified version of the roving standard frequency paradigm (35), auditory stimuli (i.e., bird songs, voices, and the pure tone) were delivered via headphones and E-Prime 2.0 (Psychology Software Tools, Pittsburgh, PA) with an intensity of 90 dB SPL.

The protocol included 16 complex auditory stimuli (i.e., eight bird songs and eight non-speech human voices) with a duration of 200 ms each (10 ms rise and fall times). The complex sounds were presented in fixed trains composed of seven repetitions of the same sound with an inter-stimulus interval of 1,000 ms. Each train was randomly repeated 5 times during the protocol, resulting in a total of 80 blocks. The target tone was randomly presented 40 times during the entire protocol (i.e., probability of  $\sim$ 7%) and only appeared between trains (**Figure 1**). This target consisted of a 1,000 Hz pure tone with 70 ms duration (10 ms rise and fall times). During the task, a black screen with a fixation point was presented. Behavioral data was collected on the target tone with the main purpose of maintaining participants' attention and avoiding sleepiness and fatigue (which could impair EEG data quality due to alpha activity). Thus, participants were asked to pay attention and rapidly identify when the target tone was presented by pressing a button (i.e., in a SRBOX display; E-Prime).

# **EEG Data Collection and Pre-processing**

EEG data were recorded with a digitizing rate of 500 Hz from 128 channels (Hydrocel Geodesic Sensor Net, NetAmps 300 amplifier, NetStation 4.2. software-Electrical Geodesics Inc.). The electrodes were referenced to the vertex (Cz) during recording and re-referenced offline to the average reference. Impedances were kept below 50 k $\Omega$  for all electrodes (high input impedance system). Data was pre-processed using EEGLAB (v11.4.2.2b) (36, 37) and custom MATLAB scripts. Continuous EEG records were downsampled to 250 Hz and band-pass filtered (0.2-30 Hz) and submitted to an Independent Components Analysis (ICA) decomposition after interpolation of bad channels (maximum of 10% per record). Correction of eye blink artifacts was carried out semi-automatically using the CORRMAP EEGLAB plug-in (38). We used a correlation threshold of 0.80 to identify the artifactual ICs and then subtracted their activity from the EEG data. Pre- and post-subtraction EEG traces were visually inspected to ensure that signals were not altered outside the time windows of eye blinks. EEG records were segmented into 1,000 ms epochs (-200 to 800 ms in peri-stimulus time). Epochs with voltages below -100 or above 100  $\mu$ V were automatically rejected and all segments were subjected to visual inspection and manual artifact rejection. Finally, all epochs were baseline corrected (200 ms pre-stimulus) and averaged by condition for each participant.

# **ERP** Analysis

Grand-averaged ERPs were computed and visually inspected to ensure that the expected ERP morphology was present. We

analyzed frontal scalp regions in the left (i.e., FC5 cluster: E24, E27, E28, E29, E34, and E35) and right hemispheres (i.e., FC6 cluster: E110, E111, E116, E123, E124, and E117), where the frontotemporal positivity to voices has been shown to be maximal (5). Time-windows for the N1 and P2 components were based on the visual inspection of the grand-averages and on the typical settings described in the literature on auditory ERPs. Therefore, peak amplitudes were quantified as the minimum voltage in the 80–200 ms post-stimulus presentation time-window for N1 and as the maximum voltage in the 200–300 ms time-window for P2. Peaks were extracted for each participant at each channel and then averaged per train position (i.e., 1–7, for bird songs and voices) and stimulus type (i.e., bird songs, vocalization, and pure tone).

# **Statistical Analysis**

For the analysis of behavioral data on the target detection task, responses were divided according to the sound (i.e., bird songs or voices) that was presented previous to the target (i.e., pure tone) and submitted to paired-sample t-tests to assess possible differences in reaction times (RTs). Additionally, independent samples t-tests were performed to assess group differences (i.e., patients vs. controls) in RTs (ms) and accuracy (percentage of times the target tone was correctly identified).

For neural data, separate Mixed Repeated Measure ANOVAs were conducted for N1 and P2. Pure tones (H1) were analyzed by hemisphere (within-participants factor: left, right) and group (between-participants factor: controls, patients). To replicate the conditions from previous studies that did not analyze the seven positions in the train (5), we explored group differences in the processing of complex stimulus (H2) only for the first stimulus of the train (within-participants factors: hemisphereleft, right, and stimulus category-bird songs, human voices). Finally, to explore the habituation properties of these ERPs for bird and human voices stimuli, we measured the decrease in amplitude across stimulus repetition in each train from S1 to S7 using linear contrasts (H3). As such this model entered with between groups and within-participants factors (train sequence-stimuli repetition from 1 to 7; stimulus categoryvoices, bird songs; hemisphere-left, right). All the pairwise comparisons were corrected for multiple comparisons using the Bonferroni Correction, and effect sizes were calculated (i.e., partial eta squared and Cohen's d).

# RESULTS

# Behavioral Results: Target/ Pure-Tone Detection

RTs were significantly longer for targets following the presentation of human voices (M = 423.70, SD = 93.78) compared to targets following bird songs (M = 392.60, SD = 80.15),  $t_{(50)} = -5.26$ , p < 0.001, d = 0.737. For targets following the presentation of bird songs, patients had significantly longer RTs (M = 419.14, SD = 80.85) compared to controls (M = 364.98, SD = 70.2),  $t_{(49)} = 2.54$ , p = 0.014, d = 0.713. Patients also had significantly longer RTs for targets following human



FIGURE 1 | Modified version of the roving standard frequency paradigm (Baldeweg et al., 2004). (A) There were 16 complex auditory stimuli divided into two categories: eight bird songs and eight human voices (non-speech voices). Each complex sound was presented in trains composed of seven repetitions of the same sound (ISI = 1,000 ms). Each train was randomly repeated five times during the protocol, resulting in a total of 80 blocks. Additionally, a target tone (i.e., a pure tone with duration of 70 ms) was randomly presented 40 times in between the trains of complex sounds. (B) Within the trains, each sound was presented for 200 ms (ISI = 1,000 ms) while a black screen with a fixation point was displayed.



FIGURE 2 | Auditory event-related potentials [i.e., N1 (80–200 ms); P2 (200–300 ms)] for the pure tone (i.e., the target tone) in patients with schizophrenia (SQZ) and healthy controls (CTR): (A) in the left hemisphere (i.e., cluster FC5) and (B) in the right hemisphere (i.e., cluster FC6).

voices (M = 461.95, SD = 92.71) compared to controls (M = 383.92, SD = 78.32),  $t_{(49)} = 3.24$ , p = 0.002, d = 0.909.

The differences in accuracy between patients (M = 96.50%, SD = 7.01) and controls (M = 99.19%, SD = 2.19) were not statistically different,  $t_{(51)} = -1.87$ , p = 0.067, d = 0.518.

# H1: Category – Simple Sound (Pure Tones – Target Stimuli)

At the N1 time-window, a significant hemisphere\*group interaction was found,  $F_{(1,51)} = 4.52$ , p = 0.038,  $\eta^2_p = 0.081$ , revealing lower N1 amplitudes in patients (M = -3.02,

SD = 1.48) compared to controls (M = -4.42, SD = 1.87) in the right hemisphere,  $t_{(51)} = -3.01$ , p = 0.024, d = 0.83 (see **Figure 2**). No other significant effects were found for the N1.

For P2, a significant effect was found for hemisphere,  $F_{(1,51)} = 5.35$ , p = 0.025,  $\eta^2_p = 0.095$ , indicating higher amplitudes for the left (M = 1.82, SD = 1.89) comparing to the right hemisphere (M = 1.02, SD = 2.12),  $t_{(52)} = 2.34$ , p = 0.023, d = 0.31, for both groups. No other significant effects were found for the P2.

All descriptive statistics of peak amplitudes and results of the separate Mixed Repeated Measure ANOVAs for N1 and P2 can be found in the **Supplementary Tables 1, 2**).



FIGURE 3 | Auditory event-related potentials [i.e., N1 (80–200 ms); P2 (200–300 ms)] for complex sounds in patients with schizophrenia (SQZ) and healthy controls (CTR): (A) for bird songs in the left hemisphere (i.e., cluster FC5) and (B) right hemisphere (i.e., cluster FC6); and (C) for human voices in the left hemisphere (i.e., cluster FC5) and (D) the right hemisphere (i.e., cluster FC6).

# H2: Category—Complex Sounds (Voices vs. Bird Songs)

There were no main effects of stimulus category, nor category\*group or category\*group\*hemisphere interactions on N1 amplitude (see also **Supplementary Table 3**).

A main effect of category was found on P2 amplitude,  $F_{(1,51)} = 78.63$ , p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.607$ , indicating that voices elicited increased P2 amplitude (see **Figure 3**) than bird songs for both groups (all p < 0.036). No group or hemisphere\*group interactions were found (see also **Supplementary Table 4**).

# H3: Habituation Effects

For N1, we found a significant linear contrast effect of order for human voices,  $F_{(1,51)} = 10.00$ , p = 0.003,  $\eta^2_p = 0.164$ , but not for bird songs  $F_{(1,51)} = 1.75$ , p = 0.192,  $\eta^2_p = 0.033$ . No further effects were observed.

For P2, we found a significant linear contrast effect of order in bird songs  $F_{(1,51)} = 21.71$ , p < 0.001,  $\eta^2_p = 0.299$ , and voices,  $F_{(1,51)} = 81.10$ , p < 0.001,  $\eta^2_p = 0.614$ . Also, a significant interaction order\*group was found in P2 for bird songs,  $F_{(1,51)} =$ 4.21, p < 0.045,  $\eta^2_p = 0.760$  [vs. human voices,  $F_{(1,51)} =$ 0.294, p = 0.590,  $\eta^2_p = 0.006$ ], independently of the hemisphere,



 $F_{(1,51)} = 1.02, p = 0.319, \eta^2_p = 0.020$ . This finding (see **Figures 3**, 4) represents a gradual decrease in P2 amplitude for controls from Bird1 to Bird7 at both hemispheres (Bird1:  $M_{FC5} = 1.85, SD = 2.44, M_{FC6} = 1.49, SD = 2.21$ ; Bird7:  $M_{FC5} = 0.30, SD = 1.38, M_{FC6} = -0.01, SD = 1.31$ , both ps < 0.040). This habituation effect on birds was not observed in patients (Bird1:  $M_{FC5} = 1.35, SD = 1.19, M_{FC6} = 1.31, SD = 1.41$ ; Bird7:  $M_{FC5} = 0.94, SD = 0.86, M_{FC6} = -0.92, SD = 1.75, all <math>ps > 0.820$ ).

# DISCUSSION

The habituation of the auditory N1 and P2 components of the ERPs remains largely unexplored in schizophrenia, especially when compared with the body of research directed to P50 and P300 components. The current work intended to expand the knowledge on these components. For this purpose, N1 and P2 amplitudes were measured in a roving paradigm. Our hypotheses

considered not only the habituation properties of N1 and P2, but also the different modulations induced by distinct stimulus categories. Supporting H1, we found a diminished N1 amplitude for pure tones in patients at the right frontotemporal region. In turn, H2 was not confirmed since human voices elicited higher P2 amplitudes than bird song at frontotemporal locations for both groups. Finally, H3 was partially verified, since habituation effects were moderated by group differences in P2, but not in N1 and only for bird songs. Our results showed that human voices (but not bird songs) specifically elicited a pattern of habituation in N1 in both groups. However, P2 amplitudes faded with train repetitions of bird songs only in the control group, while habituation effects to human voices were present in both groups.

The results concerning H1-Pure tones—resemble previous findings from oddball tasks, since patients with schizophrenia seem to have difficulties in allocating attention to target/relevant auditory stimuli, as reflected in the attenuation of the N1

component (9). However, for H2 we found no evidence that deficits in voice processing in schizophrenia would lead to a diminished P2. Notwithstanding, our results support previous literature that reported higher P2 amplitudes elicited by human voices compared to bird songs at Frontocentral locations (5, 7, 11), but these results did not interact with group. In other words, patients showed similar response amplitudes as controls in the initial discrimination of human voices, despite the literature describing abnormalities in P2 modulation for this group (24, 25). It may be the case that the P2 reflects an early preference for human voice processing that goes in line with the social nature of the human brain and the priority given to social cues within the species (6, 7). Although there have been descriptions of abnormalities regarding voice processing when negative emotional content is added (29), no differences have been found for non-semantic speech and neutral voice sounds (28, 30), suggesting that early stages of voice processing might be unaffected in early schizophrenia.

Taking together H1 and H2, N1 seems to mirror an orienting response toward target/simple stimuli that is impaired in schizophrenia, while P2 is likely to index more specific, elaborated categorization processes of complex sounds that are not necessarily impaired in schizophrenia. Given the differences in functional significance, these findings further unveil that the current experimental manipulation led to the dissociation of N1 and P2 amplitude, which is also reflected in habituation processes.

Furthermore, our results provide evidence that both N1 and P2 are habituating components (1, 13), notwithstanding that habituation effects are category dependent for N1. Interestingly, habituation effects were moderated by group differences in P2, but not in N1. This partially contradicts H3, as we expected a general dysfunction in habituation processes at both timewindows and stimuli in patients (25). Importantly, this effect was specific to birds and not voices, with patients showing the expected pattern of non-habituation for birds in P2. Patterns of abnormal habituation have been found for this component in schizophrenia using simple stimuli (25), and the same seems to be the case for bird songs [complex non-vocal stimuli. The specificity regarding auditory processing of the human voice may help to understand this differential effect. The early positivity that occurs around the P2 time-window has been described as sensitive to voices with increased amplitudes for these stimuli when compared with other sound categories (5). Our results corroborate these findings i.e., human voices elicited higher P2 amplitudes than bird songs for both groups]. In fact, the preference for sensory information of conspecifics is observable on the visual N170 and its increased amplitudes for faces when compared with objects (39, 40). Thus, it is possible that both auditory and visual preference for conspecific stimuli plays a relevant role in social information processing (41). From the available evidence on this matter, one study by Williams et al. (42) analyzed the habituation of brain activations in response to faces in schizophrenia. No habituation was found in several brain regions of patients (e.g., primary visual cortex and hippocampus), but when looking at the putative generator of the N170-the Fusiform Face Area (43)—patients and controls showed a similar pattern of habituation to faces. It remains plausible therefore that conspecific signals (such as voice and faces) are processed by specialized brain modules that are somewhat independent of other stimulus categories, considering how crucial it is for communication and social interactions. Developmental studies highlight indeed that preference for voices emerges early, with habituation to human voices (vs. environmental stimuli) being observable in preschoolers (44). Additionally, brain regions responsible for voice processing are thought to maturate during the 1st year of life (45), whereas P2 modulations by stimulus category and habituation are mature in 5-year-old toddlers (46, 47). So, it is possible that voice processing specializes much earlier than the onset of schizophrenia symptoms and possibly explaining how first-episode patients exhibit normal patterns of brain response to neutral non-speech human voices.

Limitations of this study comprise the absence of a formal assessment of mental and hearing abilities and the inclusion of groups on antipsychotic medication, making it impossible to dissociate the effects of the medication from the abnormalities found, as it has been previously suggested [e.g., (48)]. Also, only mid-latency ERP components were studied, not allowing us to investigate later stages of the auditory processing. Future research should consider additional stages of voice processing and investigate more nuanced associations with schizophrenia symptoms, such as hallucinations, as possible predictive factors of impairment [see e.g., (33)]. Nonetheless, regarding abnormal habituation for bird songs, it is important that future research uses other stimuli to understand if this pattern of habituation is generalized for non-voices or specific for bird songs. In addition, our results show that preference for human voices seems to be unaffected in early diagnosed schizophrenia patients. The investigation of abnormal patterns of brain activity in patients with schizophrenia, such as the ones found in the current work, allows researchers to better understand the impairments and symptoms of this pathology. More specifically, the ability to filter out irrelevant or repetitive information in early and later stages of information processing. This growing knowledge may be crucial for the future development of neurobiologically-informed earlydiagnosis, assessment, and treatment for schizophrenia.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author, Prune Mazer, upon reasonable request.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Local Ethics committee of the Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences of the University of Porto. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

FF-S, PA, TP, FB, and JM-T conceptualized the study: CC-R, TP, and CS collected the data: PM, IM, RP, FF-S, and TP analyzed

the data: PM, IM, RP, and TP drafted the manuscript. All authors revised the manuscript.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology [Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT); project reference: PTDC/PSI-PCO/099528/2008].

# REFERENCES

- Özesmio Ç, Dolu N, Süer C, Gölgelio A, Aşçioglu M. Habituation of the auditory evoked potential in a short interstimulus interval paradigm. *Int J Neurosci.* (2000) 105:87–95. doi: 10.3109/00207450009003268
- 2. Pratt H. Sensory ERP Components. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2011).
- 3. Luck SJ. *An Introduction to the Event-Related Potential Technique, 2nd edn.* Cambridge, MA; London, England: The MIT Press (2014).
- Paiva TO, Almeida PR, Ferreira-Santos F, Vieira JB, Silveira C, Chaves PL, et al. Similar sound intensity dependence of the N1 and P2 components of the auditory ERP: averaged and single trial evidence. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2016) 127:499–508. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2015.06.016
- Charest I, Pernet CR, Rousselet GA, Quiñones I, Latinus M, Fillion-Bilodeau S, et al. Electrophysiological evidence for an early processing of human voices. *BMC Neurosci.* (2009) 10:127. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-10-127
- De Lucia M, Clarke S, Murray MM. A Temporal hierarchy for conspecific vocalization discrimination in humans. J Neurosci. (2010) 30:11210–21. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2239-10.2010
- Capilla A, Belin P, Gross J. The early spatio-temporal correlates and task independence of cerebral voice processing studied with MEG. *Cereb Cortex*. (2013) 23:1388–95. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhs119
- Schirmer A, Gunter TC. Temporal signatures of processing voiceness and emotion in sound. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2017) 12:902–9. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsx020
- Rosburg T, Boutros NN, Ford JM. Reduced auditory evoked potential component N100 in schizophrenia - a critical review. *Psychiatry Res.* (2008) 161:259–74. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2008.03.017
- Tomé D, Sampaio M, Mendes-Ribeiro J, Barbosa F, Marques-Teixeira J. Auditory event-related potentials in children with benign epilepsy with centro-temporal spikes. *Epilepsy Res.* (2014) 108:1945–9. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2014.09.021
- Bruneau N, Roux S, Cléry H, Rogier O, Bidet-Caulet A, Barthélémy C. Early neurophysiological correlates of vocal versus non-vocal sound processing in adults. *Brain Res.* (2013) 1528:20–7. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2013. 06.008
- Rentzsch J, Jockers-Scherübl M, Boutros N, Gallinat J. Test-retest reliability of P50, N100 and P200 auditory sensory gating in healthy subjects. *Int J Psychophysiol.* (2008) 67:81–90. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2007.10.006
- Pereira DR, Cardoso S, Ferreira-Santos F, Fernandes C, Cunha-Reis C, Paiva TO, et al. Effects of inter-stimulus interval (ISI) duration on the N1 and P2 components of the auditory event-related potential. *Int J Psychophysiol*. (2014) 94:311–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2014.09.012
- Bramon E. Meta-analysis of the P300 and P50 waveforms in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. (2004) 70:315–29. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.01.004
- Atagun MI, Drukker M, Hall MH, Altun IK, Tatli SZ, Guloksuz S, et al. Meta-analysis of auditory P50 sensory gating in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2020) 300:111078. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2020.111078
- McCarley RW, Faux SF, Shenton ME, Nestor PG, Adams J. Event-related potentials in schizophrenia: their biological and clinical correlates and new model of schizophrenic pathophysiology. *Schizophr Res.* (1991) 4:209–31. doi: 10.1016/0920-9964(91)90034-O
- 17. Chang W-P, Arfken CL, Sangal MP, Boutros NN. Probing the relative contribution of the first and second responses to sensory gating indices: a

FF-S was supported by a PhD Scholarship by FCT (grant SFRH/BD/64071/2009).

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.630406/full#supplementary-material

meta-analysis: S1, S2, and the gating ratio. *Psychophysiology*. (2011) 48:980–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2010.01168.x

- Force RB, Venables NC, Sponheim SR. An auditory processing abnormality specific to liability for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2008) 103:298–310. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.04.038
- Salisbury DF, Collins KC, McCarley RW. Reductions in the N1 and P2 Auditory Event-Related Potentials in First-Hospitalized and Chronic Schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull. (2010) 36:991–1000. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp003
- Foxe JJ, Yeap S, Snyder AC, Kelly SP, Thakore JH, Molholm S. The N1 auditory evoked potential component as an endophenotype for schizophrenia: high-density electrical mapping in clinically unaffected first-degree relatives, first-episode, and chronic schizophrenia patients. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2011) 261:331–9. doi: 10.1007/s00406-010-0176-0
- del Re EC, Spencer KM, Oribe N, Mesholam-Gately RI, Goldstein J, Shenton ME, et al. Clinical high risk and first episode schizophrenia: auditory event-related potentials. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2015) 231:126–33. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2014.11.012
- Wu K-Y, Chao C-W, Hung C-I, Chen W-H, Chen Y-T, Liang S-F. Functional abnormalities in the cortical processing of sound complexity and musical consonance in schizophrenia: evidence from an evoked potential study. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2013) 13:158. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-13-158
- Mathalon DH, Roach BJ, Ferri JM, Loewy RL, Stuart BK, Perez VB, et al. Deficient auditory predictive coding during vocalization in the psychosis risk syndrome and in early illness schizophrenia: the final expanded sample. *Psychol Med.* (2019) 49:1897–904. doi: 10.1017/S00332917180 02659
- 24. Ferreira-Santos F, Silveira C, Almeida PR, Palha A, Barbosa F, Marques-Teixeira J. The auditory P200 is both increased and reduced in schizophrenia? A meta-analytic dissociation of the effect for standard and target stimuli in the oddball task. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2012) 123:1300–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2011.11.036
- Boutros NN, Korzyukov O, Jansen B, Feingold A, Bell M. Sensory gating deficits during the mid-latency phase of information processing in medicated schizophrenia patients. *Psychiatry Res.* (2004) 126:203–15. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2004.01.007
- Morales-Muñoz I, Jurado-Barba R, Fernández-Guinea S, Rodríguez-Jiménez R, Jiménez-Arriero MÁ, Criado JR, et al. Sensory gating deficits in first-episode psychosis: evidence from neurophysiology, psychophysiology, and neuropsychology. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* (2016) 204:877–84. doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000000572
- Rosburg T. Auditory N100 gating in patients with schizophrenia: a systematic meta-analysis. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2018) 129:2099–111. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2018.07.012
- Pinheiro AP, del Re E, Mezin J, Nestor PG, Rauber A, McCarley RW, et al. Sensory-based and higher-order operations contribute to abnormal emotional prosody processing in schizophrenia: an electrophysiological investigation. *Psychol. Med.* (2013) 43:603–18. doi: 10.1017/S003329171200133X
- Pinheiro AP, Rezaii N, Rauber A, Liu T, Nestor PG, McCarley RW, et al. Abnormalities in the processing of emotional prosody from single words in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 152:235–41. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.10.042
- Liu T, Pinheiro AP, Zhao Z, Nestor PG, McCarley RW, Niznikiewicz M. Simultaneous face and voice processing in schizophrenia. *Behav Brain Res.* (2016) 305:76–86. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2016.01.039

- Hsieh MH, Lin Y-T, Chien Y-L, Hwang T-J, Hwu H-G, Liu C-M, et al. Auditory event-related potentials in antipsychotic-free subjects with ultrahigh-risk state and first-episode psychosis. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:223. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00223
- 32. Fuerst DR, Gallinat J, Boutros NN. Range of sensory gating values and test?retest reliability in normal subjects. *Psychophysiology.* (2007) 44:620–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2007.00524.x
- Conde T, Gonçalves OF, Pinheiro AP. A cognitive neuroscience view of voice-processing abnormalities in schizophrenia: a window into auditory verbal hallucinations? *Harv Rev Psychiatry.* (2016) 24:148–63. doi: 10.1097/HRP.00000000000082
- de Wilde OM, Bour LJ, Dingemans PM, Koelman JHTM, Linszen DH. A meta-analysis of P50 studies in patients with schizophrenia and relatives: differences in methodology between research groups. *Schizophr Res.* (2007) 97:137–51. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.04.028
- Baldeweg T, Klugman A, Gruzelier J, Hirsch SR. Mismatch negativity potentials and cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 69:204–17. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2003.09.009
- Delorme A, Makeig S. EEGLAB: an open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics. J Neurosci Methods. (2004) 134:9–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2003.10.009
- Delorme A, Mullen T, Kothe C, Akalin Acar Z, Bigdely-Shamlo N, Vankov A, et al. EEGLAB, SIFT, NFT, BCILAB, and ERICA: new tools for advanced EEG processing. *Comput Intell Neurosci.* (2011) 2011:130714. doi: 10.1155/2011/130714
- Viola FC, Thorne J, Edmonds B, Schneider T, Eichele T, Debener S. Semi-automatic identification of independent components representing EEG artifacts. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2009) 120:868–77. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2009.01.015
- Mercure E, Kadosh KC, Johnson MH. The N170 shows differential repetition effects for faces, objects, and orthographic stimuli. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2011) 5:6. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2011. 00006
- Hinojosa JA, Mercado F, Carretié L. N170 sensitivity to facial expression: a meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2015) 55:498–509. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.06.002
- Liu T, Pinheiro A, Zhao Z, Nestor PG, McCarley RW, Niznikiewicz MA. Emotional cues during simultaneous face and voice

processing: electrophysiological insights. PLoS One. (2012) 7:e31001. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031001

- Williams LE, Blackford JU, Luksik A, Gauthier I, Heckers S. Reduced habituation in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 151:124–32. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.10.017
- 43. Kanwisher N, Yovel G. The fusiform face area: a cortical region specialized for the perception of faces. *Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci.* (2006) 361:2109–28. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2006.1934
- 44. Yamasaki T, Ogata K, Maekawa T, Ijichi I, Katagiri M, Mitsudo T, et al. Rapid maturation of voice and linguistic processing systems in preschool children: a near-infrared spectroscopic study. *Exp Neurol.* (2013) 250:313–20. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2013.10.005
- 45. Dubois J, Poupon C, Thirion B, Simonnet H, Kulikova S, Leroy F, et al. Exploring the early organization and maturation of linguistic pathways in the human infant brain. *Cereb Cortex.* (2016) 26:2283–98. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhv082
- Ponton CW, Eggermont JJ, Kwong B, Don M. Maturation of human central auditory system activity: evidence from multi-channel evoked potentials. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2000) 111:220–36. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(99)00236-9
- Mahajan Y, McArthur G. Maturation of auditory event-related potentials across adolescence. *Hear Res.* (2012) 294:82–94. doi: 10.1016/j.heares.2012.10.005
- Valkonen-Korhonen M, Purhonen M, Tarkka IM, Sipilä P, Partanen J, Karhu J, et al. Altered auditory processing in acutely psychotic never-medicated first-episode patients. *Cogn Brain Res.* (2003) 17:747–58. doi: 10.1016/S0926-6410(03)00199-X

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Mazer, Macedo, Paiva, Ferreira-Santos, Pasion, Barbosa, Almeida, Silveira, Cunha-Reis and Marques-Teixeira. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The Effects of Antipsychotic Treatment on the Brain of Patients With First-Episode Schizophrenia: A Selective Review of Longitudinal MRI Studies

Chengmin Yang <sup>1,2,3†</sup>, Jing Tang <sup>1,2†</sup>, Naici Liu <sup>1,2,3</sup>, Li Yao <sup>1,2,3</sup>, Mengyuan Xu <sup>1,2,3</sup>, Hui Sun <sup>1,2,3</sup>, Bo Tao <sup>1,2,3</sup>, Qiyong Gong <sup>1,2,3</sup>, Hengyi Cao <sup>1,4,5</sup>, Wenjing Zhang <sup>1,2,3\*</sup> and Su Lui <sup>1,2,3\*</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Stefan Borgwardt, University of Basel, Switzerland

#### Reviewed by:

Cristina Crocamo, University of Milano Bicocca, Italy Long-Biao Cui, People's Liberation Army General Hospital, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Wenjing Zhang wjzhang19@scu.edu.cn Su Lui lusuwcums@tom.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 11 August 2020 Accepted: 28 May 2021 Published: 24 June 2021

#### Citation:

Yang C, Tang J, Liu N, Yao L, Xu M, Sun H, Tao B, Gong Q, Cao H, Zhang W and Lui S (2021) The Effects of Antipsychotic Treatment on the Brain of Patients With First-Episode Schizophrenia: A Selective Review of Longitudinal MRI Studies. Front. Psychiatry 12:593703. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.593703 <sup>1</sup> Huaxi MR Research Center, Department of Radiology, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Radiology, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, <sup>3</sup> Functional and Molecular Imaging Key Laboratory of Sichuan Province, Psychoradiology Research Unit, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, <sup>4</sup> Center for Psychiatric Neuroscience, Feinstein Institute for Medical Research, Manhasset, NY, United States, <sup>5</sup> Division of Psychiatry Research, Zucker Hillside Hospital, Glen Oaks, NY, United States

A large number of neuroimaging studies have detected brain abnormalities in first-episode schizophrenia both before and after treatment, but it remains unclear how these abnormalities reflect the effects of antipsychotic treatment on the brain. To summarize the findings in this regard and provide potential directions for future work, we reviewed longitudinal structural and functional imaging studies in patients with first-episode schizophrenia before and after antipsychotic treatment. A total of 36 neuroimaging studies was included, involving 21 structural imaging studies and 15 functional imaging studies. Both anatomical and functional brain changes in patients after treatment were consistently observed in the frontal and temporal lobes, basal ganglia, limbic system and several key components within the default mode network (DMN). Alterations in these regions were affected by factors such as antipsychotic type, course of treatment, and duration of untreated psychosis (DUP). Over all we showed that: (a) The striatum and DMN were core target regions of treatment in schizophrenia, and their changes were related to different antipsychotics; (b) The gray matter of frontal and temporal lobes tended to reduce after long-term treatment; and (c) Longer DUP was accompanied with faster hippocampal atrophy after initial treatment, which was also associated with poorer outcome. These findings are in accordance with previous notions but should be interpreted with caution. Future studies are needed to clarify the effects of different antipsychotics in multiple conditions and to identify imaging or other biomarkers that may predict antipsychotic treatment response. With such progress, it may help choose effective pharmacological interventional strategies for individuals experiencing recent-onset schizophrenia.

Keywords: first-episode schizophrenia, antipsychotics, treatment response, longitudinal, magnetic resonance imaging

# INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia is a chronic and severe psychotic disorder that affects approximately 1% of the population, and has a profound impact on individuals who have been affected (1). The core features of this disorder are positive symptoms (delusions and hallucinations), negative symptoms (apathy, loss of emotional expression) and cognitive impairments (2). Antipsychotics, which exert effects on eliminating these symptoms by interacting with the dopamine D2 receptors in the brain (3), have been the mainstream treatment for schizophrenia since the 1950s (4). However, in spite of development and administration for decades, the usage of antipsychotic drugs as the first choice for schizophrenia patients has been of sustain controversy. The reasons include: (1) low effectiveness for whole population-about 30% of first episode patients, as well as over 50% of patients with multiple episodes, did not respond to conventional antipsychotic treatment (5); (2) many side effects-specifically, first-generation (conventional) agents (FGAs) appear to have high efficacy in reducing positive symptoms but are accompanied with serious side effects, such as acute extrapyramidal side effects (EPS) and tardive dyskinesia (TD) (6), although these effects are shown to be attenuated by second-generation (atypical) agents (SGAs) (2); and (3) effects with unpredictable outcomes-it was found that patients exposed to antipsychotics appeared to have cell loss in brain and smaller brain volume (7-9), and what these changes might cause remains uncertain. Therefore, determining the effects of different antipsychotics on the brain is important to elucidate the efficacy and side effects of the drugs simultaneously, and to justify the administration of antipsychotics (10, 11).

The magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) provides an important alternative to examine how the antipsychotic treatment affects human brain in vivo. In previous work, using different imaging techniques and analytic algorithms, both structural and functional brain alterations were identified in response to antipsychotics in patients with schizophrenia, mainly involving the fronto-temporal brain regions (12), basal ganglia (13), limbic system, (14-16) and several key components within the default mode network (DMN) (17). However, the findings thus far have been inconsistent. While the discrepancy in previous findings might attribute to heterogeneity in sample size, patient ethnics, illness course, and analytic approaches, several other important factors were also showing great impacts on the brain changes, including different types of drug administered, duration of untreated illness, and follow-up time (the time period that the patients were treated). As a result, it is necessary to summarize findings between brain alterations and antipsychotic treatment, and to identify factors that might bias the effects. This is essential before validating the findings in larger samples with unified analytic methodology.

In such efforts, reviewing studies that have included patients with untreated schizophrenia and collected brain imaging data before and after treatment is preferable. However, given longstanding and almost universal treatment with antipsychotic medications right after illness onset especially in the Western countries, a great number of previous studies enrolled patients who had already taken antipsychotics for a period of time (8). From the research perspective, never-treated schizophrenia patients should be included at baseline to precisely identify the treatment effects of antipsychotics on the brain. Furthermore, patients with first-episode schizophrenia display a greater sensitivity, or respond easily, to antipsychotic treatment in reducing psychotic symptoms than those who with multiple episodes (5, 6, 18). Therefore, studies with antipsychotic-naïve patients with first-episode schizophrenia are especially important as a starting point for evaluating the brain alterations after the administration of antipsychotics, to better specify the anatomical and functional changes that are associated with treatment (19). With this in mind, over the past decade, our group has collected imaging and clinical data from a large sample of antipsychoticnaïve patients with first-episode schizophrenia and longitudinally followed these patients after treatment. We found that the gray matter volume in the hippocampus was reduced after 6 weeks of antipsychotic treatment in a dose-related manner (14), and the abnormal regional activities in the orbitofrontal cortex and occipital gyrus were partly normalized after 1-year treatment (20). These findings added importance evidence in this aspect, however, our patients were followed just for 1 year and findings from different centers varied a lot as noted above. Thus, the brain changes in response to antipsychotics remain uncertain and require further exploration and generalization.

When interpreting the treatment effects, it is noteworthy that the treatment effects could not be easily explained by the brain changes before and after treatment. The model associated with illness progression also needs to be taken into consideration since the relative contribution of both models (antipsychotic drug vs. illness progression) to different brain changes remains to be clarified. Neuroimaging studies have revealed progressive brain changes since first-episode schizophrenia and provided evidence that brain changes might represent an ongoing pathophysiological process (21, 22). Under this circumstance, taking the dynamics of brain structure and function within the illness itself into consideration is necessary in studies with longitudinal designs when brain changes along the treatment are assessed (22). Findings from these longitudinal designs should be interpreted with caution, as they are not necessarily representative of a causal effect of treatment but may involve progressive pathological changes along the illness duration, especially for patients who were followed for a long time.

In the current review, therefore, we attempted to identify and summarize longitudinal neuroimaging studies providing evidence for a relationship between antipsychotic medications and brain changes in patients with first-episode schizophrenia. For a better characterization, we focused our attention chiefly on studies with patients who had never received any antipsychotics (drug-naïve), rather than patients who had been free of effects of antipsychotic medication for a period of time before admission (drug-free).

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# **Searching Procedures**

This review was performed based on the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement. We searched for publications in PubMed and Embase from Jan 1st, 2000 to the present. The key words used in the literature search were "first episode" or "firstepisode" and "schizophrenia" and "antipsychotic treatment" or "antipsychotics" or "antipsychotic drug" or "antipsychotic medication" and "magnetic resonance imaging" or "MRI" or "diffusion tensor imaging" or "DTI" and "longitudinal." We also limited the search to articles that were written in English, and manually checked the reference lists of the retrieved articles for additional relevant studies.

Studies were included based on the following criteria: (a) peer-reviewed original literature, (b) longitudinal MRI studies, (c) examining the effects of antipsychotic treatment on the brain, (d) drug-naïve or drug-naïve/drug-free patients, and (e) first-episode schizophrenia patients. Studies were excluded for any of the following reasons: (a) they were case reports, editorials, comments, reviews or meta-analyses, (b) MRI was not used as the main method to investigate the neural basis of schizophrenia, (c) the effects of antipsychotic treatment on brain changes of patients were not described, (d) patients had received antipsychotic medication at the baseline assessment, or (e) patients studied had disorders other than schizophrenia, such as bipolar disorder, depression, brief psychotic disorder, delusional disorder or psychotic disorder not otherwise specified.

Notably, to better specify the brain changes associated with anatomy and function, respectively, we stratified the included studies into those were of structural imaging study and functional imaging study (**Figure 1**). In structural imaging studies, highresolution 3D T1-weighted imaging and diffusion tensor imaging were collected, and structural parameters for gray matter (gray matter volume, cortical thickness, surface area, and etc.) and white matter [fractional anisotropy (FA), mean diffusion (MD) and etc.] were assessed. In functional imaging studies, restingstate or task-based functional MRI data was acquired, and imaging measures of regional activity, functional connectivity between regions, and brain networks were calculated.

# **Quality Assessment of Selected Studies**

The quality of each included study was evaluated with Newcastle Ottawa Scale (23), which contains 3 categories: 4 items for patients selection, 1 item for study comparability and 3 items for outcomes assessment. The score is classified into 3 scales: 7–9 defined as good, 5–6 is fair quality, and 0–4 is poor quality. Of note, this checklist was just used to assess the quality of the included studies in our review, without criticizing the work itself or investigators.

# RESULTS

A flowchart of the selection procedure with strict inclusion and exclusion criteria is shown in **Figure 1**. Among the 85 studies that were found according to our searching strategy, 19 (14, 15, 20, 24–39) of them met the inclusion criteria and were enrolled. Additional 17 (16, 17, 40–54) studies were found in other sources: five studies (50–54) came from a review (55), 4 studies (16, 46–48) came from another review (19), the co-author of 3 studies (40, 43, 45), 2 studies (17, 41) and one study (42) came from three research centers, respectively, which were same as the included studies through our searching strategy, one study (44)

came from our group and one study (49) came from a reference list of a included study (37). All additional studies included 9 structural studies (16, 44, 48–54) and 8 functional studies (17, 40–43, 45–47). Finally, a total of 36 longitudinal studies was included in this review with good quality (mean score = 8.78) (**Supplementary Table 1**), including 21 studies (14–16, 27–30, 32, 33, 35–37, 39, 44, 48–54) on brain structure and 15 studies (17, 20, 24–26, 31, 34, 38, 40–43, 45–47) on brain function (**Figure 1**).

In 10 studies patients were treated with both FGAs and SGAs after baseline MRI scan (14, 15, 20, 28, 37, 39, 47-49, 52). Other 24 studies observed brain changes after treatment with SGAs (16, 17, 24-27, 30-36, 38, 40, 41, 43-46, 50, 51, 53, 54). Only two studies had no clear information of medication (29, 42). Most first-episode schizophrenia patients were in their 20 s (mean age) with illness duration <3 years, except one study with over 3 years (48). At the baseline scan, 34 studies recruited patients who had been drug-naïve (14-17, 20, 24-33, 35-44, 46-54), and the other two studies had mixed sample with both drug-naïve and drugfree patients (34, 45). The periods of follow-up ranged from 1 week to 4 years. To facilitate the discussion, the time period of antipsychotic treatment was divided into 3 phases as indicated in a previous work (56). In particular, the short-term phase was defined as the period of acute and intense psychosis, and typically <1 year. The mid-term phase was defined as the 2- to 3-year period after the acute phase, and the long-term phase was defined as the period from 3 years onward (56).

# **Structural Imaging Studies**

Among structural MRI studies, 17 studies investigated gray matter volume alterations (14-16, 27-30, 35, 36, 39, 48-54). In particular, four studies used Diffusion Tensor Imaging (DTI) to assess the white matter microstructure (32, 33, 37, 44). Structural changes in the brain of patients with first-episode schizophrenia before and after treatment have been frequently reported in the frontal and temporal gyrus, basal ganglia and limbic system. These brain alterations were associated with symptom improvements, also influenced by antipsychotic dose. However, the effects of antipsychotics on the brain anatomy were inconsistent. Specifically, the gray matter volume in the frontal and temporal regions decreased after mid-term and long-term treatment (39, 48) but increased after short-term following-up (30, 49, 50). One of these studies observed that greater volume of the prefrontal cortex was associated with improvement in negative symptoms (30). Regarding the striatum, amisulpride monotherapy induced hypertrophy of the structure (27) but quetiapine monotherapy caused hypotrophy (16). In these two studies, it was showed that the reductions in positive symptoms were associated with striatal volume increases after the administration of antipsychotics (27), while striatal volume loss was related to low quetiapine dose (16). As to the subregions of striatum, such as the caudate and putamen, their gray matter consistently increased in patients after antipsychotic treatment (15, 49, 53, 54). Interestingly, there was a significant sex effect on the relationship between atypical neuroleptic exposure and changes in the structure of the caudate over time (54). In women, greater amount of drug exposure was associated with



less enlargement of the caudate, with the opposite observed in men. The volume of the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) was decreased in patients treated with mixed FGAs and SGAs (28) or SGAs (52) but increased with FGAs (52). The increased ACC volume was correlated with greater psychotic symptom improvements (52). In addition, most studies showed reduced gray matter volume in the hippocampus over time (14, 16, 29, 35), and the changes altered in a dose-related manner (14, 16). One study observed progressive gray matter increase in the amygdala-hippocampal cluster that was related to drug plasma levels (36). Despite the limited number of DTI studies, two studies (37, 44) reported widespread white matter integrity deficits in patients after treatment, while another study revealed that lower fractional anisotropy (FA) was normalized in patients treated with amisulpride monotherapy (33). A graph-based study for anatomical brain networks showed deficits of topological parameters in the limbic system were normalized along with reductions in positive symptoms after 8 weeks of risperidone monotherapy (32).

# **Functional Imaging Studies**

Among functional MRI studies, six of them measured regional activities of brain regions (24, 31, 34, 38, 43, 46), including those at resting-state and task-based conditions. Seven studies calculated functional connectivity between regions within the brain (17, 25, 26, 40–42, 45), and two studies involved both functional measures mentioned above (20, 47). Antipsychotics could manifest acute effects on brain function after a very short period of antipsychotic treatment, as reported in studies where patients were treated for only 1 week (40, 43). However, the findings are diverse, different patterns of functional changes were

showed that might relate to different mechanisms or pathological processes. Several studies have reported that brain abnormalities at baseline, mostly involving the frontal, parietal, and temporal cortices, basal ganglia and limbic system, were normalized or reduced after being treated (17, 20, 24-26, 34, 38, 40, 41, 43, 47). These dynamic changes in abnormal brain activation with symptom improvements were observed after treatment, which may indirectly represent the beneficial effects of antipsychotics. However, the normalization of dysfunction observed before treatment did not occur in all brain regions or networks in first-episode patients after treatment. The dysfunction might be stable in brain regions over time, mainly including the caudate, putamen and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) (31, 34, 42, 46). Additionally, the DLPFC was unimpaired prior to treatment but showed significantly reduced activation after treatment, suggesting that antipsychotics may have adverse effects on brain function (34).

# DISCUSSION

The present review article summarized the effects of antipsychotics on brain structure and function in patients with first-episode schizophrenia. The longitudinal brain changes in relation to antipsychotic treatment remain inconclusive, as inconsistency was shown among results from different studies which may be attributable to differences in the study design. Moreover, the common brain regions were frequently reported. Specifically, basal ganglia function, especially striatum, as fundamental of dysregulated dopaminergic modulation is underlying the symptoms of schizophrenia, which is affected by antipsychotic treatments (57). Disrupted DMN plays an important role in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia, and the network are plastic as well as can respond to effective medications (58). Here, we discuss three main factors and their potential effects on the results, namely, the type of drugs, the follow-up period and the duration of untreated psychosis (DUP).

# **Effects of Different Types of Antipsychotics**

The different profiles of affinity for dopamine D2 receptors of FGAs and SGAs may result in different brain changes. FGAs have affinity for dopamine D2 receptors, which are highly expressed in the basal ganglia (59). However, SGAs have a favorable ratio of serotonin 5-HT2A to D2 antagonism, therefore, the findings of treatment effects on the brain have been inconsistent. Specifically, in a functional MRI study (31), patients with risperidone monotherapy showed increased synchronous neural activity in the putamen, while greater increase in activation in the putamen related to less improvement in positive symptoms. In contrast, another study (43) with olanzapine monotherapy reported decreased synchronous neural activity in the putamen, and the activation reduction in the putamen was positively related to improvements in positive symptoms. Besides putamen, the volumes of caudate nuclei and accumbens were found to be increased in patients with risperidone monotherapy, but striatal reductions were observed in patients with quetiapine monotherapy (16, 53). The putamen, caudate nuclei and accumbens are parts of the striatum with rich dopamine receptors, which are recognized as antipsychotic treatment targets for schizophrenia (15). Regarding pharmacological mechanisms, risperidone has high affinity for both 5-HT2A and dopamine D2 receptors (60). Meanwhile, olanzapine has high affinity for the 5-HT2A receptor and moderate affinity for the D2 receptor (61). The differences in therapeutic targets between olanzapine and risperidone may cause opposite findings in the above studies.

Inconsistent findings were also shown in first-episode schizophrenia after SGAs at the network level (17, 45). Specifically, the functional connectivity between the posterior cingulate cortex (PCC) and precuneus (PCUN) was found either increased (45), or decreased (17) in patients before treatment in different studies, but such changes were found to be normalized or reversed in different directionality after treatment in tandem with the improvement in symptoms, i.e., the pre-treatment increased/decreased functional connectivity was decreased/increased after treatment (17, 45). Both PCC and PCUN are central nodes for the default-mode system (62), and are considered to be closely related to functions of self-awareness, self-centered mental imagery, and extraction of episodic memory (63). The DMN was a network circuit, in which the abnormalities were commonly thought to be associated with the core model of the psychopathology of schizophrenia (64). The antipsychotics appear to exert the therapeutic effects greatly in fixing the changes in DMN, which could happen universally after initiation of antipsychotics in schizophrenia patients.

Notably, different drugs might be administered simultaneously in clinical practice for those who with firstepisode schizophrenia. In this situation, the structural and functional brain changes observed might represent combining effects of differential antipsychotics. The explanation of effects from different drugs could be difficult. In our review, most patients in the included studies were treated with multiple antipsychotics. Among these studies, consistent findings of reduced volumes in the hippocampus (14, 16, 29) and ACC (28, 52) were observed. In particular, increased FGA exposure was correlated with increased ACC volume, and increased SGA exposure was related to decreased ACC volume over time (52). Other studies did not find the same pattern, but they only focused on regions within dopaminergic projections. While changes or associations could be observed in these studies, the complicated interactions between drugs or also with other factors make it hard to determine where the observed effects come from.

# **Effects of Follow-Up Periods**

The follow-up periods in the reviewed studies ranged from 1 week to 4 years, including 31 short-term studies, four mid-term studies and only one long-term study according to the abovementioned definition. Short-term follow-up studies with different antipsychotic treatments reported robust brain structural and functional changes in first-episode schizophrenia, mainly involving the fronto-temporal cortex, basal ganglia, limbic system and several key components in the DMN. There are relatively fewer mid-term and long-term follow-up studies, and these studies revealed gray matter loss in the frontal and temporal gyri (39, 48) and whole brain volume (8, 65). A longer follow-up or treatment exposure was associated with a greater decrease in brain volumes, and greater intensity of antipsychotic treatment was associated with brain volume reduction (65).

In a recent functional brain network study (66), it was investigated that whether functional alterations in the brain were different after long-term treatment in schizophrenia patients with or without prior antipsychotic treatment. Long-term treatment may protect the functions of the amygdala, hippocampus, and striatum. Although this cross-sectional study should be interpreted with caution, it provided some new insights into the clinical benefit of long-term treatment, particularly in diseaserelated regions. In addition, compared to the structural changes associated with hippocampal deficits in patients receiving shortterm treatment, a study identified advantageous effects of longterm antipsychotic treatment in hippocampal subfields (67). Furthermore, white matter microstructure abnormalities in the corpus callosum were investigated in patients with first-episode schizophrenia after acute antipsychotic treatment (44), while one of our previous studies showed that long-term antipsychotic treatment may also exert positive effects on the integrity of the corpus callosum (68). It has also been postulated that longer antipsychotic treatment may be associated with more adverse effects, such as weight gain, metabolic disturbance or insufficient adherence (69). However, the effects observed above come from a cross-sectional study, and longitudinal studies are needed to confirm this phenomenon and elucidate the causes.

# Effects of the DUP

DUP is defined as the time from emergence of psychotic symptoms until treatment with antipsychotics, which usually

ranges from 8 to 48 weeks. The DUP has been shown to be positively associated with worse treatment responses (70). Therefore, patients with first-episode schizophrenia are recommended to take appropriate antipsychotics as soon as possible (71). In a structural study (72), smaller hippocampal gray matter volume was associated with worse cognitive performance, which might be mediated though the dopamine pathway (73). Specifically, longer DUP was significantly associated with smaller whole hippocampal volume (74). Another study (75) observed a positive association between longer DUP and accelerated hippocampal atrophy during initial treatment. These findings together may suggest that impairments in brain structures are associated with both poorer outcomes in schizophrenia and longer DUP. Therefore, reducing the DUP and providing early pharmacological intervention is critical to preventing structural deficits and improving clinical outcomes (74).

In this review, most studies employed young adults with DUP of <1 year. One functional study suggested that longer DUP led to more severe disruptions in functional connectivity in the sensory-motor network, which may subsequently result in difficulties in the treatment of positive symptoms (42). However, none of the included functional studies analyzed patients with long DUP (>2 years). One cross-sectional study (76) compared two cohorts with different DUPs (2 weeks to 2 years) and found that longer DUP was correlated with worse treatment responses and overall decreased functional connectivity between striatal nodes and specific regions within frontal and parietal cortices. Based on these results, the antipsychotics exerted different effects that might be related to different DUPs on patients as revealed by functional changes in the brain. However, the interpretation of these results should consider the heterogeneity of patients between cohorts.

# POTENTIAL LIMITATIONS

There are some limitations that need to be noted. First, longitudinal studies investigating the long-term effects of antipsychotic treatment on brain are difficult, and therefore only few longitudinal imaging studies have been conducted to date. Second, the studies included in this review were published with a range of 20 years, therefore different imaging techniques and analyses were used which may influence the results. Third, our review only focused on treatment effects related to type of drugs, follow-up periods, and the DUP. Other variables or factors that may potentially relate to the treatment effect were not discussed due to limited number of studies, such as a history of substance abuse. Fourth, The site effects may to certain degree account for the variability between studies.

# **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

While conducting longitudinal studies is essential to evaluating medication effects, general effects of antipsychotic medication should be performed in studies controlling factors such as antipsychotic type, DUP, and follow-up period, and the generalization of the findings should be tested in independent datasets. In addition, specific effects associated with different follow-up periods, variable DUP and other factors should also be examined, preferably at the individual level in order to promote individualized medications.

# CONCLUSION

To sum up, several brain regions in patients with first-episode schizophrenia are consistently reported and related to the effects of antipsychotics, including the frontal and temporal lobes, basal ganglia, limbic system, and some key components within the DMN. However, the specific anatomical and functional changes in these regions differ between different types of antipsychotics, follow-up periods and DUPs. Future studies with larger and more homogeneous patient samples are needed to clarify the effects of different antipsychotics in various conditions, which might help to develop pharmacological and interventional strategies for individuals experiencing recent-onset schizophrenia.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SL and WZ contributed to the conception and design of the study, as well as the supervision of all the work of this review. CY, JT, and NL contributed to literature searching and drafting of the manuscript. All authors made critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content and gave final approval of the version to be submitted.

# FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant nos. 82071908 and 81621003), Sichuan Science and Technology Program (Grant nos. 2021JDTD0002, 2020YJ0018, and 2021YFS0077), the Science and Technology Project of the Health Planning Committee of Sichuan (Grant nos. 20PJ010 and 19PJ078), 1.3.5 Project for Disciplines of Excellence, West China Hospital, Sichuan University (Project no. ZYYC08001 and ZYJC18020), the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (Grant no. 2020SCU12053), Post-Doctor Research Project, West China Hospital, Sichuan University (Grant no. 2020HXBH005), and Postdoctoral Interdisciplinary Research Project of Sichuan University (Grant no. 0040204153248).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

SL acknowledges the support from Humboldt Foundation Friedrich Wihelm Bessel Research Award and Chang Jiang Scholars (Program No. T2019069).

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.593703/full#supplementary-material

# REFERENCES

- Owen MJ, Sawa A, Mortensen PB. Schizophrenia. Lancet. (2016) 388:86– 97. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01121-6
- 2. Goff DC. The pharmacologic treatment of schizophrenia-2021. *JAMA*. (2021) 325:175–6. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.19048
- Chestnykh DA, Amato D, Kornhuber J, Müller CP. Pharmacotherapy of schizophrenia: mechanisms of antipsychotic accumulation, therapeutic action and failure. *Behav Brain Res.* (2021) 403:113144. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2021.113144
- Lehmann HE, Ban TA. The history of the psychopharmacology of schizophrenia. *Can J Psychiatry*. (1997) 42:152– 62. doi: 10.1177/070674379704200205
- Mouchlianitis E, McCutcheon R, Howes OD. Brain-Imaging studies of treatment-resistant schizophrenia: a systematic review. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2016) 3:451–63. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00540-4
- Marder SR, Cannon TD. Schizophrenia. N Engl J Med. (2019) 381:1753– 61. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1808803
- Konopaske GT, Dorph-Petersen KA, Sweet RA, Pierri JN, Zhang W, Sampson AR, et al. Effect of chronic antipsychotic exposure on astrocyte and oligodendrocyte numbers in macaque monkeys. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2008) 63:759–65. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.08.018
- Moncrieff J, Leo J. A Systematic Review of the Effects of Antipsychotic Drugs on Brain Volume. *Psychol Med.* (2010) 40:1409–22. doi: 10.1017/S0033291709992297
- Konopaske GT, Dorph-Petersen KA, Pierri JN, Wu Q, Sampson AR, Lewis DA. Effect of chronic exposure to antipsychotic medication on cell numbers in the parietal cortex of macaque monkeys. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2007) 32:1216–23. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301233
- Jarskog LF, Miyamoto S, Lieberman JA. Schizophrenia: new pathological insights and therapies. Ann Rev Med. (2007) 58:49–61. doi: 10.1146/annurev.med.58.060904.084114
- Biedermann F, Fleischhacker WW. Emerging drugs for schizophrenia. Exp Opin Emerg Drugs. (2011) 16:271–82. doi: 10.1517/14728214.2011.556112
- Kani AS, Shinn AK, Lewandowski KE, Öngür D. Converging effects of diverse treatment modalities on frontal cortex in schizophrenia: a review of longitudinal functional magnetic resonance imaging studies. J Psychiatr Res. (2017) 84:256–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.10.012
- Ebdrup BH, Nørbak H, Borgwardt S, Glenthøj B. Volumetric changes in the basal ganglia after antipsychotic monotherapy: a systematic review. *Curr Med Chem.* (2013) 20:438–47. doi: 10.2174/092986713804870873
- Li W, Li K, Guan P, Chen Y, Xiao Y, Lui S, et al. Volume alteration of hippocampal subfields in first-episode antipsychotic-naïve schizophrenia patients before and after acute antipsychotic treatment. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2018) 20:169–76. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2018.07.008
- Li M, Chen Z, Deng W, He Z, Wang Q, Jiang L, et al. Volume increases in putamen associated with positive symptom reduction in previously drugnaive schizophrenia after 6 weeks antipsychotic treatment. *Psychol Med.* (2012) 42:1475–83. doi: 10.1017/S0033291711002157
- Ebdrup BH, Skimminge A, Rasmussen H, Aggernaes B, Oranje B, Lublin H, et al. Progressive striatal and hippocampal volume loss in initially antipsychotic-naive, first-episode schizophrenia patients treated with quetiapine: relationship to dose and symptoms. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2011) 14:69–82. doi: 10.1017/S1461145710000817
- Zong X, Hu M, Pantazatos SP, Mann JJ, Wang G, Liao Y, et al. A dissociation in effects of risperidone monotherapy on functional and anatomical connectivity within the default mode network. *Schizophr Bull.* (2019) 45:1309–18. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby175
- Robinson DG, Woerner MG, Delman HM, Kane JM. Pharmacological treatments for first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2005) 31:705– 22. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbi032
- Gong Q, Lui S, Sweeney JA. A selective review of cerebral abnormalities in patients with first-episode schizophrenia before and after treatment. Am J Psychiatry. (2016) 173:232–43. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.15050641
- Li F, Lui S, Yao L, Hu J, Lv P, Huang X, et al. Longitudinal changes in resting-state cerebral activity in patients with first-episode schizophrenia: a 1-year follow-up functional mr imaging study. *Radiology*. (2016) 279:867– 75. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2015151334

- Hulshoff Pol HE, Kahn RS. What happens after the first episode? A review of progressive brain changes in chronically ill patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2008) 34:354–66. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm168
- Dietsche B, Kircher T, Falkenberg I. Structural brain changes in schizophrenia at different stages of the illness: a selective review of longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*. (2017) 51:500– 8. doi: 10.1177/0004867417699473
- Stang A. Critical evaluation of the newcastle-ottawa scale for the assessment of the quality of nonrandomized studies in meta-analyses. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2010) 25:603–5. doi: 10.1007/s10654-010-9491-z
- Wulff S, Nielsen M, Rostrup E, Svarer C, Jensen LT, Pinborg L, et al. The relation between dopamine d(2) receptor blockade and the brain reward system: a longitudinal study of first-episode schizophrenia patients. *Psychol Med.* (2020) 50:220–8. doi: 10.1017/S0033291718004099
- Duan X, Hu M, Huang X, Su C, Zong X, Dong X, et al. Effect of risperidone monotherapy on dynamic functional connectivity of insular subdivisions in treatment-naive, first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2020) 46:650– 60. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbz087
- 26. Duan X, Hu M, Huang X, Dong X, Zong X, He C, et al. Effects of risperidone monotherapy on the default-mode network in antipsychoticnaive first-episode schizophrenia: posteromedial cortex heterogeneity and relationship with the symptom improvements. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) 218:201– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2020.01.001
- 27. Andersen HG, Raghava JM, Svarer C, Wulff S, Johansen LB, Antonsen PK, et al. Striatal volume increase after six weeks of selective dopamine D(2/3) receptor blockade in first-episode, antipsychotic-naïve schizophrenia patients. *Front Neurosci.* (2020) 14:484. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2020.00484
- Li M, Li X, Das TK, Deng W, Li Y, Zhao L, et al. Prognostic utility of multivariate morphometry in schizophrenia. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:245. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00245
- Lei W, Kirkpatrick B, Wang Q, Deng W, Li M, Guo W, et al. Progressive brain structural changes after the first year of treatment in first-episode treatment-naive patients with deficit or nondeficit schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2019) 288:12–20. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2019.04.009
- Yue Y, Kong L, Wang J, Li C, Tan L, Su H, et al. Regional abnormality of grey matter in schizophrenia: effect from the illness or treatment? *PLos ONE*. (2016) 11:e0147204. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0147204
- Hu ML, Zong XF, Zheng JJ, Pantazatos SP, Miller JM, Li ZC, et al. Short-term effects of risperidone monotherapy on spontaneous brain activity in firstepisode treatment-naive schizophrenia patients: a longitudinal fmri study. Sci Rep. (2016) 6:34287. doi: 10.1038/srep34287
- Hu M, Zong X, Zheng J, Mann JJ, Li Z, Pantazatos SP, et al. Risperidoneinduced topological alterations of anatomical brain network in first-episode drug-naive schizophrenia patients: a longitudinal diffusion tensor imaging study. *Psychol Med.* (2016) 46:2549–60. doi: 10.1017/S0033291716001380
- 33. Ebdrup BH, Raghava JM, Nielsen MO, Rostrup E, Glenthoj B. Frontal fasciculi and psychotic symptoms in antipsychotic-naive patients with schizophrenia before and after 6 weeks of selective dopamine D2/3 receptor blockade. J Psychiatry Neurosci. (2016) 41:133–41. doi: 10.1503/jpn.150030
- Keedy SK, Reilly JL, Bishop JR, Weiden PJ, Sweeney JA. Impact of antipsychotic treatment on attention and motor learning systems in first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41:355–65. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu071
- 35. Rizos E, Papathanasiou MA, Michalopoulou PG, Laskos E, Mazioti A, Kastania A, et al. A longitudinal study of alterations of hippocampal volumes and serum bdnf levels in association to atypical antipsychotics in a sample of first-episode patients with schizophrenia. *PLos ONE.* (2014) 9:e87997. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0087997
- Poeppl TB, Frank E, Schecklmann M, Kreuzer PM, Prasser SJ, Rupprecht R, et al. Amygdalohippocampal neuroplastic changes following neuroleptic treatment with quetiapine in first-episode schizophrenia. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2014) 17:833–43. doi: 10.1017/S1461145713001739
- 37. Wang Q, Cheung C, Deng W, Li M, Huang C, Ma X, et al. White-matter microstructure in previously drug-naive patients with schizophrenia after 6 weeks of treatment. *Psychol Med.* (2013) 43:2301–9. doi: 10.1017/S0033291713000238
- 38. Nielsen MO, Rostrup E, Wulff S, Bak N, Broberg BV, Lublin H, et al. Improvement of brain reward abnormalities by antipsychotic

monotherapy in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (2012) 69:1195–204. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2012.847

- Théberge J, Williamson KE, Aoyama N, Drost DJ, Manchanda R, Malla AK, et al. Longitudinal grey-matter and glutamatergic losses in first-episode schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry. (2007) 191:325–34. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.106.033670
- Li H, Ou Y, Liu F, Chen J, Zhao J, Guo W, et al. Reduced connectivity in anterior cingulate cortex as an early predictor for treatment response in drug-naive, first-episode schizophrenia: a global-brain functional connectivity analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) 215:337–43. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.09.003
- Han S, Becker B, Duan X, Cui Q, Xin F, Zong X, et al. Distinct striatum pathways connected to salience network predict symptoms improvement and resilient functioning in schizophrenia following risperidone monotherapy. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) 215:89–96. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.11.017
- 42. Zhang Y, Xu L, Hu Y, Wu J, Li C, Wang J, et al. Functional connectivity between sensory-motor subnetworks reflects the duration of untreated psychosis and predicts treatment outcome of first-episode drug-naive schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging*. (2019) 4:697– 705. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2019.04.002
- 43. Wu R, Ou Y, Liu F, Chen J, Li H, Zhao J, et al. Reduced brain activity in the right putamen as an early predictor for treatment response in drug-naive, first-episode schizophrenia. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:741. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00741
- 44. Meng L, Li K, Li W, Xiao Y, Lui S, Sweeney JA, et al. Widespread whitematter microstructure integrity reduction in first-episode schizophrenia patients after acute antipsychotic treatment. *Schizophr Res.* (2019) 204:238– 44. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.08.021
- 45. Wang Y, Tang W, Fan X, Zhang J, Geng D, Jiang K, et al. Resting-state functional connectivity changes within the default mode network and the salience network after antipsychotic treatment in early-phase schizophrenia. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2017) 13:397–406. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S123598
- van Veelen NM, Vink M, Ramsey NF, van Buuren M, Hoogendam JM, Kahn RS. Prefrontal lobe dysfunction predicts treatment response in medication-naive first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2011) 129:156–62. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.03.026
- 47. Lui S, Li T, Deng W, Jiang L, Wu Q, Tang H, et al. Shortterm effects of antipsychotic treatment on cerebral function in drug-naive first-episode schizophrenia revealed by "resting state" functional magnetic resonance imaging. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (2010) 67:783–92. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.84
- Mane A, Falcon C, Mateos JJ, Fernandez-Egea E, Horga G, Lomena F, et al. Progressive gray matter changes in first episode schizophrenia: a 4-year longitudinal magnetic resonance study using Vbm. Schizophr Res. (2009) 114:136–43. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.07.014
- Deng MY, McAlonan GM, Cheung C, Chiu CPY, Law CW, Cheung V, et al. A naturalistic study of grey matter volume increase after early treatment in anti-psychotic na < ve, newly diagnosed schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology*. (2009) 206:437–46. doi: 10.1007/s00213-009-1619-z
- Girgis RR, Diwadkar VA, Nutche JJ, Sweeney JA, Keshavan MS, Hardan AY. Risperidone in first-episode psychosis: a longitudinal, exploratory voxel-based morphometric study. *Schizophr Res.* (2006) 82:89–94. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2005.10.019
- Molina V, Reig S, Sanz J, Palomo T, Benito C, Sánchez J, et al. Increase in gray matter and decrease in white matter volumes in the cortex during treatment with atypical neuroleptics in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2005) 80:61–71. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2005.07.031
- McCormick L, Decker L, Nopoulos P, Ho BC, Andreasen N. Effects of atypical and typical neuroleptics on anterior cingulate volume in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2005) 80:73–84. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2005.06.022
- Massana G, Salgado-Pineda P, Junque C, Perez M, Baeza I, Pons A, et al. Volume changes in gray matter in first-episode neuroleptic-naive schizophrenic patients treated with risperidone. J Clin Psychopharmacol. (2005) 25:111–7. doi: 10.1097/01.jcp.0000155818.29091.53
- Heitmiller DR, Nopoulos PC, Andreasen NC. Changes in caudate volume after exposure to atypical neuroleptics in patients with schizophrenia may be sex-dependent. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 66:137–42. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2003.08.008

- 55. Smieskova R, Fusar-Poli P, Allen P, Bendfeldt K, Stieglitz RD, Drewe J, et al. The effects of antipsychotics on the brain: what have we learnt from structural imaging of schizophrenia?–a systematic review. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2009) 15:2535–49. doi: 10.2174/138161209788957456
- Harrow M, Jobe TH. Does long-term treatment of schizophrenia with antipsychotic medications facilitate recovery? *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:962– 5. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt034
- McCutcheon RA, Abi-Dargham A, Howes OD. Schizophrenia, dopamine and the striatum: from biology to symptoms. *Trends Neurosci.* (2019) 42:205– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2018.12.004
- Hu ML, Zong XF, Mann JJ, Zheng JJ, Liao YH, Li ZC, et al. A Review of the functional and anatomical default mode network in schizophrenia. *Neurosci Bull.* (2017) 33:73–84. doi: 10.1007/s12264-016-0090-1
- Howes OD, Kapur S. The Dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia: version iii-the final common pathway. *Schizophr Bull.* (2009) 35:549– 62. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp006
- Leysen JE, Janssen PM, Megens AA, Schotte A. Risperidone: a novel antipsychotic with balanced serotonin-dopamine antagonism, receptor occupancy profile, and pharmacologic activity. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (1994) 55(Suppl.):5–12.
- Arnt J, Skarsfeldt T. Do novel antipsychotics have similar pharmacological characteristics? A Review of the Evidence. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (1998) 18:63–101. doi: 10.1016/S0893-133X(97)00112-7
- Mingoia G, Wagner G, Langbein K, Maitra R, Smesny S, Dietzek M, et al. Default mode network activity in schizophrenia studied at resting state using probabilistic ica. *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 138:143–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.01.036
- Gusnard DA, Raichle ME, Raichle ME. Searching for a baseline: functional imaging and the resting human brain. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2001) 2:685– 94. doi: 10.1038/35094500
- Whitfield-Gabrieli S, Ford JM. Default mode network activity and connectivity in psychopathology. *Ann Rev Clin Psychol.* (2012) 8:49– 76. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032511-143049
- Ho BC, Andreasen NC, Ziebell S, Pierson R, Magnotta V. Longterm antipsychotic treatment and brain volumes: a longitudinal study of first-episode schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry.* (2011) 68:128–37. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.199
- 66. Yao L, Li F, Liu J, Liao W, Li X, Li M, et al. Functional brain networks in never-treated and treated long-term Ill schizophrenia patients. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2019) 44:1940– 7. doi: 10.1038/s41386-019-0428-2
- Hu N, Sun H, Fu G, Zhang W, Xiao Y, Zhang L, et al. Anatomic abnormalities of hippocampal subfields in never-treated and antipsychotic-treated patients with long-term schizophrenia. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2020) 35:39– 48. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2020.03.020
- Xiao Y, Sun H, Shi S, Jiang D, Tao B, Zhao Y, et al. White matter abnormalities in never-treated patients with long-term schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2018) 175:1129–36. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.17121402
- Correll CU, Rubio JM, Kane JM. What is the risk-benefit ratio of longterm antipsychotic treatment in people with schizophrenia? *World Psychiatry*. (2018) 17:149–60. doi: 10.1002/wps.20516
- Murru A, Carpiniello B. Duration of untreated illness as a key to early intervention in schizophrenia: a review. *Neurosci Lett.* (2018) 669:59– 67. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.10.003
- Kelly DL, Conley RR, Carpenter WT. First-episode schizophrenia: a focus on pharmacological treatment and safety considerations. *Drugs.* (2005) 65:1113– 38. doi: 10.2165/00003495-200565080-00006
- 72. Guo X, Li J, Wang J, Fan X, Hu M, Shen Y, et al. Hippocampal and orbital inferior frontal gray matter volume abnormalities and cognitive deficit in treatment-naive, first-episode patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 152:339–43. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.12.015
- Grace AA, Gomes FV. The circuitry of dopamine system regulation and its disruption in schizophrenia: insights into treatment and prevention. *Schizophr Bull.* (2019) 45:148–57. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx199
- 74. Briend F, Nelson EA, Maximo O, Armstrong WP, Kraguljac NV, Lahti AC. Hippocampal glutamate and hippocampus subfield volumes in antipsychotic-naive first episode psychosis

subjects and relationships to duration of untreated psychosis. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2020) 10:137. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-0812-z

- Goff DC, Zeng B, Ardekani BA, Diminich ED, Tang Y, Fan X, et al. Association of hippocampal atrophy with duration of untreated psychosis and molecular biomarkers during initial antipsychotic treatment of first-episode psychosis. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2018) 75:370–8. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.201 7.4595
- Sarpal DK, Robinson DG, Fales C, Lencz T, Argyelan M, Karlsgodt KH, et al. Relationship between duration of untreated psychosis and intrinsic corticostriatal connectivity in patients with early phase schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology.* (2017) 42:2214–21. doi: 10.1038/npp. 2017.55

Conflict of Interest: WZ consulted to VeraSci.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Yang, Tang, Liu, Yao, Xu, Sun, Tao, Gong, Cao, Zhang and Lui. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





1005 Lausanne | Switzerland
Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34

**Frontiers** 

Contact us: frontiersin.org/about/contact

FOLLOW US @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

LOOP RESEARCH NETWORK

Our network increases your article's readership